Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents; Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules and Studies Directed Towards Bioactives from Vernonia arborea

> Thesis Submitted to AcSIR For the Award of the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY In

CHEMICAL SCIENCES



By

Eswara Kumar Aratikatla

(Registration Number: 10CC12A26011)

Under the guidance of

Dr. Asish K. Bhattacharya

Organic Chemistry Division CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory Pune - 411008, Maharashtra, INDIA.

November 2018

Dedicated to

My Beloved Family Members



THESIS CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the work incorporated in this Ph.D. thesis entitled "Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents; Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules and Studies Directed Towards Bioactives from *Vernonia arborea*" submitted by Mr. Eswara Kumar Aratikatla to Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR) in fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy, embodies original research work under my supervision. I further certify that this work has not been submitted to any other University or Institution in part or full for the award of any degree or diploma. Research material obtained from other sources has been duly acknowledged in the thesis. Any text, illustration, table etc., used in the thesis from other sources, have been duly cited and acknowledged.

Eswara Kumar Aratikatla (Research Student) Dr. Asish K. Bhattacharya (Research Supervisor)



Declaration by the Candidate

I hereby declare that the original research work embodied in this thesis entitled, "Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents; Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules and Studies Directed Towards Bioactives from Vernonia arborea" submitted to the Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR) for the award of degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) is the outcome of experimental investigations carried out by me under the supervision of Dr. Asish K. Bhattacharya, Senior Scientist, Organic Chemistry Division, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Pune. I affirm that the work incorporated is original and has not been submitted to any other academy, university or institute for the award of any degree or diploma.

November 2018 CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory Pune-411 008 Eswara Kumar Aratikatla (Research Student) During the long period of my research work, I have been acquainted, accompanied and supported by many people. It is a pleasant aspect that I have now the opportunity to express my gratitude for all of them.

It is my great privilege to express my deepest sense of gratitude to my teacher and research supervisor **Dr. A. K. Bhattacharya** for excellent guidance, constant encouragement, and constructive criticism during my doctoral research. I consider extremely fortunate to have an advisor who not only educated me in chemistry but also taught me discipline and shown unique ways to achieve my goals. I sincerely acknowledge the freedom rendered by him in the laboratory for the independent thinking, planning, and execution of the research. I believe the better way of thanking him would be through my future contribution to the scientific community.

I owe to thank my Doctoral Advisory Committee members, Dr. Narendra Kadoo, Dr. N. P. Argade, and Dr. M. Muthukrishnan for their continued support, guidance, and suggestions. I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Ashwini K. Nangia, Director, NCL, Dr. Vijayamohanan K. Pillai and Prof. Dr. Sourav Pal (Former Director, NCL), Dr. S. P. Chavan, Head, Division of Organic Chemistry for giving me this opportunity and providing all necessary infrastructure and facilities.

My sincere thanks to Dr. D. S. Reddy, Dr. C. V. Ramana, Dr. Pradeep Kumar, Dr. H. V. Tulasiram, Dr. A. T. Bijju, Dr. Nitin Patil, Dr. Shashidhar, Dr. Ravinder Kontam, Dr. A. Sen, Dr. Rajesh Gonnade, Dr. G. J. Sanjayan, Dr. B. Senthil Kumar, Dr. Shinde, Dr. Maithy, Dr. V. S. Pore, Dr. M. Fernandes, Dr. P. R. Rajamohanan, Dr. Uday Kiran, Dinesh, Mrs. Shantakumari, Mrs. Catherine, Mrs. Kohle, Mr. Iyer, Mrs. Kunte, SAC office staff and all other scientists of NCL for their motivation, constant encouragement and support. I also thank Dr. Vinita and the entire IP group for their support in the patent filing.

My sincere thanks to Dr. Manas K. Santra, Dr. Asif Mohammed, Dr. Pawan Malhotra, Dr. Kumkum Srivastava, Dr. Ashan Manhas, Dr. Sunil K. Puri for evaluating bioassay of my synthesized compounds.

It is my pleasure to thank all my past and present lab mates Dr. Hemender, Dr. Tharun, Dr. Kalpesh, Dr. Dyaneswar, Dr. Mujahid, Innaiah, Sayantan, Hari, Tushar, Tapas, Lakshmi,

Indranil, Sharad, Akanksha, Mahesh, Shivani, Birajdar for devoting their precious time and made many valuable suggestions, which indeed helped me during this research work.

I would like to acknowledge my senior colleagues for their helping hands and friendly affection including Dr. Nookaraju, Dr. Laxmi Prasad, Dr. Yadagiri, Dr. Ramesh, Dr. Chandrababu Naidu, Dr. Venu, Dr. Rambabu, Dr. Ramireddy, Dr. Suneel, Dr. Chitanya Kiran, Dr. Manoj, Dr. Chitanya, Dr. Setaram, Dr. Satish, Dr. Trinadh, Dr. Naresh Bhuma, Dr. Dama, Dr. Kamaja, Dr. Nagendra, Dr. Narendra, Dr. Srinivas, Dr. Kasinath, Dr. Rajesh, Dr. Venkat, Dr. Suresh, Dr. Devdatta, Dr. Bhogesh, Dr. Ramu, Dr. Upendra, Dr. Vasu, Dr. Ashok, Dr. Narashimha Reddy, Dr. Narashimha, Dr. Senthil, Dr. Raja ambal.

No words are sufficient to acknowledge my prized friends in and out of NCL who have helped me at various stages of my work in NCL. I wish to thank Viswanadh, Bhaskar, Kumarraja, Hanuman, Venkannababu, Prabhakar, Praveen, Sagar, Swamy, Vannur, Rohini, Arjun, Ananthramaiah, Atanu, Chotu, Surajit, Krishanu, Sachin, Manikandan, Ekta, Naresh Killi, Lokanadham, Ramu. I always enjoy their company and they are my strength for many things. I am lucky to have such a big family, which I have got kind gift in NCL. I also thank my friends in NCL with special mention to Punith, KP, Govind, Amith, Rahul, Anil, Vikas, Bharath, Madhukar Said, Sagar, Priyanka, Digambar, Madhukar, Abdul, Nirsad, Asish, Samir, and Sridhar.

Personally, I am immensely thankful to my lecturers in college Mrs. Sunitha, Mr. Srinivas, Mr. Shankar, Mr. Sanyasi raju, Mr. Ramesh Naidu for their valuable teachings in my Bachelors degree. I am also thankful to Dr. Y. L. N. Murthy, Dr. Siddaiah, Dr. Christopher, Dr. P. V. Ramana, Dr. Krishna Prasad, Dr. Vani, Dr. A. Satyanarayana, Dr. Nageswarao, Dr. Samsung and other Chemistry faculty members for their valuable teachings in my masters degree.

I wish to thank all friends during my masters at Andhra University Shankar, T. Appalaraju, B. B. Appalaraju, Govind, Chandu, Ramu, Ajay, Ameerkhan, Rajak, Ravi, Veerababu, Veerababu, Damodar, Krishna, Krishnamurthy, Madeen, Madhava, Shiva, Ravi, Sudheer (Late), Anandh, Chaitanya, Venkatesh, Venkatarao, P. Ramu, Kishore, Ramana, Nagarjuna Sharma, Swami naidu, Jai Kishore, Adilakshmi, Saraswathi, Shivarani, Rajeswari, Ratna Kumari, Prashanthi, Harini, Sowbhajya, Beebi and all friends of my 2008-10 batch at A U. I wish to express my warm and sincere thanks to the colleagues of Laxai Avanti Life Sciences P. V. Swamy, Dr. Narendra Mohal, Dr. Naresh, Venkat, Kondal, Ram Krishna, Srinu, Srnivas, Satti, Satya Shiva Prasad, Manoj, Vidya Hari, Swathi Bobba, Fareed, Satya Santhosh, Shekar, Jhansi, Suryanarayana Murthy, Srikanth, Vijay, Anil, Uma, Mohan, Veeranna, Srinivas Reddy, Kalisha, Sarveswara, Padmanabham, Karunakar, Kalyan, Yasin.

It's my pleasure to thank all my school and college friends K. Hari, Prasad, Rushi, Kiran, I. Suresh, K. Suresh, Nani, Ravi, N. Prashanthi, Shanthi, Sri Lakshmi, Prashanthi (Late), Raji, Ramya, Nagamani, Suwarna, Ashosk, Pradeep, Nagesh, Srinu, Danunjay, Anandh Vardhan, Trinadh, Ganesh, Mosha, C. Hari, Appaji, Chaitanya, Srikanth, Ramesh, Vijay, Ashok, Navven, Venkat Durga for all their love and care.

Without the funding I received, this Ph.D. would not have been possible, and I would like to express my sincere appreciation to University Grant Commission (UGC)-New Delhi for awarding JRF and SRF.

My family is always a source of inspiration and great moral support for me in perceiving my education; I used to thank the god of almighty for providing me such a beautiful family. I take this opportunity to my sense of gratitude to my parents **Janardhanachari** (father) and **Parvathi Devi** (mother) for their tons of love, sacrifice, blessings, unconditional support and encouragement. Also want to thank my brother in law Kamalakar, sister Chaitanya Sri (Chaitu), brother Surendra Kumar (Chinna) and Pardhu for their support in critical situations. I express my gratitude towards my nephews Tanish, Karthik (Minnu) for bringing lots of joy. I am forever indebted to my family. Words fail me to express my appreciation to my wife **Jaya Lakshmi** and my little daughter **Divya sri** whose love and persistent confidence in me, has taken the load off my shoulder.

I wish to thank the great scientific community whose achievements are a constant source of inspiration for me.

Above all, I thank God Almighty for His enormous blessings.

Eswara Kumar Aratikatla

	Page No.
Abbreviations	i
General remarks	vi
Synopsis	viii

Chapter 1

Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents

1.1. Introduction	1
1.2. Review of literature	3
1.2.1. Artemisinin and its derivatives	3
1.2.2. Artemisinin Combination Therapy (ACT)	3
1.2.3. Antimalarial drug resistance	4
1.2.4. Drug Target for Malaria: Falcipain-2 (FP-2)	5
1.2.5. General inhibition mechanism of cysteine protease (FP-2) inhibitors	7
1.2.6. Hybrid molecules	8
1.3. Present work	13
1.4. Results and discussion	13
1.4.1. Design of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules	13
1.4.2. Synthesis of artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules	15
1.4.2.1. Synthesis of linkers	15
1.4.2.2. Synthesis of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate	16
1.4.3. Antimalarial activity of artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrids	24
1.4.4. Asymmetric synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate	27
hybrid molecules	
1.4.4.1. Asymmetric synthesis of γ-phenyl-γ-amino vinyl phosphonate	27

Contents

1.4.5. Antimalarial activity of diastereomers of artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl	
phosphonate hybrid molecules	
1.4.6. Plausible mechanism of action of all the synthesized hybrid molecules	31
1.4.7. Synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecules	32
1.4.7.1. Racemic and enantioselective syntheses of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone	32
1.4.8. Asymmetric synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrids	36
1.5. Conclusion	38
1.6. Experimental section	39
1.7. References	68
1.8. Spectra	76
1.9. Chiral HPLC analysis data	105

Chapter 2

Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules

2.1 Section A: Synthesis of syncarpamide, its analogs and study of their *in vitro* and *in vivo* antiplasmodial activities

2.1.1. Introduction	113
2.1.2. Malaria-Review of Literature	114
2.1.3. Present Work	114
2.1.4. Results and Discussion	115
2.1.4.1. Retrosynthesis	115
2.1.4.2. Synthesis of syncarpamide	115
2.1.4.3. Synthesis of the enantiomer of syncarpamide	116
2.1.4.4. Synthesis of oxy-analogs of syncarpamide	117
2.1.4.5. Synthesis of analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide using various	117
substituted aromatic aldehydes	

Contents

2.1.4.6. Synthesis of analogs of syncarpamide using various carboxylic acid	121
chains (where the ester and amide side chains are same)	
2.1.4.7. Synthesis of analogs of syncarpamide using various carboxylic acid	123
chains (where the ester and amide side chains are different)	
2.1.4.8. Synthesis of other analogs	124
2.1.5. Biological studies	125
2.1.5.1. In vitro antiplasmodial activities	125
2.1.5.2. In vivo antimalarial assay	133
2.1.6. Conclusion	134
2.1.7. Experimental section	134
2.1.8. References	169
2.1.9. Spectra	173
2.1.10. Chiral HPLC analysis data	193

2.2 Section B: Synthesis of functionalized amino acids using chiral pool approach: synthesis of anti epileptic drug (R)-lacosamide

2.2.1. Introduction	197
2.2.2. Review of Literature	198
2.2.3. Present Work	203
2.2.4. Results and Discussion	203
2.2.4.1. Retrosynthetic analysis of (R)-lacosamide	203
2.2.4.2. Synthesis of (R)-lacosamide	204
2.2.5. Conclusion	205
2.2.6. Experimental section	205
2.2.7. References	209
2.2.8. Spectra	211
2.2.9. Chiral HPLC analysis data	216

Contents

Chapter 3

Synthesis and anticancer studies of Michael adducts and Heck arylation products of sesquiterpene lactones, zaluzanin D and zaluzanin C from

Vernonia arborea

3.1. Introduction	217
3.2. Review of Literature	218
3.3. Present work	219
3.4. Results and Discussion	219
3.4.1. Plant material	219
3.4.2. Chemistry	220
3.4.2.1. Synthesis of Michael adducts of zaluzanin D using different chiral	220
(or) achiral amines	
3.4.2.2. Synthesis of Heck arylated analogs of zaluzanin D using different	224
aryl iodides	
3.4.3. Biological studies	226
3.4.3.1. In vitro anticancer activities of Michael adducts of zaluzanin D	226
3.4.3.2. In vitro anticancer activities of Heck analogs of zaluzanin D	230
3.5. Conclusion	231
3.6. Experimental Section	231
3.7. References	251
3.8. Spectra	256
Bio-data	290
List of publications/patents	292
Erratum	293

Amino acid
Acetyl
Acetic acid
Acetic anhydride
Artemisinin Combination Therapy
Asymmetric dihydroxylation
Adenosine diphosphate
Antiepileptic drug
Adenosine triphosphate
Anhydrous
Aqueous
Atmosphere
Boron trifluoride-diethyletherate
tert-Butyloxycarbonyl
tert-Butanol
<i>n</i> -Butyl lithium
Benzoyl
Degree Celsius
Catalytic
Carboxybenzyl
Cytotoxic concentration that is toxic to 50% cells
Deuterated chloroform
Carbodiimide
Chloroform
Acetonitrile
Concentrated
<i>m</i> -Chloroperbezoic acid

CQ	Chloroquine
DCM (CH ₂ Cl ₂)	Dichloromethane
(<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>)-DACH	(1 <i>R</i> ,2 <i>R</i>)-(+)-1,2-Diaminocyclohexane- <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> '-bis(2-diphenylphosphino-1-naphthoyl)
DBU	1,8-Diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undecene-7
DCC	N,N'-Dicyclohexylcarbodiimide
DEPT	Distortionless Enhancement by polarization Transfer
DHP	3,4-Dihydro-2 <i>H</i> -pyran
(DHQ) ₂ PHAL	1,4-Bis(dihydroquinin-9-O-yl)phthalazine
DIAD	Diisopropylazocarboxylate
DIBAL-H	Diisobutylaluminium hydride
D-(-)-DIPT	(-)-Diisopropyl D-tartrate
DMAP	4-Dimethylaminopyridine
DMF	N, N'-Dimethylformamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DMTMM	4-(4,6-dimethoxy-1,3,5-triazin-2-yl)-4-methyl-morpholinium chloride
DPAP1	Dipeptidyl amino-peptidase 1
DPPA	Diphenylphosphoryl azide
DTPP	Diethoxytriphenylphosphorane
DYKAT	Dynamic Kinetic Asymmetric Transformation
EDCI	1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide
ee	Enantiomeric excess
ELSD	Evaporative light scattering detector
ESI-LCMS	Electrospray ionization-liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
EtOAc	Ethyl acetate
EtOH	Ethanol
equiv.	Equivalent

FAA	Functionalized amino acid
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FT-IR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
FP-2	Falcipain-2
μg	Microgram
h	hour (s)
НАР	Histo-aspartic protease
HEPES	N-2-Hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethanesulfonic acid
HKR	Hydrolytic kinetic resolution
HOBT	Hydroxybenzotriazole
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
HRMS	High Resolution Mass Spectrometry
HTS	High-throughput screening
Hz	Hertz
IBCF	Isobutyl chloroformate
IC ₅₀	Half-maximal inhibitory concentration
IPA	Isopropyl alcohol
IR	Infra red
J	Coupling constant (in NMR)
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
LiOH	Lithium hydroxide
μΜ	Micromolar
Me	Methyl
MeI	Methyl iodide
MeOH	Methanol
mg	Milligram
MHz	Megahertz

MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
min.	Minutes
mL	Millilitre (s)
mmol	Millimole (s)
m.p.	Melting point
MTT	(3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide)
<i>m/z</i> ,	Mass to charge ratio
NaBH ₄	Sodium borohydride
NaH	Sodium hydride
NaHCO ₃	Sodium bicarbonate
NaOH	Sodium hydoxide
NCE	New chemical entity
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
nM	Nanomolar
NMM	<i>N</i> -Methyl morpholine
NOESY	Nuclear Overhauser Effect Spectroscopy
Pd	Palladium
Ph	Phenyl
PMP	<i>p</i> -methoxy phenyl
PPh ₃	Triphenyl phosphine
ppm	Parts per million
PPTS	Pyridinium <i>p</i> -toluenesulfonate
PTSA	para-Toluenesulfonic acid
Ру	Pyridine
rac	Racemic
R_f	Retention factor
RM	Reaction mixture

RT (rt)	Room temperature
SAD	Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation
SAR	Structure-activity relationship
sd	standard deviation
SI	Selectivity index
SiO ₂	Silicagel
SOCl ₂	Thionyl chloride
SP	Sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine
TBAI (ⁿ Bu ₄ NI)	tetra-n-Butylammonium iodide
TCA-NCO	trichloroacetyl isocyanate
TCCA	Trichloroisocyanuric acid
ТЕМРО	(2,2,6,6-Tetramethylpiperidin-1-yl)oxyl
tert	Tertiary
TFAA	Trifluoroacetic anhydride
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
TOF mass analyzer	Time-of-flight mass analyzer
t _R	Retention time
pTsCl	para-Toluenesulfonyl chloride
UCB	Union Chimique Belge
UV	Ultraviolet
WHO	World Health Organization
XRD	X-ray diffraction

- Independent compound and reference numbering have been used for each chapter as well as for sections of the chapters.
- All reagents and solvents were purchased from commercial suppliers and used as such without any further purification. Starting materials were obtained from commercial suppliers or prepared using known procedures.
- All the known compounds reported in literature were characterized by their NMR spectra.
- Solvents were distilled and dried following standard procedures. Petroleum ether used for column chromatography was of 60-80 °C boiling range.
- Column chromatographic separations were carried out on silica gel (100-200 or 230-400 mesh size).
- Flash chromatography was carried out by CombiFlash[®]Rf 200i Isco Teledyne Inc., USA instrument using UV/ELSD detector, 230-400 mesh silica gel Redisep[®] column and appropriate solvent system.
- All reactions were monitored by TLC with 0.25 mm pre-coated E-Merck silica gel plates (60 F254) and TLC spots were made visible by exposing to UV light, Iodine adsorbed on silica gel or by immersion into an ethanolic solution of phosphomolybdic acid (PMA), *p*-anisaldehyde, ninhydrin or KMnO₄ followed by heating with a heat gun for ~15sec.
- NMR spectra were recorded on Bruker AV200 (200.13 MHz for ¹H NMR and 50.03 MHz for ¹³C NMR), AV 400 (400.13 MHz for ¹H NMR and 100.03 MHz for ¹³C NMR), Jeol-400 (400 MHz for ¹H NMR and 100 MHz for ¹³C NMR) and DRX 500 (500.13 MHz for ¹H NMR and 125.03 MHz for ¹³C NMR) spectrometers.
- > Chemical shifts (δ) have been expressed in ppm units relative to tetramethylsilane (TMS) as an internal standard and coupling constants (*J*) were measured in Hertz.
- The following abbreviations were used for ¹H NMR: s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, q = quartet, m = multiplet, brs = broad singlet, dd = doublet of doublet, dt = doublet of triplet, td = triplet of doublet and ddd = doublet of doublet.
- All the reported melting points are uncorrected and were recorded using Buchi melting point apparatus (Buchi B-540).

- ➤ IR spectra were recorded on Shimadzu FT-IR-8300 spectrometer as thin films in chloroform using NaCl plates and absorptions were expressed in cm⁻¹.
- > Optical rotations were recorded on a JASCO P-1020 polarimeter at 589 nm (sodium D-line). Specific rotations $[\alpha]_D$ are reported in deg/dm, and the concentration (c) is given in g/100 mL in the specific solvent.
- Structures and IUPAC nomenclature were generated using ChemBioDraw Ultra 14.0 software.
- Mass spectra were recorded on LC-MS/MS-TOF API QSTAR PULSAR spectrometer, samples introduced by fusion method using Electrospray Ionization Technique.
- High-resolution mass spectra (HRMS) (ESI) were recorded on an Orbitrap (quadrupole plus ion trap) and TOF mass analyzer.
- ➢ HPLC was performed with Shimadzu CLASS-VP or Agilent HPLC system (UV detection at 215/220/254 nm, Chiral column: Chiralpak-IA or IB (0.46 mm φ X 250 mmL) or Chiralcel OD-H (0.46 cm X 25 cm), Mobile phase: EtOH in "hexane or Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) in "hexane, Flow rate: 1 mL/min or 0.5 mL/min).



ACSIR Synopsis of the Thesis to be submitted to the Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research for Award of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry	
Name of the Candidate	Eswara Kumar Aratikatla
Degree Enrolment No. & Date	Ph. D in Chemical Sciences (10CC12A26011); August 2012
Title of the Thesis	Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents; Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules and Studies Directed Towards Bioactives from Vernonia arborea
Research Supervisor	Dr. Asish K. Bhattacharya

The thesis is divided into three chapters. Chapter **1** deals with the design and synthesis of artemisinin-based hybrid molecules as novel antimalarial agents targeting falcipain-2 enzyme. These hybrid molecules were assayed for parasiticidal activities against *P. falciparum* and exhibited better activities than the currently available drug artemisinin. Chapter **2** deals with the synthesis of syncarpamide, a norepinephrine alkaloid showing the antiplasmodial activity of 2.04 μ M and 3.06 μ M against *Plasmodium falciparum* D6 and W2 clones, respectively. Chiral pool synthesis of antiepileptic drug (*R*)-lacosamide from natural amino acid L-serine will also be discussed. Chapter **3** deals with the isolation of sesquiterpene lactones zaluzanin C and D. It also deals with the synthesis of analogs of zaluzanin D with new C-N bond formed using Michael addition reaction and analogs with new C-C bond formation using Heck reaction. The anticancer studies of synthesized analogs will also be discussed in this chapter.

Chapter 1: Design and synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules as novel antimalarial agents

Malaria is caused by protozoan parasites of the genus *Plasmodium*. Development of resistance by the parasites against generally used antimalarial drugs, *e.g.* quinine, chloroquine, etc. further complicate its treatment. The situation was improved with the isolation of artemisinin, a natural sesquiterpene lactone endoperoxide from the Chinese plant *Artemisia annua*. However, artemisinin resistance has been observed in the *P. falciparum* strains isolated from patients treated with artemisinin from Cambodia, French Guiana, and Senegal.¹ The hemoglobin degradation by the malaria parasite is carried out by a variety of proteases present within parasite, and the inhibition of this process is considered to be a potential drug target for the development of new antimalarial agents.²

The cysteine proteases present in *P. falciparum, e.g.*, falcipain-2 and falcipain-3 are considered to be the ideal drug targets for the development of new antimalarial agents. Falcipain-2 inhibitors in principle would require hydrophobic interaction in P_1 and P_2 pockets and essentially electrophilic center at the active-site of the enzyme.³ We visualized that these requirements could be ideally fulfilled by artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules.

As shown in the **Scheme 1**, artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules were synthesized by combining dihydroartemisinin with peptidyl vinyl phosphonate through suitable linkers by using etherification reaction (12 hybrid molecules were synthesized). A linker could be any compound that has one free hydroxyl group and some functionality which could be easily converted to free acid *e*. *g*. methyl ester.



Scheme 1. Design and synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules.

Hybrid molecules **75**, **76**, and **81** exhibited parasiticidal activities against *P. falciparum in vitro* culture in **nM** range (**Figure 1**). These molecules were further assayed for their *in vitro* toxicity against A549 human cells and found to be non-toxic to the human cells.



Figure 1. Synthesized artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules (where, DHA = dihydroartemisinin).





Since the active molecules **75**, **76** and **81** were a mixture of two diastereomers, their individual diastereomers were also synthesized by asymmetric synthesis using chiral (*R*) or (*S*)- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate in the final amide coupling reactions (**Figure 2**).⁴

Design and synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecules as novel antimalarial agents

Peptidyl vinyl sulfones are known potent irreversible inhibitors of falcipain-2 and 3. They act as Michael acceptors of the catalytic cysteine residue.⁵ The excellent antimalarial activities of hybrid molecules **75**, **76** and **81** encouraged us to synthesize their sulfone variants **92**, **93** and **94** (and their diastereomers) as shown below in **Figure 3**. The hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94** (and their diastereomers) were synthesized by using *rac* or (*R*) or (*S*)- γ -amino vinyl sulfonate in the final amide coupling reaction.



Figure 3. Synthesized artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfonate hybrid molecules (where, DHA = dihydroartemisinin).

Chapter 2: Section A: Synthesis of syncarpamide, its analogs and study of their *in vitro* and *in vivo* antiplasmodial activities

Syncarpamide is a norepinephrine alkaloid isolated from the stems of *Zanthoxylum syncarpum*.⁶ It shows antiplasmodial activities of 2.04 μ M and 3.06 μ M against *Plasmodium falciparum* D6 and W2 clones, respectively. Syncarapmide was synthesized using Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation (SAD) of 3,4-dimethoxy styrene. Further, a library of **58** analogs and oxyanalogs of syncarpamide were synthesized by taking different styrenes and carboxylic acids (**Figure 4**) and these analogs were assayed for their *in vitro* and *in vivo* antimalarial activities.⁷



Figure 4. Structures of syncarpamide, analogs and oxy-analogs.

From SAR study, it was observed that electron donating groups (such as OMe groups) on both ester and amide side chains of syncarpamide increased its *in vitro* antiplasmodial activity.

Section B: Synthesis of antiepileptic drug (R)-lacosamide using chiral pool strategy

(*R*)-Lacosamide (Vimpat) is a drug used to treat epilepsy which is a neurological disorder that disturbs the normal activity of the brain cells. We thought of an efficient and straightforward synthesis of **1**, which could be achieved on an industrial scale at a much cheaper cost. The key starting material, *N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropylidene-L-serinol **2** could easily be synthesized in gram scale from natural L-serine in four steps without the need of any purification of the intermediates. (*R*)-Lacosamide **1** was synthesized from **2** in 5 steps with 54% overall yield and 100% *ee* (Scheme 2).⁸



Scheme 2. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide from L-serine.

Chapter 3: Isolation of sesquiterpene lactones zaluzanin C and D from *Vernonia arborea*, synthesis of analogues of zaluzanin D and their anticancer studies

We wished to undertake systematic chemical examination of *Vernonia arborea* (family Asteraceae), an endemic plant of the Western Ghats for its bioactive constituents. The genus Vernonia has been reported to a rich source of several bioactive secondary metabolites. We carried out extraction of *Vernonia arborea* leaves and undertook chemical examination of petroleum extract of the leaves. We isolated two sesquiterpene lactones from the petroleum extract which were identified as zaluzanin C and D using spectroscopic techniques.⁹ Further, we confirmed the structure of zaluzanin D by its single crystal x-ray analysis as shown in below in **Figure 5**.



Figure 5. Structures of zaluzanin C and D.

Since the amino analogs of sesquiterpene lactones are known for their increased cytotoxicity,¹⁰ we synthesized several C-N bond amino analogs of zaluzanin D using Michael addition by reacting with different aliphatic or aromatic amines. Further, C-C bond analogs of zaluzanin D were also synthesized using Heck coupling reaction by reacting with different aryl iodides as shown below in **Scheme 3**.¹¹ The synthesized analogues were assayed for their anticancer activities against human breast cancer cell lines, MCF7, MDA-MB-231 and MCF10A.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of analogs of zaluzanin D using Michael and Heck reactions.

Noteworthy Findings:

- 1) Design and synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate and sulfonate hybrid molecules as novel antimalarial agents.
- 2) Synthesis of norepinephrine alkaloid, (+)-syncarpamide and its analogs employing Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation (SAD) of 3,4-dimethoxy styrene.
- 3) Synthesis of antiepileptic drug (*R*)-lacosamide using chiral pool strategy from L-serine.
- 4) Isolation of sesquiterpene lactones zaluzanin C and D from *Vernonia arborea*, synthesis of C-N bond analogs of zaluzanin D using Michael addition reaction and C-C bond analogs of zaluzanin D using Heck reaction and anticancer studies of synthesized analogs.

References:

- 1. Jambou, R.; Legrand, E.; Niang, M.; Khim, N.; Lim, P.; Volney, B.; Ekala, M. T.; Bouchier, C.; Esterre, P.; Fandeur, T. *The Lancet* **2005**, *366*, 1960.
- 2. Sijwali, P. S.; Rosenthal, P. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2004, 101, 4384.
- 3. Shenai, B. R.; Lee, B. J.; Alvarez-Hernandez, A.; Chong, P. Y.; Emal, C. D.; Neitz, R. J.; Roush, W. R.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **2003**, *47*, 154.
- 4. Aratikatla, E. K.; Malhotra, P.; Mohammed, A.; Bhattacharya, A. K. Provisional patent application no. 201811014401.
- (a) Santos, M. M. M.; Moreira, R. *Mini-Rev. Med. Chem.* 2007, 7, 1040; (b) Chung, J. Y.; Bae, Y. A.; Na, B. K.; Kong, Y. *Exp. Opin. Ther. Patents* 2005, *15*, 995.
- Ross, S. A.; Al-Azeib, M. A.; Krishnaveni, K. S.; Fronczek, F. R.; Burandt, C. L. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1297.
- (a) Aratikatla, E. K.; Valkute, T. R.; Puri, S. K.; Srivastava, K.; Bhattacharya, A. K. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2017, *138*, 1089; (b) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Aratikatla, E. K.; Srivastava, K.; Manhas, A. Anti-malarial compounds and process for preparation thereof, WO 2016/063301 A2.
- 8. Aratikatla, E. K.; Bhattacharya, A. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2015, 56, 5802.
- (a) De Vivar, A. R.; Cabrera, A.; Ortega, A.; Romo, J. *Tetrahedron* 1967, 23, 3903; (b) Krishna Kumari, G. N.; Masilamani, S.; Ganesh, M. R.; Aravind, S.; Sridhar, S. R. *Fitoterapia* 2003, 74, 479.
- Woods, J. R.; Mo, H.; Bieberich, A. A.; Alavanja, T.; Colby, D. A. Med. Chem. Commun. 2013, 4, 27
- 11. Valkute, T. R.; Aratikatla, E. K.; Gupta, N. A.; Ganga S.; Santra, M. K.; Bhattacharya, A. K. *RSC Adv.* **2018**, 8, 38289.

Chapter 1

Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents

Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents

1.1. INTRODUCTION

Malaria is a disease caused by the protozoan parasites of the genus *Plasmodium*, which is transmitted to humans by the bites of female *Anopheles* spp. mosquitoes. Species of *Plasmodium* named *P. falciparum*, *P. vivax*, *P. malariae* and *P. ovale* are responsible for the spread of the disease in humans. Among them, *P. falciparum* is the most dangerous and is the cause of most of the deaths. The parasite *P. falciparum* once enters the human body, first attacks the liver where it multiplies and then invades the red blood cells. According to the latest World Malaria Report 2017, more than 216 million cases of malaria were reported leading to approximately 445,000 deaths worldwide in the year 2016.¹ In India alone 331 malaria deaths were reported in 2016, making it the highest in the entire Southeast Asia region. The worldwide distribution of malaria disease in various countries is shown in **Figure 1**.²



Figure 1. Worldwide distribution of malaria disease.²

The different antimalarial drugs used for the treatment of malaria include sulfadoxine, pyrimethamine, proguanil, quinine, chloroquine, primaquine, pamaquine, tafenoquine, mefloquine, atovaquone, bulaquine, tafenoquine, amodiaquine, pyronaridine, piperaquine,

halofantrine, lumefantrine, pyronaridine, tetracycline, doxycycline, artemisinin and its semisynthetic derivatives, such as artemether and artesunate. Some of the structures of these antimalarial drugs are shown in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2. Structures of selected antimalarial drugs.

1.2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

1.2.1. Artemisinin and its derivatives

Artemisinin **11** (qinghaosu) is a sesquiterpene lactone endoperoxide isolated from the Chinese medicinal plant *Artemisia annua* (sweet wormwood), a herb employed in the traditional Chinese system of medicine. It was discovered in 1972 by Prof. Youyou Tu, a Chinese scientist who shared half of the 2015 Nobel Prize in Medicine for her discovery of artemisinin.³ The final structure of artemisinin **11** was established in 1977 by NMR and its single crystal X-ray studies.⁴ It contains an unusual endoperoxide bridge, which is responsible for the mechanism of action of the drug (**Figure 2**).

It is superior in plasmocidal and blood schizontocidal activities compared to other class of antimalarial drugs such as chloroquine and quinine against malaria. Artemisinin 11 is found to be active at nanomolar concentrations in vitro against chloroquine-sensitive as well as chloroquine-resistant strains of *P. falciparum*. However, artemisinin has poor pharmacokinetic profile due to the poor solubility either in oil or water,^{5a} high rate of parasite recrudescence after treatment,^{5b} short-plasma half-life (3-5 h) and poor oral activity.^{5c} This prompted many researchers to design and synthesize various derivatives which can overcome these shortcomings of artemisinin 11. Some of these derivatives are shown in **Figure 2**. The carbonyl group of artemisinin **11** can easily be reduced to lactol, dihydroartemisinin 12 in high yields using sodium borohydride and MeOH at 0 °C. The dihydroartemisinin 12 was subsequently converted to a series of semi-synthetic analogs including the oil-soluble artemether 13 and arteether 14 and water-soluble sodium artesunate 15 and sodium artelinate 16. These derivatives were found to be very potent antimalarial drugs effective against chloroquine-resistant strains of P. falciparum.⁶ These artemisinin derivatives are exceptionally fast acting against intra-erythrocytic asexual blood-stage malarial parasite affecting up to 10000 fold reductions in parasite burden every 48 h.

1.2.2. Artemisinin Combination Therapy (ACT) ^{9,10}

The inherent disadvantage of the artemisinin derivatives (such as dihydroartemisinin 12, artemether 13, arteether 14, artesunate 15 and sodium artelinate 16) is their very short *in vivo* half-lives (typically \sim 1 h in humans).⁷ Also, the World Health Organization

discouraged the use of single-drug artemisinin drugs (artemisinin monotherapy) to prevent malaria parasites from developing resistance to the drug.⁸

As a result, artemisinin derivatives are combined with longer half-life partner drugs, such as lumefantrine, amodiaquine, piperaquine, mefloquine, sulphadoxine-pyrimethamine or pyronaridine to remove the residual parasites (Artemisinin Combination Therapies).^{9,10} These combinations help to prevent recrudescence (which can occur even after five days of artemisinin monotherapy), and hence they are currently recommended by WHO to slow the development of parasite resistance.

The ACTs recommended by the WHO are artemether/lumefantrine, artesunate/amodiaquine, artesunate/mefloquine, dihydroartemisinin/piperaquine, artesunate/pyronaridine and artesunate/sulfadoxine–pyrimethamine.

1.2.3. Antimalarial drug resistance¹¹⁻²⁰

The resistance in *P. falciparum* has emerged against all the available antimalarial drugs throughout the world.¹¹ The synthetic antimalarial drug chloroquine (CQ) was initially used in the 1950s to treat, prevent and eradicate malaria worldwide. However, resistance to CQ is widespread throughout the world which led to re-emergence of malaria and the spread of CQ-resistant parasite in Southeast Asia and South America.¹² Due to the resistance to CQ, CQ-resistant parasite was spread to Africa in 1980s and resulted in 2-3 fold increase in malaria-related deaths.¹³ Hence, CQ was replaced with the two-drug combination, sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine (SP) as the first line of treatment for malaria. But resistance to SP is widespread in Asia, South America and also in Africa.¹⁴ When the parasites developed resistance against these drugs, these were replaced by the more expensive mefloquine drug monotherapy. However, resistance soon developed for mefloquine in some areas of South East Asia, the Amazon region of South America and sporadically in Africa.¹⁵ Since then use of two or more drugs has been widely practiced for treating uncomplicated *falciparum* malaria in all areas rather than using single antimalarial drug preferably with an artemisinin derivative as one of the partner drugs (Artemisinin Combination Therapies).^{9,10}

Resistance to artemisinin and artemisinin combination therapy $(ACT)^{16-20}$

Unfortunately over the last decade resistance against artemisinins has emerged in *P. falciparum* malaria and spread within Southeast Asia (Myanmar, Thailand, Cambodia, Vietnam, and Laos).¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Clinically, resistance to artemisinins is defined as a slower rate of parasite clearance in patients treated with an artemisinin derivative or an ACT. Resistance to artemisinin was first reported as a 100-fold reduction in parasite clearance rate in Pailin, Western Cambodia in 2009.¹⁹ It is known from the past decades that CQ-resistant *P. falciparum* strains spread to India from Southeast Asian countries through the northeastern states. Now, the artemisinin-resistant strain has been spreading from Southeast Asia to other parts of the world. If artemisinin-resistant malaria does spread to or emerge in India, the human health consequences will be immense. India is already experiencing declining efficacy of its currently recommended first-line ACT (artesunate-sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine) in the northeastern states of the country.²⁰ Due to the continuous emergence of *P. falciparum* resistance to all available antimalarial drugs, there is an urgent need to develop new antimalarial agents with a different mode of action.

1.2.4. Drug Target for Malaria: Falcipain-2 (FP-2)

Malaria parasite degrades most of the host cell hemoglobin which is essential to the survival of the parasite.²¹ Degradation of hemoglobin by the malarial parasites produces "heme" and "globin fragments" which will be further degraded to small amino acids. These amino acids resulting from hemoglobin degradation are transferred to parasite proteins or utilized for energy metabolism of malarial parasites.²² The release of heme is toxic to parasite itself and causes membrane damage due to its peroxidative properties²³ and hence parasites convert heme into an insoluble crystalline form called hemozoin (also called malaria pigment).^{24a} The formation of hemozoin is essential to the survival of parasites. Antimalarial drugs, such as chloroquine and mefloquine are believed to kill malaria parasites by inhibiting hemozoin biocrystallization.^{24b}

The actual process of hemoglobin degradation is carried out by different proteases present within the malaria parasite (**Figure 3**). Aspartic proteases named plasmepsins I, II and IV and histo-aspartic protease (HAP) participate in hemoglobin degradation²⁵ to release heme moiety and globin fragments followed by further degradation of globin fragments by

cysteine proteases named falcipains-2, -2', and -3.²⁶ However, the precise sequence of events particularly whether a plasmepsin or a falcipain initiates the degradation step is still unclear.²⁷ Further degradation of oligopeptides by a metalloprotease (falcilysin)²⁸ and dipeptidyl amino- peptidase 1 (DPAP1)²⁹ yields small peptides. Finally, small peptides are then pumped out of the food vacuole into the cytoplasm and an amino peptidase activity provides amino acids essential for parasites survival.³⁰ As shown in **Figure 3**, the degradation process follows an ordered pathway. Therefore, blocking the process or inhibiting any of these enzymes would be lethal to the parasite. It can be concluded from the literature that the inhibition of cysteine proteases (*i.e.*, falcipains) could be considered as an ideal drug target for the development of new antimalarial drugs.³¹⁻⁴⁰



Figure 3. Hemoglobin degradation pathway in *Plasmodium* food vacuole.^{40b}

Several falcipain-2 inhibitors have been synthesized in literature³²⁻⁴⁰ and evaluated as potential antimalarial agents such as peptidyl fluromethyl ketones,³² peptidyl vinyl sulfones,³³ peptidyl aldehydes,³⁴ peptidyl epoxides,³⁵ peptidomimetics based on a 1,4-benzodiazepine scaffold,³⁶ chalcones,³⁷ isoquinolines,³⁸ thiosemicarbazones,³⁹ peptidyl vinyl sulfonamide and sulfonate esters, vinyl ketones, amides, esters and nitriles, phenothiazines, pyridines and peptidyl aziridines (**Figure 4**).

However, the use of many falcipain-2 inhibitors (such as peptide-based FP-2 inhibitors) as therapeutic agents is limited due to some of the following properties of falcipain-2 inhibitors.

(i) Poor pharmacological profile; (ii) Poor absorption through cell membranes; (iii) Susceptibility to protease degradation; (iv) Limited bioavailability; (v) Problems with the formulation.



Figure 4. Some of the reported inhibitors of the falcipain-2 enzyme.

1.2.5. General inhibition mechanism of cysteine protease (FP-2) inhibitors

Falcipain-2 inhibitors in principle require hydrophobic interaction in P_1 , P_2 pockets and an electrophilic (or) an alkylation centre, which behaves as a Michael acceptor (**Figure 5**).^{31a,31i,31j,33a,40} FP-2 inhibitors such as vinyl sulfones inactivate the enzyme by irreversible addition of the thiol group of active site Cys42 to the electrophilic double bond of vinyl

sulfone moiety. The obtained negative charge at the α -carbon is eliminated *via* protonation by the histidinium residue^{40b} (**Figure 6**).



Figure 5. General structure of the peptidyl vinyl sulfones containing an amide linkage between the R_3 substituent and the peptide residue. R_1 and R_2 represent the side chains of the amino acids (P_1 and P_2).



Figure 6. Mechanism of inhibition of the FP-2 enzyme by vinyl sulfones.

1.2.6. Hybrid molecules

Hybrid molecules can be defined as chemical entities with two or more distinct natural or unnatural moieties having a different biological functions and dual activity suggesting that a hybrid molecule acts as two distinct pharmacophores.⁴¹ Synthesis of hybrid molecules⁴² is a new promising approach in the development of lead molecules for the medicinal and pharmaceutical industry as the biological activities of hybrid molecules is superior to that of individual parent compounds. Another advantage of this concept over a combinatorial chemistry approach is that it may provide possibilities to generate a diverse group of new type of molecules for applications in biology. In the modern combinatorial chemistry⁴³ millions of new compounds can be synthesized in a relatively short period and then evaluated for their biological activities using high-throughput screening (HTS) method.⁴⁴ However, the success of such a random approach is limited due to the lack of new chemical entities (NCEs) with high diversity. Hence the synthesis of hybrid molecules can be considered as a new approach to achieve structural diversity in compounds with different

biological activities. The use of hybrid molecules also reduces the risk of treatment failure and the partner drug may be protected from the spread of resistance.

In fact, nature already used the hybrid molecule approach to synthesize several structurally diverse "natural hybrid molecules" or "naturally occurring hybrid molecules" through various metabolic pathways. For example, nature employed the shikimic acid pathway for the synthesis of natural hybrid molecule vitamin E (28) (Figure 7). Nature also synthesizes several interesting dimeric natural product hybrids. Vinblastine (29) and vincristine (30) are the examples for natural dimeric indole alkaloids used to treat some types of cancer. The dimeric hybrids, vinblastine and vincristine consist of vindoline and catharanthine monomeric alkaloid substructures where the individual monomers do not exhibit any pronounced or useful biological activities. Cephalostatin 1 (31) and blepharocalyxin D (32) are some other examples for dimeric natural product hybrids (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Examples for naturally occurring hybrid molecules.

Artificial or synthetic hybrid molecules can be synthesized by covalently joining the two individual natural or synthetic moieties through a suitable linker. Depending on the types of linkers connecting the two individual moieties, synthetic hybrid molecules can be classified into four types (**Figure 8**).

(a) **Conjugate hybrids:** In conjugate hybrids, both the pharmacophores are joined through a metabolically stable linker which is not part of the either of the two molecules. *e.g.*, aminoquinoline-trioxane hybrid 33.^{41a}

(b) **Cleavage conjugate hybrids:** In this type, both the pharmacophores joined through a metabolically cleavable linker inside the biological system to release the two pharmacophore units that interact independently with different targets. *e.g.*, CF_3 artemisinin-mefloquine hybrid **34**.⁴⁵

(c) **Fused hybrids:** In fused hybrids, the size of the linker is decreased/removed such that the framework of the pharmacophores is in contact. Pyrroloquinoline fused hybrid **35** was synthesized by the reaction of *o*-aminophenylpyrrole and imidazole-2-carboxaldehyde.⁴⁶ Similarly, fused hybrid **36** was synthesized by coupling L-DOPA and (*R*)- α -lipoic acid.⁴⁷

(d) **Merged hybrids:** The two components are merged by taking advantage of the common pharmacophore in the structures which give rise to smaller and simpler hybrid molecules. Merged hybrid **37** was designed by taking the commonalities of the 4-aminoquinoline and 9-acridone.⁴⁸



Figure 8. Classification of hybrid molecules (a) Conjugate hybrid, (b) Cleavage conjugate hybrid, (c) Fused hybrid, (d) Merged hybrid.



Figure 9. Examples of the various types of hybrid molecules.

The design of structurally diverse hybrid molecules has been receiving increasing attention in the field of medicinal chemistry from the past two decades.⁴² The concept of hybrid molecules has been utilized by several research groups to develop a diverse class of compounds to treat several diseases such as cancer, AIDS, diabetes, tuberculosis and is now gaining momentum in the field of antimalarial drug discovery.⁴⁹

Advantages of antimalarial hybrid drugs over currently used combination therapy for malaria treatment

In the treatment of malaria utilizing drug combination therapy, two or more agents are coformulated into a single tablet termed as a multicomponent drug. Compared to the currently used combination therapy, hybrid drugs may be less expensive with a lower risk of drugdrug adverse interactions compared to multicomponent drugs. A hybrid drug possesses a single pharmacokinetic profile which becomes easy to predict and control^{41,50} and hence superior to the standard combination therapy.⁵¹ It is believed that hybrid drugs may be absorbed, distributed, metabolized and excreted at one single rate.⁵² Also, pharmacokinetic properties can be controlled by the linkage moiety.⁵³ The use of hybrid molecules improves pharmacokinetic profile and activity against resistant strains compared to that of combination therapy but have the disadvantages of less flexible administration.
Walsh *et al.* synthesized an artemisinin-quinine hybrid **38** (Figure 10) by coupling dihydroartemisinin to the carboxylic acid derivative of quinine *via* an ester-linkage.^{49a} The hybrid **38** exhibited potent *in vitro* activity against sensitive and resistance strains of *P*. *falciparum* than that of quinine and artemisinin alone.

The most important challenge when designing hybrid compounds is to overcome issues associated with drug resistance, pharmacokinetics, potency, solubility, metabolism, mode of administration and toxicity.⁵¹ The fact is that only one synthetic aminoquinoline-trioxaquine hybrid molecule **41** (PA1103/SAR116242) has reached the clinical trials.⁵⁴ However, it was later abandoned in preclinical development. Hence the development of novel hybrid molecules with a different mode of action using different drugs or pharmacophores remains one of few remaining resources as there is a lack of effective treatment for malaria.

Several antimalarial hybrid molecules have been synthesized in literature^{33d,49} by using different drugs or pharmacophores and some of the examples are shown in **Figure 10**.



Figure 10. Some of the reported antimalarial hybrid molecules.

1.3. PRESENT WORK

Objective

As part of our ongoing research on synthesizing novel antimalarial agents having a different mode of action, we wished to synthesize antimalarial hybrid molecules targeting falcipain-2 protease enzyme. Although several peptidyl vinyl sulfones as FP-2 enzyme inhibitors have been reported,³³ vinyl phosphonates as FP-2 inhibitors have not yet been extensively studied. Ettari *et al.* in 2008 synthesized benzodiazepine-based vinyl and allyl phosphonates as FP-2 inhibitors.^{55a} Bhattacharya *et al.* had reported peptidyl vinyl phosphonates as cysteine protease inhibitors.^{55b}

Therefore, the present work describes the design and synthesis of artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules as novel antimalarial agents targeting falcipain-2 protease enzyme. Further, the synthesized hybrids are assayed for their *in vitro* and *in vivo* antimalarial activities against falcipain-2 and various strains of *P. falciparum*.

1.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1.4.1. Design of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules

Since falcipain-2 inhibitors in principle would require the hydrophobic interaction in P_1 and P_2 pockets and essentially electrophilic center at the active site of the enzyme, ^{31a,31i,31j,33a,40} we visualized that these requirements could be ideally fulfilled by artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules as shown in **Figure 11**. The lactol group (the cyclic equivalent of a hemiacetal or ketal) present in dihydroartemisinin allowed us to design the hybrid molecules by combing it with other suitable molecules through the linkers.



Figure 11. Design of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules.

Retrosynthesis

As shown in **Scheme 1**, we envisioned artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules could be synthesized by the following steps:

Step 1: Attaching dihydroartemisinin with an amino acid based linker using an etherification reaction to obtain artemisinin monopeptide. A linker could be any compound that has one free hydroxyl group and some functionality which could be easily converted to free acid *e*. *g*. methyl ester.

Step 2: Coupling of the free acid of the obtained artemisinin monopeptide with amino acid methyl ester using DCC and HOBT to obtain artemisinin dipeptide.

Step 3: Coupling of the free acid of the obtained artemisinin dipeptide with γ -amino vinyl phosphonate using DCC and HOBT to obtain artemisinin dipeptidyl hybrid molecule (or artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecule).



Scheme 1. Retrosynthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules.

In **Scheme 1**, R_1 represents the substituent of γ -amino vinyl phosphonate required for P_1 site and phosphonate group of γ -amino vinyl phosphonate was chosen for P_1' site required for falcipain-2 inhibitors, R_2 represents the side chain of amino acid required in P_2 site, and artemisinin attached linker (product obtained from **Step 1**) comprises P_3 site required for falcipain-2 inhibitors.

N-Cbz protected L-serine, and *trans*-4-hydroxy L-proline methyl esters were selected as linkers. Both the linkers possessed one hydroxyl group and one methyl ester group, which can be later converted into a free carboxylic acid. The study of cysteine protease inhibitors revealed that phenylalanine and leucine were found to be the best among all the amino acid residues at R_2 (See section **1.2.4.** and **1.2.5.**) and hence, phenylalanine and leucine methyl esters were chosen for the amide coupling to exert an effective binding in the P_2 pocket. Finally, γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate was chosen for the final amide coupling.

1.4.2. Synthesis of artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules

As depicted in **Scheme 1**, the synthesis of hybrid molecules requires dihydroartemisinin, linkers, amino acid methyl esters and γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate. The linear synthesis using these four units would provide the required hybrid molecules. Dihydroartemisinin was synthesized by the reduction of artemisinin with NaBH₄ and MeOH following the reported literature procedure.⁵⁶

1.4.2.1. Synthesis of linkers

The linkers *N*-Cbz protected L-serine **46** and *trans*-4-hydroxy L-proline methyl ester **47** were synthesized from their corresponding free amino acids L-serine **44** and *trans*-4-hydroxy L-proline **45**, respectively by following the literature procedures⁵⁷ (**Scheme 2**).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of linkers 46 and 47. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (i) SOCl₂, MeOH, 25 °C, 24 h, 98%; (ii) CbzCl, NaHCO₃, DCM, 97%; (b) (i) SOCl₂, MeOH, 45 °C, 18 h; (ii) CbzCl, NaHCO₃, dioxane/H₂O (1:1), 25 °C, 21 h, 100%.

1.4.2.2. Synthesis of γ-phenyl-γ-amino vinyl phosphonate 52

1.4.2.2.1. Synthesis of 52 using Tsuji-Trost reaction

Bhattacharya *et al.*^{55b} reported the first synthesis of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate **52** starting from cinnamaldehyde **48** employing Tsuji-Trost reaction as a key step (**Scheme 3**). Cinnamaldehyde **48** was treated with diethyl phosphite to afford hydroxy phosphonate **49** in 77% yield. The hydroxyl group of **49** was converted to carbonate derivative **50** which was then subjected to Tsuji-Trost reaction conditions with *p*-anisidine to afford compound **51**. Final deprotection of *p*-methoxy phenyl (PMP) group was achieved by treating with trichloroisocyanuric acid (TCCA) in acidic medium to furnish **52** as its hydrochloride salt.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of (\pm) - γ -amino vinyl phosphonate 52 using Tsuji-Trost reaction.^{55b} *Reagents and conditions:* (a) Diethyl phosphite, Et₃N, DCM, 0 °C to rt, 3 h, 77%; (b) MeOCOCl, Py, MeCN, 0 °C to rt, 12 h, 65%; (c) *p*-anisidine, Pd(OAc)₂, PPh₃, THF, rt, 1 h, 71%; (d) TCCA, MeCN/H₂O (1:1), 1M aq H₂SO₄, 12 h, rt, 21%.

The low yield in final deprotection step and use of $Pd(OAc)_2$ catalyst in Tsuji-Trost reaction allowed us to search for an alternate route for the synthesis of vinyl phosphonate **52**. Moreover, it is difficult to synthesize the enantiomers of **52** (*i.e.* (*R*)-**52** and (*S*)-**52**) with high enantioselectivities employing the asymmetric version of Tsuji-Trost reaction.

1.4.2.2.2. Synthesis of 52 using Overman rearrangement

The Overman rearrangement is the conversion of allylic alcohols into allylic amines involving the rearrangement of an allylic trichloroacetimidate to an allylic trichloroacetamide through an imidate intermediate.⁵⁸ Since Overman rearrangement yields allylic trichloroacetamides, we thought of deprotection of allylic trichloroacetamide **54**

would give the required allylic amine **52**. As shown in **Scheme 4**, allylic alcohol (hydroxy phosphonate) **49** was treated with trichloroacetonitrile under basic conditions at -35 °C to yield allylic trichloroacetimidate **53** in 98% yield. Imidate **53** underwent rearrangement on refluxing with toluene to furnish allylic trichloroacetamide **54** in 92% yield with the exclusive formation of the *E*-double bond. Several conditions were employed (acidic and basic conditions, see **Table 1**) to deprotect the trichloroacetamide group, which resulted in the formation of free amine **55** with unwanted isomerization of the double bond.



Scheme 4. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) Diethyl phosphite, Et₃N, DCM, 0 °C to rt, 3 h, 77%; (b) CCl₃CN, DBU, DCM, -35 °C, 30 min, 98%; (c) toluene, reflux, 24 h, 92%.

S. No	Conditions	Product formed
1	AcOH, H ₂ O, 80 °C, 12 h	55
2	30 % NaOH, EtOH, 80 °C, 3 h	Complex mixture
3	3N KOH, EtOH, rt, 24 h	55
4	$30 \% \text{ NH}_3$ in MeOH, rt, 16 h	55

Table 1. Different conditions used for the deprotection of allylic trichloroacetamide 54.

1.4.2.2.3. Synthesis of 52 from 2-phenylglycinol (58)

In another approach, the synthesis of **52** was planned from 2-phenylglycinol **58** keeping in mind the vinyl phosphonate moiety can be introduced *via* Wittig olefination of an α -amino aldehyde with tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate.

As shown in **Scheme 5**, the synthesis commenced from (±)-styrene oxide **56**. Ring opening of epoxide **56** with sodium azide in H₂O at 60 °C yielded azido alcohol **57** in 91% yield.⁵⁹ α -Azido alcohol **57** was subjected to hydrogenation under Pd/C to yield 2-phenylglycinol **58** in

99% crude yield which was used directly for the next step. Compound **58** was treated with $(Boc)_2O$ and BzCl to furnish Boc and Bz protected amino alcohols **59** and **60**, respectively. Compounds **59** and **60** were oxidized with Dess-Martin periodinane to yield the corresponding α -amino aldehydes **61** and **62**, respectively.⁶⁰ Unfortunately, Wittig olefination of both the aldehydes **61** and **62** with tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate and NaH in dry THF resulted in the unexpected double bond isomerized Wittig products **63** and **64** (enamides), respectively.



Scheme 5. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) NaN₃, H₂O, 60 °C, 3.5 h, 91%; (b) H₂, Pd/C, rt, 12 h, 99%; (c) (Boc)₂O (or) BzCl, 0 °C, 3 h; (d) Dess-Martin periodinane, 3 h, rt; (e) tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to rt, 3 h.

To our delight when the trityl protecting group was introduced in α -amino aldehyde and performed the same Wittig olefination, isomerization of the double bond was not observed. α -Amino alcohol **58** was protected with trityl chloride to afford trityl protected amino alcohol **67** in 63% yield. Compound **67** on oxidation with Dess-Martin periodinane furnished α -amino aldehyde **68** followed by immediate Wittig olefination with tetraethyl methylene diphosphonate yielded olefin **69** in 60% over two steps without any isomerization of the formed double bond (confirmed by ¹H and ¹³C NMR). The final deprotection of the trityl group with TFA in DCM yielded required amine (±)-**52** in 95% yield (**Scheme 6**). It should be mentioned that the amine (±)-**52** is found to be unstable and decomposes slowly at room temperature. Hence, it should be prepared and used just before the coupling reaction.



Scheme 6. Synthesis of (\pm) - γ -amino vinyl phosphonate **52**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) trityl chloride, Et₃N, 25 °C, 12 h, 63%; (b) Dess-Martin periodinane, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 30 min; (c) tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 60% over two steps; (d) TFA, DCM, 25 °C, 30 min, 95%.

Synthesis of artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules

After successfully synthesizing γ-phenyl-γ-amino vinyl phosphonate **52**, we planned to synthesize the hybrid molecules as designed previously. As sown in **Figure 12**, *"dihydroartemisinin—linker"* was allowed to react independently with vinyl phosphonate **52** and amino acid methyl ester to furnish *"dihydroartemisinin—linker—vinyl phosphonate"* hybrid molecule of type-1 and *"dihydroartemisinin—linker—amino acid"*, respectively. Further coupling of *"dihydroartemisinin—linker—amino acid"* with vinyl phosphonate **52** furnished *"dihydroartemisinin—linker—amino acid"* hybrid molecule of type-2.





As shown in **Scheme 7**, reduction of artemisinin **11** was carried out with NaBH₄ and MeOH at 0 °C to afford dihydroartemisinin **12**.⁵⁶ The linkers **46** and **47** when reacted with dihydroartemisinin **12** in the presence of Lewis acid (BF₃·Et₂O) in dichloromethane at 0 °C furnished artemisinin derivatives **70a** and **71a**, respectively.

Compounds **70a** and **71a** were found to be an inseparable mixture of two diastereomers by column chromatography. Chiral HPLC analysis of **70a** and **71a** revealed that β -diastereomer is major than that of α -diastereomer. Compound **70a** was obtained in 95:5 (β : α) ratio and compound **71a** was obtained in 85:15 (β : α) ratio (See chiral HPLC data Section 1.9).



Scheme 7. Synthesis of artemisinin attached linkers 70a and 71a. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) NaBH₄, MeOH, 0 °C, 2 h, 84% (b) 46, BF₃·Et₂O, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 55%; (c) 47, BF₃·Et₂O, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 67%.

The linker attached artemisinin **70a** was then subjected to alkaline hydrolysis using 2M aq LiOH to yield the free acid **70b** which was used without any further purification for the next amide coupling reaction with racemic γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (±)-**52** under DCC and HOBT condition to furnish artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecule **72** as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (**Scheme 8**).



Scheme 8. Synthesis of hybrid molecule **72**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) 2M aq LiOH, THF, 25 °C, 2 h; (b) (±)-**52**, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 79%.

Free acid **70b** obtained from the alkaline hydrolysis of **70a** was subjected to peptide coupling reactions with L-phenylalanine methyl ester and L-leucine methyl ester to afford dipeptides **73a** and **74a**, respectively which were hydrolyzed to obtain free acids of dipeptides **73b** and **74b**, respectively followed by peptide coupling reaction with (\pm) -**52** furnished artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules **75** and **76**, respectively as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (**Scheme 9**).



Scheme 9. Synthesis of hybrid molecules 75 and 76. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) L-phenylalanine methyl ester, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 63%; (b) (i) 2M aq LiOH, THF, 25 °C, 2 h; (ii) (\pm)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 74%; (c) L-leucine methyl ester, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 67%; (d) (i) 2M aq LiOH, THF, 25 °C, 2 h; (ii) (\pm)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 51%.

Similarly, the linker attached artemisinin compound **71a** was subjected to alkaline hydrolysis using 2M aq LiOH to yield the free acid **71b** which was subjected to coupling reaction with racemic γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (±)-**52** under DCC and HOBT condition to furnish the hybrid molecule **77** as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (**Scheme 10**).



Scheme 10. Synthesis of hybrid molecule **77**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) 2M aq LiOH, THF, 25 °C, 2 h; (b) (±)-**52**, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 73%.

Free acid **71b** obtained from the alkaline hydrolysis of **71a** was subjected to peptide coupling reactions with L-phenylalanine methyl ester and L-leucine methyl ester to afford dipeptides **78a** and **79a**, respectively which were hydrolyzed to obtain free acids of dipeptides **78b** and **79b**, respectively followed by immediate peptide coupling reaction with (\pm) -**52** furnished artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules **80** and **81**, respectively as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (**Scheme 11**).



Scheme 11. Synthesis of hybrid molecules 80 and 81. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) L-phenylalanine methyl ester, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 70%; (b) (i) 2M aq LiOH, THF, 25 °C, 2 h; (ii) (\pm)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2h, 48%; (c) L-leucine methyl ester, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 95%; (d) (i) 2M aq LiOH, THF, 25 °C, 2 h; (ii) (\pm)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 44%.

Since **71a** is an 85:15 inseparable mixture of **71a** (β):**71a** (α), hybrid molecules **77**, **80** and **81** were obtained as an inseparable mixture of four diastereomers. For example, chiral HPLC of hybrid molecule **81** showed 4 peaks corresponding to the four diastereomers as shown in **Figure 13**. Peaks (**a**) and (**b**) correspond to diastereomers formed from **71a** (β) and **71a** (α) with enantiomer (*S*)-**52** of (±)-**52**, respectively. Peaks (**c**) and (**d**) correspond to diastereomers formed from **71a** (β) and **71a** (α) with enantiomer (*R*)-**52** of (±)-**52**, respectively. Peaks (**c**) and (**d**) correspond to diastereomers formed from **71a** (β) and **71a** (α) with enantiomer (*R*)-**52** of (±)-**52**, respectively. Peaks (**c**) and (**d**) correspond to diastereomers formed from **71a** (β) and **71a** (α) with enantiomer (*R*)-**52** of (±)-**52**, respectively.



Figure 13. Structures of four inseparable diastereomers of hybrid molecule 81.

1.4.3. Antimalarial activity of synthesized artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules 72, 75, 76, 77, 80 and 81

All the synthesized artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules (72, 75, 76, 77, 80 and 81) were assayed for their inhibition activity against falcipain-2 protease enzyme. The inhibitions of falcipain-2 enzyme by all the hybrid molecules are expressed in IC_{50} values and are summarized in **Table 2**.

Among all six synthesized hybrid molecules, dipeptide hybrid molecules **75**, **76** and **81** exhibited falcipain-2 enzyme inhibition in μ M range whereas mono peptide hybrid molecules **72** and **77** were found to be inactive against falcpain-2 enzyme. The dipeptide hybrid molecule **75** having phenylalanine residue in P₂ pocket and serine in P₃ pocket showed IC₅₀ value of 5.90 μ M against FP-2 enzyme. The dipeptide hybrid molecule **76** having leucine residue in P₂ pocket and serine in P₃ pocket showed IC₅₀ value of 5.62 μ M against FP-2. The dipeptide hybrid molecule **81** having leucine residue in P₂ pocket and hydroxyproline in P₃ pocket showed IC₅₀ value of 5.62 μ M against FP-2 whereas the dipeptide hybrid molecule **80** having phenylalanine residue in P₂ pocket and hydroxyproline in P₃ pocket was found to be inactive against FP-2. The inactivity of mono peptide hybrid molecules **72** and **77** against FP-2 may be attributed due to the complete absence of P₂ pocket residue.

Compound	IC ₅₀ (µM)	$K_{i}(\mu M)$
72	>100	NA
75	5.90 ± 0.45	3.49 ± 0.2668
76	5.62 ± 0.30	3.32 ± 0.177
77	>100	NA
80	>100	NA
81	7.67 ± 0.35	4.54 ± 0.206

Table 2. Inhibition of falci	pain-2 activity by compounds.
------------------------------	-------------------------------

Further, all the synthesized artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules (**72**, **75**, **76**, **77**, **80** and **81**) were assayed for their antiplasmodial activities against different strains such as chloroquine-sensitive (3D7), chloroquine-pyrimethamine resistant (7G8) and chloroquine-pyrimethamine-mefloquine resistant (Dd2) strains of *P. falciparum* (**Table 3**).

Among these, hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** were found to exhibit very effective parasiticidal activities *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The parasiticidal efficacies of the hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** were higher than the existing antimalarial agent, artemisinin.

The instant dual-targeting artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** were found to be several-fold more potent than artemisinin alone against various strains of parasites (**Table 3**). Also, the hybrid molecules effectively killed *P. falciparum* strains that are resistant to commonly used antimalarial compounds such as chloroquine, pyrimethamine and mefloquine (**Table 3**).

The antiplasmodial activity data in **Table 3** suggests that the hybrid molecules **75**, **76** and **81** exhibited potent antiplasmodial activities in the nM range against all the strains of *P*. *falciparum*, being more active than artemisinin. The hybrid **75** displayed EC₅₀ values of 2.7, 0.47 and 1.9 nM against 3D7, 7G8 and Dd2 strains of *P*. *falciparum*, respectively. The hybrid **76** showed EC₅₀ values of 3.3, 0.23 and 3.5 nM against 3D7, 7G8 and Dd2 strains of *P*. *falciparum*, respectively. The hybrid **81** showed EC₅₀ values of 2.57, 1.2 and 5.5 nM against 3D7, 7G8 and Dd2 strains of *P*. *falciparum*, respectively.

Compound	EC ₅₀ on	EC ₅₀ on	EC ₅₀ on
	P. falciparum 3D7	P. falciparum 7G8*	P. falciparum Dd2**
	(nM)	(nM)	(nM)
75	2.7	0.47	1.9
76	3.3	0.23	3.5
81	2.57	1.2	5.5
Artemisinin	~27	~18	~15

Table 3. Parasiticidal activity of selected compounds on *P. falciparum in vitro* culture.

*Chloroquine and Pyrimethamine resistant

**Chloroquine, Pyrimethamine and Mefloquine resistant

The artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** showed excellent *in vivo* antimalarial efficacies (**Table 4**). It was observed that the treatment with these compounds (12.5 mg/kg of body weight) completely cleared the parasites in infected mice and 100% protection was observed in treated group of mice as compared to untreated

control where all mice died after 10-15 days of infection. Moreover, the survival days of mice after treatment with the hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** were found to be >60 days (**Table 4**).

Compound	Complete Protection	Survival after treatment
(4 doses of 12.5mg/Kg of	- Mice with complete	(Days)
body weight)	parasite clearance	
	(% of treated mice)	
75	80%	>60
76	100%	>60
81	100%	>60
Artemisinin	0%	15-25
Control (solvent alone)	0%	12-15

Table 4. Protection of mice against malaria after treatment with selected compounds.

The hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** were further assayed for their *in vitro* toxicity on mammalian cell culture (A549 human cells) and were found to be non-toxic to the human cells. The EC₅₀ values of these compounds on A549 human cells are shown in **Table 5**.

Table 5. In vitro toxicity of selected compounds on mammalian cell culture.

Compound	EC ₅₀ on A549 human cells (nM)
75	14600 ± 174.8
76	3816 ± 160.6
81	1282 ± 156.1

As shown in **Figure 14**, the effect of selected hybrid compounds **75**, **76** and **81** on the morphology and development of *P. falciparum* through its asexual stage was studied. The ring stage parasites were treated with the selected compounds or solvent alone as control.



Figure 14. Effect of compounds 75, 76 and 81 on *P. falciparum* morphology.

1.4.4. Asymmetric synthesis (diastereoselective synthesis) of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81 (75*R*&75*S*, 76*R*&76*S* and 81*R*&81*S*) Since hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81 are mixtures of diastereomers and exhibited potent antimalarial activities against falcipain-2 enzyme, hence we were interested in synthesizing the individual diastereomers of 75, 76 and 81 to study the role of stereochemistry on the antimalarial activity. We opined that the synthetic strategy outlined in Scheme 9 and Scheme 11 could be utilized for the diastereoselective synthesis of hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81 using chiral (*R*) or (*S*)- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (*i.e.* (*R*)-52 or (*S*)-52) in the final amide coupling reaction.

1.4.4.1. Asymmetric synthesis of γ-amino vinyl phosphonate 52

The enantiomers of **52** were synthesized using the racemic strategy described in **Scheme 6**. (*S*)-2-Phenylglycinol ((*S*)-**58**) was protected with trityl chloride to furnish trityl protected amino alcohol (*S*)-**67** which on oxidation with Dess-Martin periodinane furnished α -amino aldehyde (*S*)-**68** followed by immediate Wittig olefination with tetraethyl methylene diphosphonate yielded trityl protected olefin (*R*)-**69** (100% *ee*) without any racemization

during the oxidation and Wittig steps (confirmed by chiral HPLC). The final deprotection of the trityl group with TFA in DCM afforded amine (R)-**52** in 95% yield (**Scheme 12**).



Scheme 12. Synthesis of (*R*)- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate **52**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) trityl chloride, Et₃N, 25 °C, 12 h, 60%; (b) Dess-Martin periodinane, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 30 min; (c) tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 60% over two steps; (d) TFA, DCM, 25 °C, 30 min, 95%.

Similarly, trityl protection of (*R*)-2-phenylglycinol ((*R*)-58) yielded (*R*)-67, which on oxidation with Dess-Martin periodinane furnished α -amino aldehyde (*R*)-68 followed by immediate Wittig olefination with tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate produced (*S*)-69 in 100% *ee* (chiral HPLC) without any racemization. The final deprotection of the trityl group with TFA in DCM yielded amine (*S*)-52 in 95% yield (Scheme 13).



Scheme 13. Synthesis of (*S*)- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate **52**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) trityl chloride, Et₃N, 25 °C, 12 h, 63%; (b) Dess-Martin periodinane, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 30 min; (c) tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 64% over two steps; (d) TFA, DCM, 25 °C, 30 min, 95%.

Similar to the racemic amine (\pm) -52, the chiral amines (*R*)-52 and (*S*)-52 are also found to be unstable, racemize and decompose slowly at room temperature. Hence, they should be prepared and used just before the coupling reaction.

Asymmetric synthesis of hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81

After the successful synthesis of (R)-52 or (S)-52, we targeted the asymmetric synthesis of potent antimalarial hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81.

The diastereomers of hybrid molecule 75 (*i.e.*, 75*R* and 75*S*) were synthesized by coupling 73b with (*R*)-52 and (*S*)-52, respectively (Scheme 14).



Scheme 14. Synthesis of hybrid molecules 75*R* and 75*S*. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (*R*)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 58%; (b) (*S*)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 54%.

The diastereomers of hybrid molecule 76 (*i.e.*, 76R and 76S) were also synthesized by coupling 74b with (R)-52 and (S)-52, respectively (Scheme 15).



Scheme 15. Synthesis of hybrid molecules 76*R* and 76*S*. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (*R*)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 57%; (b) (*S*)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 62%.

Similarly, the diastereomers of hybrid molecule **81** (*i.e.*, **81**R and **81**S) were synthesized by coupling **79b** with (R)-**52** and (S)-**52**, respectively (**Scheme 16**).



Scheme 16. Synthesis of hybrid molecules 81*R* and 81*S*. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (*R*)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 75%; (b) (*S*)-52, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h, 51%.

1.4.5. Antimalarial activity of diastereomers of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81 (75*R*&75*S*, 76*R*&76*S* and 81*R*&81*S*)

All the synthesized diastereomers of hybrid molecules **75**, **76** and **81** (*i.e.*, **75***R* & **75***S*, **76***R* & **76***S* and **81***R* & **81***S*) were assayed for their efficacy against falcipain-2 enzyme. The inhibition of falcipain-2 activity of all the synthesized diastereomers are summarized in **Table 6**.

It is evident from the **Table 6** that the diastereomer **75***R* synthesized from (*R*)- γ -phenyl- γ amino vinyl phosphonate was found to be more active against FP-2 than the corresponding diastereomer **75***S* synthesized from (*S*)- γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate. Similarly, diastereomers **76***R* and **81***R* were found to show more FP-2 inhibition activities than the corresponding diastereomers **76***S* and **81***S*, respectively.

Compound	IC ₅₀ (µM)	$K_{\rm i}(\mu { m M})$
75 <i>R</i>	3.78 ± 0.52	2.78
755	13.46 ± 6.74	9.92
76R	3.38 ± 0.47	2.49
76 <i>S</i>	9.38 ± 1.97	6.91
81 <i>R</i>	3.53 ± 0.25	2.60
81 <i>S</i>	>10	NA

Table 6. Inhibition of falcipain-2 activity by compounds.

Further, all the diastereomers **75***R* & **75***S*, **76***R* & **76***S* and **81***R* & **81***S* were assayed for their antiplasmodial activities against 3D7 strain of *P. falciparum* (**Table 7**). All the diastereomers showed potent antiplasmodial activities in nM range compared to the existing antimalarial agent, artemisinin. Also, the diastereomers **75***R*, **76***R* and **81***R* were found to be more active than the corresponding diastereomers **75***S*, **76***S* and **81***S*. The *in vitro* antiplasmodial activities of all the diastereomers on 3D7 strain of *P. falciparum* are summarized in **Table 7**.

The diastereomer **75***R* exhibited EC_{50} value of 0.95 nM against the 3D7 strain of *P*. *falciparum* whereas **75***S* exhibited EC_{50} value of 2.03 nM against the 3D7 strain of *P*. *falciparum*. The diastereomer **76***R* showed EC_{50} value of 10.90 nM against the 3D7 strain whereas **76***S* showed EC_{50} value of 16.73 nM against the 3D7 strain. Similarly, the diastereomer **81***R* exhibited EC_{50} value of 1.04 nM against the 3D7 strain whereas **81***S* exhibited EC_{50} value of 6.12 nM against the 3D7 strain.

Compound	EC ₅₀ on	
	P. falciparum 3D7	
	nM (SD)	
75R	0.95 ± 0.49	
755	2.03 ± 3.10	
76R	10.90 ± 39.6	
76 <i>S</i>	16.73 ± 12.40	
81 <i>R</i>	1.04 ± 0.53	
81 <i>S</i>	6.12 ± 23.58	
Artemisinin	~27	

Table 7. Parasiticidal activity of selected compounds on *P. falciparum in vitro* culture.

In conclusion, the hybrids **75***R* and **81***R* could be considered as the ideal compounds for the further development of novel antimalarial drugs with a different mode of action.

1.4.6. Plausible mechanism of action of all the synthesized hybrid molecules 75, 76, 81 and their diastereomers 75*R* & 75*S*, 76*R* & 76*S* and 81*R* & 81*S*

The hybrids are believed to exhibit the dual mode of action of both the artemisinin and the peptidyl vinyl phosphonate units. Artemisinin works by the generation of carbon free radicals through its heme-mediated decomposition. The generated free radicals alkylate parasite proteins resulting in the death of parasites. Whereas peptidyl vinyl phosphonate works by inhibiting falcipain-2 proteases present in *P. falciparum* malaria parasite. Falcipain-2 proteases play a vital role in degrading the host hemoglobin into small amino acids. These amino acids resulting from hemoglobin degradation are transferred to parasite proteins or utilized for energy metabolism of the malarial parasites. Thus, inhibiting the

falcipain-2 proteases in *P. falciparum* makes the parasites unable to degrade the host hemoglobin resulting in the parasite death.

1.4.7. Synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecules

As discussed in Section 1.2.4. and 1.2.5., peptidyl vinyl sulfones are well-known inhibitors of the falcipain-2 enzyme.³³ In extension to the synthesis and antimalarial studies of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules as falcipain-2 enzyme inhibitors, we further aimed to synthesize the sulfone variants (*i.e.*, artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecules). We wished to synthesize dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone analogs of the most active artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules **75**, **76** and **81** to understand the complete structure-activity relationship (SAR) of the hybrid molecules (**Figure 15**). The sulfone hybrid molecules could be synthesized by coupling γ -amino vinyl sulfone **80** in the final amide coupling reaction.



Figure 15. General structures of (a) artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecule; (b) artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecule.

1.4.7.1. Racemic and enantioselective syntheses of γ-amino vinyl sulfone 90

The enantioselective synthesis of γ -aryl- γ -amino vinyl sulfones employing Wittig olefination of the corresponding stereochemically labile α -amino- α -aryl aldehydes is a challenging task. Pico´ *et al.* reported the asymmetric synthesis of γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90** starting from Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation of cinnamyl alcohol.⁶¹ As shown in **Scheme 17**, Sharpless asymmetric epoxidation of cinnamyl alcohol **82** yielded epoxy alcohol **83**. Ring opening of epoxide **83** with NaN₃ and LiClO₄ followed by protection with Boc₂O furnished Boc-amino diol **85**. Boc-amino diol **85** was subjected to Mitsunobu cyclization conditions with triphenylphosphine and diisopropyl azodicarboxylate to afford epoxide **86**. Ring opening of the epoxide **86** with thiophenol afforded hydroxy sulfide **87** which on oxidation with *m*- CPBA yielded hydroxy sulfone **88**. Dehydration of hydroxy sulfone **88** was achieved using water-soluble carbodiimide morpho-CDI in the presence of catalytic amounts of copper (II) chloride to furnish Boc-protected vinyl sulfone **89**. The final deprotection of **89** with 40% TFA in CH₂Cl₂ afforded the final γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90** as a TFA salt in quantitative yield.



Scheme 17. Reported⁶¹ synthesis of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (*R*)-90. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) cat. Ti(O*i*Pr)₄, cat. D-(-)-DIPT, ^{*t*}BuOOH, CH₂Cl₂, -20 °C, 80-90%; (b) NaN₃, LiClO₄, CH₃CN, reflux, 94%; (c) H₂, cat. 10% Pd/C, Boc₂O, EtOAc, rt, 82%; (d) PPh₃, DIAD, CHCl₃, reflux, 86%; (e) thiophenol, Et₃N, CH₃OH, reflux, 100%; (f) *m*-CPBA, CH₂Cl₂, rt, 100%; (g) morpho-CDI, cat. CuCl₂, CH₃CN, reflux, 100%; (h) 40% TFA in CH₂Cl₂, rt (quant).

We have designed a simple and novel approach for the synthesis of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90** as compared to Pico' *et al.*⁶¹ synthesis. Compound **90** was synthesized employing Wittig olefination of the trityl protected α -amino- α -phenyl aldehyde **68** using the similar strategy used for the synthesis of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate **52** (please see **Scheme 6**) without any possible racemization of α -amino- α -phenyl aldehyde **68** during the Wittig olefination step.

As shown in **Scheme 18**, trityl protected α -amino- α -phenyl aldehyde **68** obtained from Dess-Martin oxidation of **67** was subjected to the Wittig olefination condition with diethyl ((phenylsulfonyl)methyl)phosphonate and NaH to afford trityl protected vinyl sulfone **91**. Diethyl ((phenylsulfonyl)methyl)phosphonate was synthesized using the reported literature procedure.⁶² Final trityl deprotection of **91** with TFA in DCM yielded γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90** in quantitative yield.



Scheme 18. Synthesis of (\pm) - γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) trityl chloride, Et₃N, 25 °C, 12 h, 63%; (b) Dess-Martin periodinane, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 30 min; (c) diethyl ((phenylsulfonyl)methyl)phosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 74% over two steps; (d) TFA, DCM, 25 °C, 30 min, quant.

By using this methodology, the enantiomers of γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (*R*)-**90** and (*S*)-**90** were synthesized as shown in **Scheme 19** and **Scheme 20**, respectively. The structure of the trityl-protected compound (*S*)-**91** was further confirmed by its single crystal XRD (**Figure 16 & 17**).



Scheme 19. Synthesis of (*R*)- γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) trityl chloride, Et₃N, 25 °C, 12 h, 60%; (b) Dess-Martin periodinane, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 30 min; (c) diethyl ((phenylsulfonyl)methyl)phosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 71% over two steps; (d) TFA, DCM, 25 °C, 30 min, quant.



Scheme 20. Synthesis of (*S*)- γ -amino vinyl sulfone **90**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) trityl chloride, Et₃N, 25 °C, 12 h, 63%; (b) Dess-Martin periodinane, DCM, 0 °C to 25 °C, 30 min; (c) diethyl ((phenylsulfonyl)methyl)phosphonate, NaH, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 3 h, 54% over two steps; (d) TFA, DCM, 25 °C, 30 min, quant.



Figure 16. Single crystal XRD of compound (S)-91.



Figure 17. ORTEP diagram of compound (S)-91 (CCDC 1882103).

Synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecules 92, 93 and 94 After the successful synthesis of racemic and chiral γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone 90, we further aimed to synthesize the sulfone analogs of the most active artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl phosphonate hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81.

Free carboxylic acid **73b** was subjected to amide coupling with racemic γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (±)-90 to furnish hybrid molecule 92 as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (Scheme 21).



Scheme 21. Synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecule 92.

Free carboxylic acid **74b** was subjected to amide coupling with racemic γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (±)-90 to furnish hybrid molecule 93 as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (Scheme 22).



Scheme 22. Synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecule 93.

Similarly, free carboxylic acid **79b** was subjected to amide coupling with racemic γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (±)-**90** to furnish hybrid molecule **94** as an inseparable mixture of diastereomers (**Scheme 23**).



Scheme 23. Synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecule 94.

1.4.8. Asymmetric synthesis of artemisinin-dipeptidyl vinyl sulfone hybrid molecules 92, 93 and 94

After completing the synthesis of racemic hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94**, we were interested in accomplishing the diastereoselective synthesis of hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94** using similar synthetic strategy. Since we have already synthesized chiral γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfones (*R*)-**90** and (*S*)-**90**, synthesis of diastereomers of hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94** could be achieved by coupling of compound **73b**, **74b** and **79b** with chiral γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfones (*R*)-**90** and (*S*)-**90** using our earlier amide coupling method (please see Section 1.4.4.). The synthesis of diastereomers of hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94** is at present underway in our laboratory (Scheme **24**, **25** and **26**, respectively).



Scheme 24. Proposed synthesis of chiral hybrid molecules 92R and 92S. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (*R*)-90, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h; (b) (*S*)-90, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h.



Scheme 25. Proposed synthesis of chiral hybrid molecules 93R and 93S. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (*R*)-90, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h; (b) (*S*)-90, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h.



Scheme 26. Proposed synthesis of chiral hybrid molecules 94R and 94S. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) (*R*)-90, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h; (b) (*S*)-90, DCC, HOBT, THF, 0 °C to 25 °C, 2 h.

Further, all the synthesized sulfone hybrid molecules will be assayed for their inhibition against falcipain-2 enzyme *in vitro* and *in vivo* and further assayed for their antimalarial activities against different strains of *P. falciparum*.

1.5. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, novel artemisinin-peptidyl vinyl phosphonate antimalarial hybrid molecules (72, 75, 76, 77, 80 and 81) have been designed and synthesized targeting falcipain-2 enzyme of *P.falciparum*. The amide coupling of "*dihydroartemisinin—linker*" with freshly prepared γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (±)-52 furnished "*dihydroartemisinin—linker—vinyl phosphonate*" hybrid molecules 72 and 77 of type-1. Similarly, the amide coupling of "*dihydroartemisinin—linker—vinyl phosphonate*" with (±)-52 furnished "*dihydroartemisinin—linker—amino acid*" with (±)-52 furnished "*dihydroartemisinin—linker—amino acid*" with (±)-52 furnished "*dihydroartemisinin—linker—amino acid—vinyl phosphonate*" hybrid molecules 75, 76, 80 and 81 of type-2.

Among all the six synthesized hybrid molecules (72, 75, 76, 77, 80 and 81), dipeptide hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81 exhibited falcipain-2 enzyme inhibition in μ M range whereas mono peptide hybrid molecules 72 and 77 were found to be inactive against falcpain-2 enzyme. The inactivity of mono peptide hybrid molecules 72 and 77 against FP-2 may be due to the complete absence of P₂ pocket residue required for a falcpain-2 inhibitor. Further, the hybrids 75, 76 and 81 were found to be several-fold more potent in nM range than artemisinin alone against various strains (3D7, 7G8 and Dd2) of P. falciparum. The hybrid molecules 75, 76 and 81 effectively killed P. falciparum strains that are resistant to commonly used antimalarial compounds such as chloroquine, pyrimethamine and mefloquine. These hybrids also showed excellent in vivo antimalarial efficacies. It was observed that the treatment with these compounds (12.5 mg/kg of body weight) completely cleared the parasites in infected mice and 100% protection was observed in treated group of mice as compared to untreated control where all mice died after 10-15 days of infection. Moreover, the survival days of mice after treatment with the hybrids 75, 76 and 81 were found to be >60 days. Also, the hybrids **75**, **76** and **81** were assayed for their *in vitro* toxicity on mammalian cell culture (A549 human cells) and were found to be non-toxic to the human cells.

The diastereomers of most potent antimalarial hybrid molecules **75**, **76** and **81** (*i.e.*, **75***R* & **75***S*, **76***R* & **76***S* and **81***R* & **81***S*) were successfully synthesized by using chiral γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (*R*)-**52** or (*S*)-**52** in the final amide coupling reaction.

The diastereomers **75***R*, **76***R* and **81***R* were found to be more active than the corresponding diastereomers **75***S*, **76***S* and **81***S* against FP-2 enzyme and *P. falciparum*. Among all the

diastereomers **75***R* and **81***R* showed superior *in vitro* antiplasmodial activities with EC_{50} values of 0.95 and 1.04 nM, respectively against 3D7 strain of *P. falciparum*. Hence, the hybrids **75***R* and **81***R* could be considered as the ideal compounds for the further development of novel antimalarial drugs with a different mode of action.

In order to understand the complete structure-activity relationship (SAR), we further synthesized the sulfone variants of most potent antimalarial phosphonate hybrid molecules (**75**, **76** and **81**) by the amide coupling of "*dihydroartemisinin*—*linker*—*amino acid*" with γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (±)-**90** to obtain "*dihydroartemisinin*—*linker*—*amino acid*— *vinyl sulfone*" hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94**. The synthesis of diastereomers of these sulfone hybrid molecules **92**, **93** and **94** (*i.e.*, **92R** & **92S**, **93R** & **93S** and **94R** & **94S**) using chiral γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl sulfone (*R*)-**90** or (*S*)-**90** is currently underway in our laboratory.

1.6. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

(E)-1-(Diethoxyphosphoryl)-3-phenylallyl 2,2,2-trichloroacetimidate (53)



To a stirred solution of hydroxy phosphonate **49** (1.0 equiv.) and CCl₃CN (3.0 equiv.) in dry DCM was added a catalytic amount of DBU (0.5 equiv.) under Ar at -35 °C. Stirring was continued at this temperature for 30 min. After completion (monitored by TLC), solvent and volatile compounds were removed on a rotator evaporator with external cooling (10 °C). The residue was then immediately purified by flash chromatography on silica gel to afford pure trichloroacetimidate **53** as pale yellow syrup. $R_f = 0.35$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 8.59 (s, 1H), 7.49-7.21 (m, 5H), 6.86 (dd, J = 16.0, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 6.43-6.22 (m, 1H), 6.06 (dd, J = 14.0, 6.9 Hz, 1H), 4.37-4.09 (m, 4H), 1.37-1.30 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 161.4, 161.2, 135.8, 135.0, 134.8, 129.0, 128.6, 128.4, 127.2, 126.9, 123.4, 119.6, 119.5, 114.1, 91.0, 75.6, 72.2, 63.8, 63.7, 63.5, 63.4, 62.2, 16.5, 16.4; ESI-LCMS: m/z 437.9 (M+Na)⁺.

Diethyl (E)-(3-phenyl-3-(2,2,2-trichloroacetamido)prop-1-en-1-yl)phosphonate (54)



A solution of trichloroacetimidate **53** in dry toluene was refluxed under Ar for 24 h. After complete disappearance of starting material (TLC), the solvent was removed in vacuo and the residue was subjected to flash chromatography on silica gel to afford trichloroacetamide **54** as a colorless crystalline solid. $R_f = 0.35$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); ¹H NMR (**500** MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.57-7.46 (m, 1H), 7.44-7.29 (m, 5H), 6.95 (t, J = 17.9 Hz, 1H), 5.89 (t, J = 17.7 Hz, 1H), 5.69 (brs, 1H), 4.15-3.95 (m, 4H), 1.38-1.18 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (**125** MHz, CDCl₃): δ 161.3, 148.6, 148.5, 137.2, 129.3, 128.8, 127.3, 119.8, 118.3, 92.4, 62.2, 62.1, 57.2, 57.0, 16.4, 16.3, 16.3; ESI-LCMS: m/z 437.9 (M+Na)⁺.

Diethyl (Z)-(3-amino-3-phenylallyl)phosphonate (55)



Trichloroacetamide **54** (150 mg, 0.361 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in 3.5 mL of EtOH and was added 3N KOH solution (670 µL). The whole mixture was stirred for 24 h at rt. After the completion of the reaction, the reaction mixture was extracted with EtOAc (3 X 10 mL). The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered and concentrated in vacuo to give the crude product which was further purified by flash chromatography on silica gel to give pure amine **55** as colorless syrup (97 mg, 100%). R_f = 0.42 (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); ¹H NMR (**500 MHz, CDCl₃**): δ 10.04 (brs, 1H), 7.49-7.43 (m, 2H), 7.42-7.33 (m, 3H), 5.81-5.73 (m, 1H), 4.21-4.11 (m, 4H), 2.81 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.76 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 1.35 (t, 6H); ¹³C NMR (**125 MHz, CDCl₃**): δ 160.7, 139.4, 139.3, 135.8, 135.7, 128.8, 128.6, 125.7, 125.7, 112.4, 112.3, 92.8, 62.8, 62.8, 26.4, 25.3, 16.5, 16.4; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 292.9 (M+Na)⁺.

tert-Butyl (Z)-(3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylprop-1-en-1-yl)carbamate (63)



In a round bottom flask, tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate (7.37 mmol, 1.7 equiv.) was taken up in dry THF (8 mL). The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C in an ice bath. NaH (6.50 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) was added to the reaction mixture. The solution was stirred at 0 °C for 15 min. *N*-Boc protected α -amino aldehyde **61** (4.33 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was taken up in dry THF (7 mL) and was added to the reaction mixture. The reaction mixture was then warmed to rt and stirred for 3 h. After completion of reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was dissolved in water, extracted with DCM (3X80 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with water, brine and concentrated to give the crude product which was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel column with ethyl acetate: petroleum ether as eluant to give pure olefin **63** as pale yellow syrup. *R*_{*f*} = 0.31 (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); ¹**H** NMR (**500** MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.45-7.40 (m, 2H), 7.37-7.28 (m, 3H), 5.43-5.33 (m, 1H), 4.21-4.08 (m, 4H), 2.81 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.76 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 1.48-1.25 (m, 15H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 153.5, 140.1, 128.4, 128.2, 128.1, 126.1, 108.4, 80.2, 62.4, 62.4, 28.1, 27.7, 26.7, 25.5, 16.5, 16.4; **ESI-LCMS**: m/z 370.0 (M+H)⁺.

Diethyl (Z)-(3-benzamido-3-phenylallyl)phosphonate (64)

Same Wittig procedure as described for **63** was followed for the synthesis of olefin **64** using *N*-Bz protected α -amino aldehyde **62** and tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate as starting materials. $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.15$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); ¹H NMR (**200** MHz, CDCl₃): δ 9.95 (brs, 1H), 8.17-7.99 (m, 2H), 7.63-7.39 (m, 5H), 7.39-7.21 (m, 3H), 5.60 (q, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.26-4.01 (m, 4H), 2.84 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 2.73 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 1.39-1.26 (m, 6H); ESI-LCMS: m/z 374.0 (M+H)⁺.

General procedure for the synthesis of 2-phenyl-2-(tritylamino)ethan-1-ol ((\pm)-67 or (*R*)-67 or (*S*)-67)



To a mixture of 2-phenylglycinol (\pm)-**58** or (*R*)-**58** or (*S*)-**58** (1.0 g, 1.0 equiv.) and triphenylmethyl chloride (2.03 g, 1.0 equiv.) in dichloromethane (25 mL) was added

triethylamine (0.74 g, 1.0 equiv.). The resulting mixture was stirred at 25 °C for 12 h. The mixture was diluted with ethyl acetate (75 mL) and washed with water and brine. The ethyl acetate fraction was dried (Na₂SO₄), filtered and concentrated. The solid was purified by chromatography on a silica gel column with ethyl acetate: petroleum ether as eluant to furnish the pure product (\pm)-67 or (*R*)-67 or (*S*)-67, respectively as colorless viscous syrup or foaming solid.

2-Phenyl-2-(tritylamino)ethan-1-ol ((±)-67)



Colorless viscous syrup; $R_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4).

(R)-2-phenyl-2-(tritylamino)ethan-1-ol ((R)-67)

Colorless viscous syrup; $R_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{24}$ -97.3 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.58-7.45 (m, 6H), 7.33-7.12 (m, 14H), 3.80 (t, J = 4.6 Hz, 1H), 3.21 (dd, J = 10.7, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 2.78 (dd, J = 10.7, 5.3 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 146.6, 143.6, 129.0, 128.4, 128.0, 127.9, 127.2, 126.7, 126.5, 71.9, 67.0, 58.6.

(S)-2-phenyl-2-(tritylamino)ethan-1-ol ((S)-67)

Colorless viscous syrup; $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{24}$ +96.7 (c 1.0, CHCl₃).

General procedure for the synthesis of diethyl (*E*)-(3-phenyl-3-(tritylamino)prop-1-en-1-yl)phosphonate ((\pm)-69 or (*R*)-69 or (*S*)-69)



2-Phenyl-2-(tritylamino)ethan-1-ol (\pm)-67 or (*R*)-67 or (*S*)-67 (1.32 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in DCM (10 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. To this cold solution was added Dess-Martin

periodinane (1.98 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) portion wise over 10 min and then stirred at 0 °C for 10 min. The reaction mixture was allowed to slowly warm to 25 °C and stirred for 30 min. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was diluted with DCM. The reaction mixture was placed in an ice-water bath and a 1:1 mixture of saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution and saturated NaHSO₃ solution (4 mL) was added and the cooling bath was removed and the mixture was stirred at 25 °C until the formation of two clear layers was observed. The reaction mixture was transferred to a separatory funnel containing a saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution (20 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate (3 x 25 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine (20 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄, filtered and concentrated to give crude aldehyde (±)-**68** or (*R*)-**68** or (*S*)-**68**, respectively as colorless foaming solid. The crude aldehyde residue was used immediately for the next step without any further purification.

Tetraethyl methylenediphosphonate (2.24 mmol, 1.7 equiv.) was taken up in dry THF (4 mL) and was cooled to 0 °C in an ice bath. NaH (60 % dispersion in mineral oil, 1.98 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) was added to the reaction mixture in portion wise over a period of 5-10 min. The solution was stirred at 0 °C for 15 min. Crude aldehyde (\pm)-**68** or (*R*)-**68** or (*S*)-**68** was taken in dry THF (4 mL) and was added to the reaction mixture. The reaction mixture was then warmed to 25 °C and stirred for 3 h. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was dissolved in water, extracted with DCM (3X20 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with water, brine and concentrated to give crude product which was purified either by recrystallization from EtOAc-Petroleum ether mixture or column chromatography on a silica gel column with ethyl acetate: petroleum ether as eluant to give pure olefin (\pm)-**69** or (*S*)-**69** or (*R*)-**69**, respectively as colorless solid.

Diethyl (*E*)-(3-phenyl-3-(tritylamino)prop-1-en-1-yl)phosphonate ((±)-69)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 187-188 °C; $R_f = 0.28$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 19.09; ESI-LCMS: m/z 534.2 (M+Na)⁺; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 3% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R =$

9.0 min for (*R*)-isomer and $t_{\rm R} = 10.0$ min for (*S*)-isomer; **HRMS (ESI):** m/z for $C_{32}H_{34}O_3NNaP (M+Na)^+$: calcd 534.2169, found 534.2160.

Diethyl (R,E)-(3-phenyl-3-(tritylamino)prop-1-en-1-yl)phosphonate ((R)-69)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 115-117 °C; $R_f = 0.28$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -43.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 19.09; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 534.0 (M+Na)⁺; HPLC: *ee* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 3% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 9.0$ min for (*R*)-isomer].

Diethyl (S,E)-(3-phenyl-3-(tritylamino)prop-1-en-1-yl)phosphonate ((S)-69)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 115-117 °C; $R_f = 0.28$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +41.0 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.51-7.41 (m, 6H), 7.24-7.18 (m, 6H), 7.18-7.10 (m, 6H), 6.99-6.92 (m, 2H), 6.56-6.44 (m, 1H), 5.73-5.62 (m, 1H), 4.31-4.25 (m, 1H), 4.03-3.87 (m, 4H), 1.32-1.21 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 155.5, 155.4, 146.1, 142.3, 128.9, 128.4, 127.8, 127.0, 126.8, 126.6, 115.7, 114.2, 71.9, 61.7, 61.6, 61.6, 61.6, 60.5, 60.3, 16.4, 16.3, 16.3; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 19.09; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 534.0 (M+Na)⁺; HPLC: *ee* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 3% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 10.0 min for (*S*)-isomer]. General procedure for the synthesis of diethyl (*E*)-(3-amino-3-phenylprop-1-en-1-yl)phosphonate ((±)-52 or (*R*)-52 or (*S*)-52)



Trityl protected amine (\pm)-**69** or (*R*)-**69** or (*S*)-**69** (0.5 g, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in DCM and trifluoroacetic acid (150 µL, 3.0 eq) was added at 25 °C and reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min. After completion of the reaction (TLC), DCM was removed under reduced pressure. Water (10 mL) was added to the residue and the aqueous layer was washed with diethyl ether (3X20 mL). The remaining aqueous layer was basified with a saturated

aqueous solution of NaHCO₃ until pH 9, after which it was extracted with DCM (3X20 mL). The combined organic layers were dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated to give crude amine (±)-**52** or (*R*)-**52** or (*S*)-**52**, respectively as pale yellow syrup in quantitative yield, which was used for the final coupling reaction without any further purification. $R_f = 0.54$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:9); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.51-7.16 (m, 5H), 7.08-6.76 (m, 1H), 6.10-5.83 (m, 1H), 4.74-4.59 (m, 1H), 4.21-3.93 (m, 4H), 1.43-1.18 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 155.0, 154.9, 142.3, 128.8, 127.7, 127.5, 126.8, 125.9, 117.4, 113.7, 61.8, 61.7, 58.3, 57.8, 16.4, 16.3; ESI-LCMS: m/z 292.0 (M+Na)⁺.

General procedure for hydrolysis of methyl ester (70a or 71a or 73a or 74a or 78a or 79a) to the corresponding carboxylic acid (70b or 71b or 73b or 74b or 78b or 79b)

Methyl ester (**70a** or **71a** or **73a** or **74a** or **78a** or **79a**) (1.5 mmol) was dissolved in THF (17 mL) and a solution of 2M aq. LiOH (7 mL) was added at 25 °C with stirring and stirred for 2 h at 25 °C. After completion of the reaction (TLC), THF was evaporated and the remaining aqueous layer was neutralized with acetic acid. The compound was extracted with ethyl acetate (3x20 mL), dried over Na_2SO_4 and concentrated under vacuum to obtain the corresponding crude carboxylic acid (**70b** or **71b** or **73b** or **74b** or **78b** or **79b**), which was used as such for the subsequent steps.

General procedure for peptide coupling reaction

L-Phenylalanine methyl ester or L-leucine methyl ester or γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (±)-**52** or (*R*)-**52** (0.5 mmol), HOBt (0.5 mmol) and free acid obtained from the ester hydrolysis **70b** or **71b** or **73b** or **74b** or **78b** or **79b** (0.5 mmol) were dissolved in dry THF (5 mL) and the resulting solution was stirred in an ice-cooled water bath then DCC (0.6 mmol) was added. Stirring was continued for 1 h at 0 °C and then an additional 1 h at 25 °C. After completion of reaction (TLC), the solid which precipitated was removed by filtration and the solvent was evaporated in vacuum. After evaporation of the solvent, the resulting crude product was dissolved in EtOAc and washed with a saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution (3X20 mL). Finally, the crude peptide derivative was purified by chromatography on a silica gel column to furnish the corresponding peptide.

Methyl *N*-((benzyloxy)carbonyl)-*O*-((3*R*,5a*S*,6*R*,8a*S*,9*R*,10*S*,12*R*,12a*R*)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12*H*-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-*i*]isochromen-10-yl)-*L*-serinate (70a)



To a solution of dihydroartemisinin 12 (0.46 g, 1.0 equiv.) and alcohol 46 (0.50 g, 1.2 equiv.) in DCM (7 mL), BF₃·Et₂O (40 µL) was added. The resulting mixture was stirred at 25 °C for 3 h and then washed with aqueous NaHCO₃ (10 mL) followed by brine (10 mL). The organic layers were dried over (Na_2SO_4) and concentrated in vacuum to afford the crude product which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel) using ethyl acetate: petroleum ether (1:9) as eluant to furnish the pure product 70a (0.47 g, 55%) as colorless solid; $R_f =$ 0.42 (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_{D}^{20} = +57.76$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3439, 3019, 2955, 2876, 1723, 1698, 1505, 1455, 1377, 1215, 1028 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.44-7.30 (m, 5H), 5.73 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 5.39 (s, 1H), 5.21-5.10 (m, 2H), 4.76 (d, J = 3.1 Hz, 1H), 4.63-4.54 (m, 1H), 4.08 (dd, J = 10.3, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 3.93 (dd, J = 10.3, 3.4 Hz, 1 H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 2.69-2.58 (m, 1H), 2.38 (dt, J = 13.9, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 2.10-1.99 (m, 1H), 1.94-1.83 (m, 1H), 1.78-1.69 (m, 1H), 1.69-1.45 (m, 5H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 1.39-1.18 (m, 2H), 0.95 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 0.84 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 170.7, 155.8, 136.3, 128.5, 128.2, 128.1, 104.2, 103.0, 88.0, 80.9, 69.9, 67.1, 54.5, 52.5, 44.2, 37.4, 36.4, 34.5, 30.7, 26.1, 24.6, 24.4, 20.3, 12.8; **ESI-LCMS:** *m*/*z* 542.8 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI):** *m*/*z* for C₂₇H₃₇O₉NNa (M+Na)⁺: calcd 542.2361, found 542.2355; **HPLC:** Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 10% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 210 nm, $t_{\rm R}$ = 10.7 min for **70a** (β) and $t_{\rm R}$ = 13.2 min for **70a** (α).

1-Benzyl-2-methyl(2*S*,4*R*)-4-(((3*R*,5a*S*,6*R*,8a*S*,9*R*,10*S*,12*R*,12a*R*)-3,6,9-trimethyldecahydro-12*H*-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-*i*]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1,2-di carboxylate (71a)



To a solution of dihydroartemisinin 12 (2.72 g, 1.0 equiv.) and alcohol 47 (6.7 g, 1.2 equiv.) in DCM (60 mL) was added BF₃·Et₂O (240 µL) at rt. The resulting mixture was stirred at room temperature for 3 h and then washed with aqueous sodium bicarbonate (30 mL) followed by brine (30 mL). The organic layer was dried (Na₂SO₄) and concentrated in vacuo to furnish the crude product which was purified by column chromatography (silica gel) using petroleum ether-ethyl acetate (9:1) as eluant to afford the pure product 71a as colorless syrup (3.51 g, 67%). $R_f = 0.34$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); IR (CHCl₃): 3436, 3019, 2956, 2876, 1747, 1704, 1605, 1455, 1422, 1358, 1215 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz. **CDCl₃**): δ 7.43-7.25 (m, 5H), 5.40 (s, 1H), 5.34-5.31 (m, 1H), 5.25-5.01 (m, 2H), 4.89-4.80 (m, 1H), 4.59-4.37 (m, 2H), 3.83-3.75 (m, 2H), 3.72-3.56 (m, 3H), 2.68-2.58 (m, 1H), 2.44-2.31 (m, 2H), 2.26-2.14 (m, 1H), 2.13-2.01 (m, 1H), 1.95-1.86 (m, 1H), 1.79-1.47 (m, 5H), 1.44 (s, 3H), 1.38-1.19 (m, 3H), 0.98 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 3H), 0.89-0.73 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 **MHz**, **CDCl**₃): δ 173.0, 172.8, 155.0, 154.4, 136.5, 128.5, 128.4, 128.1, 128.0, 127.9, 127.9, 127.7, 104.2, 100.8, 100.7, 98.5, 91.1, 88.2, 80.9, 75.2, 75.0, 74.1, 67.3, 67.1, 58.3, 58.1, 57.8, 57.7, 53.0, 52.5, 52.4, 52.2, 51.8, 51.6, 51.5, 45.2, 44.2, 37.9, 37.5, 37.4, 37.0, 36.4, 36.2, 35.3, 34.5, 34.2, 32.4, 30.5, 26.1, 25.9, 24.6, 24.5, 22.2, 20.3, 12.7, 12.6; ESI-LCMS: m/z 568.1 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI):** m/z for C₂₉H₃₉O₉NNa (M+Na)⁺: calcd 568.2517, found 568.2513; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 10% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 210 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 12.7$ min for **71a** (β) and $t_{\rm R} = 17.0$ min for **71a** (α).

Benzyl ((2S)-1-(((E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-1-oxo-3-(((3R,5aS, 6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyldecahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl)carbamate (72)


Pale yellow syrup; $R_f = 0.34$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); IR (CHCl₃): 3428, 3019, 2929, 1687, 1601, 1496, 1450, 1394, 1216, 1029 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.39-7.14 (m, 11H), 6.91-6.75 (m, 1H), 5.89-5.76 (m, 1H), 5.76-5.68 (m, 2H), 5.32 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 5.28 (s, 1H), 5.14-5.03 (m, 2H), 4.80-4.69 (m, 1H), 4.43 (brs, 1H), 4.12-3.91 (m, 5H), 2.60-2.50 (m, 1H), 2.38-2.25 (m, 1H), 2.06-1.90 (m, 3H), 1.87-1.75 (m, 1H), 1.53-1.42 (m, 2H), 1.39-1.35 (m, 4H), 1.31-1.22 (m, 7H), 1.21-1.13 (m, 2H), 0.90-0.85 (m, 3H), 0.76-0.66 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 168.9, 168.9, 156.2, 150.2, 138.5, 129.1, 128.7, 128.7, 128.4, 128.3, 128.3, 128.2, 127.4, 127.3, 118.8, 116.9, 104.3, 104.2, 103.1, 102.9, 88.0, 80.9, 80.9, 69.4, 69.0, 67.3, 62.1, 55.4, 55.2, 53.5, 52.5, 52.4, 44.2, 37.4, 36.4, 34.5, 30.8, 29.8, 26.1, 24.7, 24.5, 20.4, 17.7, 16.4, 12.9, 12.9; ³¹P NMR (202 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.61; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 779.1 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI):** m/z for C₃₉H₅₃O₁₁N₂NaP (M+Na)⁺: calcd 779.3279, found 779.3270; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 10% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 210 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 15.1$ min and $t_{\rm R} = 17.6$ min. Methyl N-((benzyloxy)carbonyl)-O-((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl deca-hydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)-L-seryl-L-phenylalaninate (73a)



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.45-7.03 (m, 10H), 5.57 (brs, 1H), 5.46-5.30 (m, 1H), 5.26-5.07 (m, 2H), 4.98-4.74 (m, 2H), 4.63-4.27 (m, 1H), 3.99 (dd, J = 10.4, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.87-3.59 (m, 4H), 3.27-3.02 (m, 2H), 2.74-2.55 (m, 1H), 2.37 (dt, J = 14.0, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 2.09-1.97 (m, 1H), 1.96-1.82 (m, 1H), 1.71 (brs, 2H), 1.68-1.60 (m, 1H), 1.59-1.50 (m, 2H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 1.38-1.20 (m, 3H), 0.98-0.91 (m, 3H), 0.88-0.78 (m, 3 H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.4, 169.7, 169.2, 135.6, 129.3, 129.2, 128.6, 128.6, 128.5, 128.2, 128.1, 127.2, 126.9, 104.2, 103.0, 101.0, 91.1, 87.9, 80.9, 68.9, 67.2, 67.0, 54.7, 53.4, 52.5, 52.3, 52.2, 51.5, 45.2, 44.2, 37.9, 37.8, 37.4, 37.2, 36.4, 36.2, 34.6, 34.2, 30.7, 26.1, 25.8, 24.6, 24.4, 22.1, 20.3, 12.8, 12.4; ESI-LCMS: m/z 689.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z for C₃₆H₄₆O₁₀N₂Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 689.3045, found 689.3029.

Benzyl ((2S)-1-(((2S)-1-(((E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-1-oxo-3-phenylpropan-2-yl)amino)-1-oxo-3-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) carbamate (75)



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.40$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[a]_D^{24}$ +41.5 (*c* 1.03, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3422, 2106, 1643, 1217, 1027, 977, 759, 666 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): 7.40-7.26 (m, 9H), 7.23-7.15 (m, 4H), 7.15-7.09 (m, 2H), 7.08-6.99 (m, 2H), 6.88-6.72 (m, 2H), 5.85-5.59 (m, 3H), 5.45-5.34 (m, 1H), 5.16-5.05 (m, 1H), 5.04-4.96 (m, 1H), 4.85-4.64 (m, 2H), 4.34-4.22 (m, 1H), 4.13-3.98 (m, 4H), 3.98-3.81 (m, 2H), 3.27-3.12 (m, 1H), 3.03-2.91 (m, 1H), 2.68-2.57 (m, 1H), 2.43-2.29 (m, 1H), 2.10-1.99 (m, 2H), 1.94-1.83 (m, 1H), 1.76-1.66 (m, 1H), 1.66-1.51 (m, 2H), 1.47-1.39 (m, 4H), 1.36-1.24 (m, 8H), 0.97-0.90 (m, 3H), 0.88-0.78 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 169.6, 169.5, 169.3, 156.4, 150.2, 138.6, 138.4, 135.9, 135.7, 129.2, 128.9, 128.8, 128.8, 128.6, 128.6, 128.4, 128.3, 128.1, 128.0, 127.5, 127.3, 127.2, 127.1, 118.4, 116.9, 104.3, 103.3, 101.9, 87.9, 80.8, 80.8, 69.1, 69.0, 67.4, 67.4, 62.0, 61.9, 55.9, 55.7, 55.3, 55.0, 54.2, 52.4, 52.4, 44.1, 44.1, 38.0, 37.4, 36.3, 34.6, 30.7, 26.0, 24.7, 24.6, 20.3, 20.3, 16.3, 12.9; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.76; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 926.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₄₈H₆₂O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 926.3963; found: 926.3947; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 18% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 210 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 15.3$ min for **75***R* diastereomer and $t_{\rm R} = 19.3$ min for **75***S* diastereomer.

Benzyl ((S)-1-(((S)-1-(((R,E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-1-oxo-3-phenylpropan-2-yl)amino)-1-oxo-3-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12*H*-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-*i*]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) carbamate (75*R*)



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.38$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{24} + 61.7$ (*c* 1.01, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3418, 3020, 1668, 1505, 1216, 1027, 770, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.40-7.03 (m, 15H), 6.83-6.69 (m, 2H), 5.76-5.63 (m, 2H), 5.33 (s, 1H), 4.94 (d, J = 11.9 Hz, 1H), 4.81-4.70 (m, 2H), 4.67 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 1H), 4.24-4.17 (m, 1H), 4.08-3.96 (m, 4H), 3.91-3.78 (m, 2H), 3.23-3.11 (m, 1H), 2.96-2.89 (m, 1H), 2.64-2.54 (m, 1H), 2.40-2.27 (m, 1H), 2.05-1.94 (m, 2H), 1.89-1.79 (m, 1H), 1.72-1.63 (m, 1H), 1.61-1.51 (m, 1H), 1.45-1.37 (m, 4H), 1.33-1.18 (m, 8H), 0.97-0.87 (m, 3H), 0.85-0.75 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 169.5, 169.2, 156.5, 150.2, 138.7, 135.9, 135.8, 129.4, 129.3, 129.2, 129.1, 128.9, 128.7, 128.7, 128.6, 128.6, 128.5, 128.3, 128.2, 128.1, 127.8, 127.6, 127.3, 118.6, 116.8, 104.3, 104.2, 103.4, 88.0, 80.9, 69.0, 67.5, 62.0, 62.0, 61.9, 56.0, 55.2, 55.0, 54.2, 52.5, 44.2, 44.1, 37.9, 37.5, 37.4, 36.4, 34.6, 30.8, 26.1, 24.7, 24.7, 20.4, 16.5, 16.4, 12.9; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.77; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 926.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m/z* calcd for C₄₈H₆₂O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 926.3963; found: 926.3945; HPLC: *de* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 18% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 210 nm, *t*_R = 15.4 min for 75*R* diastereomer].

Benzyl ((S)-1-(((S)-1-(((S,E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-1-oxo-3-phenylpropan-2-yl)amino)-1-oxo-3-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-*i*]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) carbamate (75S)



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.38$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{24} + 25.0$ (*c* 1.03, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3424, 3020, 2095, 1641, 1215, 1027, 756, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.45-7.25 (m, 9H), 7.24-7.01 (m, 7H), 7.01-6.89 (m, 2H), 6.88-6.75 (m, 1H), 5.78-5.68 (m, 2H), 5.43-5.38 (m, 1H), 5.18-5.06 (m, 1H), 5.05-4.93 (m, 1H), 4.79 (d, J = 3.4 Hz, 1H), 4.76-4.65 (m, 1H), 4.30 (td, J = 4.8, 6.8 Hz, 1H), 4.12-4.00 (m, 4H), 3.99-3.94 (m, 1H), 3.92-3.85 (m, 1H), 3.26-3.13 (m, 1H), 3.03-2.91 (m, 1H), 2.69-2.58 (m, 1H), 2.44-2.31 (m, 1H), 2.10-2.00 (m, 1H), 1.93-1.85 (m, 1H), 1.78-1.68 (m, 1H), 1.66-1.53 (m, 2H), 1.50-1.40 (m, 4H), 1.35-1.25 (m, 8H), 0.95 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 0.85 (d, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 169.5, 169.2, 156.4, 150.1, 138.5, 135.9, 129.2, 128.9, 128.8, 128.6, 128.3, 128.1, 127.3, 127.2, 118.6, 117.1, 104.2, 103.3, 88.0, 80.8, 69.1, 67.5, 62.0, 61.9, 55.7, 55.3, 55.1, 54.4, 52.4, 44.1, 38.0, 37.4, 36.3, 34.6, 30.7, 26.1, 24.7, 24.6, 22.7, 20.3, 16.4, 12.9; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.65; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 926.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₄₈H₆₂O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 926.3963; found: 926.3950; HPLC: *de* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 18% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 210 nm, *t*_R = 19.1 min for **75S** diastereomer].

Methyl N-((benzyloxy)carbonyl)-O-((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)-L-seryl-L-leucinate (74a)



Colorless syrup; $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.39-7.26 (m, 5H), 6.67-6.58 (m, 1H), 5.41 (s, 1H), 5.11 (s, 2H), 4.82 (brs, 1H), 4.64-4.54 (m, 1H), 4.38 (brs, 1H), 3.96 (dd, J = 10.7, 6.1 Hz, 1H), 3.85 (dd, J = 10.7, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 3.73-3.68 (m, 4H), 2.68-2.56 (m, 1H), 2.41-2.27 (m, 1H), 2.06-1.95 (m, 2H), 1.92-1.78 (m, 2 H), 1.72-1.42 (m, 10H), 1.40 (s, 3H), 1.31-1.18 (m, 3H), 0.91 (brs, 3H), 0.90 (brs, 6H), 0.85 (d, 3 H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 173.8, 173.0, 169.9, 169.5, 156.1, 136.1, 128.6, 128.3, 128.2, 128.1, 104.3, 103.2, 88.0, 80.9, 69.3, 67.3, 54.8, 52.5, 52.4, 50.9, 50.8, 44.2, 41.8, 41.6, 37.3, 36.4, 34.6, 30.8, 29.8, 26.1, 24.9, 24.7, 24.6, 23.2, 22.9, 22.8, 22.1, 22.0, 20.4, 13.1, 12.9; ESI-LCMS: m/z 655.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z for C₃₃H₄₈O₁₀N₂Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 655.3201, found 655.3190.



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.40$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 47.7$ (*c* 1.02, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3422, 2112, 1645, 1217, 1025, 976, 873, 762, 666 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.46-7.22 (m, 10H), 7.00-6.76 (m, 2H), 5.96-5.68 (m, 3H), 5.48-5.3 (m, 1H), 5.22-4.97 (m, 2H), 4.78 (brs, 1H), 4.60-4.45 (m, 1H), 4.40-4.25 (m, 1H), 4.17-3.79 (m, 6H), 2.63 (brs, 1H), 2.44-2.30 (m, 1H), 2.24-2.10 (m, 2H), 2.09-1.96 (m, 1H), 1.95-1.81 (m, 1H), 1.79-1.65 (m, 2H), 1.64-1.54 (m, 2H), 1.53-1.45 (m, 2H), 1.42 (s, 3H), 1.37-1.21 (m, 8H), 0.97-0.82 (m, 12H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 170.9, 170.7, 169.7, 156.4, 150.5, 138.7, 138.7, 136.0, 135.8, 128.9, 128.6, 128.3, 128.3, 128.1, 128.0, 127.5, 127.3, 118.7, 118.6, 116.9, 116.7, 104.2, 103.3, 88.0, 87.9, 80.8, 80.8, 69.2, 69.1, 67.4, 67.4, 67.2, 62.0, 62.0, 55.6, 55.5, 55.3, 55.1, 54.9, 52.4, 52.4, 52.1, 51.9, 44.1, 44.0, 40.8, 40.6, 37.3, 36.3, 34.5, 34.4, 30.7, 30.7, 26.0, 24.8, 24.7, 24.6, 24.5, 22.9, 22.0, 22.0, 20.3, 20.3, 16.4, 16.3, 16.3, 12.8; ³¹**P** NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.68; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 892.2 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₄₅H₆₄O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 892.4120; found: 892.4106; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 10% IPA in hexane, flow rate 0.8 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 215 nm, *t*_R = 11.4 min for 76*R* diastereomer and *t*_R = 14.2 min for 76*S* diastereomer.

 $\label{eq:Benzyl} Benzyl ((S)-1-(((S)-1-(((R,E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-4-methyl-1-oxopentan-2-yl)amino)-1-oxo-3-((((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) carbamate (76R)$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.38$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[a]_D^{25} + 68.9$ (*c* 1.03, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3421, 3021, 2402, 2095, 1654, 1508, 1216, 1028, 976, 767, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.39-7.32 (m, 5H), 7.32-7.26 (m, 5H), 6.97-6.83 (m, 1H), 6.62 (d, *J* = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 5.87 (t, *J* = 17.9 Hz, 1H), 5.76 (brs, 2H), 5.32 (s, 1H), 5.11-4.97 (m, 2H), 4.83-4.75 (m, 1H), 4.58-4.49 (m, 1H), 4.35-4.25 (m, 1H), 4.13-4.01 (m, 4H), 3.90-3.80 (m, 2H), 2.68-2.59 (m, 1H), 2.37 (dt, *J* = 13.9, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 2.09-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.93-1.82 (m, 1H), 1.80-1.66 (m, 2H), 1.65-1.55 (m, 3H), 1.54-1.45 (m, 3H), 1.44-1.40 (m, 3H), 1.35-1.28 (m, 6H), 1.29-1.19 (m, 2H), 0.96-0.82 (m, 12H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 170.6, 169.7, 156.4, 150.5, 150.4, 138.7, 135.8, 129.0, 128.8, 128.6, 128.4, 128.1, 127.5, 127.3, 118.5, 117.0, 104.2, 103.3, 87.9, 80.8, 69.0, 67.4, 62.0, 55.5, 55.1, 55.0, 52.4, 51.9, 44.0, 40.6, 37.3, 36.3, 34.4, 30.7, 26.0, 24.8, 24.6, 22.9, 22.0, 20.3, 16.3, 12.8; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.71; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 892.2 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m/z* calcd for C₄₅H₆₄O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 892.4120; found: 892.4100; HPLC: *de* 86% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 10% IPA in hexane, flow rate 0.8 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 215 nm, *t*_R = 11.5 min for 76*R* diastereomer].

decahydro-12*H*-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-*i*]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) carbamate (76*S*)



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.40$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{24} + 26.4$ (*c* 1.01, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3417, 1639, 1218, 1030, 769, 672 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.42-7.28 (m, 10H), 6.99-6.79 (m, 2H), 5.94-5.71 (m, 3H), 5.42 (s, 1H), 5.21-5.08 (m, 2H), 4.85-4.76 (m, 1H), 4.56-4.47 (m, 1H), 4.39-4.31 (m, 1H), 4.13-3.89 (m, 6H), 2.69-2.58 (m, 1H), 2.38 (dt, *J* = 13.9, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 2.14-1.97 (m, 2H), 1.96-1.83 (m, 1H), 1.80-1.66 (m, 2H), 1.65-1.46 (m, 5H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 1.34-1.25 (m, 8H), 0.94 (d, *J* = 6.1 Hz, 3H), 0.90-0.87 (m, 6H), 0.87-0.84 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 170.8, 169.7, 150.4, 138.8, 136.0, 129.0, 128.6, 128.3, 128.2, 127.3, 118.5, 117.1, 104.2, 103.3, 88.0, 80.8, 69.1, 67.5, 62.0, 55.5, 55.3, 55.1, 52.4, 52.1, 44.1, 40.9, 37.3, 36.3, 34.5, 30.7, 26.0, 24.8, 24.6, 22.9, 21.9, 20.3, 16.3, 12.8; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.65; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 892.2 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₄₅H₆₄O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 892.4120; found: 892.4108; HPLC: *de* 83% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 10% IPA in hexane, flow rate 0.8 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 215 nm, *t*_R = 15.0 min for **76S** diastereomer].

Benzyl (2S,4R)-2-(((E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)carbamoyl)-4-(((3R,5aS, 6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyldecahydro-12*H*-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1-carboxylate (77)



Colorless syrup; $R_f = 0.34$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.41-7.06 (m, 10H), 6.93-6.76 (m, 1H), 6.03-5.75 (m, 1H), 5.74-5.63 (m, 1H), 5.39-5.31 (m, 1H),

5.22-5.02 (m, 2H), 4.84-4.71 (m, 1H), 4.54-4.34 (m, 2H), 4.15-3.95 (m, 4H), 3.83-3.61 (m, 1H), 3.43-3.23 (m, 1H), 2.62-2.51 (m, 1H), 2.50-2.39 (m, 1H), 2.38-2.28 (m, 1H), 2.21-2.08 (m, 1H), 2.07-1.93 (m, 2H), 1.91-1.80 (m, 2H), 1.69-1.51 (m, 3H), 1.42-1.37 (m, 3H), 1.34-1.19 (m, 9H), 0.97-0.89 (m, 3H), 0.66 (d, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 170.4, 156.8, 150.7, 150.4, 138.5, 136.0, 129.1, 128.7, 128.4, 128.3, 128.2, 127.5, 127.3, 118.4, 116.7, 114.2, 104.3, 100.0, 91.2, 88.2, 81.0, 74.6, 67.9, 62.1, 59.7, 55.4, 52.5, 51.7, 45.2, 44.2, 37.5, 37.4, 36.4, 36.3, 35.5, 34.5, 30.5, 29.8, 26.2, 26.0, 24.7, 24.5, 22.3, 20.4, 16.5, 16.5, 16.4, 12.7; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 18.02; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 805.2 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m*/*z* for C₄₁H₅₅O₁₁N₂NaP (M+Na)⁺: calcd 805.3436, found 805.3423.



Colorless syrup; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +30.8 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.34-7.09 (m, 10H), 5.35 (s, 1H), 5.12 (s, 2H), 4.86-4.76 (m, 2H), 4.41-4.39 (m, 2H), 3.71 (s, 3H), 3.85-3.52 (m, 2H), 3.29-2.98 (m, 2H), 2.61-2.53 (m, 1H), 2.34-2.20 (m, 3H), 1.96-1.85 (m, 3H), 1.62-1.57 (m, 4H), 1.41 (s, 3H), 1.28-1.12 (m, 3H), 0.94 (d, 3H), 0.70 (d, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.7, 170.8, 156.3, 136.2, 135.8, 129.3, 128.5, 128.4, 128.1, 128.0, 127.0, 104.2, 100.0, 88.0, 80.9, 74.4, 67.5, 59.3, 53.3, 52.4, 52.3, 51.5, 44.2, 37.8, 37.4, 36.3, 35.5, 34.5, 30.4, 26.1, 24.6, 24.4, 20.3, 12.6; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 715.5 (M+Na)⁺.

 $\label{eq:general} Benzyl \quad (2S,4R)-2-(((S)-1-methoxy-4-methyl-1-oxopentan-2-yl)carbamoyl)-4-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyldecahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1-carboxylate (79a)$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.60-7.23 (m, 5H), 5.49-5.28 (m, 1H), 5.27-5.02 (m, 2H), 4.90-4.74 (m, 1H), 4.66-4.36 (m, 3H), 3.86-3.61 (m, 4H), 3.52-3.34 (m, 1H), 2.66-2.46 (m, 1H), 2.37 (dt, J = 13.7, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 2.25-2.14 (m, 1H), 2.11-1.98 (m, 1H), 1.96-1.84 (m, 1H), 1.80-1.72 (m, 1H), 1.71-1.57 (m, 5H), 1.43 (s, 3H), 1.36-1.19 (m, 3H), 0.97 (d, 3H), 0.95-0.88 (m, 6H), 0.73 (d, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 173.2, 170.8, 156.5, 136.4, 136.2, 128.5, 128.5, 128.2, 128.0, 127.6, 104.2, 100.1, 98.7, 91.1, 88.1, 80.9, 80.2, 75.8, 74.5, 73.7, 67.5, 67.4, 60.1, 59.4, 58.7, 53.0, 52.5, 52.2, 51.6, 51.0, 50.5, 45.2, 44.2, 41.4, 38.3, 37.5, 37.4, 36.4, 36.3, 35.4, 34.5, 34.2, 32.5, 30.4, 26.1, 25.9, 24.8, 24.7, 24.6, 24.5, 22.7, 22.2, 22.0, 20.3, 12.6, 12.5; ESI-LCMS: m/z 681.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z for C₃₅H₅₀O₁₀N₂Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 681.3358, found 681.3335.

 $\label{eq:Benzyl} Benzyl (2S,4R)-2-(((2S)-1-(((E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-1-oxo-3-phenylpropan-2-yl)carbamoyl)-4-((((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1-carboxylate (80)$



Colorless syrup; **IR** (**CHCl₃**): 3409, 3368, 3018, 2957, 2876, 1682, 1497, 1455, 1416, 1358, 1216, 1030 cm⁻¹; ¹H **NMR** (**200 MHz, CDCl₃**): δ 7.17-7.30 (m, 15H), 6.75-6.94 (m, 1H), 5.71-5.93 (m, 2H), 4.80-5.30 (m, 2H), 4.73-4.90 (m, 2H), 4.27-4.39 (m, 2H), 3.96-4.13 (m, 2H), 3.57-4.13 (m, 2H), 3.13-3.33 (m, 2H), 2.27-2.57 (m, 3H), 1.85-1.99 (m, 3H), 1.49-1.70 (m, 3H), 1.42 (s, 3H), 1.22-1.32 (m, 10H), 0.94 (d, 3H), 0.63 (d, 3H); ¹³C **NMR** (**50 MHz**,

CDCl₃): δ 171.4, 169.9, 156.2, 151.5, 138.4, 136.8, 136.1, 129.2, 128.8, 128.7, 128.6, 128.5, 128.0, 127.9, 127.4, 126.9, 117.1, 104.2, 99.9, 88.1, 80.9, 73.9, 67.7, 62.1, 60.6, 55.3, 53.8, 52.4, 51.8, 44.1, 37.4, 36.9, 36.8, 36.3, 34.4, 30.4, 26.1, 24.6, 24.4, 20.3, 16.3, 16.2, 12.6; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 18.21; ESI-LCMS: m/z 953.2 (M+Na)⁺.

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Benzyl} \ (2S,4R)-2-(((2S)-1-(((E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-4-methyl-1-oxopentan-2-yl)carbamoyl)-4-((((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1-carboxylate (81) \end{array}$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.32$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 9.0$ (c 1.01, CHCl₃); IR (CHCl₃): 3419, 3018, 2962, 2402, 1683, 1519, 1418, 1353, 1217, 1101, 1029, 989, 876, 768, 668 cm⁻ ¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.52-7.24 (m, 10H), 7.03-6.82 (m, 1H), 6.45 (d, J = 7.3Hz, 1H), 6.03-5.65 (m, 2H), 5.46-5.29 (m, 1H), 5.28-5.07 (m, 1H), 5.06-4.72 (m, 2H), 4.62-4.29 (m, 3H), 4.20-3.95 (m, 4H), 3.82-3.61 (m, 1H), 3.41 (t, J = 11.6 Hz, 1H), 2.60 (brs, 1H), 2.44-2.29 (m, 2H), 2.17-1.99 (m, 4H), 1.96-1.76 (m, 2H), 1.72-1.53 (m, 5H), 1.52-1.40 (m, 5H), 1.39-1.21 (m, 9H), 0.97 (d, 3H), 0.94-0.85 (m, 6H), 0.76-0.62 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (**100 MHz, CDCl₃**): δ 171.4, 171.0, 156.5, 150.8, 150.5, 150.5, 138.8, 138.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.6, 128.1, 127.8, 127.3, 119.9, 118.7, 118.4, 116.6, 116.6, 116.6, 104.2, 100.0, 91.1, 88.1, 80.9, 80.3, 74.1, 74.0, 68.0, 67.8, 61.9, 60.6, 60.3, 55.4, 55.1, 54.9, 52.5, 52.1, 51.9, 51.6, 45.2, 44.1, 40.1, 37.5, 37.4, 36.7, 36.3, 34.5, 34.2, 30.4, 26.1, 25.9, 25.1, 24.9, 24.6, 24.5, 23.0, 22.2, 21.6, 21.5, 20.3, 16.4, 16.3, 12.6, 12.6; ³¹P NMR (202 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 18.01; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 918.1 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS** (ESI): m/z calcd for C₄₇H₆₆O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 918.4276; found: 918.4255; **HPLC:** Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm φ X 250 mmL), 20% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 215 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 11.8$ min for 81S (β) and $t_{\rm R}$ = 14.8 min for 81S (α), and $t_{\rm R}$ = 20.6 min for 81R (α) and $t_{\rm R}$ = 31.2 min for 81R (β).

Benzyl (2S,4R)-2-(((S)-1-(((R,E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-4-methyl -1-oxopentan-2-yl)carbamoyl)-4-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl

decahydro-12*H*-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-*i*]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1carboxylate (81*R*)



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.30$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 28.7$ (*c* 1.00, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3420, 3339, 3018, 2963, 2878, 2402, 1684, 1516, 1418, 1352, 1216, 1099, 1029, 989, 876, 771, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.44-7.22 (m, 10H), 6.92 (t, *J* = 18.3 Hz, 1H), 6.50-6.33 (m, 1H), 5.92 (t, *J* = 17.5 Hz, 1H), 5.80 (brs, 1H), 5.42-5.28 (m, 1H), 5.05-4.93 (m, 1H), 4.90-4.71 (m, 2H), 4.49 (brs, 2H), 4.41-4.26 (m, 1H), 4.14-4.00 (m, 4H), 3.94-3.59 (m, 1H), 3.44-3.33 (m, 1H), 2.65-2.54 (m, 1H), 2.43-2.26 (m, 2H), 2.18-1.78 (m, 5H), 1.71-1.48 (m, 5H), 1.47-1.40 (m, 4H), 1.36-1.20 (m, 9H), 0.97 (brs, 3H), 0.94-0.87 (m, 6H), 0.67 (brs, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.3, 171.0, 156.5, 150.5, 138.8, 135.7, 128.8, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.1, 127.8, 127.2, 118.3, 116.8, 104.2, 99.9, 91.2, 88.1, 80.9, 74.0, 67.8, 61.9, 60.6, 55.0, 54.9, 52.5, 51.9, 51.6, 45.2, 44.1, 40.1, 37.5, 36.7, 36.3, 34.4, 34.1, 30.4, 26.1, 25.9, 25.1, 24.6, 24.4, 23.0, 21.5, 20.3, 16.4, 16.3, 12.6; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 18.05; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 918.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m/z* calcd for C₄₇H₆₆O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 918.4276; found: 918.4257; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 215 nm, *t*_R = 20.1 min for **81***R* (α) and *t*_R = 29.6 min for **81***R* (β).

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Benzyl} (2S,4R)-2-(((S)-1-(((S,E)-3-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-1-phenylallyl)amino)-4-methyl \\ -1-oxopentan-2-yl)carbamoyl)-4-((((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyl \\ decahydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)pyrrolidine-1- \\ carboxylate (81S) \end{array}$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.32$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -14.5 (*c* 1.04, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3420, 3019, 2964, 2402, 1682, 1519, 1419, 1353, 1216, 1099, 1029, 989, 876, 769, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.47-7.34 (m, 7H), 7.33-7.28 (m, 3H), 6.93 (t, *J* = 18.3 Hz, 1H), 6.79-6.64 (m, 1H), 5.92-5.68 (m, 2H), 5.40 (brs, 1H), 5.30-5.09 (m, 2H), 4.80 (brs, 1H), 4.62-4.33 (m, 3H), 4.20-3.96 (m, 4H), 3.95-3.62 (m, 1H), 3.44 (d, *J* = 10.7 Hz, 1H), 2.61 (brs, 1H), 2.50-2.14 (m, 3H), 2.12-1.75 (m, 4H), 1.74-1.53 (m, 5H), 1.53-1.38 (m, 5H), 1.37-1.19 (m, 9H), 0.98 (d, 3H), 0.95-0.91 (m, 3H), 0.90-0.86 (m, 3H), 0.71 (d, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.3, 171.0, 156.7, 150.8, 138.7, 136.1, 128.9, 128.6, 128.4, 128.2, 128.0, 127.8, 127.3, 118.5, 117.1, 104.2, 99.9, 91.2, 88.1, 80.9, 74.1, 68.0, 61.9, 60.4, 55.4, 55.2, 52.5, 52.1, 51.9, 51.6, 44.2, 40.1, 37.5, 36.3, 34.5, 30.4, 26.1, 25.9, 25.0, 24.6, 24.5, 23.0, 22.2, 21.6, 20.3, 16.3, 12.6; ³¹P NMR (162 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 17.96; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 918.2 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): *m/z* calcd for C₄₇H₆₆O₁₂N₃NaP [M + Na]⁺ 918.4276; found: 918.4258; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% IPA in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 215 nm, *t*_R = 11.3 min for 81S (β) and *t*_R = 14.1 min for 81S (α).

General procedure for the synthesis of (*E*)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)-*N*-tritylprop-2en-1-amine ((±)-91 or (*R*)-91 or (*S*)-91)



2-Phenyl-2-(tritylamino)ethan-1-ol (\pm)-67 or (*R*)-67 or (*S*)-67 (1.32 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in DCM (10 mL) and cooled to 0 °C. To this cold solution was added Dess-Martin periodinane (1.98 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) portion wise over 10 min and then stirred at 0 °C for 10 min. The reaction mixture was allowed to slowly warm to 25 °C and stirred for 30 min. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was diluted with DCM. The reaction mixture was placed in an ice-water bath and a 1:1 mixture of saturated aqueous

NaHCO₃ solution and saturated NaHSO₃ solution (4 mL) was added and the cooling bath was removed and the mixture was stirred at 25 °C until the formation of two clear layers was observed. The reaction mixture was transferred to a separatory funnel containing a saturated aqueous NaHCO₃ solution (20 mL). The aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate (3X25 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine (20 mL), dried over Na₂SO₄, filtered and concentrated to give crude aldehyde (\pm)-**68** or (*R*)-**68** or (*S*)-**68**, respectively as colorless foaming solid. The crude aldehyde residue was used immediately for the next step without any further purification.

Diethyl ((phenylsulfonyl)methyl)phosphonate (2.24 mmol, 1.7 equiv.) was taken up in dry THF (4 mL) and was cooled to 0 °C in an ice bath. NaH (60 % dispersion in mineral oil, 1.98 mmol, 1.5 equiv.) was added to the reaction mixture in portion wise over a period of 5-10 min. The solution was stirred at 0 °C for 15 min. Crude aldehyde (\pm)-**68** or (*R*)-**68** or (*S*)-**68** was taken in dry THF (4 mL) and was added to the reaction mixture. The reaction mixture was then warmed to 25 °C and stirred for 3 h. After completion of the reaction (TLC), reaction mixture was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was dissolved in water, extracted with DCM (3X20 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with water, brine and concentrated to give crude product which was purified either by recrystallization from EtOAc-Petroleum ether mixture or column chromatography on a silica gel column with ethyl acetate: petroleum ether as eluant to give pure olefin (\pm)-**91** or (*S*)-**91** or (*R*)-**91**, respectively as colorless solid.

(*E*)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)-*N*-tritylprop-2-en-1-amine (91)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 168-169 °C; $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.74-7.44 (m, 5H), 7.43-7.30 (m, 6H), 7.24-7.07 (m, 12H), 7.05-6.92 (m, 2H), 6.67 (dd, J = 14.9, 6.2 Hz, 1H), 6.13 (d, J = 14.9 Hz, 1H), 4.26 (t, J = 5.3 Hz, 1H), 2.45 (d, J = 5.7 Hz, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 149.1, 145.8, 141.3, 140.6, 133.2, 129.2, 128.8, 127.9, 127.7, 127.4, 127.1, 126.8, 72.0, 59.0; ESI-LCMS: m/z 538.0 (M+Na)⁺; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 5% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 11.3$ min for (*R*)-isomer and $t_R = 12.8$ min for (*S*)-isomer.

(*R*,*E*)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)-*N*-tritylprop-2-en-1-amine ((*R*)-91)

Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 163-165 °C; $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -52.3 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); **ESI-LCMS:** *m/z* 538.0 (M+Na)⁺; **HPLC:** *ee* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 5% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 11.3$ min for (*R*)-isomer].

(*S*,*E*)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)-*N*-tritylprop-2-en-1-amine ((*S*)-91)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 165-166 °C; $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +59.0 (*c* 1.03, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.72-7.67 (m, 2H), 7.64 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.56-7.50 (m, 2H), 7.44-7.38 (m, 6H), 7.26-7.12 (m, 12H), 7.06-7.00 (m, 2H), 6.71 (dd, J = 14.9, 6.5 Hz, 1H), 6.17 (dd, J = 14.9, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 4.31 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 1H), 2.49 (brs, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 149.0, 145.8, 141.3, 140.6, 133.2, 129.2, 128.9, 128.8, 128.7, 127.9, 127.7, 127.4, 127.0, 126.7, 72.0, 59.0; ESI-LCMS: m/z 538.0 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z for C₃₄H₂₉O₂NNaS (M+Na)⁺: calcd 538.1811, found 538.1805; HPLC: *ee* 99.2% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 5% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 12.6$ min for (*S*)-isomer].

General procedure for the synthesis of (E)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)prop-2-en-1amine $((\pm)$ -90 or (R)-90 or (S)-90)



Trityl protected amine (\pm)-**91** or (*R*)-**91** or (*S*)-**91** (1.0 g, 1.94 mmol, 1.0 equiv.) was dissolved in DCM (30 mL) and trifluoroacetic acid (300 µL, 2.0 equiv.) was added at 25 °C and reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min. After completion of the reaction (TLC), DCM was removed under reduced pressure. Water (15 mL) was added to the residue and the aqueous layer was washed with diethyl ether (3X20 mL). The remaining aqueous layer was basified with a saturated aqueous solution of NaHCO₃ until pH 9, after which it was

extracted with DCM (3X20 mL). The combined organic layers were dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated to give crude amine (±)-**90** or (*R*)-**90** or (*S*)-**90**, respectively as colorless solid in quantitative yield, which was used for the final coupling reaction without any further purification. $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.42$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 7.92-7.81 (m, 2H), 7.66-7.57 (m, 1H), 7.56-7.48 (m, 2H), 7.39-7.18 (m, 5H), 7.09 (dd, J = 15.3, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 6.65 (dd, J = 14.5, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 4.76-4.67 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 148.7, 141.5, 140.4, 133.5, 129.7, 129.4, 129.1, 128.2, 127.8, 126.9, 56.4; ESI-LCMS: m/z 296.0 (M+Na)⁺.

 $\label{eq:Benzyl} ((2S)-1-oxo-1-(((2S)-1-oxo-3-phenyl-1-(((E)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)allyl) amino)propan-2-yl)amino)-3-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyldeca hydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) carbamate (92)$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.37$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 8.00-7.80 (m, 2H), 7.72-7.48 (m, 3H), 7.46-7.23 (m, 8H), 7.23-6.99 (m, 7H), 6.99-6.82 (m, 1H), 6.80-6.62 (m, 1H), 6.56-6.31 (m, 1H), 5.93-5.78 (m, 2H), 5.49-5.33 (m, 1H), 5.16-4.88 (m, 1H), 4.83-4.56 (m, 2H), 4.28-4.08 (m, 1H), 3.97-3.77 (m, 1H), 3.32-3.07 (m, 1H), 2.99-2.82 (m, 1H), 2.72-2.56 (m, 1H), 2.48-2.27 (m, 1H), 2.11-1.80 (m, 4H), 1.79-1.68 (m, 1H), 1.67-1.51 (m, 2H), 1.47-1.40 (m, 3 H), 1.37-1.17 (m, 5H), 1.01-0.92 (m, 3H), 0.89-0.80 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 169.6, 169.5, 169.3, 156.6, 145.1, 144.5, 140.2, 137.9, 135.7, 135.6, 135.5, 133.6, 133.4, 131.3, 129.4, 129.3, 129.3, 129.1, 129.1, 129.0, 128.9, 128.6, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.1, 127.7, 127.7, 127.4, 127.4, 127.3, 127.2, 104.3, 103.4, 88.0, 80.8, 69.1, 69.0, 67.7, 67.5, 56.3, 56.0, 54.1, 53.3, 52.3, 44.0, 37.5, 36.3, 34.5, 34.1, 30.7, 29.7, 26.0, 24.7, 24.6, 23.2, 22.7, 20.3, 14.1, 12.9; ESI-LCMS: m/z 930.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z calcd for $C_{50}H_{57}O_{11}N_3NaS$ [M + Na]⁺ 930.3606; found: 930.3594.

 $\label{eq:Benzyl} \begin{array}{l} ((2S)-1-(((2S)-4-methyl-1-oxo-1-(((E)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)allyl)amino) \\ pentan-2-yl)amino)-1-oxo-3-((((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyldeca \\ hydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl)oxy)propan-2-yl) \\ carbamate (93) \end{array}$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.46$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 8.03-7.82 (m, 2H), 7.73-7.47 (m, 3H), 7.42-7.32 (m, 6H), 7.31-7.22 (m, 3H), 7.14 (td, J =15.1, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 6.64-6.41 (m, 2H), 5.91-5.77 (m, 1H), 5.72 (brs, 1H), 5.47-5.37 (m, 1H), 5.25-5.15 (m, 1H), 5.08-4.94 (m, 1H), 4.85-4.71 (m, 1H), 4.58-4.33 (m, 1H), 4.33-4.17 (m, 1H), 4.14-3.94 (m, 1H), 3.93-3.72 (m, 1H), 2.65 (brs, 1H), 2.47-2.30 (m, 1H), 2.11-1.96 (m, 1H), 1.96-1.85 (m, 1H), 1.84-1.67 (m, 5H), 1.66-1.47 (m, 4H), 1.45-1.39 (m, 3H), 1.37-1.19 (m, 2H), 1.09-0.80 (m, 12H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 170.6, 169.9, 156.2, 144.5, 140.1, 137.8, 135.9, 133.6, 133.5, 131.4, 129.4, 129.3, 129.2, 129.1, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.1, 127.7, 127.4, 127.3, 126.2, 104.3, 103.5, 88.0, 88.0, 80.8, 69.1, 67.7, 67.6, 55.7, 53.5, 53.3, 52.4, 52.2, 44.1, 40.1, 37.3, 36.3, 34.5, 34.4, 30.7, 26.0, 24.9, 24.6, 24.6, 22.9, 21.8, 20.3, 12.8; ESI-LCMS: m/z 896.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z for C₄₇H₅₉O₁₁N₃NaS (M+Na)⁺: calcd 896.3763, found 896.3752.

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Benzyl } (2S,4R)-2-(((2S)-4-methyl-1-oxo-1-(((E)-1-phenyl-3-(phenylsulfonyl)allyl)amino) \\ \mbox{pentan-2-yl} (arbamoyl)-4-(((3R,5aS,6R,8aS,9R,10S,12R,12aR)-3,6,9-trimethyldeca \\ \mbox{hydro-12H-3,12-epoxy[1,2]dioxepino[4,3-i]isochromen-10-yl})oxy) pyrrolidine-1- \\ \mbox{carboxylate } (94) \end{array}$



Colorless solid; $R_f = 0.47$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 171.6, 171.5, 171.1, 156.9, 156.6, 145.0, 144.7, 140.3, 140.2, 138.1, 138.0, 136.0, 135.7, 134.1, 133.6, 133.4, 131.4, 129.4, 129.2, 129.0, 128.7, 128.4, 128.2, 128.1, 128.0, 127.8, 127.3, 126.3, 104.4, 100.1, 91.3, 88.2, 81.0, 74.2, 74.0, 68.2, 68.0, 60.8, 60.6, 53.5, 53.4, 52.5, 52.2, 51.7, 44.2, 40.4, 39.9, 39.7, 37.6, 37.5, 36.9, 36.8, 36.4, 34.7, 34.5, 31.7, 30.5, 30.2, 29.1, 27.0, 26.2, 26.0, 25.4, 25.1, 25.1, 24.7, 24.6, 23.1, 22.7, 21.6, 21.5, 20.8, 20.4, 14.2, 12.7, 11.5; ESI-LCMS: m/z 922.1 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI): m/z for C₄₉H₆₁O₁₁N₃NaS (M+Na)⁺: calcd 922.3919, found 922.3907.

Antimalarial activity protocol:

All the *Plasmodium falciparum* strains used in the present study (3D7, 7G8 and Dd2) were obtained from Malaria Research and Reference Reagent Resource Center (MR4).

(a) Expression and purification of recombinant falcpain-2 enzyme:

Recombinant falcipain-2 was prepared according to the method described by Shenai *et al.*⁶³ and Kumar *et al.*⁶⁴ with slight modification. Briefly, *Escherichia coli* M15 containing pQE30-FP-2 plasmid were grown to mid-log phase and induced with isopropyl-1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside (IPTG, 0.5 mM) for 5 h at 37 °C. Cells were harvested, washed with ice-cold 100 mM Tris-Cl, 10 mM EDTA, pH 7.4, sonicated (12 cycles of 10 s each, with cooling for 10 s between the cycles), and centrifuged at 15,000 rpm for 45 min at 4 °C. The pellet was washed twice with 2.5 M urea, 20 mM Tris-Cl, 2.5% Triton X-100, pH 8.0; centrifuged at 15,000 rpm for 45 min at 4 °C; and solubilized in 6 M guanidine HCl, 20 mM Tris-Cl, 250 mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, pH 8.0 (5 mL/g of inclusion body pellet) at RT for 60 min at 4 °C. For the purification of the recombinant protein, the supernatant was incubated overnight at 4 °C with a nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA) resin. The resin was loaded on a column and washed with 10 bed volumes each of 6 M guanidine HCl, 20 mM

Tris-Cl, 250 mM NaCl, pH 8.0; 8 M urea, 20 mM Tris-Cl, 500 mM NaCl, pH 8.0; and 8 M urea, 20 mM Tris-Cl, 30 mM imidazole, pH 8.0. Bound protein was eluted with 8 M urea, 20 mM Tris-Cl, 1 M imidazole, pH 8.0 and quantified by the Bicinchoninic acid assay. For the refolding, the fractions containing falcipain-2 protein were pooled in the ice-cold refolding buffer: 100 mM diluted in Tris-Cl, 1 mM EDTA, 20% glycerol, 250 mM L-arginine, 1 mM GSH, 1 mM GSSG, pH 8.0 was added in a 100 fold dilution. The mixture was incubated with moderate stirring at 4 °C for 24 h, and concentrated to 25 mL using a stirred cell with a 10-kDa cut-off membrane (Pellicon XL device, Millipore) at 4 °C. The sample was then filtered using a 0.22-mm syringe filter. The purified and concentrated protein was quantified using bicinchoninic acid assay.

(b) Fluorometric assay for falcipain-2 activity:

For screening of falcipain-2 inhibitors, a 96-well plate fluorometric assay was developed following a protocol described by Kumar *et al.*⁶⁴ Briefly, reaction was set up in a 200 mL reaction mixture containing 100 mM NaOAc, 10 mM DTT, 6 mg enzyme and different concentrations of inhibitors, pH 5.5. 10 mM of fluorogenic substrate benzyloxycarbonyl-Phe-Arg-7-amino-4-methylcoumarin hydrochloride (ZFR-AMC) was added, and the release of 7-amino-4-methylcoumarin (AMC) was monitored (excitation 355 nm; emission 460 nm) over 30 min at RT in Perkin Elmer Victor3 multilabel counter. Activities were compared as fluorescence released over time in the assay without or with different concentration of each compound tested. The IC₅₀ values were calculated from curve fittings by software Workout V 2.5. K_i values were derived from the Cheng-Prusoff equation relating both parameters when substrate concentration and K_M are known:

$$K_i = \frac{\mathrm{IC}_{50}}{1 + \left(\frac{[\mathbf{S}]}{K_M}\right)}$$

(c) Expression and activity of heme detoxification protein (HDP)

Briefly, cultures of *E. coli* M15 cells containing plasmid pHDP (HDP gene cloned in pQE expression vector) were grown to mid-log phase, induced with IPTG (1 mM) for 4 h at 37 °C, and harvested by centrifugation at 4,000 \times g for 20 min. The total cell pellet was resuspended in wash buffer (50 mM Tris·HCl at pH 7.5, 20 mM EDTA) containing 0.5

mg/mL lysozyme and incubated for 1 h at room temperature with intermittent shaking, and then with vigorous shaking for an additional 30 min. The washed cell pellet was lysed after adding wash buffer containing 0.5 M NaCl and 2.5% Triton X-100. The inclusion bodies were pelleted by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 50 min at 4 °C, resuspended in wash buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 using a sonicator, pelleted again, and then washed four times in wash buffer without Triton X-100. The inclusion bodies were solubilized for 30 min in 50 mM CAPS buffer at pH 11.0 containing 1.5% N-lauryl sarcosine and 0.3 M NaCl and centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 30 min. The protein was purified from the supernatant using a His-Trap, a high-performance nickel affinity column (GE Health Care) by an imidazole gradient in 50 mM CAPS at pH 11.0 containing 0.3% N-lauryl sarcosine and 0.3 M NaCl. Protein-containing fractions were pooled and dialyzed against 25 mM CAPS buffer (pH 11.0) containing 135 mM NaCl. The activity of the protein was assessed by its ability to convert heme to hemozoin (Hz).⁶⁵

(d) In vitro hemozoin formation assay

The *in vitro* hemozoin formation assay were carried out in 1 mL reaction buffered with 500 mM sodium acetate at pH 5.2 with 5 mM reduced glutathione containing heme (300 μ M) and 0.5 μ M recombinant HDP, the reaction was carried out at 37 °C for 3h. Subsequently, free heme in the reaction was removed by repeated washing of the pellet with 2.5% SDS and 0.1M sodium bicarbonate (pH 9.1) followed by repeated washing with distilled water until no soluble heme was visible in the supernatant. The Hz pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of 0.1 N NaOH, and absorbance was measured at 400 nm, heme concentration was calculated from the standard curve. Heme stock (10mM) was prepared by dissolving 3.3 mg of hemin (Sigma) in 500 μ l of 1 M NaOH, which was used to make dilutions ranging from 50 μ m-600 μ m to plot the standard curve. A reaction containing buffered heme alone was used as negative control. To assess the effect of different compounds on hemozoin formation, the assay was performed in the presence of the compounds at various concentrations.

(e) P. falciparum growth inhibition assay

P. falciparum strain 3D7, Dd2 and 7G8 were cultured in RPMI media (Invitrogen) supplemented with 0.5% albumax and 4% haematocrit using a protocol described previously.⁶⁶ Cultures were synchronized by repeated sorbitol treatment following a protocol

described previously.⁶⁷ Each growth inhibition assay was performed in triplicate and the experiment was repeated twice. Each well contained 0.5 mL of complete media [RPMI (invitrogen) with 0.5% albumax], 4% haematocrit and the parasitaemia adjusted to ~1%; the compound added to the parasite cultures to desired final concentrations (0-100 μ M) and same amount of solvent (DMSO) was added to the control wells. The cultures were allowed to grow further for 48 h. Parasite growth was assessed by DNA fluorescent dye-binding assay using SYBR green (Sigma) following Smilkstein *et al.* procedure.⁶⁸

(f) In vitro toxicity assay on CHO cells

The cytotoxicity assay was carried out using the CHO cells proliferation test. CHO cells were seeded in triplicates at 100 μ L aliquots (1×10⁴ cells per well) with DMEM medium in Nunclon flat bottom 96-well plates and were allowed to grow for 24 h. Subsequently, the medium was replaced by a test medium containing each inhibitor (0-500 μ M), or DMSO as a control. The CHO cells were allowed to grow for further 24 h, and then 10 μ L of the WST-1 reagent was added and plates were incubated for 30 min. The plates were read at 450 nm absorption and 630 nm reference wavelengths using a TECAN GENios Pro microplate reader. The percentage growth was calculated by comparing with the control set. The EC₅₀ values for each compound were calculated from the growth inhibition curve.

(g) In vivo parasiticidal assays with P. berghei mice malaria model

Five groups of female BALB/c mice, 6-8 weeks of age (four mice/group) were used for testing the *in vivo* parasiticidal and protective efficacy of different drug treatments. Mice were injected IP with 1×10^6 *P. berghei* infected erythrocytes. The drug treatment was initiated 5 days after inducing parasitemia; mice in a group were given 4 doses of a compound at 12.5 mg/Kg of body weight. Control mice were given solvent alone. The parasitemia was assessed every day in thin smears of Giemsa stained RBCs from the tail blood of each mouse, by counting parasitized erythrocytes in more than 10,000 erythrocytes. Time of death of the mice in each group was also monitored.

1.7. REFERENCES

- (a) WHO, http://www.who.int/malaria/en/.
 (b) World Malaria Report 2017, http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/259492/9789241565523eng.pdf;jsessionid=11701D93B5F5200D4DB4EC2FF53E0B83?sequence=1.
- 2. CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention) malaria maps: https://www.cdc.gov/malaria/map/.
- 3. https://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/laureates/2015/press.pdf.
- 4. (a) Qinghao Research Group, *Kexue Tongbao* 1977, 22, 142; (b) Liu, J.; Ni, M.; Fan, J.; Tu, Y.; Wu, Z.; Wu, Y.; Zhou, W. *Kexue Tongbao* 1977, *3*, 142.
- (a) China co-operative research group on qinghouso and its derivatives as antimalarials, *J. Tradit. Clin. Med.* 1982, 2, 9; (b) *J. Tradit. Clin. Med.* 1982, 2, 45; (c) *J. Tradit. Clin. Med.* 1982, 2, 25.
- (a) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Sharma, R. P. *Heterocycles* 1999, *51*, 1681; (b) Krishna, K.; Bustamante, L.; Haynes, R. K.; Staines, H. M. *Trends. Pharmacol. Sci.* 2008, *29*, 521; (c) Zhou, W. S.; Xu, X. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 1994, *27*, 211; (d) Avery, M. A. *Adv. Med. Chem.* 1999, *4*, 125; (e) Lin, J. M.; Ni, M. Y.; Tou, Y. Y.; Wa, Z. H.; Wu, Y. L.; Chou, W. S. *Acta Chim. Sinica* 1979, *37*, 129; (f) Bez, G.; Kalita, B.; Sarmah, P.; Barua, N. C.; Dutta, D. K. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 2003, *7*, 1231; (g) Chaturvedi, D.; Goswami, A.; Saikia, P. P.; Barua, N. C.; Rao, P. G. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2010, *39*, 435; (h) Mital, A. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 2007, *14*, 759.
- 7. (a) White, N. J. Science 2008, 320, 330; (b) Dondorp, A. M.; Nosten, F.; Yi, P.; Das, D.; Phyo, A. P.; Tarning, J.; Lwin, K. M.; Ariey, F.; Hanpithakpong, W.; Lee, S. J. N. Engl. J. Med. 2009, 361, 455.
- "WHO calls for an immediate halt to provision of single-drug artemisinin malaria pills". WHO. 19 January 2006.
- 9. Nosten, F.; White, N. J. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2007, 77, 181.
- 10. World Health Organization, 2001. *Antimalarial drug combination therapy (ACT)*, http://www.who.int/malaria/publications/atoz/who_cds_rbm_2001_35/en/.
- Antimalarial drug resistance: (a) Bloland, P. B.; World Health Organization, Drug Resistance in Malaria. 2001; (b) Yeung, S.; Pongtavornpinyo, W.; Hastings, I. M.; Mills, A. J.; White, N. J. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2004, 179; (c) Cui, L.;

Mharakurwa, S.; Ndiaye, D.; Rathod, P. K.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **2015**, *93*, 57; (d) Antony, H. A.; Parija, S. C. *Trop. Parasitol.* **2016**, *6*, 30;

- (a) Klein, E. Y. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 2013, 41, 311; (b) Farooq, U.; Mahajan, R. C. J. Vector Borne Dis. 2004, 41, 45; (c) Petersen, I.; Eastman, R.; Lanzer, M. FEBS lett. 2011, 585, 1551; (d) Ballou, W. R.; Sherwood, J.; Neva, F.; Gordon, D.; Wirtz, R.; Wasserman, G.; Diggs, C.; Hoffman, S.; Hollingdale, M.; Hockmeyer, W. Lancet 1987, 329, 1277; (e) Payne, D. Parasitol. today 1987, 3, 241; (f) Wongsrichanalai, C.; Pichard, A. L.; Wernsdorfer, W. H.; Meshnick, S. R. Lancet Infect. Disease 2002, 2, 209.
- 13. (a) Petersen, I.; Eastman, R.; Lanzer, M. FEBS lett. 2011, 585, 1551; (b) Trape, J. F.
 Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 2001, 64, 12.
- (a) Takechi, M.; Matsuo, M.; Ziba, C.; Macheso, A.; Butao, D.; Zungu, I. L.; Chakanika, I.; Bustos, M.; Dorina, G. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 2001, *6*, 429; (b) Clyde, D. F.; Shute, G. T. Trans. *R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 1957, *51*, 505; (c) Roper, C.; Pearce, R.; Bredenkamp, B.; Gumede, J.; Drakeley, C.; Mosha, F.; Chandramohan, D.; Sharp, B. *Lancet* 2003, *361*, 1174; (d) Nair, S.; Williams, J. T.; Brockman, A.; Paiphun, L.; Mayxay, M.; Newton, P. N.; Guthmann, J. P.; Smithuis, F. M.; Hien, T. T.; White, N. J. *Mol. Boil. Evol.* 2003, *20*, 1526.
- 15. Mockenhaupt, F. P. Parasitol. today 1995, 11, 248.
- (a) Phyo, A. P.; Nkhoma, S.; Stepniewska, K.; Ashley, E. A.; Nair, S.; McGready, R.; ler Moo, C.; Al-Saai, S.; Dondorp, A. M.; Lwin, K. M. *Lancet* 2012, *379*, 1960;
 (b) Amaratunga, C.; Sreng, S.; Suon, S.; Phelps, E. S.; Stepniewska, K.; Lim, P.; Zhou, C.; Mao, S.; Anderson, J. M.; Lindegardh, N. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 2012, *12*, 851; (c) Kyaw, M. P.; Nyunt, M. H.; Chit, K.; Aye, M. M.; Aye, K. H.; Lindegardh, N.; Tarning, J.; Imwong, M.; Jacob, C. G.; Rasmussen, C. *PLoS One* 2013, *8*, e57689; (d) Hien, T. T.; Thuy-Nhien, N. T.; Phu, N. H.; Boni, M. F.; Thanh, N. V.; Nha-Ca, N. T.; Thai, C. Q.; Van Toi, P.; Thuan, P. D.; Merson, L. *Malar. J.* 2012, *11*, 355.
- 17. World Health Organization. Artemisinin and Artemisinin-Based Combination Therapy Resistance: Status Report; April, 2017.

- Ashley, E. A.; Dhorda, M.; Fairhurst, R. M.; Amaratunga, C.; Lim, P.; Suon, S.;
 Sreng, S.; Anderson, J. M.; Mao, S.; Sam, B. N. Engl. J. Med. 2014, 371, 411.
- 19. (a) Noedl, H.; Se, Y.; Schaecher, K.; Smith, B. L.; Socheat, D.; Fukuda, M. M. N. *Engl. J. Med.* 2008, *359*, 2619; (b) Dondorp, A. M.; Nosten, F.; Yi, P.; Das, D.; Phyo, A. P.; Tarning, J.; Lwin, K. M.; Ariey, F.; Hanpithakpong, W.; Lee, S. J. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2009, *361*, 455.
- 20. (a) Mishra, N.; Singh, J. P. N.; Srivastava, B.; Arora, U.; Shah, N. K.; Ghosh, S. K.; Bhatt, R. M.; Sharma, S. K.; Das, M. K.; Kumar, A. *Bull. World Health Organ.*2012, 90, 895; (b) Mishra, N.; Kaitholia, K.; Srivastava, B.; Shah, N. K.; Narayan, J. P.; Dev, V.; Phookan, S.; Anvikar, A. R.; Rana, R.; Bharti, R. S. *Malar. J.* 2014, 13, 284.
- 21. Goldberg, D. E. Sem. Cell Biol. 1993, 4, 355.
- (a) Sherman, I. W.; Tanigoshi, L. Int. J. Biochem. 1970, 1, 635; (b) Sherman, I. W. Bull. WHO 1977, 55, 265.
- 23. Atamna, H.; Ginsburg, H. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 1993, 61, 231.
- 24. (a) Pagola, S.; Stephens, P. W.; Bhole, D. S.; Kosar, A. D.; Madsen, S. K. *Nature* 2000, 404, 307; (b) Kumar, S.; Guha, M.; Choubey, V.; Maity, P.; Bandyopadhyay, U. *Life Sci.* 2007, 80, 813.
- Gluzman, I. Y.; Francis, S. E.; Oksman, A.; Smith, C. E.; Duffin, K. L.; Goldberg D.
 E. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1994**, 93, 1602.
- 26. (a) Sijwali, P. S.; Kato, K.; Seydel, K. B.; Gut, J.; Lehman, J.; Klemba, M.; Goldberg, D. E.; Miller, L. H.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2004, *101*, 8721; (b) Shenai, B. R.; Sijwali, P. S.; Singh, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2000, *275*, 29000; (c) Sijwali, P. S.; Shenai, B. R.; Gut, J.; Singh, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Biochem. J.* 2001, *360*, 481; (d) Dahl, E. L.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 2005, *139*, 205.
- Liu, J.; Istvan E. S.; Gluzman, I. Y.; Gross, J.; Golberg, D. E.; *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 2006, 103, 8840.
- 28. Eggleson, K. K.; Duffin, K. L.; Goldberg, D. E. J. Biol. Chem. 1999, 274, 32411.
- 29. Klemba, M.; Gluzman, I.; Goldberg, D. E. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 43000.

- 30. (a) Gavigan, C. S.; Dalton, J. P.; Bell, A. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 2001, 117, 37; (b)
 Dalal, S.; Klemba, M. J. Biol. Chem. 2007, 282, 35978.
- (a) Teixeira, C; Gomes, J. R. B; Gomes, P. Curr. Med. Chem. 2011, 18, 1555; (b) Sijwalai, P. S.; Rosenthal, P. J. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2004, 101, 4384; (c) Rosenthal, P. J.; Sijwali, P. S.; Singh, A.; Shenai, B. R.; Curr. Pharm. Des. 2002, 8, 1659; (d) Rosenthal P. J. Int. J. Parasitol. 2004, 34, 1489; (e) Singh, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. J. Biol. Chem. 2004, 279, 35236; (f) Deu, E. FEBS J. 2017, 284, 2604; (g) Rosenthal, P. J. Falcipains and Other Cysteine Proteases of Malaria Parasites. In Cysteine Proteases of Pathogenic Organisms; Springer, 2011; 30–48; (h) Rosenthal, P. J.; McKerrow, J. H.; Aikawa, M.; Nagasawa, H.; Leech, J. H. J. Clin. Investing. 1988, 82, 1560; (i) Pandey, K. C.; Dixit, R. J. Trop. Med. 2012, 2012; (j) Desai, P. V.; Patny, A.; Gut, J.; Rosenthal, P. J.; Tekwani, B.; Srivastava, A.; Avery, M. J. Med. Chem.. 2006, 49, 1576.
- 32. (a) Rosenthal, P. J.; Lee, G. K; Smith, R. E. J. Clin. Invest. 1993, 91, 1052; (b) Rosenthal, P. J.; Wollish, W. S.; Palmer, J. T.; Rasnick D. J. Clin. Invest. 1991, 88, 1467; (c) Rosenthal, P. J.; McKerrow, J. H.; Aikawa, M.; Nagasawa, H.; Leech, J. H. J. Clin. Invest. 1988, 82, 1560.
- (a) Shenai, B. R.; Lee, B. J.; Alvarez-Hernandez, A.; Chong, P. Y.; Emal, C. D.; Neitz, R. J.; Roush, W. R.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2003, 47, 154; (b) Olson, J. E.; Lee, G. K.; Semenov, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 1999, 7, 633; (c) Rosenthal, P. J.; Olson, J. E.; Lee, G. K.; Palmer, J. T.; Klaus, J. L.; Rasnick, D. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 1996, 40, 1600; (d) Capela, R.; Oliveira, R.; Gonçalves, L. M.; Domingos, A.; Gut, J.; Rosenthal, P. J.; Lopes, F.; Moreira, R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2009, 19, 3229.
- 34. (a) Singh, A, Shenai, B. R.; Choe, Y.; Gut, J.; Sijwali, P. S.; Craik, C. S.; Rosenthal, P. J. *Biochem. J.* 2002, *368*, 273; (b) Lee, B. J.; Singh, A.; Chiang, P.; Kemp, S. J.; Goldman, E. A.; Weinhouse, M. I.; Vlasuk, G. P.; Rosenthal, P. J. Antimicrob. Agents. Chemother. 2003, *47*, 3810.
- 35. (a) Matsumoto, K.; Yamamoto, D.; Ohishi, H.; Tomoo, K.; Ishida, T., Inoue, M.;
 Sadatome, T.; Kitamura, K.; Mizuno, H. *FEBS Lett.* 1989, 245, 177; (b) Yabe, Y.;
 Guillaume, D.; Rich, D. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1988, 110, 4043; (c) James, H. K.;

Asgian, J. L.; Li, Z. Z.; Ekici, O. D.; Rubin, J. R.; Mikolajczyk, J.; Salvesen, G. S.;
Powers, J. C. J. Med. Chem. 2004, 47, 1553; (d) Roush, W. R.; Gonzalez, F. V.;
McKerrow, J. H.; Hansell, E. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 1998, 8, 2809; (e) Schulz, F.;
Gelhaus, C.; Degel, B.; Vicik, R.; Heppner, S.; Breuning, A.; Leippe, M.; Gut, J.;
Rosenthal, P. J.; Schirmeister, T. Chem. Med. Chem. 2007, 2, 1214.

- Micale, N.; Kozikowski, A. P.; Ettari, R.; Grasso, S.; Zappala, M.; Jeong, J. J.;
 Kumar, A.; Hanspal, M.; Chishti, A. H. J. Med. Chem. 2006, 49, 3064.
- (a) Dominguez, J. N.; Leon, C.; Rodrigues, J.; Dominguez, N. G.; Gut, J.; Rosenthal P. J. J. Med. Chem. 2005, 48, 3654; (b) Liu, M.; Wilairat, P.; Go, M. L. J. Med. Chem. 2001, 44, 4443; (c) Li, R.; Kenyon, G. L.; Cohen, F. E.; Chen, X.; Gong, B.; Dominguez, J. N.; Davidson, E.; Kurzban, G.; Miller, R. E.; Nuzum, E. O.; Rosenthal, P. J.; McKerrow, J. H. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 5031; (d) Chen, M.; Christensen, S. B.; Zhai, L.; Rasmussen, M. H.; Theander, T. G.; Frokjaer, S.; Steffansen, S.; Davidsen, J.; Kharazmi, A. J. Infect. Disease 1997, 176, 327; (e) Chen, M.; Theander, T. G.; Christensen, B. S.; Hviid, L.; Zhai, L.; Kharazmi, A. Licochalcone, A. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 1994, 38, 1470.
- 38. (a) Batra, S.; Sabnis, Y. A.; Rosenthal, P. J.; Avery, M. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*2003, 11, 2293; (b) Sajid, M.; McKerrow, J. H. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 2002, 120, 21.
- 39. (a) Chipeleme, A.; Gut, J.; Rosenthal, P. J.; Chibale, K. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2007, *15*, 273; (b) Chiyanzu, I.; Hansell, E.; Gut. J.; Rosenthal, P. J.; McKerrowb, J. H.; Chibale, K. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2003, *13*, 3527; (c) Klayman, D. L.; Bartosevich, J. F.; Griffin, T. S.; Mason, C. J.; Scovill, J. P. *J. Med. Chem.* 1979, *22*, 855; (d) Greenbaum, D. C.; Mackey, Z.; Hansell, E.; Doyle, P.; Gut, J.; Caffrey, C. R.; Lehrman, J.; Rosenthal, P. J.; McKerrow, J. H., Chibale, K. *J. Med. Chem.* 2004, *47*, 3212.
- 40. Reviews on falcipain-2 inhibitors: (a) Marco, M.; Miguel Coteron, J. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 2012, 12, 408 and references cited there in; (b) Ettari, R.; Bova, F.; Zappalà, M.; Grasso, S.; Micale, N. Med. Res. Rev. 2010, 30, 136 and references cited there in.

- 41. (a) Meunier, B. Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 69; (b) Agarwal, D.; Gupta, R. D.; Awasthi, S. K. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 2017, 61, e00249.
- 42. For hybrid molecule reviews, see: (a) Mehta, G.; Singh, V. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2002, 31, 324; (b) Tietze, L. F.; Bell, H. P.; Chandrasekhar, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 3996; (c) Suzuki, K. Chem. Rec. 2010, 10, 291; (d) B Tsogoeva, S. Mini-Rev. Med. Chem. 2010, 10, 773; (e) Maier, M. E. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2015, 13, 5302; (f) Choudhary, S.; Singh, P. K.; Verma, H.; Singh, H.; Silakari, O. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2018, 151, 62.
- 43. Combinatorial Chemistry: (a) Thompson, L. A.; Ellman, J. A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 555; (b) Tietze, L. F.; Lieb, M. E. Curr. Opin. Chem. Boil. 1998, 2, 363; 9; (c) Guillier, F.; Orain, D.; Bradley, M. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 2091; (d) Arya, P.; Baek, M. G. Curr. Opin. Chem. Boil. 2001, 5, 292; (e) Kennedy, J. P.; Williams, L.; Bridges, T. M.; Daniels, R. N.; Weaver, D.; Lindsley, C. W. J. Comb. Chem. 2008, 10, 345; (f) Gallop, M. A.; Barrett, R. W.; Dower, W. J.; Fodor, S. P.; Gordon, E. M. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 1233.
- 44. Schreiber, S. L. Science **2000**, 287, 1964.
- Grellepois, F.; Grellier, P.; Bonnet-Delpon, D.; Bégué, J. P. Chem. Bio. Chem. 2005, 6, 648.
- 46. Akula, M.; Sridevi, J. P.; Yogeeswari, P.; Sriram, D.; Bhattacharya, A. Monatsh. Chem. 2014, 145, 811.
- Di Stefano, A.; Sozio, P.; Cocco, A.; Iannitelli, A.; Santucci, E.; Costa, M.; Pecci, L.; Nasuti, C.; Cantalamessa, F.; Pinnen, F. J. Med. Chem. 2006, 49, 1486.
- Kelly, J. X.; Smilkstein, M. J.; Brun, R.; Wittlin, S.; Cooper, R. A.; Lane, K. D.; Janowsky, A.; Johnson, R. A.; Dodean, R. A.; Winter, R. *Nature* 2009, 459, 270.
- References for antimalarial hybrid molecules containing artemisinin core: (a) Walsh, J. J.; Coughlan, D.; Heneghan, N.; Gaynor, C.; Bell, A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2007, 17, 3599; (b) Nqoro, X.; Tobeka, N.; Aderibigbe, B. A. Molecules 2017, 22, 2268; (c) Wang, N.; Wicht, K. J.; Shaban, E.; Ngoc, T. A.; Wang, M. Q.; Hayashi, I.; Hossain, M. I.; Takemasa, Y.; Kaiser, M.; El Sayed, I. E. T. Med. Chem. Comm. 2014, 5, 927; (d) Lombard, M. C.; D N'Da, D.; Van Ba, C. T.; Wein, S.; Norman, J.; Wiesner, L.; Vial, H. Malar. J. 2013, 12, 71; (e) Reiter, C.; Fröhlich, T.;

Zeino, M.; Marschall, M.; Bahsi, H.; Leidenberger, M.; Friedrich, O.; Kappes, B.;
Hampel, F.; Efferth, T. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2015, *97*, 164; (f) Walsh, J. J.; Bell, A. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 2009, *15*, 2970; (g) Fröhlich, T.; Reiter, C.; Ibrahim, M. M.;
Beutel, J.; Hutterer, C.; Zeittraeger, I.; Bahsi, H.; Leidenberger, M.; Friedrich, O.;
Kappes, B. *ACS Omega* 2017, *2*, 2422; (h) Oliveira, R.; Miranda, D.; Magalhães, J.;
Capela, R.; Perry, M. J.; O'Neill, P. M.; Moreira, R.; Lopes, F. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2015, *23*, 5120; (i) Capela, R.; Cabal, G. G.; Rosenthal, P. J.; Gut, J.; Mota, M. M.;
Moreira, R.; Lopes, F.; Prudêncio, M. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2011, *55*, 4698.

- 50. Fraga, C. A. M. *Expert Opin. Drug Discov.* **2009**, *4*, 605.
- 51. Morphy, R.; Kay, C.; Rankovic, Z. Drug Discov. Today 2004, 9, 641.
- 52. Christiaans, J. A. M.; Timmerman, H. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 1996, 4, 1.
- 53. Gediya, L. K.; Njar, V. C. *Expert Opin. Drug Discov.* **2009**, *4*, 1099.
- Coslédan, F.; Fraisse, L.; Pellet, A.; Guillou, F.; Mordmüller, B.; Kremsner, P. G.; Moreno, A.; Mazier, D.; Maffrand, J. P.; Meunier, B. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2008, 105, 17579.
- (a) Ettari, R.; Nizi, E.; Di Francesco, M. E.; Micale, N.; Grasso, S.; Zappalà, M.;
 Vičík, R.; Schirmeister, T. *Chem. Med. Chem.* 2008, *3*, 1030; (b) Bhattacharya, A.
 K.; Rana, K. C. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2011, *19*, 7129.
- 56. Liu, Y.; Liu, Z.; Shi, J.; Chen, H.; Mi, B.; Li, P.; Gong, P. Molecules 2013, 18, 2864.
- 57. (a) Alqahtani, N.; Porwal, S. K.; James, E. D.; Bis, D. M.; Karty, J. A.; Lane, A. L.; Viswanathan, R. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2015, *13*, 7177; (b) Maison, W.; Arce, E.; Renold, P.; Kennedy, R. J.; Kemp, D. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, *123*, 10245.
- 58. Overman, L. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 597.
- Wang, H. Y.; Huang, K.; De Jesús, M.; Espinosa, S.; Piñero-Santiago, L. E.; Barnes, C. L.; Ortiz-Marciales, M. *Tetrahedron Asymmetry* 2016, 27, 91.
- 60. Wróblewski, A. E.; Piotrowska, D. G. Tetrahedron Asymmetry 2002, 13, 2509.
- 61. Picó, A.; Moyano, A.; Pericas, M. A. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 5075.
- 62. Frizler, M.; Yampolsky, I. V.; Baranov, M. S.; Stirnberg, M.; Gütschow, M. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2013, 11, 5913.

- 63. Shenai, B. R.; Sijwali, P. S.; Singh, A.; Rosenthal, P. J. J. Biol. Chem. 2000, 275, 29000;
- 64. Kumar, A.; Dasaradhi, P. V. N.; Chauhan, V. S.; Malhotra, P. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2004, 317, 38.
- Jani, D.; Nagarkatti, R.; Beatty, W.; Angel, R.; Slebodnick, C.; Andersen, J.; Kumar, S.; Rathore, D. *PLOS Pathog.* 2008, *4*, e1000053.
- 66. Trager, W.; Jensen, J. B. Science 1976, 193, 673.
- 67. Lambros, C.; Vanderberg, J. P. J. Parasitol. 1979, 65, 418.
- 68. Smilkstein, M.; Sriwilaijaroen, N.; Kelly, J. X.; Wilairat, P.; Riscoe, M. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 2004, 48, 1803.

1.8. SPECTRA





¹H NMR of Compound 54 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 55 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)



0.98

ידי 10

יי 9

11

45 35, 55

ы́с

12.02

ידי 8

¹³C NMR of Compound 63 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)

0

口.01 口.02

Π. **T**6.26

ידי 1

2

4.48

4

1.00

5 Chemical Shift (ppm)

6



¹H NMR of Compound (*R*)-67 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound (S)-69 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 52 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 70a (500 MHz, CDCl₃)






¹H NMR of Compound 71a (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 71a (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 72 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 73a (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 73a (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 74a (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 77 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 77 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 75 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 75*R* (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 75*R* (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 75S (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 76 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 76R (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 76*R* (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 76S (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 76S (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 79a (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 79a (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 80 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 80 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 81 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 81*R* (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 81*R* (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 81S (500 MHz, CDCl₃)





Chapter 1



¹H NMR of Compound (S)-91 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 90 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 92 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 93 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 94 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







<u>1.9. HPLC Chromatograms of (±)-69, (*R*)-69 and (*S*)-69 Chiralpak-IA, Hexane:EtOH (97:3), flow 1.0 mL/min, det.: UV 254 nm</u>



HPLC Chromatograms of 70a and 71a Chiralpak-IB, Hexane:IPA (90:10), flow 1.0 mL/min, det.: UV 210 nm













<u>HPLC Chromatograms of Hybrd Molecules 75, 75*R* and 75*S*</u> Chiralpak-IA, Hexane:IPA (82:18), flow 1.0 mL/min, det.: UV 210 nm

Page | 108



<u>HPLC Chromatograms of Hybrd Molecules 76, 76*R* and 76*S*</u> Chiralpak-IB, Hexane:IPA (90:10), flow 0.8 mL/min, det.: UV 215 nm



HPLC Chromatograms of Hybrd Molecules 81, 81*R* and 81*S* Chiralpak-IA, Hexane:IPA (80:20), flow 1.0 mL/min, det.: UV 215 nm

Page | 110

In the above HPLC chromatograms, peak **a** corresponds to β diastereomer (epimer) of dihydroartemisinin formed from the (*S*)- γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (*i.e.* (*S*)-**52**) and peak **b** corresponds to α diastereomer (epimer) of dihydroartemisinin formed from the same (*S*)- γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (*i.e.* (*S*)-**52**).

Similarly, peak **c** corresponds to α diastereomer of dihydroartemisinin formed from the (*R*)- γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (*i.e.* (*R*)-**52**) and peak **d** corresponds to β diastereomer of dihydroartemisinin formed from the same (*R*)- γ -phenyl- γ -amino vinyl phosphonate (*i.e.* (*R*)-**52**).





<u>HPLC Chromatograms of (±)-91, (*R*)-91 and (*S*)-91 Chiralpak-IA, Hexane:EtOH (95:5), flow 1.0 mL/min, det.: UV 220 nm</u>



Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules

2.1. SECTION A

Synthesis of syncarpamide, its analogs and study of their *in vitro* and *in vivo* antiplasmodial activities

2.1.1. INTRODUCTION

The genus *Zanthoxylum* is the largest in the family Rutaceae and contains more than 200 species. Plants belonging to the genus *Zanthoxylum* contain a variety of biologically active secondary metabolites such as alkaloids, coumarins, and lignans exhibiting febrifuge, sudorific, and diuretic properties.¹⁻¹⁰ The bark of *Zanthoxylum integrifoliolum* has been used in the traditional Chinese system of medicine by Ya-Mei aborigines in Lanyu island in Taiwan as a remedy for snakebite and dyspepsia and as an aromatic tonic in fever.²⁻³ In Sri Lanka, the genus *Zanthoxylum* is represented by three species, *viz.*, *Z. rhetza*, *Z. caudatum* and *Z. tetraspermum*.⁴ Among these, *Z. tetraspermum* (*Sinhala*-katukeena) is used in folklore medicine for the treatment of rheumatism and some forms of diarrhea.⁵ Antimalarial compounds containing α , β -unsaturated carbonyl moiety have been isolated from the root bark of *Z. gilletii*.⁶ Sticks prepared from the bark of *Z. gilletii* are used for preventing toothache.⁷ *Z. liebmanniaum* is used in Mexican traditional medicine for treating stomach aches, amoebiasis, intestinal parasites and as a local anesthetic agent.⁸

Zanthoxylum syncarpum Tul. is an evergreen tree occurring in both North and South America.⁹ Although several chemical constituents from Zanthoxylum species have been reported³⁻⁸ in the past however, not many secondary metabolites have been isolated from Z. syncarpum.^{9,10} A (+)-norepinephrine derivative, syncarpamide (1) was isolated from the stems of Zanthoxylum syncarpum.^{10a,b} Syncarpamide (1) exhibited antiplasmodial activities against *P. falciparum* with reported IC₅₀ values of 2.04 μ M and 3.06 μ M against D6 and W2 clones, respectively.



Figure 1. Structure of Syncarpamide 1.

2.1.2. MALARIA-REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Malaria is caused by the protozoan parasites of the genus *Plasmodium*. Several antimalarial natural products from plant sources were reported in the literature for the treatment of malaria.¹¹ *Plasmodium* parasite developed resistance to the all available antimalarial drugs including artemisinin.¹² Few examples for natural antimalarial compounds are shown in **Figure 2**. Resistance to currently available antimalarial agents prompted several research groups worldwide to look for new naturally occurring secondary metabolites from plants as antimalarial compounds.



Figure 2. Some examples of natural antimalarial compounds

2.1.3. PRESENT WORK

Objective

As a part of our ongoing research program on the development of novel antimalarial agents having a different mode of action, we targeted the first asymmetric synthesis of natural product syncarpamide **1**. Further, we wished to synthesize several analogs by varying the substituents on the aromatic ring and also by varying the ester and amide chains of the parent natural product, syncarpamide. The stereogenic center present in the syncarpamide and its analogs was introduced using Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation (SAD) as a key step.

2.1.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.1.4.1. Retrosynthesis

We envisioned that the natural product **1** could be obtained by one-pot esterification and amidation of the amino alcohol **1f**, which in turn could be obtained by the chiral diol **1c**. Chiral diol **1c** could be synthesized following the Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation (SAD) of 3,4-dimethoxystyrene **1b** followed by functional group manipulations (**Scheme 1**).



Scheme 1. Retrosynthesis of syncarpamide 1.

2.1.4.2. Synthesis of syncarpamide 1

As illustrated in **Scheme 2**, the synthesis of syncarpamide **1** started from commercially available 3,4-dimethoxybenzaldehyde **1a**. Wittig olefination of **1a** with methyltriphenyl phosphonium bromide gave monosubstituted alkene **1b** in 98% yield, which on Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation (SAD) with AD-mix- α furnished chiral diol **1c** in 94% yield. Tosylation of diol **1c** with tosyl chloride furnished **1d** in 87% yield which was treated with sodium azide at 80-90 °C to give azido alcohol **1e** in 69% yield. Reduction of azido alcohol **1e** under Pd/C condition furnished amino alcohol **1f** in quantitative yield. Finally, one-pot esterification and amidation of amino alcohol **1f** with cinnamic acid under DCC, DMAP conditions yielded syncarpamide **1** in 75% yield (40% overall yield).¹³



Scheme 2. Synthesis of Syncarpamide 1 employing Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation. *Reagents and conditions*: (a) *n*-BuLi, Ph₃P⁺MeBr⁻, THF, -78 °C to rt, 4 h, 98%; (b) ADmix- α , *t*-BuOH:H₂O (1:1), 0 °C, 12 h, 94%; (c) TsCl, Py, DCM, 0 °C, 2 h, 87%; (d) NaN₃, TBAI, DMF, 80 °C, 2 h, 69%; (e) H₂, Pd/C, MeOH, 4 h, rt, 98%; (f) Cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, 12 h, rt, 75%.

2.1.4.3. Synthesis of the enantiomer of syncarpamide (2)

The role of chiral center on the antiplasmodial activity of syncarpamide **1** was studied by carrying out the synthesis of its enantiomer **2**. As shown in **Scheme 3**, an enantiomer of syncarpamide was synthesized following the similar strategy by using AD-Mix- β in the Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation to prepare the chiral diol **2c**. Final coupling of the amino alcohol **2f** with cinnamic acid under the earlier used DCC/DMAP conditions furnished the enantiomer **2** of syncarpamide **1**.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of the enantiomer of syncarpamide 2. *Reagents and conditions*: (a) *n*-BuLi, $Ph_3P^+MeBr^-$, THF, -78 °C to rt, 4 h, 98%; (b) AD-mix- β , *t*-BuOH:H₂O (1:1), 0 °C, 12 h, 96%; (c) TsCl, Py, DCM, 0 °C, 2 h, 86%; (d) NaN₃, TBAI, DMF, 80 °C, 2 h, 60%; (e) H₂, Pd/C, MeOH, 4 h, rt, 98%; (f) Cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, 12 h, rt, 75%.

2.1.4.4. Synthesis of oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (3 and 4)

We then focused on synthesizing oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (*i.e.*, where nitrogen in syncarpamide is replaced by oxygen). Chiral diols **1c** and **2c** were obtained by the Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation of 3,4-dimethoxystyrene **1b** with AD-Mix- α and AD-Mix- β , respectively which were subjected directly to the coupling reaction with cinnamic acid under DCC and DMAP conditions to furnish the oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (**3** and **4**) (**Scheme 4**).



Scheme 4. Synthesis of oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (3 and 4). *Reagents and conditions*: (a) AD-mix- α , *t*-BuOH:H₂O (1:1), 0 °C, 12 h, 94%; (b) Cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, 12 h, rt, 98%; (c) AD-mix- β , *t*-BuOH:H₂O (1:1), 0 °C, 12 h, 96%; (d) Cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, 12 h, rt, 98%.

2.1.4.5. Synthesis of analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide using various substituted aromatic aldehydes (5-38)

Following the strategy mentioned above, several analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (5-38) were synthesized by varying different substituents on aromatic aldehyde. Different substituted aromatic aldehydes were reacted with one-carbon Wittig salt, methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide under strongly basic conditions (ⁿBuLi or NaH or

NaNH₂) to furnish the corresponding styrenes **b**.¹⁴ Substituted styrenes **b** on Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation¹⁵ with AD-mix- α or AD-mix- β afforded the *S*- or *R*-diols **c**,¹⁶ respectively with high enantiomeric excess (*ee*). Substituted chiral diols **c** on reaction with cinnamic acid under DCC, DMAP condition furnished the desired oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (**Scheme 5**) with high enantiomeric excess (*ee*) as determined by chiral HPLC analysis.

Monotosylation of the substituted chiral diols **c** with tosyl chloride furnished monotosylated compounds **d**.¹⁷ Monotosylated compounds **d** when treated with NaN₃ in DMF at 80 °C furnished 1,2-azido alcohols.¹⁸ Subsequent reduction of azido alcohols with 10% Pd/C furnished the desired 1,2-amino alcohols e^{19} 1,2-Amino alcohols e were treated with cinnamic acid under DCC, DMAP condition to furnish the desired analogs of syncarpamide (**Scheme 5**) with high enantiomeric excess (*ee*) as confirmed by chiral HPLC analysis. All the analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide synthesized using various substituted aromatic aldehydes are depicted in **Table 1**.



Scheme 5. Synthesis of analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide 1 by using various substituted aldehydes. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) Methyltriphenylphophonium bromide, base (^{*n*}BuLi or NaH or NaNH₂), THF, 85-99%; (b) AD-mix- α (or) AD-mix- β , *t*-BuOH:H₂O (1:1), 0 °C, 12 h, 80-98%; (c) Cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, rt, 12-16 h, 75-98%; (d) TsCl, Py, DCM, 0 °C, 3-4 h, 75-90%; (e) NaN₃, ^{*n*}Bu₄NI, DMF, 80-90 °C, 3-4 h, 80-95%; (f)
H₂, 10% Pd/C, MeOH, rt, 12 h, 99%; (g) Cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, rt, 12-16 h, 75-98%.

Table 1. Analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide synthesized using various substituted aromatic aldehydes (5-38).





Analogs of syncarpamide X = cinnamoyl

Oxy-analogs of syncarpamide X = cinnamoyl

Analogs		Oxy-analogues		R-Groups				
<i>S</i> -	<i>R</i> -	S-	R-	R_1	R_2	R_3	R_4	R_5
Config.	Config.	Config.	Config.					
5	6	7	8	Н	OMe	OMe	OMe	Н
9	10	11	12	OMe	Н	Н	Η	Н
13	14	15	16	Н	OMe	Η	Н	Н
17	18	19	20	Н	Н	OMe	Η	Н
21	22	23	24	OMe	OMe	Н	Η	Н
25	26	27	28	Н	Η	Η	Н	Н
29	30	31	32	Н	Н	Me	Η	Н
33	34	35	36	Н	-OC	H_2O -	Н	Н
n.s.	n.s.	37	38	-OC	H_2O -	Н	Н	Н

n.s.: Not synthesized







Figure 3. Structures of analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide (5-38).

2.1.4.6. Synthesis of analogs of syncarpamide using various carboxylic acid chains (39-48)

A second variation in the analog synthesis of syncarpamide 1 was thought of varying different aliphatic or aromatic carboxylic acid chains (Scheme 6, Table-2). Amino alcohol 1f ((S)-configuration) or 2f ((R)-configuration) synthesized from 3,4-dimethoxy benzaldehyde was coupled with aliphatic or aromatic carboxylic acid under DCC and DMAP condition to yield analogs 39-48. Table-2 depicts the synthesized analogs of syncarpamide using various aliphatic or aromatic carboxylic acids.



Scheme 6. Synthesis of analogs of syncarpamide using various carboxylic acids



Table 2. Analogs of syncarpamide synthesized using various carboxylic acids (39-48).

n.s.: not synthesized





Figure 4. Structures of analogs (39-48)

2.1.4.7. Synthesis of analogs of syncarpamide using various carboxylic acid chains (49-52) (where the ester and amide side chains are different)

In the third variation, we thought of synthesizing analogs of syncarpamide where the ester and amide side chains are different as shown in **Scheme 7**. Azido alcohol **1e** was coupled with aliphatic or aromatic carboxylic acid to furnish **1g**, which on reduction with either 10% Pd/C or PPh₃ furnished compound **1h**. Compound **1h** was further coupled with various aliphatic or aromatic acids to furnish the desired analogs **49-52** (**Table 3**).



Scheme 7. Synthesis of analogs of syncarpamide using various carboxylic acids. *Reagents and conditions:* (i) Carboxylic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, rt, 12-16 h, 74-80%; (ii) H₂, 10% Pd/C, MeOH, rt, 12 h (or) PPh₃, THF, rt, 12 h, 90-95%; (iii) Carboxylic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, rt, 12-16 h, 70-88%.



Table 3. Analogs of syncarpamide synthesized using various carboxylic acids (49-52).

Figure 5. Structures of analogs (49-52).

2.1.4.8. Synthesis of other analogs of syncarpamide (53-58)

Following the strategy mentioned above, some other interesting analogs were synthesized (**53-57**). Analogs **53** and **54** were synthesized starting from 2-naphthaldehyde. Further, some more interesting analogs (**55-57**) have also been synthesized (**Figure 6**).





Figure 6. Further synthesized analogs of syncarpamide, 53-57.

Synthesis of regioisomer of syncarpamide (58)

To study the structure-activity relationship (SAR), we thought of synthesizing a regioisomer **58** of syncarpamide where positions of nitrogen and oxygen atoms in syncarpamide are interchanged. Synthesis of regioisomer **58** started from 3,4-dimethoxy benzaldehyde **1b**. Sharpless amino hydroxylation²⁰ of **1b** furnished compound **1i**, which on Cbz deprotection with 10% Pd/C furnished the desired amino alcohol **1j**. Final coupling of **1j** with cinnamic acid under the DCC/DMAP conditions furnished the regioisomer **58** of syncarpamide (**Scheme 8**).



Scheme 8. Synthesis of regioisomer of syncarpamide *via* Sharpless aminohydroxylation strategy. *Reagents and conditions:* (i) Benzyl carbamate, NaOH, K₂OsO₄. 2H₂O, (DHQ)₂PHAL, *t*-BuOCl, *n*-PrOH, 75%; (ii) H₂, 10% Pd/C, MeOH, rt, 2 h, 99%; (iii) cinnamic acid, DCC, DMAP, DCM, rt, 12-16 h, 60%.

2.1.5. BIOLOGICAL STUDIES

2.1.5.1. In vitro antiplasmodial activities

Several analogs of syncarpamide were synthesized by varying substituents on the aromatic ring of syncarpamide by changing the stereocenter at C7 carbon and by varying different acid/amide side chains. All these synthesized analogs were assayed for antiplasmodial activity against *P. falciparum* chloroquine sensitive (CQ) strain 3D7 and chloroquine

resistant strain K1 with chloroquine (CQ) as a reference drug.^{21,22} Also, the effect of regioisomer **58** of syncarpamide **1** on antiplasmodial activity was studied. Cytotoxicity of all the synthesized molecules was carried out using Vero cell line (C1008; Monkey kidney fibroblast).²³

2.1.5.1.1. *In vitro* antiplasmodial activity of syncarpamide 1, analogs and oxy-analogs of syncarpamide with different substituents on aromatic ring (2-38)

Syncarpamide **1** having *S*-configuration at C7 carbon showed IC₅₀ values of 3.90 and 2.56 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains of *P. falciparum*, respectively and CC₅₀ value of 80.66 μ M against Vero cell line (C1008; Monkey kidney fibroblast) whereas enantiomer of syncarpamide, *i.e.* **2** having *R*-configuration at C7 carbon was found to be less active than **1** with IC₅₀ values >10.0 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains of *P. falciparum*, respectively and CC₅₀ value of 66.67 μ M against Vero cell line (**Table 4**). The oxy-analogs of syncarpamide, *i.e.* (*S*)-**3** and (*R*)-**4** also showed less antiplasmodial activities than syncarpamide **1**. Compound (*R*)-**4** showed cytotoxicity with a CC₅₀ value of 5.84 μ M against Vero cell line.



Trimethoxyl substituted analog of syncarpamide (*S*)-**5** showed IC₅₀ values of 6.69 and 3.64 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains of *P. falciparum*, respectively with a CC₅₀ value of 66.74 μ M. Its enantiomer, (*R*)-**6** was less active and showed cytotoxicity with a CC₅₀ value of 5.08 μ M. Corresponding oxy-analog (*S*)-**7** showed IC₅₀ values of 3.37 and 3.47 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains, respectively and CC₅₀ value of 6.44 μ M which indicates its cytotoxic nature.



Analogs	IC_{50} in (mean ± sd	μM) against	CC_{50} in μM (mean \pm sd)	SI (CC ₅₀ /IC ₅₀) against	
	3D7	K1	Vero cell line	3D7	
	P. falciparum	P. falciparum		P. falciparum	
1	3.90 ± 0.4	2.56 ± 0.24	80.66 ± 2.35	20.68	
2	>10.0	>10.0	66.67 ± 4.56	<6.68	
3	>10.0	>10.0	24.29 ± 1.45	<2.4	
4	>10.0	>10.0	5.87 ± 0.56	nd	
5	6.69 ± 0.31	3.64 ± 0.64	66.74 ± 4.32	9.98	
6	>10.0	>10.0	5.08 ± 0.4	nd	
7	3.37 ± 26	3.47 ± 0.33	6.44 ± 0.86	1.91	
8	>10.0	>10.0	121.81 ± 10.2	12.18	
9	7.69 ± 0.35	>10.0	77.81 ± 8.21	10.12	
10	>10.0	>10.0	117.47 ± 9.33	11.75	
11	3.8 ± 0.6	3.23 ± 0.43	14.04 ± 2.2	3.69	
12	>10.0	>10.0	51.69 ± 4.3	5.1	
13	6.39 ± 0.09	4.27 ± 0.36	147.72 ± 8.55	23.12	
14	>10	>10	62.73 ± 4.7	<6.27	
15	>10	>10	61.89 ± 5.4	<6.19	
16	>10	>10	22.31 ± 1.2	<2.23	
17	6.82 ± 0.37	7.26 ± 0.14	153.0 ± 11.23	22.43	
18	>10	>10	>200	~20	
19	>10	>10	33.49 ± 4.6	<3.35	
20	>10	>10	23.27 ± 3.2	<2.33	
21	6.41 ± 0.70	2.71 ± 0.30	>200	>31.20	
22	>10	>10	>200	~20	
23	5.79 ± 0.36	>10	28.43 ± 3.2	4.91	
24	>10	>10	82.74 ± 6.5	<8.27	
25	3.85 ± 0.54	>10.0	31.69 ± 4.11	8.23	

Table 4. In vitro antiplasmodial activity of syncarpamide 1, analogs and oxy-analogs ofsyncarpamide with different substituents on aromatic ring (2-38).

26	4.72 ± 0.68	>10.0	63.88 ± 5.36	13.53
27	>10	>10	39.15 ± 6.33	<3.92
28	>10	>10	30.33 ± 3.23	<3.03
29	$\boldsymbol{6.77} \pm \boldsymbol{0.56}$	>10.0	140.67 ± 5.32	20.78
30	6.97 ± 1.1	>10.0	49.36 ± 4.3	7.08
31	>10	>10	>200	~20
32	>10	>10	>200	~20
33	5.99 ± 0.18	3.99 ± 1.04	189.61 ± 21	31.65
34	>10	>10	>200	~20
35	5.95 ± 0.23	>10	31.79 ± 3.5	5.34
36	>10	>10	56.64 ± 5.5	<5.66
37	>10.0	>10.0	>200	~20
38	7.42 ± 1.5	>10.0	>200	>26.95
CQ	0.005 ± 0.0	0.25 ± 0.020	75 ± 15	15000
Podophyllotoxin	nd	nd	5.74 ± 0.65	-

sd values for >10.0 were '0'; nd = not done; sd = standard deviation; SI = selectivity index.

Compounds (9-20) are mono methoxyl substituted analogs of syncarpamide. The oxy-analog (*S*)-11 having methoxy group at the C2 position of aromatic ring showed IC₅₀ values of 3.80 (3D7), 3.23 μ M (K1) with cytotoxicity value (CC₅₀) of 14.04 μ M. Compound (*S*)-13 having methoxy group at C3 position showed IC₅₀ values of 6.39 and 4.27 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains, respectively and CC₅₀ value of 147.72 μ M. Compound (*S*)-17 with a methoxy group at C4 position exhibited IC₅₀ values of 6.82 (3D7) and 7.26 μ M (K1) with a CC₅₀ value of 153.0 μ M. The analogs (*S*)-13 and (*S*)-17 could be considered as one methoxyl deficient parent molecule syncarpamide and hence their antiplasmodial activities may be attributed due to the presence of one methoxy group either in C3 or C4 positions whereas parent molecule syncarpamide contains two methoxy groups in C3 and C4 positions. Compounds 10, 12, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19 and 20 were found to possess less antiplasmodial activities.



2,3-Dimethoxy substituted analog of syncarpamide compound (*S*)-**21** showed IC₅₀ values of 6.41 and 2.71 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains, respectively with a CC₅₀ value >200 μ M. 3,4-(Methylenedioxy) substituted analog (*S*)-**33** showed IC₅₀ values of 5.99 (3D7) and 3.99 μ M (K1) with a CC₅₀ value of 189.61 μ M. The antiplasmodial activity of (*S*)-**33** may be due to its structural similarity with parent compound syncarpamide, which has two methoxy groups in C3 and C4 positions. Compounds (*S*)-**23**, (*S*)-**25**, (*R*)-**26**, (*S*)-**29**, (*R*)-**30**, (*S*)-**35** and (*R*)-**38** showed selective antiplasmodial activities against 3D7 strain only and showed IC₅₀ values of 5.79, 3.85, 4.72, 6.77, 6.97, 5.95 and 7.42 μ M, respectively with cytotoxicity (CC₅₀) values of 28.43, 31.69, 63.88, 140.67, 49.36, 31.79, >200 μ M, respectively.



It was observed that analogs **4**, **6**, **7** and **11** showed high cytotoxicities with CC_{50} values of 5.87, 5.08, 6.44 and 14.04 μ M, respectively (**Table 4**). Analog **6** exhibited more cytotoxicity than the standard drug, podophyllotoxin and analogs **4** and **7** showed comparable cytotoxicities to podophyllotoxin.



2.1.5.1.2. *In vitro* antiplasmodial activity of analogs of syncarpamide with different acid chains (39-52)

Analogs **39-52** were synthesized by varying the two side chains of syncarpamide. Analogs (S)-**39** and (R)-**40** contain benzoyl groups in the side chains instead of cinnamoyl groups and

were found to exhibit selective activity against 3D7 strain with IC₅₀ values of 6.67, 3.66 μ M and CC₅₀ values of 38.94, and 103.76 μ M, respectively (**Table 5**).

Analogs (*S*)-**41** and (*R*)-**42** were synthesized using 3,4,5-trimethoxy cinnamic acid. When the side chains with cinnamoyl groups in syncarpamide were replaced with 3,4,5-trimethoxy cinnamoyl groups, an increase in antiplasmodial activities was observed against both the strains of *P. falciparum*. Compound (*S*)-**41** showed IC₅₀ values of 3.16 and 1.78 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains of *P. falciparum* with CC₅₀ value of 87.98 μ M against Vero cell line. Compound (*R*)-**42** showed IC₅₀ values of 2.28 and 2.07 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains with CC₅₀ value of 88.94 μ M. The better activity shown by the analogs (*S*)-**41** and (*R*)-**42** could be attributed to the increase in electron-density in the side chain of both the ester as well as amide groups when compared to parent compound syncarpamide.



Compounds (*S*)-**43** and its enantiomer, (*R*)-**44** with dihydro cinnamoyl groups in both side chains were also exhibiting selective antiplasmodial activity against 3D7 strain with IC₅₀ values of 2.86, 5.86 μ M with CC₅₀ values of 39.34, and 73.19 μ M, respectively. Compounds (*S*)-**46** and (*S*)-**48** exhibited IC₅₀ values of 8.49 and 7.92 μ M against 3D7 and 4.56 and 3.37 μ M against K1, respectively. (*S*)-**46** and (*S*)-**48** showed CC₅₀ values of 58.91 and 40.79 μ M, respectively. The activities observed in (*S*)-**46** and (*S*)-**48** may be due to the possibility of resonance in the aromatic ring of side chains with OTBS groups present in *o* and *p* positions, respectively. However, compound (*S*)-**47** lacked the corresponding activity due to the presence of OTBS group at the *m*-position on the aromatic ring of the side chains.



Analogs	IC_{50} in μM (mean ± sd) against		$\begin{array}{l} CC_{50} \text{ in } \mu M \\ (\text{mean} \pm \text{sd}) \end{array}$	SI (CC ₅₀ /IC ₅₀) against	
	3D7 P. falciparum	K1 P. falciparum	Vero cell line	3D7 P. falciparum	
39	6.67 ± 1.2	>10.0	38.94 ± 5.56	5.83	
40	3.66 ± 0.5	>10.0	103.76 ± 10.22	28.35	
41	3.16 ± 0.2	1.78 ± 0.22	87.98 ± 7.14	27.84	
42	2.28 ± 0.39	2.07 ± 0.34	88.94 ± 5.75	39.01	
43	2.86 ± 0.53	>10.0	39.34 ± 3.55	13.76	
44	5.86 ± 0.8	>10.0	73.19 ± 6.21	12.49	
45	>10.0	>10.0	51.84 ± 3.4	<5.18	
46	8.49 ± 0.8	4.56 ± 0.81	58.91 ± 5.5	6.94	
47	>10.0	7.52 ± 0.63	52.62 ± 2.58	<5.26	
48	7.92 ± 0.75	3.37 ± 0.4	40.79 ± 3.56	5.15	
49	>10.0	>10.0	36.9 ± 2.1	<3.69	
50	>10.0	>10.0	44.29 ± 4.35	<4.43	
51	>10.0	>10.0	42.43 ± 3.45	<4.24	
52	>10.0	>10.0	29.89 ± 2.88	<2.98	
CQ	0.005 ± 0.0	0.25 ± 0.020	75 ± 15	15000	
Podophyllotoxin	nd	nd	5.74 ± 0.65	-	

Table 5. In vitro antiplasmodial activity of analogs of syncarpamide with different acid chains (39-52).

sd values for >10.0 were '0'; nd = not done; sd = standard deviation; SI = selectivity index.

The remaining compounds (S)-45, (S)-49, (S)-50, (S)-51 and (S)-52 did not show any *in vitro* antiplasmodial activities against any of the strains due to the complete lack of aromaticity in the side chains of (S)-45 and partial lack of aromaticity in the side chains of (S)-51 and (S)-52. Effect of partial resonance on the antiplasmodial activity could be observed in the compounds (S)-49 and (S)-50 as these two compounds possessed cinnamoyl group in the amide and ester side chains, respectively (Table 5).

2.1.5.1.3. In vitro antiplasmodial activity of other analogs of syncarpamide (53-58)

(S)-53 and (R)-54 are analogs of syncarpamide having naphthalene ring in place of the benzene ring. Only (R)-54 showed antiplasmodial activity with an IC₅₀ value of 2.15 μ M against K1 strain and CC₅₀ value of 180.94 μ M (**Table-6**).

The two oxy-analogs (*S*)-**55** and (*S*)-**56** contain trimethoxy benzoyl groups in both the side chains and showed good activity against both the strains. Compounds (*S*)-**55** and (*S*)-**56** are highly electron-rich due to the presence of methoxyl groups on the aromatic rings of side chains and also on the aromatic ring of the core structure. Compound (*S*)-**55** showed the IC₅₀ value of 2.34 against 3D7 and 2.62 μ M against K1 having CC₅₀ value of 55.70 μ M whereas compound (*S*)-**56** exhibited an IC₅₀ value of 6.29 against 3D7 and 2.23 μ M against K1 and CC₅₀ value of 47.38 μ M.

Analogs	IC_{50} in (mean \pm sd)	μM) against	$\begin{array}{c} CC_{50} \text{ in } \mu M \\ (\text{mean} \pm \text{sd}) \end{array}$	SI (CC ₅₀ /IC ₅₀) against	
	3D7 K1 P. falciparum P. falciparum		Vero cell line	3D7 P. falciparum	
53	>10.0	>10.0	>200	~20	
54	>10.0	2.15 ± 0.22	180.94 ± 21.33	<18.09	
55	2.34 ± 0.4	2.62 ± 0.42	55.70 ± 4.8	23.80	
56	6.29 ± 1.3	2.23 ± 0.23	47.38 ± 2.31	7.53	
57	1.89 ± 0.26	1.93 ± 0.2	42.68 ± 4.4	22.58	
58	>10.0	>10.0	55.59 ± 5.36	<5.56	
CQ	0.005 ± 0.0	0.25 ± 0.020	75 ± 15	15000	
Podophyllotoxin	nd	nd	5.74 ± 0.65	-	

Table 6. In vitro antiplasmodial activity of other analogs of syncarpamide (53-58).

Similarly, compound (*S*)-**57** showed good antiplasmodial activity with an IC₅₀ value of 1.89 and 1.93 μ M against 3D7 and K1 strains of *P. falciparum*, respectively and CC₅₀ value of 42.68 μ M. Compound (*S*)-**57** is highly electron-rich due to the presence of three methoxy groups each on the core structure (aromatic ring) and also on the aromatic rings of the two side chains. Interestingly, compound (*S*)-**58** which is a regioisomer of syncarpamide **1** was found to be inactive against both the strains (3D7 and K1) of *P. falciparum* (**Table 6**). This

explains the role of oxygen at C-7 and nitrogen at C-8 positions in the syncarpamide **1** on antiplasmodial activity.



2.1.5.2. In vivo antimalarial assay of selected compounds (1, 41, 42, 55 and 57)

Five compounds, syncarpamide 1, (*S*)-41, (*R*)-42, (*S*)-55 and (*S*)-57 which showed high *in vitro* antiplasmodial activities against both the strains (3D7 and K1) of *P. falciparum* were selected for their *in vivo* antimalarial assay against chloroquine-resistant *P. yoelii* (N-67) strain of *Plasmodium*.²⁴ The results are depicted in **Table 7**.

Compound	% Parasitaemia on day 4 in 5 individual mice						
	Mice-1	Mice-2	Mice-3	Mice-4	Mice-5		
1	09.50	13.76	11.93	11.72	13.20		
41	11.78	11.93	11.12	11.26	12.13		
42	14.07	12.50	15.10	12.16	11.46		
55	06.06	08.31	16.23	13.92	11.13		
57	10.10	10.16	13.50	07.50	11.92		
Untreated	11.40	13.60	16.16	09.80	10.06		
Arteether	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		

 Table 7. In vivo antimalarial activity of selected compounds (1, 41, 42, 55 and 57).

Unfortunately, none of the five molecules, 1, (S)-41, (R)-42, (S)-55 and (S)-57 showed any promising *in vivo* antimalarial activity against *P. yoelii* (N-67) strain. There was no significant difference in percent parasite survival on day 4 in respect to untreated mice, however in mice treated with arteether no parasite survived on day 4.

2.1.6. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the first asymmetric synthesis of the antiplasmodial compound, syncarpamide 1 and its enantiomer, (R)-2 has been achieved using Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation of 3,4-dimethoxy styrene. A library of 56 analogs (3-58) of syncarpamide has been synthesized by taking different substituted aromatic aldehydes, by changing the stereocenter at the C-7 carbon and also by varying different ester and amide side chains. Regioisomer (S)-58 of syncarpamide was synthesized using Sharpless amino hydroxylation of 3,4dimethoxy styrene but was found to be inactive. Analogs (S)-41, (R)-42, (S)-55, and (S)-57 having 3,4,5-trimethoxy cinnamoyl groups as side chains showed better antiplasmodial activity against both the strains (3D7 and K1) than the natural product, syncarpamide 1. In case of enantiomers (S)-41 and (R)-42, the stereochemistry at C-7 was not a major contributing factor towards antiplasmodial activities since both were found to possess better antiplasmodial activity against both the strains (3D7 and K1) than the natural product, syncarpamide 1. The electron density and possibility of resonance in both ester and amide side chains increases the *in vitro* antiplasmodial activity. However, four synthesized compounds (4, 6, 7 and 11) showed high cytotoxicities with CC_{50} values of 5.87, 5.08, 6.44 and 14.04 μ M, respectively. Further, five compounds, syncarpamide 1, (S)-41, (R)-42, (S)-55 and (S)-57 were assayed in vivo assay against chloroquine-resistant P. yoelii (N-67) strain of *Plasmodium*. However, none of the five molecules exhibited any promising in vivo antimalarial activity against P. yoelii (N-67) strain. The high order of in vitro antiplasmodial activities exhibited by compounds (S)-41, (R)-42, (S)-55, (S)-56 and (S)-57 qualifies these compounds as candidates for further development as new antimalarial agents.

2.1.7. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

General procedure for the synthesis of substituted styrenes

To a stirred suspension of methyltriphenylphosphonium bromide in THF, base (inorganic base like NaH, NaNH₂ or organic base like *n*-BuLi) was added under argon at 0 °C and stirred for 30 min. After the mixture was cooled again to 0 °C, aromatic aldehyde in THF was added dropwise and stirred for 12 h. The mixture was concentrated in *vacuo* and residue was dissolved in water, and the aqueous layer was extracted with DCM (3X35 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, concentrated and purified by

silica gel (100-200 mesh) column chromatography in petroleum ether: ethyl acetate (95:5) to afford pure styrene (85-99% yield).

General procedure for dihydroxylation of styrenes

A round-bottomed flask, equipped with a magnetic stirrer, was charged with 5 mL of *tert*butyl alcohol, 5 mL of water, and 1.4 g of AD-mix- α or AD-mix- β . Stirring at rt produced two clear phases; the lower aqueous phase appears bright yellow. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C after that some of the dissolved salts precipitated. One mmol of olefin was added at once, and the heterogeneous slurry was stirred vigorously at 0 °C for 6-24 h (progress was monitored by TLC). While the mixture was stirred at 0 °C, anhydrous sodium sulfite (1.5 g) was added, and the mixture was allowed to warm to rt and further stirred for 30-60 min. EtOAc (10 mL) was added to the reaction mixture, and after separation of the layers, the aqueous phase was further extracted with EtOAc (3X5 mL). The combined organic extracts were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄ and concentrated to afford the diol and the ligand. This crude reaction mixture was purified by silica gel column chromatography (100-200 mesh) eluting with EtOAc/petroleum ether (1:1) to afford the pure 1,2-diol in 80-98% yield.

General procedure for monotosylation of 1,2-diol

To a stirred solution of diol (1.0 equiv.) in DCM (10 mL) was added pyridine (10.0 equiv.) at 0 °C followed by *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride (2.0 equiv.) and the reaction mixture was stirred for 3-4 h at 0 °C. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was treated with 10% HCl at 0 °C and extracted with EtOAc (3X20 mL). The combined organic layers were pooled and washed with water (2X20 mL) and brine (1X20 mL), dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered, and concentrated. The concentrate was purified by silica gel chromatography (100-200 mesh) using EtOAc/petroleum ether (2:3) to furnish the desired monotosylated product (75-90% yield).

General procedure for preparation of 1,2-azido alcohol

A solution of monotosylate (1.0 equiv.), tetrabutylammonium iodide (0.05 equiv.) and sodium azide (3.0 equiv.) in DMF was heated at 80-90 °C for 3-4 h. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C, and water (5 mL) was added. The aqueous layer was extracted with ethyl acetate (3X35 mL). The combined organic layers were washed with brine (2X20 mL), dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄, filtered, and

concentrated. The concentrate was purified by silica gel column chromatography (100-200 mesh) using EtOAc/petroleum ether (3:7) to afford the desired product in 80-95% yield.

General procedure for the preparation of 1,2-amino alcohol

1,2-Azido alcohol was dissolved in anhydrous MeOH, and 10% palladium on carbon (10% w/w) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred under a hydrogen atmosphere until completion as determined by TLC. The reaction mixture was filtered through Celite (pre-washed with MeOH), and the solvent was removed *in vacuo*, which gave the crude compound that was used in the next step without further purification.

General procedure for coupling with DCC/DMAP

To a stirred solution of 1,2-diol/1,2-amino alcohol (1 mmol) in dry DCM (5 mL), corresponding acid (2.5 mmol), DCC (2.5 mmol) and DMAP (4.0 mmol) were added and stirred at rt for 12 h. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was filtered to remove insoluble DCU, and the filtrate was washed with water (10 mL), brine (10 mL), dried over anhydrous Na_2SO_4 and concentrated to furnish a crude residue. The crude residue was purified by silica gel column chromatography (100-200 mesh) using EtOAc/petroleum ether (1:1) to afford the final compound in 75-80% yield.

In vitro antiplasmodial activity assay against chloroquine-sensitive (3D7) and resistant (K1) strains of *P. falciparum*

Cultures of chloroquine-sensitive (3D7) and resistant (K1) strains of *P. falciparum* were maintained in medium RPNI supplemented with 25 mM HEPES, 0.2% D-glucose, 0.21% sodium bicarbonate and 0.5% ALBUMAX-II²¹ The stock (5 mg/mL or 10 mM) solutions of compounds were prepared in DMSO and required dilutions were made in culture medium. For evaluation of 50% inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) of the compounds, Malaria SYBR Green I-based fluorescence (MSF) assay was carried out.²² Two-fold serial dilutions of test compounds were made in 96 well plates and incubated with 1.0% parasitized cell suspension containing 0.8% parasitaemia (Asynchronous culture with more than 80% ring stages). The plates were incubated at 37 °C in a CO₂ incubator in an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ and air mixture. 72 hours later 100 μ L of lysis buffer containing 2x concentration of SYBR Green-I (Invitrogen) was added to each well and incubated for one hour at 37 °C. The plates were examined at 485±20 nm of excitation and 530±20 nm of emission for relative fluorescence units (RFUs) per well using the fluorescence plate reader (FLX800, BIOTEK). IC₅₀ values

were obtained by Logit regression analysis of dose-response curves.²² Chloroquine was used as the standard reference drug.

Cytotoxicity of the samples was carried out using Vero cell line (C1008; Monkey kidney fibroblast).²³ The cells were incubated with test sample dilutions for 72h and MTT was used as a reagent for detection of cytotoxicity. Podophyllotoxin (Sigma) was used as the standard reference drug. 50% cytotoxic concentration (CC₅₀) was determined using non-linear regression analysis of dose-response curves.

In vivo assay against chloroquine-resistant P. yoelii (N-67)

Five molecules syncarpamide 1, (*S*)-41, (*R*)-42, (*S*)-55 and (*S*)-57 were evaluated *in vivo* against chloroquine-resistant *P. yoelii* (N-67)-Swiss mice model.²⁴ The molecules were tested at 100 mg/kg dose through intraperitoneal route. The mice received infective inoculum containing 1×10^5 parasites on day 0 and then received four doses of the test compound on day 0-3 once daily. Five infected mice were used for each molecule, and five infected mice were kept as untreated control. Arteether (5 mg/kg, x4, intramuscular) was used as positive control. Thin blood smear from the tail blood of each mouse was prepared on day 4. The blood smears were fixed in methanol, stained with Giemsa's stain and examined under the light microscope (100 X oil immersion). At least 10-15 fields per smear were scanned to obtain percent parasitaemia in treated as well as untreated mice. If significant suppression in percent parasitaemia is observed on day 4, the monitoring continues up to day 28.

Compounds characterization data for final molecules 1-58

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (1):



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 132-135 °C; $R_f = 0.34$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[a]_D^{26}$ +41.5 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3364, 3301, 3068, 3017, 2932, 2846, 1710, 1664, 1627, 1516, 1455, 1336, 1258, 1217, 1163, 1030, 984, 861, 758, 672 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, **CDCl₃**): δ 7.72 (d, J = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.55-7.43 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.29 (m, 6H), 7.03-6.85 (m, 3H), 6.49 (d, J = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.39 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 6.07 (brs, 1H), 6.01 (dd, J = 7.7, 5.0 Hz, 1H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.92-3.83 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃): δ 166.5, 165.9, 149.2, 149.1, 145.8, 141.5, 134.7, 134.1, 130.5, 130.2, 129.7, 128.9, 128.7, 128.1, 127.8, 120.3,119.0, 117.6, 111.2, 109.8, 74.7, 55.9, 55.9, 44.6; ESI-LCMS: m/z 479.95 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 480.1781, found 480.1772; HPLC: *ee* 99.2% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 17.0$ min].

(*R*)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (2):



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 123-125 °C; $R_f = 0.34$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -42.0 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3364, 3301, 3068, 3017, 2932, 2846, 1710, 1664, 1627, 1516, 1455, 1336, 1258, 1217, 1163, 1030, 984, 861, 758, 672 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.80-7.57 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.57-7.44 (m, 4H), 7.43-7.29 (m, 6H), 7.06-6.82 (m, 3H), 6.50 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 6.15-5.94 (m, 2H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.97-3.80 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 149.2, 149.1, 145.8, 141.5, 134.7, 134.1, 130.5, 130.2, 129.7, 128.9, 128.7, 128.1,

127.8, 120.3,119.0, 117.6, 111.2, 109.8, 74.7, 55.9, 55.9, 44.6; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 480.25 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 480.1781, found 480.1770; **HPLC:** *ee* 96.2% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R}$ =21.0 min].

(S)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2*E*,2'*E*)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (3)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.48$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_D^{24}$ +29.4 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2961, 2938, 1713, 1637, 1579, 1519, 1451, 1422, 1330, 1310, 1256, 1216, 1161, 1071, 1028, 863, 756, 711, 684 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.82-7.65 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.59-7.44 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.31 (m, 6H), 7.09-6.84 (m, 3H), 6.59-6.39 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.19 (dd, J = 8.2, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 4.67-4.42 (m, 2H), 3.91 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.1, 149.3, 149.1, 145.5, 145.5, 134.2, 130.4, 129.1, 128.9, 128.1, 119.4, 117.7, 117.5, 73.4, 66.1, 56.0, 55.9; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 481.02 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₆O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 481.1622, found 481.1626; HPLC: *ee* 97.4% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, t_R =14.0 min].

(R)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (4)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.48$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -26.9 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3364, 3020, 1712, 1664, 1637, 1518, 1464, 1450, 1421, 1388, 1329, 1310, 1216, 1161, 1027, 988, 928, 864, 771, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.82-7.64 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.44 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.31 (m, 6H), 7.09-6.83 (m, 3H), 6.59-6.37 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.18 (dd, J = 8.2, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 4.67-4.42

(m, 2H), 3.91 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.1, 149.3, 149.1, 145.6, 145.6, 134.3, 134.3, 130.5, 128.9, 128.2, 119.4, 117.8, 117.5, 111.2, 73.5, 66.2, 56.0, 56.0; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 481.02 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₈H₂₆O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 481.1622, found 481.1626; **HPLC:** *ee* 97.9% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, t_R =22.5 min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (5)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 126-128 °C; $R_f = 0.37$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 39$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3165, 3018, 1711, 1664, 1633, 1594, 1509, 1463, 1422, 1330, 1216, 1164, 1130, 770, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (d, J = 15.5 Hz, 1H), 7.57-7.44 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.30 (m, 6H), 6.65 (s, 2H), 6.52 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (d, J = 15.5 Hz, 1H), 6.10-5.92 (m, 2H), 3.95-3.78 (m, 11H) or {3.87 (s, 6H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.90-3.78 (m, 2H, overlapped)}; ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 153.4, 149.2, 149.1, 145.8, 141.5, 134.7, 134.1, 130.5, 130.2, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.8, 120.3, 119.0, 117.5, 111.1,109.8, 103.5, 74.7, 60.8, 55.9, 55.9, 44.6; ESI-LCMS: m/z 510.26(M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₉H₂₉NO₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 510.1887, found 510.1876; HPLC: *ee* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 10.0$ min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (6)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 126-127 °C; $R_f = 0.37$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -39 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3165, 3018, 1711, 1664, 1633, 1594, 1509, 1463, 1422, 1330, 1216, 1164, 1130, 770, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, *J* = 16.0 Hz, 1H),

7.65 (d, J = 15.5 Hz, 1H), 7.57-7.44 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.30 (m, 6H), 6.65 (s, 2H), 6.52 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (d, J = 15.5 Hz, 1H), 6.10-5.92 (m, 2H), 3.95-3.78 (m, 11H) or {3.87 (s, 6H), 3.84 (s, 3H), 3.90-3.78 (m, 2H, overlapped)}; ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 153.4, 149.2, 149.1, 145.8, 141.5, 134.7, 134.1, 130.5, 130.2, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.8, 120.3, 119.0, 117.5, 111.1,109.8, 103.5, 74.7, 60.8, 55.9, 55.9, 44.6; ESI-LCMS: m/z 510.08 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₉H₂₉NO₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 510.1887, found 510.1873; HPLC: *ee* 98.3% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 21.6$ min].

(S)-1-(3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (7)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[a]_D^{28} + 23$ (c 1, CHCl₃); **IR (CHCl₃):** 3019, 2956, 2921, 1713, 1636, 1593, 1503, 1458, 1377, 1311, 1213, 1158, 1129, 982, 751, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79-7.67 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.57-7.48 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.34 (m, 6H), 6.68 (s, 2H), 6.55 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1 H), 6.46 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1 H), 6.16 (dd, J = 8.3, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 4.62-4.46 (m, 2H), 3.89 (s, 6H), 3.84 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 160.0, 153.4, 145.8, 145.6, 138.1, 134.2, 132.2, 130.5, 130.5, 128.9, 128.1, 117.5, 117.4, 103.8, 73.7, 66.2, 60.8, 56.2; ESI-LCMS: m/z 511.04 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₉H₂₈O₇Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 511.1727, found 511.1736; HPLC: *ee* 98.6% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 12.7$ min].

(R)-1-(3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (8)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ -22.4 (c 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3360, 3164, 3020, 2935, 2848, 1713, 1635, 1603, 1509, 1458, 1419,

1319, 1216, 1164, 866, 762, 669cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78-7.68 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.57-7.48 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.35 (m, 6H), 6.68 (s, 2H), 6.54 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.16 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 4.57 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 8.6 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 3.89 (s, 6H), 3.84 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 153.4, 145.8, 145.6, 138.2, 134.2, 132.2, 130.5, 130.5, 128.9, 128.2, 128.1, 117.5, 117.4, 103.8, 73.7, 66.2, 60.8, 56.2; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 511.06 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₉H₂₈O₇Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 511.1727, found 511.1733; HPLC: *ee* 97.9% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 28.0 min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(2-methoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (9)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 112-114 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ +31.5 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3369, 3016, 2925, 2856, 2404, 1710, 1666, 1629, 1526, 1455, 1323, 1215, 1170, 1040, 982, 859, 764, 673 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.74 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.55-7.26 (m, 12H), 7.02-6.88 (m, 2H), 6.55 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.47 (dd, *J* = 7.8, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (d, *J* = 15.7, 1H), 6.15 (brs, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.97-3.77 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 156.2, 145.7, 141.0, 134.8, 134.2, 130.4, 129.6, 129.4, 128.9, 128.7, 128.2, 127.8, 126.4, 126.1, 120.7, 120.6, 117.7, 110.7, 69.9, 55.5, 43.9; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 450.13(M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₅NO₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 450.1676, found 450.1668; HPLC: *ee* 94.4% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R =10.0 min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(2-methoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (10)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 112-114 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ -28.7 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3369, 3016, 2925, 2856, 2404, 1710, 1666, 1629, 1526, 1455, 1323, 1215, 1170, 1040, 982, 859, 764, 673 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.74 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 7.59 (d, *J* = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.55-7.25 (m, 12H), 7.03-6.87 (m, 2H), 6.52 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 6.38 (d, *J* = 15.7, 1H), 6.17 (brs, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.98-3.77 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 156.2, 145.7, 141.0, 134.8, 134.2, 130.4, 129.6, 129.4, 128.9, 128.7, 128.2, 127.8, 126.4, 126.1, 120.7, 120.6, 117.7, 110.7, 69.9, 55.5, 43.9; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 450.12 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₅NO₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 450.1676, found 450.1673; HPLC: *ee* 96.9% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R =7.9 min].

(S)-1-(2-Methoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (11)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.44$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{28} + 0.8$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 2956, 2919, 1713, 1635, 1600, 1493, 1455, 1355, 1308, 1278, 1245, 1157, 1048, 1024, 981, 863, 758, 709, 683 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.83-7.61 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.29 (m, 12H), 7.04-6.87 (m, 2H), 6.67-6.38 (m, 3H), 4.58-4.47 (m, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 165.9, 156.3, 145.4, 145.2, 134.4, 130.3, 130.3, 129.4, 128.8, 128.1, 128.1, 126.9, 125.0, 120.6, 118.0, 117.8, 110.6, 68.9, 65.4, 55.5; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 451.04 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₇H₂₄O₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 451.1516, found 451.1507; **HPLC:** *ee* 97.2% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, t_R = 6.4 min]. (*R*)-1-(2-Methoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2*E*,2'*E*)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (12)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.44$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[a]_D^{28}$ -0.8 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3019, 2360, 2341, 1713, 1663, 1579, 1495, 1439, 1329, 1310, 1283, 1248, 1216, 1162, 1050, 980, 770, 711, 684 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.83-7.62 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.29 (m, 12H), 7.05-6.87 (m, 2H), 6.66-6.38 (m, 3H), 4.57-4.48 (m, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.7, 166.0, 156.3, 145.4, 145.2, 134.4, 130.4, 130.4, 129.5, 128.9, 128.9, 128.2, 128.2, 127.0, 125.0, 120.7, 118.0, 117.8, 110.6, 69.0, 65.4, 55.6; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 451.10 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₇H₂₄O₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 451.1516, found 451.1514; **HPLC:** *ee* 96.7% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 9.5$ min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3-methoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (13)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 139-141 °C; $R_f = 0.39$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +42.5 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3164, 3019, 2400, 1710, 1664, 1634, 1514, 1450, 1411, 1389, 1330, 1311, 1215, 1165, 1129, 1043, 978, 769, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.73 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 7.55-7.42 (m, 4H), 7.41-7.26 (m, 7H), 7.03 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.99 (s, 1H), 6.88 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 6.50 (d, J = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 6.39 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.14 (brs, 1H), 6.03 (dd, J = 7.9, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H), 3.94-3.78 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.4, 166.0, 159.8, 145.9, 141.5, 139.3, 134.7, 134.1, 130.5, 129.8, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.8, 120.3,118.6, 117.5, 113.9, 112.1, 74.7, 55.3, 44.8; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 450.02 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₇H₂₅NO₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 450.1676, found 450.1673; HPLC: ee 96.9% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R =13.7 min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3-methoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (14)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 138-140 °C; $R_f = 0.39$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -47.8 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3164, 3019, 2400, 1710, 1664, 1634, 1514, 1450, 1411, 1389, 1330, 1311, 1215, 1165, 1129, 1043, 978, 769, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.74 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 7.64 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1 H), 7.55-7.43 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.28 (m, 7H), 7.05-6.95 (m, 2H), 6.86 (ddd, J = 8.2, 2.7, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 6.52 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1 H), 6.39 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1 H), 6.13-5.98 (m, 2H), 3.81 (s, 3H), 3.99-3.73 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.3, 165.9,159.8, 145.9, 141.5, 139.4, 134.7, 134.2, 130.5, 129.8, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.8, 120.3,118.7, 117.5, 113.9, 112.2, 74.7, 55.3, 44.8; ESI-LCMS: m/z 450.04 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₇H₂₅NO₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 450.1676, found 450.1671; HPLC: *ee* 96.6% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 17.8$ min].

(S)-1-(3-Methoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (15)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 67-69 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +22.7 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3365, 3169, 3021, 2931, 1713, 1633, 1451, 1316, 1268, 1216, 1165, 1042, 986, 865, 765, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.83-7.64 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.58-7.45 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.26 (m, 7H), 7.09-6.98 (m, 2H), 6.88 (ddd, *J* = 8.2, 2.5, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 6.59-6.38 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.22 (dd, *J* = 7.2, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 4.63-4.46 (m, 2H), 3.82 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 159.8, 145.6, 145.5, 138.2, 134.3, 130.4, 129.8, 128.9, 128.2, 119.0, 117.7, 117.5, 114.0, 112.5, 73.5, 66.2, 55.3; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 451.00(M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₄O₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 451.1516, found 451.1513; HPLC: *ee* >99.9% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ

X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, t_R =17.0 min].

(R)-1-(3-Methoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (16)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 67-69 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[a]_D^{23}$ -25.6 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3365, 3169, 3021, 2931, 1713, 1633, 1451, 1316, 1268, 1216, 1165, 1042, 986, 865, 765, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81-7.63 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.58-7.46 (m, 4H), 7.43-7.26 (m, 7H), 7.09-6.97 (m, 2H), 6.88 (ddd, J = 8.2, 2.5, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 6.59-6.38 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.21 (dd, J = 7.2, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.63-4.47 (m, 2H), 3.82 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 159.8, 145.6, 145.5, 138.2, 134.3, 130.4, 129.8, 128.9, 128.2, 119.0, 117.7, 117.5, 114.0, 112.5, 73.5, 66.2, 55.3; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 451.01 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₄O₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 451.1516, found 451.1513; HPLC: *ee* 98.4% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 45.4$ min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (17)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 137-139 °C; $R_f = 0.38$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +51.5 (*c* 0.6, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3165, 3019, 1688, 1620, 1525, 1411, 1390, 1216, 1043, 771, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77-7.57 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.54-7.42 (m, 4H), 7.41-7.28 (m, 8H), 6.91 (d, 2H, *p*-disubstituted), 6.54-6.32 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.16-6.06 (m, 1H), 6.01 (dd, J = 7.3, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 3.92-3.81 (m, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 159.7, 145.7, 141.4, 134.7, 134.2, 130.4, 129.8, 129.7, 128.9, 128.7, 128.1, 128.0, 127.8, 120.4, 117.5, 114.1, 74.7, 55.3, 44.6;

ESI-LCMS: m/z 449.96 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₇H₂₅NO₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 450.1676, found 450.1673; **HPLC:** *ee* 96.8% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R}$ =15.0 min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (18)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 138-140 °C; $R_f = 0.38$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -59.5 (*c* 0.58, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3165, 3019, 1688, 1620, 1525, 1411, 1390, 1216, 1043, 771, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78-7.57 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.54-7.42 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.28 (m, 8H), 6.91 (d, 2H, *p*-disubstituted), 6.55-6.32 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.13 (t, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 6.01 (dd, J = 7.6, 5.3 Hz, 1H), 3.93-3.81 (m, 2H), 3.79 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 159.7, 145.7, 141.4, 134.7, 134.2, 130.4, 129.8, 129.7, 128.9, 128.7, 128.1, 128.0, 127.8, 120.4, 117.5, 114.1, 74.7, 55.3, 44.6; **ESI-LCMS:** *m*/*z* 450.31 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** *m*/*z* for C₂₇H₂₅NO₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 450.1676, found 450.1671; **HPLC:** *ee* 99.4% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 26.0$ min].

(S)-1-(4-Methoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (19)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 93-96 °C; $R_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +32.5 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3022, 2964, 2358, 1713, 1633, 1513, 1452, 1251, 1215, 1167, 1036, 986, 930, 896, 832, 762, 672, 607 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.76-7.66 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.56-7.47 (m, 4H), 7.43-7.33 (m, 8H), 6.93 (d, 2H, *p*-disubstituted), 6.52 (d, *J* = 16.2 Hz, 1 H), 6.46 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1 H), 6.19 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.57 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 8.5 Hz, 1H), 4.48 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H); ¹³C

NMR (**125 MHz**, **CDCl**₃) δ 166.6, 166.1,159.8, 145.5, 134.3, 130.4, 128.9, 128.2, 117.8, 117.5, 114.1, 73.2, 66.1, 55.3; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 451.07 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₇H₂₄O₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 451.1516, found 451.1514; **HPLC:** *ee* 98.3% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R}$ =17.7 min].

(R)-1-(4-Methoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (20)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 76-79 °C; $R_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[a]_D^{26}$ -31.3 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3022, 2964, 2358, 1713, 1633, 1513, 1452, 1251, 1215, 1167, 1036, 986, 930, 896, 832, 762, 672, 607 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77-7.65 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.57-7.46 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.33 (m, 8H), 6.94 (d, 2H, *p*-disubstituted), 6.52 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.46 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.19 (dd, *J* = 8.6, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 4.59 (dd, *J* = 11.7, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (dd, *J* = 12.0, 3.9 Hz, 1H), 3.80 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 159.8, 145.4, 134.3, 134.2, 130.4, 128.9, 128.7, 128.2, 128.1, 117.8, 117.5, 114.1, 73.2, 66.1, 55.3; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z*451.09 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₇H₂₄O₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 451.1516, found 451.1514; HPLC: *ee* 98.7% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R =31.5 min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (21)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 105-108 °C; $R_f = 0.38$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -7.9 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3366, 3170, 3020, 2358, 1706, 1666, 1627, 1520, 1419, 1216, 1168, 1040, 927, 763, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.73 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (d, *J* = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.56-7.43 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.29 (m, 6H), 7.15-6.99 (m, 2H), 6.90

(dd, J = 7.6, 2.2, 1H), 6.51 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 6.44-6.32 (m, 2H), 6.14 (t, J = 5.4 Hz, 1H), 3.98 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.90-3.84 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.0, 152.6, 146.2, 145.8, 141.3, 134.8, 134.2, 131.9, 130.5, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.9, 124.6, 120.5, 118.4, 117.6, 112.4, 69.9, 60.9, 55.8, 44.3; ESI-LCMS: m/z480.22 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 480.1781, found 480.1777; HPLC: *ee* 96.5% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 15% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 32.8$ min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(2,3-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (22)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 105-107 °C; $R_f = 0.38$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +8.0 (*c* 0.58, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3366, 3170, 3020, 2358, 1706, 1666, 1627, 1520, 1419, 1216, 1168, 1040, 927, 763, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.56-7.45 (m, 4H), 7.43-7.30 (m, 6H), 7.15-6.99 (m, 2H), 6.90 (dd, J = 7.6, 2.2 Hz, 1H), 6.50 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 6.45-6.32 (m, 2H), 6.16 (t, J = 4.9 Hz, 1H), 3.99 (s, 3H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.95-3.81 (m, 2H, overlapped); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.0, 152.6, 146.2, 145.8, 141.3, 134.8, 134.2, 131.9, 130.5, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.9, 124.6, 120.5, 118.4, 117.6, 112.4, 69.9, 60.9, 55.8, 44.3; ESI-LCMS: m/z 480.23 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 480.1781, found 480.1780; HPLC: *ee* 93.8% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 15% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 29.1$ min].

(S)-1-(2,3-Dimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (23)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -17.0 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2943, 2843, 2358, 1713, 1637, 1482, 1448, 1298, 1272, 1215, 1168, 1084, 1042, 993, 929, 868, 760, 672, 611 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.78-7.65 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.52 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.32 (m, 6H), 7.12-7.01 (m, 2H), 6.92 (d, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.60-6.49 (m, 2H), 6.47 (d, *J* = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 8.6 Hz, 1H), 4.46 (dd, *J* = 11.6, 3.1 Hz, 1H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 3.89 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 152.6, 146.4, 145.4, 145.3, 134.3, 134.3, 130.5, 130.4, 130.3, 128.9, 128.8, 128.1, 124.2, 118.8, 117.8, 117.7, 112.6, 69.1, 65.6, 60.8, 55.8; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 481.04 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₈H₂₆O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 481.1622, found 481.1616; HPLC: *ee* 97.3% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 7.4 min].

```
(R)-1-(2,3-Dimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (24)
```



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +18.0 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2943, 2843, 2358, 1713, 1637, 1482, 1448, 1298, 1272, 1215, 1168, 1084, 1042, 993, 929, 868, 760, 672, 611 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.80-7.67 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.58-7.48 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.33 (m, 6H), 7.13-7.02 (m, 2H), 6.92 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.61-6.51 (m, 2H), 6.47 (d, J = 16.2 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (dd, J = 11.9, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 4.48 (dd, J = 11.9, 3.1 Hz, 1H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 3.89 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 152.6, 146.4, 145.5, 145.3, 134.3, 130.5, 130.4, 130.3, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 124.2, 118.8, 117.8, 117.7, 112.5, 69.1, 65.6, 60.8, 55.8; ESI-LCMS: m/z 481.09 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₆O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 481.1622, found 481.1619; HPLC: *ee* 98.2% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 8.5$ min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-phenylethyl cinnamate (25)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 181-183 °C; $R_f = 0.52$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ +59.8 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3292, 3022, 2927, 2864, 2404, 2358, 1711, 1667, 1630, 1516, 1419, 1327, 1216, 1167, 1095, 1030, 929, 764, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.26-7.82 (m, 17H), 6.30 - 6.60 (m, 2H), 6.06 (m, 2H), 3.69 - 4.06 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.1, 146.0, 141.6, 137.9, 134.8, 134.2, 130.6, 129.8, 129.0, 128.9, 128.6, 128.3, 127.9, 126.6, 120.4, 117.6, 74.9, 44.9; **ESI-LCMS:** *m/z* 420.11 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₆H₂₃NO₃Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 420.1570, found 420.1566; HPLC: *ee* 97.1% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 12.8 min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-phenylethyl cinnamate (26)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 183-185°C; $R_f = 0.52$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ -57.3 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3292, 3022, 2927, 2864, 2404, 2358, 1711, 1667, 1630, 1516, 1419, 1327, 1216, 1167, 1095, 1030, 929, 764, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81-7.26 (m, 17H), 6.59-6.30 (m, 2H), 6.17-5.99 (m, 2H), 4.07-3.71 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.1, 146.0, 141.6, 137.9, 134.8, 134.3, 130.6, 129.8, 129.0, 128.9, 128.6, 128.3, 127.9, 126.6, 120.4, 117.6, 74.9, 44.9; **ESI-LCMS**: *m/z* 420.15 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS**: *m/z* for C₂₆H₂₃NO₃Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 420.1570, found 420.1562; **HPLC**: *ee* 94.8% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 20.4 min].

(S)-1-Phenylethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (27)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 131-133 °C; $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:9); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +42.7 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3022, 1714, 1638, 1436, 1320, 1216, 1166, 767, 671 cm⁻¹; ¹H

NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.84-7.65 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.28 (m, 15H), 6.60-6.37 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.24 (dd, J = 7.5, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.65-4.44 (m, 2H); ¹³C **NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃)** δ 166.6, 166.0, 145.6, 145.5, 136.7, 134.2, 130.4, 128.9, 128.7, 128.2, 126.8, 117.7, 117.5, 73.6, 66.2; **ESI-LCMS:** m/z 421.24 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₆H₂₂O₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 421.1410, found 421.1411; **HPLC:** *ee* 96.5% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 8.8$ min].

(R)-1-Phenylethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (28)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 132-134 °C; $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:9); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -42.0 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3022, 1714, 1638, 1436, 1320, 1216, 1166, 767, 671 cm⁻¹; ¹H **NMR** (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.84-7.65 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.28 (m, 15H), 6.61-6.37 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.24 (dd, J = 7.5, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 4.66-4.45 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 145.6, 145.5, 136.7, 134.2, 130.4, 128.9, 128.7, 128.2, 126.8, 117.7, 117.5, 73.6, 66.2; **ESI-LCMS:** *m*/*z* 421.17 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₆H₂₂O₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 421.1410, found 421.1404; HPLC: ee 92.6% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 16.6 min].

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(p-tolyl)ethyl cinnamate (29)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 139-140 °C; $R_f = 0.5$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ +55.4 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3441, 3021, 2926, 2403, 1711, 1669, 1630, 1515, 1438, 1326, 1216, 1168, 1036, 928, 858, 768, 671 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79-7.56 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.55-7.13 (m, 14H), 6.51 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.39 (d, J =

15.5 Hz, 1H), 6.16-5.96 (m, 2H), 4.00-3.73 (m, 2H), 2.35 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.1, 145.8, 141.5, 138.5, 134.9, 134.8, 134.3, 130.6, 129.8, 129.5, 129.0, 128.9, 128.3, 127.9, 126.6, 120.5, 117.7, 74.9, 44.8, 21.3; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 434.07 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₅NO₃Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 434.1727, found 434.1725; HPLC: *ee* 95.2% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 12.2 min].

(R)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(p-tolyl)ethyl cinnamate (30)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 139-141°C; $R_f = 0.5$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ -59.6 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3441, 3021, 2926, 2403, 1711, 1669, 1630, 1515, 1438, 1326, 1216, 1168, 1036, 928, 858, 768, 671 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79-7.56 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.55-7.13 (m, 14H), 6.51 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.39 (d, J = 15.5 Hz, 1H), 6.16-5.96 (m, 2H), 4.00-3.73 (m, 2H), 2.34 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz,CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 145.8, 141.6, 138.5, 134.9, 134.8, 134.3, 130.6, 129.8, 129.5, 129.0, 128.9, 128.3, 127.9, 126.6, 120.4, 117.7, 74.9, 44.8, 21.3; ESI-LCMS: m/z 434.07 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₇H₂₅NO₃Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 434.1727, found 434.1721; HPLC: *ee* 95.3% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 20.4$ min].

(S)-1-(p-Tolyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (31)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 103-105 °C; $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:9); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ +40.1 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3164, 3022, 1712, 1634, 1523, 1445, 1401, 1316, 1268, 1215, 1165, 1036, 762, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.81-7.66 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.59-7.48 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.33 (m, 8H), 7.22 (d, 2H, *p*-disubstituted),

6.54 (d, 1H, J = 16.0), 6.46 (d, 1H, J = 16.0), 6.23 (dd, J = 8.2, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.61-4.45 (m, 2H), 2.37 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 145.5, 138.5, 134.3, 133.7, 130.4, 129.4, 128.9, 128.2, 126.8, 117.8, 117.5, 73.5, 66.2, 21.2; ESI-LCMS: m/z 435.16 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₇H₂₄O₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 435.1567, found 435.1559; HPLC: *ee* 98.3% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 10.1$ min].

(R)-1-(p-Tolyl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (32)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 103-105 °C; $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:9); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ -42.3 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3164, 3022, 1712, 1634, 1523, 1445, 1401, 1316, 1268, 1215, 1165, 1036, 762, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.77-7.66 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.57-7.47 (m, 4H), 7.42-7.32 (m, 8H), 7.22 (d, 2H, *p*-disubstituted), 6.54 (d, 1H, *J* = 16.0), 6.46 (d, 1H, *J* = 16.0), 6.23 (dd, *J* = 8.2, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.63-4.46 (m, 2H), 2.37 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 145.5, 138.5, 134.3, 133.7, 130.4, 129.4, 128.9, 128.2, 126.8, 117.8, 117.5, 73.5, 66.2, 21.2; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 435.16 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₄O₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 435.1567, found 435.1563; HPLC: *ee* 97.6% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 30% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 23.3 min].

(S)-1-(Benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)-2-cinnamamidoethyl cinnamate (33)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 186-190 °C; $R_f = 0.23$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +42.4 (*c* 0.53, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3164, 3020, 2932, 2358, 1710, 1666, 1628, 1506, 1444, 1327, 1215, 1167, 1040, 984, 932, 862, 762, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.72 (d, 1H, J = 16.0 Hz), 7.64 (d, 1H, J = 15.6 Hz), 7.56-7.44 (m, 4H), 7.43-7.30 (m, 6H), 6.95-
6.89 (m, 2H), 6.80 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (d, 1H, J = 16.0), 6.40 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.11 (t, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 6.00-5.92 (m, 3H), 3.93-3.75 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.4, 166.0, 147.9, 147.7, 145.9, 141.6, 134.6, 134.1, 131.6, 130.6, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.8, 120.4, 120.2, 117.5, 108.4, 106.9, 101.2, 74.7, 44.7; ESI-LCMS: m/z 464.16 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₇H₂₃NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 464.1468, found 464.1465; HPLC: *ee* 94.1% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 50% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 14.7$ min].

(R)-1-(Benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)-2-cinnamamidoethyl cinnamate (34)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 200-202 °C; $R_f = 0.23$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -38.3 (*c* 0.57, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3361, 3164, 3020, 2932, 2358, 1710, 1666, 1628, 1506, 1444, 1327, 1215, 1167, 1040, 984, 932, 862, 762, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.71 (d, 1H, *J* = 16.0 Hz), 7.63 (d, 1H, *J* = 15.6 Hz), 7.55-7.43 (m, 4H), 7.41-7.30 (m, 6H), 6.95-6.88 (m, 2H), 6.79 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.48 (d, *J* = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 6.39 (d, *J* = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.10 (t, *J* = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 5.99-5.92 (m, 3H), 3.92-3.74 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.4, 166.0, 147.9, 147.7, 145.9, 141.6, 134.6, 134.1, 131.6, 130.6, 129.7, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.8, 120.4, 120.2, 117.5, 108.4, 106.9, 101.2, 74.7, 44.7; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 464.10 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₇H₂₃NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 464.1468, found 464.1467; HPLC: *ee* 93.4% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 50% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 29.5 min].

(S)-1-(Benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)ethane-1,2-diyl(2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (35)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 106-107 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 29.1$ (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3022, 1714, 1637, 1496, 1446, 1317, 1249, 1215, 1166, 1040,

985, 934, 865, 761, 673, 620 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.73 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.58-7.45 (m, 4H), 7.43-7.31 (m, 6H), 7.02-6.77 (m, 3H), 6.60-6.38 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.15 (dd, J = 7.7, 4.4 Hz, 1H), 5.98 (s, 2H), 4.63-4.41 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.0, 147.9, 147.8, 145.6, 145.5, 134.2, 130.4, 128.9, 128.2, 120.6, 117.6, 117.4, 108.4, 107.3, 101.2, 73.4, 66.2; ESI-LCMS: *m/z* 465.14 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₂₇H₂₂O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 465.1309, found 465.1307; HPLC: *ee* 97.5% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 14.8 min].

(R)-1-(Benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl)ethane-1,2-diyl(2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (36)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 108-110 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -29.8 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3022, 1714, 1637, 1496, 1446, 1317, 1249, 1215, 1166, 1040, 985, 934, 865, 761, 673, 620 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.79-7.63 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.46 (m, 4H), 7.45-7.31 (m, 6H), 7.00-6.88 (m, 2H), 6.82 (d, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.51 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.44 (d, *J* = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.13 (dd, *J* = 8.1, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 5.96 (s, 2H), 4.59-4.41 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.0, 147.9, 147.8, 145.6, 145.5, 134.2, 130.4, 128.9, 128.2, 120.6, 117.6, 117.4, 108.4, 107.3, 101.2, 73.4, 66.2; ESI-LCMS: *m*/z 465.26 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/z for C₂₇H₂₂O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 465.1309, found 465.1306; HPLC: *ee* 97.9% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 26.7 min].

(S)-1-(Benzo[d][1,3]dioxol-4-yl)ethane-1,2-diyl(2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (37)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.48$ (DCM-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ +12.9 (c 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3287, 3022, 2923, 2860, 2358, 1716, 1637, 1459, 1317, 1215, 1165,

1040, 987, 934, 855, 761, 672 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.83-7.62 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.45 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.29 (m, 6H), 6.99-6.76 (m, 3H), 6.61-6.30 (m, 3H), 6.02 (m, 2H), 4.75-4.49 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 147.7, 145.9, 145.6, 145.1, 134.4, 130.6, 130.5, 129.0, 129.0, 128.3, 128.3, 122.0, 120.1, 118.3, 117.6, 117.6, 108.9, 101.4, 69.3, 64.8; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₇H₂₂O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd: 465.1309, found 465.1305; HPLC: *ee* 96.7% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 10.3 min]. (*R*)-1-(Benzo[*d*][1,3]dioxol-4-yl)ethane-1,2-diyl(2*E*,2'*E*)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (38)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.48$ (DCM-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ -12.8 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR (CHCl₃):** 3287, 3022, 2923, 2860, 2358, 1716, 1637, 1459, 1317, 1215, 1165, 1040, 987, 934, 855, 761, 672 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.83-7.62 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.60-7.45 (m, 4H), 7.44-7.29 (m, 6H), 6.99-6.76 (m, 3H), 6.61-6.30 (m, 3H), 6.02 (m, 2H), 4.75-4.49 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 147.7, 145.9, 145.6, 145.1, 134.4, 130.6, 130.5, 129.0, 128.3, 128.3, 122.0, 120.1, 118.3, 117.6, 117.6, 108.9, 101.4, 69.3, 64.8; HRMS: m/z for C₂₇H₂₂O₆Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 465.1309, found 465.1309; HPLC: *ee* 94.3% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 14.0$ min].

(S)-2-Benzamido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl benzoate (39)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 129-131 °C; $R_f = 0.33$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ +13.1 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2928, 1717, 1660, 1603, 1520, 1457, 1376, 1320, 1264, 1218, 1152, 1107, 1029, 927, 855, 763, 666 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.10-8.05 (m, 2H), 7.74-7.68 (m, 2H), 7.60-7.53 (m, 1H), 7.50-7.36 (m, 5H), 7.06 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.8 Hz,

1H), 7.01 (d, J = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.63 (t, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 6.18 (dd, J = 8.2, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.08-3.92 (m, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.6, 166.3, 149.3, 149.2, 134.3, 133.3, 131.6, 130.2, 129.9, 129.8, 128.6, 128.5, 126.9, 119.0, 111.3, 109.8, 77.7, 77.1, 76.5, 75.2, 56.0, 55.9, 45.2; ESI-LCMS: m/z 428.12 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₄H₂₃NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 428.1468, found 428.1462; HPLC: *ee* 91.4% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 6.3$ min].

(R)-2-Benzamido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl benzoate (40)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 128-130 °C; $R_f = 0.33$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[a]_D^{28}$ -13.0 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2928, 1717, 1660, 1603, 1520, 1457, 1376, 1320, 1264, 1218, 1152, 1107, 1029, 927, 855, 763, 666 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.11-8.05 (m, 2H), 7.74-7.68 (m, 2H), 7.60-7.53 (m, 1H), 7.50-7.36 (m, 5H), 7.06 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.01 (d, J = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.63 (t, J = 5.0 Hz, 1H), 6.18 (dd, J = 8.2, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 4.07-3.93 (m, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.7, 166.3, 149.2, 149.2, 134.3, 133.4, 131.6, 130.2, 129.9, 129.8, 128.6, 128.5, 126.9, 119.0, 111.2, 109.7, 77.7, 77.1, 76.5, 75.2, 56.0, 55.9, 45.2; ESI-LCMS: m/z 428.12 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: m/z for C₂₄H₂₃NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 428.1468, found 428.1468; HPLC: *ee* 93.8% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 13.6$ min].

(S) - 1 - (3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl) - 2 - ((E) - 3 - (3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl) a crylamido) ethyl(E) - 3 - (3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl) a crylate (41)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 138-140 °C; $R_f = 0.42$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 4:1); $[a]_D^{27}$ +45.4 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2932, 2848, 1710, 1669, 1628, 1587, 1511, 1461, 1423, 1326, 1266, 1217, 1138, 1032, 928, 766, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.71-7.48 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.06-6.83 (m, 3H), 6.74 (s, 2H), 6.70 (s, 2H), 6.47-6.24 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.11-5.93 (m, 2H), 3.95-3.82 (m, 26H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 153.5, 153.5, 149.3, 149.2, 145.8, 141.6, 140.4, 139.7, 130.3, 130.2, 129.7, 119.6, 119.2, 116.8, 111.3, 110.0, 105.4, 105.1, 105.1, 77.5, 77.3, 77.1, 77.0, 76.8, 74.8, 61.0, 56.2, 56.2, 56.1, 56.0, 44.7; HRMS: m/z for C₃₄H₃₉NO₁₁Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 660.2415, found 660.2419; HPLC: *ee* 97.0% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 8.0$ min]. (*R*)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)-2-((*E*)-3-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)acrylamido)ethyl(*E*)-3-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)acrylate (42)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 138-140 °C; $R_f = 0.42$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 4:1); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ -43.6 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3021, 2932, 2848, 1710, 1669, 1628, 1587, 1511, 1461, 1423, 1326, 1266, 1217, 1138, 1032, 928, 766, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.75-7.45 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.08-6.83 (m, 3H), 6.82-6.65 (m, 4H), 6.50-6.21 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.02 (m, 2H), 4.07-3.72 (m, 26H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.0, 153.5, 153.5, 149.3, 149.2, 145.9, 141.6, 140.4, 139.7, 130.3, 130.2, 129.7, 119.6, 119.2, 116.8, 111.3, 110.0, 105.4, 105.1, 77.6, 77.6, 77.5, 77.3, 77.1, 76.8, 74.8, 61.0, 61.0, 56.2, 56.2, 56.1, 56.0, 44.7; HRMS: *m*/z for C₃₄H₃₉NO₁₁Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 660.2415, found 660.2407; HPLC: *ee* 96.2% [Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 11.6 min].

(S)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)-2-(3-phenylpropanamido)ethyl 3-phenylpropanoate (43)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 82-84 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ +31.1 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3313, 3069, 3017, 2926, 2853, 1733, 1658, 1601, 1514, 1455, 1372, 1255, 1230, 1151, 1029, 856, 813, 758, 701, 665 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.37-7.07 (m, 10H), 6.87-6.72 (m, 3H), 5.73 (dd, J = 8.3, 4.2 Hz, 1H), 5.37 (m, 1H), 3.85 (s, 6H, two OMe singlets), 3.73-3.36 (m, 2H), 3.04-2.80 (m, 4H), 2.75-2.56 (m, 2H), 2.46-2.25 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz,CDCl₃) δ 172.2, 172.2, 149.2, 149.1, 140.9, 140.4, 130.2, 128.6, 128.5, 128.4, 128.3, 126.5, 126.4, 126.3, 119.0, 111.2, 109.7, 74.6, 56.0, 44.3, 38.3, 35.8, 31.5, 30.9; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₃₁NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 484.2094, found 484.2092; HPLC: *ee* 92.3% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 5.8$ min].

(R)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)-2-(3-phenylpropanamido)ethyl 3-phenylpropanoate (44)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 77-78 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ -30.2 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3313, 3069, 3017, 2926, 2853, 1733, 1658, 1601, 1514, 1455, 1372, 1255, 1230, 1151, 1029, 856, 813, 758, 701, 665 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.35-7.10 (m, 10H), 6.85-6.74 (m, 3H), 5.73 (dd, J = 8.3, 4.3 Hz, 1H), 5.43-5.30 (m, 1H), 3.85 (s, 6H, two OMe singlets), 3.72-3.37 (m, 2H), 3.00-2.83 (m, 4H), 2.73-2.60 (m, 2H), 2.44-2.29 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.2, 172.2, 149.2, 149.1, 140.9, 140.4, 130.2, 128.6, 128.4, 128.3, 126.5, 126.3, 119.0, 111.2, 109.7, 74.6, 56.0, 44.3, 38.3, 35.8, 31.5, 30.9; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₃₁NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 484.2094, found 484.2088; HPLC: *ee* 90.6% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 6.7$ min].

(S)-2-Butyramido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl butyrate (45)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.47$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:2); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +56.2 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3449, 3019, 2962, 2404, 1732, 1668, 1600, 1516, 1459, 1372, 1256, 1218, 1172, 1090, 1030, 929, 855, 761, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 6.97-6.78 (m, 3H), 5.88-5.67 (m, 2H), 3.88 (s, 3H, OMe singlet), 3.87 (s, 3H, OMe singlet), 3.74-3.55 (m, 2H), 2.41-2.26 (m, 2H), 2.21-2.06 (m, 2H), 1.75-1.5 (m, 4H), 1.00-0.82 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.1, 173.0, 149.0, 130.4, 119.0, 111.1, 109.7, 74.2, 55.9, 44.2, 38.6, 36.3, 19.1, 18.4, 13.7, 13.7; **ESI-LCMS:** *m*/*z* 359.98 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS:** *m*/*z* for C₁₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 360.1781, found 360.1774; **HPLC:** Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 25% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 4.8 min.

(S)-2-((E)-3-(2-((*tert*-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)acrylamido)-1-(3,4dimethoxyphenyl) ethyl(E)-3-(2-((*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)acrylate (46)



Light yellow liquid; $R_f = 0.61$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 7.8$ (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3437, 3021, 2930, 2858, 2402, 1715, 1666, 1628, 1516, 1470, 1260, 1216, 1157, 1031, 922, 841, 762, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.13 (d, J = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 7.96 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (dd, J = 7.8, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (dd, J = 7.8, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.25-7.18 (m, 2H), 7.02-6.78 (m, 7H), 6.46 (d, J = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 6.36 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 6.02-5.94 (m, 1H), 5.85 (t, J = 4.8 Hz, 1H), 3.95-3.70 (m, 8H), 1.10-0.96 (m, 18H), 0.28-0.12 (m, 12H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.1, 154.7, 154.6, 149.1, 149.1, 140.9, 137.0, 131.6, 130.7, 130.4, 130.3, 127.6, 127.5, 126.3, 126.2, 125.7, 121.6, 121.4, 120.2, 120.1, 120.1, 119.9, 119.0, 117.2, 111.1, 109.8, 74.6, 56.1, 55.9, 49.2, 44.6, 34.0,

25.8, 25.8, 24.9, 18.3, -4.2, -4.2; **HRMS:** m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 740.3409, found 740.3381; **HPLC:** Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_{\rm R}$ = 7.9 min.

(S)-2-((E)-3-(3-((tert-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)acrylamido)-1-(3,4-

dimethoxyphenyl) ethyl(*E*)-3-(3-((*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)acrylate (47)



Viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.28$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); $[\alpha]_D^{27} + 25.4$ (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3438, 3020, 2938, 2859, 2403, 1713, 1632, 1590, 1516, 1475, 1257, 1218, 1162, 1024, 850, 761, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.66 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 7.29-7.17 (m, 2H), 7.15-7.07 (m, 2H), 7.03-6.93 (m, 4H), 6.91-6.79 (m, 3H), 6.45 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.33 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 5.99 (brs, 2H), 3.95-3.83 (m, 8H), 0.99 (s, 18H), 0.20 (s, 12H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 165.9, 156.1, 156.0, 149.2, 149.2, 145.7, 141.5, 136.1, 135.6, 130.2, 129.9, 129.7, 122.4, 121.5, 121.0, 120.4, 119.5, 119.3, 119.1, 117.7, 111.2, 109.9, 74.7, 56.0, 55.9, 44.6, 34.0, 25.7, 18.2, -4.4; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 740.3409, found 740.3384; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 4.2$ min.

(S)-2-((E)-3-(4-((*tert*-Butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)acrylamido)-1-(3,4dimethoxyphenyl) ethyl(E)-3-(4-((*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl)oxy)phenyl)acrylate (48)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 63-65 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ +38.1 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3328, 3019, 2940, 2858, 2405, 1707, 1663, 1602, 1514, 1462, 1424, 1266, 1217, 1160, 1101, 1029, 911, 840, 760, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

δ 7.67 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 15.3 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (m, 2H), 7.37 (m, 2H), 6.99 (dd, J = 1.5, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.96-6.94 (m, 1H), 6.89-6.78 (m, 5H), 6.35 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 6.23 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 5.98 (dd, J = 8.2, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 5.94 (t, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 3.93-3.83 (m, 8H), 0.98 (m, 18H), 0.21 (m, 12H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.8, 166.3, 158.1, 157.4, 149.1, 145.5, 141.2, 130.4, 129.8, 129.4, 128.0, 127.5, 120.5, 120.4, 119.0, 118.1, 115.2, 111.2, 109.9, 74.5, 56.0, 55.9, 44.7, 34.0, 25.6, 24.9, 18.2, -4.4; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 740.3409, found 740.3384; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm φ X 250 mmL), 20% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 8.8$ min.

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl 3-phenylpropanoate (49)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 101-103 °C; $R_f = 0.34$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[a]_D^{29}$ -13.9 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3444, 3021, 2925, 2858, 2358, 1712, 1670, 1515, 1457, 1371, 1318, 1216, 1163, 1030, 928, 857, 763, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.70 (d, *J* = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 7.57-7.46 (m, 2H), 7.45-7.34 (m, 3H), 7.33-7.09 (m, 5H), 6.98-6.77 (m, 3H), 6.45 (d, *J* = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 5.87 (dd, *J* = 7.7, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 5.72 (t, *J* = 5.3 Hz, 1H), 3.88 (s, 3H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 3.77-3.64 (m, 2H), 3.01-2.88 (m, 2H), 2.55-2.41 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.3, 166.4, 149.2, 149.1, 145.8, 140.7, 134.2, 130.6, 130.2, 129.0, 128.6, 128.3, 128.2, 126.3, 119.0, 117.6, 111.1, 109.7, 74.7, 62.6, 56.0, 55.9, 44.4, 38.3, 31.5; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₈H₂₉NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 482.1938, found 482.1932; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 7.7 min.

(S)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)-2-(3-phenylpropanamido)ethyl cinnamate (50)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 112-114 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +27.2 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3434, 3020, 2926, 2855, 2403, 1733, 1668, 1625, 1514, 1457, 1334, 1217, 1152, 1030, 859, 760, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.61 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 7.54-7.44 (m, 2H), 7.42-7.33 (m, 3H), 7.30-7.14 (m, 5H), 6.94-6.78 (m, 3H), 6.24 (d, J = 15.7 Hz, 1H), 5.86 (dd, J = 8.3, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 5.64 (t, J = 5.4 Hz, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.82-3.57 (m, 2H), 3.04-2.89 (m, 2H), 2.79-2.64 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 172.3, 165.9, 149.2, 149.1, 141.6, 140.3, 134.7, 130.1, 129.8, 128.9, 128.6, 128.3, 127.9, 126.4, 120.2, 119.0, 111.1, 109.8, 74.6, 56.0, 44.5, 35.8, 30.8; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₉NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 482.1938, found 482.1934; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, $t_R = 8.1$ min.

(S)-2-Butyramido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (51)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 93-94 °C; $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 31.5$ (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3442, 3020, 2927, 2403, 1732, 1668, 1626, 1515, 1458, 1334, 1255, 1216, 1173, 1031, 929, 858, 762, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.62 (d, *J* = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 7.49 (m, 2H), 7.40-7.33 (m, 3H), 6.96-6.83 (m, 3H), 6.36 (d, *J* = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 5.93-5.86 (m, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.85-3.72 (m, 2H), 2.35 (dt, *J* = 7.6, 2.1 Hz, 2H), 1.69-1.63 (m, 2H), 0.92 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.2, 165.9, 149.2, 149.1, 141.6, 134.7, 130.3, 129.8, 128.8, 127.8, 120.2, 119.0, 111.2, 109.8, 77.3, 77.0, 76.8, 74.2, 56.0, 55.9, 44.6, 36.4, 18.4, 13.7; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₂₃H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 420.1781, found 420.1774; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 254 nm, *t*_R = 6.3 min.

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl butyrate (52)



Colorless liquid; $R_f = 0.28$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -2.9 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3446, 3388, 3018, 2966, 1712, 1605, 1516, 1457, 1317, 1257, 1217, 1165, 927, 861, 761, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.72 (d, J = 16.1 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (m, 2H), 7.44-7.36 (m, 3H), 6.99-6.95 (dd, J = 1.7, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.93 (d, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 6.86 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.49 (d, J = 15.9 Hz, 1H), 5.94 (t, J = 6.5 Hz, 1H), 5.85-5.74 (m, 1H), 3.95-3.80 (m, 8H), 2.18-2.11 (m, 2H), 1.63 (m, 2H), 0.94-0.90 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 173.1, 166.5, 149.2, 149.1, 145.8, 134.2, 130.6, 130.2, 129.0, 128.2, 119.0, 117.6, 111.1, 109.8, 74.7, 55.9, 44.3, 38.7, 19.1, 13.7; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 420.1781, found 420.1762; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 14.8$ min.

(S)-1-(Naphthalen-2-yl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (53)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 120-121 °C; $R_f = 0.48$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ -19.5 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3290, 3022, 2926, 2862, 2404, 2358, 1714, 1637, 1524, 1422, 1318, 1216, 1166, 1030, 929, 763, 671 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 8.05-7.30 (m, 19H), 6.68-6.32 (m, 3H), 4.78-4.51 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.7, 166.2, 145.8, 145.7, 134.4, 134.2, 133.5, 133.3, 130.6, 130.5, 129.0, 129.0, 128.7, 128.3, 128.2, 127.8, 126.5, 126.3, 124.3, 117.8, 117.6, 73.8, 66.3; **ESI-LCMS:** *m/z* 471.19 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m/z* for C₃₀H₂₄O₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 471.1567, found 471.1566; HPLC: *ee* 100% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 12.5 min].

(R)-1-(Naphthalen-2-yl)ethane-1,2-diyl (2E,2'E)-bis(3-phenylacrylate) (54)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 123-124 °C; $R_f = 0.48$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); $[\alpha]_D^{28}$ +23.9 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3290, 3022, 2926, 2862, 2404, 2358, 1714, 1637, 1524, 1422, 1318, 1216, 1166, 1030, 929, 763, 671 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.96-7.30 (m, 19H), 6.65-6.34 (m, 3H), 4.76-4.53 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.7, 166.2, 145.8, 145.7, 134.4, 134.2, 133.5, 133.3, 130.6, 130.5, 129.0, 129.0, 128.7, 128.3, 128.2, 127.8, 126.5, 126.3, 124.3, 117.8, 117.6, 73.8, 66.3; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 471.16 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₃₀H₂₄O₄Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 471.1567, found 471.1570; HPLC: *ee* 98.4% [Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 22.8 min].

(S)-1-(3,4-Dimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl(2E,2'E)-bis(3-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl) acrylate) (55)



Colorless viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ +33.4 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3686, 3021, 2937, 2845, 2403, 1712, 1635, 1585, 1510, 1460, 1423, 1319, 1218, 1139, 1032, 928, 766, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.67-7.59 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.04 (dd, J = 8.2, 2.3 Hz, 1H), 6.97 (d, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 6.89 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 6.75 (s, 2H), 6.74 (s, 2H), 6.43 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.35 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.19 (dd, J = 8.7, 3.2 Hz, 1H), 4.62 (dd, J = 12.4, 8.9 Hz, 1H), 4.47 (dd, J = 11.9, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.94-3.84 (m, 26H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 166.1, 153.5, 145.5, 140.4, 129.7, 129.1, 119.4, 117.0, 116.7, 111.3, 110.2, 105.4, 73.5, 66.1, 61.0, 56.2, 56.0, 56.0; HRMS: m/z for C₃₄H₃₈O₁₂Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 661.2255, found 661.2252; HPLC:

Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_{\rm R} = 15.1$ min.

(S)-1-(3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl)ethane-1,2-diyl(2*E*,2'*E*)-bis(3-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl) acrylate) (56)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 61-62 °C; $R_f = 0.43$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{29}$ +29.2 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3290, 3021, 2932, 2404, 2358, 1712, 1634, 1589, 1508, 1460, 1421, 1327, 1217, 1135, 1016, 929, 764, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.69-7.58 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.76 (s, 2H), 6.74 (s, 2H), 6.68 (s, 2H), 6.44 (d, J = 15.6 Hz, 1H), 6.36 (d, J = 16.0 Hz, 1H), 6.16 (dd, J = 9.2, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 4.61 (dd, J = 11.9, 8.7 Hz, 1H), 4.46 (dd, J = 11.5, 3.2 Hz, 1H), 3.92-3.82 (m, 29H, 9-OMe and two diastereotopic protons); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.6, 153.5, 145.8, 140.5, 138.4, 132.1, 129.7, 116.8, 116.6, 105.5, 104.1, 73.8, 61.0, 60.8, 56.2; HRMS: m/z for C₃₅H₄₀O₁₃Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 691.2361, found 691.2354; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 13.7$ min.

(S)-1-(3,4,5-Trimethoxyphenyl)-2-((*E*)-3-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)acrylamido)ethyl(*E*)-3-(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)acrylate (57)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 67-69 °C; $R_f = 0.28$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ +46.6 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3686, 3441, 3021, 2937, 2403, 1711, 1629, 1589, 1509, 1462, 1424, 1326, 1217, 1136, 1005, 927, 767, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.71-

7.49 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.75 (s, 2H), 6.71 (s, 2H), 6.66 (s, 2H), 6.48-6.24 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 6.08-5.92 (m, 2H, NH and methine protons), 3.96-3.79 (m, 29H, 9-OMe and two diastereotopic protons); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 166.5, 166.0, 153.5, 153.5, 153.4, 146.0, 141.7, 139.7, 138.1, 133.3, 130.2, 129.6, 119.5, 116.6, 105.4, 105.0, 103.7, 74.9, 61.0, 60.8, 56.3, 56.2, 44.7; ESI-LCMS: *m*/*z* 690.25 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS: *m*/*z* for C₃₅H₄₁NO₁₂Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 690.2521, found 690.2516; HPLC: Chiralpak-IA (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, *t*_R = 10.3 min.

(S)-2-Cinnamamido-2-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)ethyl cinnamate (58)



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 117-120 °C; $R_f = 0.47$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[a]_D^{29}$ +45.9 (*c* 0.5, CHCl₃); **IR** (CHCl₃): 3366, 3021, 2926, 2858, 2405, 2358, 1708, 1630, 1511, 1457, 1321, 1216, 1168, 1029, 928, 762, 670 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 7.76-7.57 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 7.55-7.42 (m, 4H), 7.41-7.28 (m, 6H), 7.00-6.79 (m, 3H), 6.58 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.53-6.36 (m, 2H, two doublets overlapped), 5.45 (m, 1H), 4.66 (dd, J = 11.6, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 4.43 (dd, J = 11.5, 4.7 Hz, 1H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 3.84 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ 167.4, 165.6, 149.2, 148.8, 146.0, 141.7, 134.7, 134.1, 131.0, 130.6, 129.8, 128.9, 128.8, 128.2, 127.9, 120.3, 118.9, 117.2, 111.4, 110.3, 66.2, 55.9, 52.9; HRMS: m/z for C₂₈H₂₇NO₅Na (M+Na)⁺: calcd 480.1781, found 480.1776; HPLC: Chiralpak-IB (0.46 mm ϕ X 250 mmL), 40% EtOH in hexane, flow rate 1.0 mL min⁻¹, UV detection at 220 nm, $t_R = 10.8$ min.

2.1.8. REFERENCES

- 1. Talapatra, S. K.; Dutta, S.; Talapatra, B. *Phytochemistry* **1973**, *12*, 729.
- Ko, F. N.; Hsiao, G.; Chen, I. S.; Wu, S. J.; Teng, C. M. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1993, 46, 1165.
- 3. *The Wealth of India*: Raw Materials; PID, Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR): New Delhi, 1976; Vol. II, pp 18-19.
- 4. Stone, B. C. In Dassanayake, M. D., Fosberg, R., Eds. *A Revised Handbook to the Flora of Ceylon*; Oxford and 1BH Publishing: New Delhi, 1985; Vol. 5, p 406.
- 5. Jayaweera, D. M. A. In *Medicinal Plants Used in Sri Lanka*. National Science Council: Sri Lanka, 1982; Part 5, p 39.
- Weenen, H.; Nkunya, M. H. H.; Bray, D. H.; Mwasumbi, L. B.; Kinabo, L. S.; Kilimali, V.; Wijnberg, J. *Planta Med.* 1990, 56, 371.
- 7. Kalia, N. K.; Sing, B.; Sood, R. P. J. Nat. Prod. **1999**, 62, 311.
- 8. Reyes, B.; Navarrete, A.; Sixtos, C.; Aguirre, E.; Jimenez, S.; Estrada, E. *Rev. Mex. Cienc. Farm.* **1991**, *21*, 30.
- 9. De Morais, S. M.; Facundo, V. A.; Braz Filho, R. J. Essent. Oil Res. 2002, 14, 274.
- (a) Ross, S. A.; Sultana, G. N. N.; Burandt, C. L.; ElSohly, M. A.; Marais, J. P. J.; Ferreira, D. J. Nat. Prod. 2004, 67, 88; (b) Ross, S. A.; Al-Azeib, M. A.; Krishnaveni, K. S.; Fronczek, F. R.; Burandt, C. L. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1297; (c) Facundo, V. A.; De Morais, S. M.; Machado, M. I. L.; Matos, F. J. de A.; Da Frota, L. C. M. J. Essent. Oil. Res. 1999, 11, 426; (d) Facundo, V. A.; De Morais, S. M.; Braz Filho, R.; Matos, I. J. de A; Souza, R. T. Rev. Bras. Farm. 1997, 78, 57.
- (a) Saxena, S.; Pant, N.; Jain, D. C.; Bhakuni, R. S. *Curr. Sci.* 2003, 1314; (b) Bero, J.; Frédérich, M.; Quetin-Leclercq, J. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2009, 61, 1401; (c) Mojab, F. Avicenna J Phytomed 2012, 2, 52; (d) Sebisubi, F. M.; Tan, G. T. Phytochem and Pharmacog 2010, 1; (e) Oliveira, A. B.; Dolabela, M. F.; Braga, F. C.; Jácome, R. L.; Varotti, F. P.; Póvoa, M. M. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciencias 2009, 81, 715; (f) Batista, R.; De Jesus Silva Júnior, A.; De Oliveira, A. Molecules 2009, 14, 3037; (g) Adebayo, J. O.; Krettli, A. U. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2011, 133, 289; (h) Xu, Y. J.; Pieters, L. Mini-Rev. Med. Chem. 2013, 13, 1056.

- (a) Shah, N. K.; Dhillon, G. P.; Dash, A. P.; Arora, U.; Meshnick, S. R.; Valecha, N. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011, 11, 57; (b) Aminake, M. N.; Pradel, G. Microbial pathogens and strategies for combating them: science, technology and education (A. Méndez-Vilas, Ed.). © FORMATEX 2013; (c) Bloland, P. B.; World Health Organization. Drug Resistance in Malaria. 2001; (d) Haldar, K.; Bhattacharjee, S.; Safeukui, I. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2018, 16, 156; (e) Marfurt, J.; Smith, T. A.; Hastings, I. M.; Müller, I.; Sie, A.; Oa, O.; Baisor, M.; Reeder, J. C.; Beck, H.-P.; Genton, B. Malar. J. 2010, 9, 8; (f) Agomo, C. O.; Oyibo, W. A.; Sutherland, C.; Hallet, R.; Oguike, M. PloS one 2016, 11, e0146908; (g) White, N. J. J. Clin. Invest. 2004, 113, 1084; (h) Dondorp, A. M.; Nosten, F.; Yi, P.; Das, D.; Phyo, A. P.; Tarning, J.; Lwin, K. M.; Ariey, F.; Hanpithakpong, W.; Lee, S. J. N. Eng. J. Med. 2009, 361, 455; (i) Starzengruber, P.; Swoboda, P.; Fuehrer, H. P.; Khan, W. A.; Hofecker, V.; Siedl, A.; Fally, M.; Graf, O.; Teja-Isavadharm, P.; Haque, R. PLoS One 2012, 7, e52236.
- Aratikatla, E. K.; Valkute, T. R.; Puri, S. K.; Srivastava, K.; Bhattacharya, A. K. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2017, *138*, 1089.
- References for the synthesis of styrenes: (a) Onoda, T.; Takikawa, Y.; Fujimoto, T.; Yasui, Y.; Suzuki, K.; Matsumoto, T. Synlett 2009, 1041; (b) Sun, B.; Hoshino, J.; Jermihov, K.; Marler, L.; Pezzuto, J. M.; Mesecar, A. D.; Cushman, M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2010, 18, 5352; (c) Cho, S. J.; Jensen, N. H.; Kurome, T.; Kadari, S.; Manzano, M. L.; Malberg, J. E.; Caldarone, B.; Roth, B. L.; Kozikowski, A. P. J. Med. Chem. 2009, 52, 1885; (d) Aslam, S. N.; Stevenson, P. C.; Phythian, S. J.; Veitch, N. C.; Hall, D. R. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 4214; (e) Hryniewicka, A.; Morzycki, J. W.; Witkowski, S. J. Organomet. Chem. 2010, 695, 1265.
- Sharpless, K. B.; Amberg, W.; Bennani, Y. L.; Crispino, G. A.; Hartung, J.; Jeong,
 K. S.; Kwong, H. L.; Morikawa, K.; Wang, Z. M. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2768.
- References for the synthesis of chiral diols: (a) Kumar, P.; Upadhyay, R. K.; Pandey, R. K. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3955; (b) Li, Q.; Woods, K. W.; Claiborne, A.; Gwaltney, S. L.; Barr, K. J.; Liu, G.; Gehrke, L.; Credo, R. B.; Hui, Y. H.; Lee, J. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2002, 12, 465; (c) Wipf, P.; Hopkins, C. R. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3133; (d) Jones, G. B.; Guzel, M. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 1998, 9, 2023; (e) Toribatake, K.; Nishiyama, H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 11011; (f)

Mahajabeen, P.; Chadha, A. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* 2011, 22, 2156; (g) Superchi,
S.; Casarini, D.; Summa, C.; Rosini, C. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 1685; (h) Junttila,
M. H.; Hormi, O. O. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 3038; (i) Moussou, P.; Archelas, A.;
Baratti, J.; Furstoss, R. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 3532; (j) Kurosaki, Y.; Fukuda, T.;
Iwao, M. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 3289.

- References for monotosylation of diols: (a) Lee, D. M.; Kumaraswamy, G.; Lee, K. I. Monatsh. Chem. 2009, 140, 73; (b) Sadyandy, R.; Fernandes, R. A.; Kumar, P. Arkivoc 2005, 3, 36; (c) Cho, B. T.; Kang, S. K.; Shin, S. H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2002, 13, 1209.
- References for the synthesis of 1,2-azido alcohol: (a) Ankati, H.; Yang, Y.; Zhu, D.; Biehl, E. R.; Hua, L. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 73, 6433; (b) Reddy, M. A.; Bhanumathi, N.; Rao, K. R. Chem. Commun. 2001, 1974; (c) Lee, D. M.; Lee, J. C.; Jeong, N.; Lee, K. I. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18, 2662; (d) Yadav, J. S.; Reddy, P. T.; Nanda, S.; Rao, A. B. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 63; (e) Antunes, H.; Fardelone, L. C.; Rodrigues, J. R.; Moran, P. S. Braz. Arch. Biol. Tech. 2006, 49, 133.
- References for the synthesis of 1,2-amino alcohol: (a) Zhou, Y.; Dong, J.; Zhang, F.; Gong, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 76, 588; (b) Blay, G.; Hernández-Olmos, V.; Pedro, J. R. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2010, 21, 578; (c) Bosiak, M. J.; Pakulski, M. M. Synthesis 2011, 316; (d) Kamal, A.; Shaik, A. A.; Sandbhor, M.; Malik, M. S. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 3939; (e) Watanabe, M.; Murata, K.; Ikariya, T. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1712.
- 20. Crowley, B. M.; Mori, Y.; McComas, C. C.; Tang, D.; Boger, D. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 4310.
- 21. Srivastava, K.; Puri, S.K. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. India 2009, 79, 37.
- 22. Singh, S.; Srivastava, R. K.; Srivastava, M.; Puri, S. K.; Srivastava, K. *Exptl. Parasitol.* **2011**, *127*, 318.
- Sharma, M.; Chauhan, K.; Chauhan, S. S.; Kumar, A.; Singh, S. V.; Saxena, J. K.;
 Agarwal, P.; Srivastava, K.; Kumar, S. R.; Puri, S. K. Med. Chem. Comm. 2012, 3, 71.

24. Singh, C.; Verma, V. P.; Hassam, M.; Singh, A. S.; Naikade, N. K.; Puri, S. K. J. *Med. Chem.* **2014**, *57*, 2489 and references cited therein.

2.1.9. SPECTRA OF SELECTED FINAL COMPOUNDS

¹H-NMR spectrum of 1 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹³C-NMR spectrum of 1 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of 2 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 3 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 4 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 5 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 6 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 7 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 8 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 17 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 19 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of 19 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of 25 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of 25 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of 33 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of 33 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of 39 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 41 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 43 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of 43 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of 45 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of 45 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of 53 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 56 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)






¹H-NMR spectrum of 57 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H-NMR spectrum of 58 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of 58 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)





2.1.10. HPLC Chromatograms of enantiomers 1, 2 and their racemic mixture Chiralpak-IA (250X4.6 cm), EtOH:Hexane (30:70), flow 1 mL/min, det.: UV 254 nm



HPLC Chromatograms of enantiomers 3, 4 and their racemic mixture Chiralpak-IA (250X4.6 cm), EtOH:Hexane (30:70), flow 1 mL/min, det.: UV 254 nm



HPLC Chromatograms of enantiomers 5, 6 and their racemic mixture Chiralpak-IA (250X4.6 cm), EtOH:Hexane (40:60), flow 1 mL/min, det.: UV 220 nm



HPLC Chromatograms of enantiomers 7, 8 and their racemic mixture Chiralpak-IA (250X4.6 cm), EtOH:Hexane (30:70), flow 1 mL/min, det.: UV 254 nm

Page | 196

2.2. SECTION B

Synthesis of functionalized amino acids using chiral pool approach: synthesis of antiepileptic drug (R)-lacosamide

2.2.1. INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is a neurological disorder that disturbs the normal activity of brain cells. It describes the types of recurrent seizures produced by paroxysmal excessive neuronal discharges in the brain.¹ It is estimated that epilepsy affects approximately 50 million people worldwide and over 10 million people in India alone.² Unfortunately, many medications such as valproic acid, carbamazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin, etc. are ineffective for approximately one-third of patients with epilepsy.³ Many continue to have seizures, while others experience side effects such as drowsiness, dizziness, nausea, liver damage, etc.⁴

Functionalized amino acids (FAAs) of formula **A** were identified as a novel class of anticonvulsant agents (also commonly known as antiepileptic drugs or as antiseizure drugs). Anticonvulsants are a diverse group of pharmacological agents used in the treatment of epileptic seizures.⁵ The lead compound among the functionalized amino acids, (*R*)-lacosamide (Vimpat) **1** was identified as a best antiepileptic drug (AED) and has been suggested for the treatment of partial-onset seizures in patients with epilepsy and as add-on treatment in brain tumor patients.⁶ Currently, (*R*)-lacosamide is marketed in U.S. and Europe and according to UCB pharma, its worldwide expected sale in 2015-2020 is set to be \in 1.2 billion.



Figure 1. Structures of FAAs (A) and (R)-lacosamide 1.

The exact mode of action of this drug in humans has not yet been fully elucidated but it is believed that it increases the slow inactivation of the voltage-gated sodium channels thus inhibiting repetitive neuronal firing.⁷ Additionally, (*R*)-lacosamide **1** is also under clinical trials for the treatment of neuropathic pains.⁸ Few examples of functionalized amino acids (FAAs) are shown in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2. Selected examples of functionalized amino acids (FAAs) 1-15.

2.2.2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Because of the medical importance of (*R*)-lacosamide **1**, its synthesis has attracted the attention of researchers around the world and several chiral pool and asymmetric syntheses were reported in literature.^{9b-15} (*R*)-Lacosamide **1** could be considered as a functionalized derivative of amino acid D-serine (*R*)-**16**. Initial strategies for the synthesis of this drug used non-natural amino acid, D-serine as a starting material. The conversion of D-serine into **1**

involves *N*-acylation, and *O*-methylation steps with protecting groups introduction and manipulation used in different order.⁹ *O*-Methylation was the problematic step because of possible racemization of amino acid during the step.^{9b,g-j,1} To overcome this possible racemization, Kuhn's *O*-methylation protocol^{9a} involving MeI and Ag₂O was used in the three-step synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide **1** starting from D-serine as a starting material (**Scheme 1**).^{9b} The drawbacks of this method are high cost and nonregenerability of silver catalyst and longer reaction time (3-5 days) required for the methylation step.



Scheme 1. Three step synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1.

In another approach, D-serine methyl ester (*R*)-**19** was transformed into the corresponding aziridine using diethoxytriphenylphosphorane (DTPP), which upon ring opening with MeOH using BF_3 ·Et₂O as a catalyst followed by hydrolysis of the ester to acid and then amide coupling with benzyl amine furnished (*R*)-lacosamide **1** (Scheme 2).^{9c}



Scheme 2. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 through aziridine intermediate.

Muthukrishnan *et al.* (2011)¹⁰

Jacobsen's hydrolytic kinetic resolution (HKR) strategy was utilized for the synthesis of (*R*)lacosamide **1**. The *rac*-benzyl glycidyl ether (\pm)-**25** was subjected to Jacobsen's hydrolytic kinetic resolution conditions with water using the catalyst (*R*,*R*)-Salen Co(III)OAc (0.5 mol %) to furnish the required enantiomerically pure epoxide (*S*)-**25a** in 47% yield and >99% *ee* along with its diol (*R*)-**25b** in 43% yield. Further, functional group transformations provided (*R*)-lacosamide **1** in 8 steps with 18% overall yield from *rac*-epichlorohydrin as starting material (**Scheme 3**).



Scheme 3. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 using Jacobsen's HKR strategy.

The drawbacks of this method are loss of yield in Jacobsen's hydrolytic kinetic resolution step and use of expensive Jacobsen's catalyst hence, this synthesis of (R)-lacosamide **1** is not commercially viable.

Narsaiah *et al.* (2013)¹¹

Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation was used to synthesize (R)-lacosamide **1**. The asymmetric synthesis commenced from protection of acrylic acid **31** with benzyl amine.

Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation of *N*-benzylacrylamide **32** with AD-mix- β furnished diol (*S*)-**33** which on further functional group transformations provided (*R*)-lacosamide **1** in 8 steps with 29% overall yield from acrylic acid as starting material (**Scheme 4**).



Scheme 4. Asymmetric synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 using asymmetric dihydroxylation. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) HOBt, EDCI, Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C to rt, 8 h, 70%; (b) AD-mix- β , MsNH₂, *t*-BuOH-H₂O (1:1), 0 °C, 80%; (c) Bu₂SnO, TsCl (1 equiv), Et₃N, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 2 h, 95%; (d) K₂CO₃, MeOH, 0 °C, 8 h, 90%; (e) TsCl, Et₃N, DMAP, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 92%; (f) NaN₃, DMF, 70 °C, 6 h, 87%; (g) Ph₃P, THF-H₂O (9:1), 50 °C, 12 h, 85%; (h) Ac₂O, DMAP, CH₂Cl₂, 0 °C, 1 h, 90%.

Stecko *et al.* (2014)¹²

Stecko *et al.* synthesized (R)-lacosamide **1** from ethyl L-lactate (S)-**39** employing stereospecific allyl cyanate to isocyanate rearrangement as a key step. The target molecule was synthesized in 7 steps with 22% overall yield using ethyl L-lactate as starting molecule.



Scheme 5. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 using allyl cyanate to isocyanate rearrangement. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) DHP, PPTS, CH_2Cl_2 , rt, 95%; (b) (i) DIBAL-H, CH_2Cl_2 , -78 °C; (ii) NaH, (EtO)_2P(O)CH_2COOEt, THF, 0 °C; (iii) DIBAL-H, CH_2Cl_2 , -78 °C, (75%, 3 steps); (c) (i) NaH, MeI, THF, rt; (ii) AcCl (5 mol %), MeOH, rt, (78%, 2 steps: *O*-methylation and deprotection); (d) (i) TCA-NCO, CH_2Cl_2 , 0 °C, 1 h; (ii) aq. K₂CO₃, MeOH, rt, 2 h, (82%, 2 steps); (e) (i) TFAA, Et₃N, THF, 0 °C, 30 min; (ii) MeMgBr, THF, -10 °C to rt, (74%, 2 steps); (f) RuCl₃·H₂O (3 mol %), NaIO₄, acetone/water (5:1), 79%; (g) IBCF, NMM, BnNH₂, THF, -20 °C to rt, 82%.

The drawbacks of this method are a large number of steps involved in the synthesis and use of pyrophoric reagents such as Grignard reagents, DIBAL-H, other expensive reagents such as RuCl₃·H₂O, trichloroacetyl isocyanate (TCA-NCO) and trifluoroacetic anhydride (TFAA).

Pandey *et al.* (2015)¹³

Trost's Dynamic Kinetic Asymmetric Transformation (DYKAT) was employed as a key step to synthesize (*R*)-lacosamide **1**. Enantiopure phthaloyl alcohol derivative (*S*)-**47** was prepared from the racemic butadiene monoepoxide (\pm)-**46** by the application Trost's DYKAT strategy using (*R*,*R*)-DACH ligand (**Figure 3**). Compound (*S*)-**47** on further functional group transformations furnished (*R*)-lacosamide **1** in 5 steps with 52% overall yield starting from butadiene monoepoxide (\pm)-**46** as starting material.



Scheme 6. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 using Trost's Dynamic Kinetic Asymmetric Transformation (DYKAT). *Reagents and conditions*: (a) Phthalimide, Na₂CO₃, 1.2 mol % (*R*,*R*)-DACH, 0.4 mol % [η^3 -C₃H₅PdCl]₂, dry CH₂Cl₂, rt, 14 h, 98%; (b) MeI, NaH, DMF, 0 °C to rt, 3 h, 86%; (c) (i) OsO₄, NaIO₄, 2,6-lutidine, dioxane:water 3:1 v/v, 0 °C to rt, 2 h; (ii) Oxone, DMF, rt, 12 h (78% over two steps); (d) C₆H₅CH₂NH₂, *N*-methyl morpholine, isobutyl chloroformate, THF, -78 °C to rt, 1 h, 88%; (e) (i) NH₂NH₂.H₂O, isopropyl

alcohol, 0 °C to rt, 2 h; (ii) CH₃COCl, Na₂CO₃, dry toluene, 0 to 5 °C, 1 h, (91% over two steps).

The main draw of this method is the use of expensive Trost's (R,R)-DACH ligand which renders this synthesis to be not commercially viable considering that (R)-1 is currently being used as a drug.



Figure 3. Structures of (*R*,*R*) and (*S*,*S*)-DACH ligands.

Miscellaneous methods for synthesis of (R)-lacosamide

Some other synthetic methods of (*R*)-lacosamide $\mathbf{1}$ were also reported using Ugi multicomponent reaction and chiral Rhodium complexes etc.¹⁴

2.2.3. PRESENT WORK

Objective

As a part of our research programme in the synthesis of biologically active molecules using chiral building blocks, we considered developing an industrially feasible chiral pool synthesis of (R)-lacosamide **1** from simple and cheap starting materials without the need of any expensive chiral ligands, hydrolytic kinetic resolution and harsh reaction conditions. We devised the chiral pool strategy for the synthesis of (R)-lacosamide **1** from natural amino acid L-serine¹⁵ whereas the previous syntheses relied on using expensive chiral ligands in Trost's dynamic kinetic asymmetric transformation (DYKAT), Jacobsen's hydrolytic kinetic resolution (HKR), use of non-natural amino acid, D-serine, chiral Rhodium complexes and other industrially non-feasible methods.^{9b-14}

2.2.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.2.4.1. Retrosynthetic analysis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1

Our synthetic strategy for the synthesis of (R)-lacosamide **1** is outlined in **Scheme 7**. We envisioned that the target molecule could be synthesized from a key starting material *N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropylidene-L-serinol **52** which could be readily synthesized in gram-scale from

natural amino acid L-serine **51** in four steps without the need of any purification of the intermediates.¹⁶ Further protection, deprotection and functional group transformations of **52** would lead to the desired target molecule, (R)-lacosamide **1**.



Scheme 7. Retrosynthetic analysis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1.

2.2.4.2. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide 1

As shown in **Scheme 8**, the synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide **1** started from natural amino acid Lserine **51** which was converted to protected primary alcohol (*N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropylidene-Lserinol) **52**. *N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropylidene-L-serinol **52** was synthesized in gram-scale from Lserine in 4 steps and 81% overall yield without the need of purification of any intermediates.¹⁶ The protected primary alcohol **52** was methylated with MeI and NaH to furnish **53** in 88% yield.¹⁷ It is pertinent to mention here that no racemization was observed during the methylation step whereas in Kuhn *et. al.*^{9a} has used neutral conditions for *O*methylation^{9a} using MeI and Ag₂O to avoid racemization (see **Scheme 1**) in the three-step synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide **1** starting from D-Serine as a starting material. The flexibility of using basic conditions and several industrially preferable methylating agents (such as MeI, dimethyl sulfate, dimethyl carbonate, etc.) for methylation step are the added advantages to the present synthesis.



Scheme 8. Synthesis of (*R*)-lacosamide **1**. *Reagents and conditions:* (a) NaH, MeI, THF, rt, 30 min, 88%; (b) PTSA, MeOH, rt, 5 h, 86%; (c) TEMPO, NaOCl, NaClO₂, CH₃CN, rt, 3 h, 99%; (d) C₆H₅CH₂NH₂, *N*-methyl morpholine, isobutyl chloroformate, THF, -78 °C to rt, 1

h, 90%; (e) (i) TFA, DCM, rt, overnight; (ii) Ac₂O, DMAP, DCM, rt, 4h, (80% over 2 steps).

Deprotection of acetonide group of **53** was carried out in acidic conditions using *p*-toluene sulfonic acid in methanol to furnish compound **54** in 86% yield. Oxidation of primary alcohol in **54** with TEMPO resulted in the clean formation of acid **55** (99% yield) which was used in the next step as such without any further purification. Acid **55** was coupled with benzyl amine using the well-established mixed anhydride method involving *N*-methyl morpholine and isobutyl chloroformate to furnish amide **56** (90%). The final Boc deprotection of **56** with TFA followed by acetylation of the crude amine with acetic anhydride and DMAP followed by flash chromatography (SiO₂) resulted in the formation of final product (*R*)-lacosamide **1** in 80% yield over two steps. Chiral HPLC of **1** proved that no racemization had taken place during the synthesis (100% *ee*).

2.2.5. CONCLUSION

In summary, (*R*)-lacosamide 1 was synthesized using the chiral pool strategy with 100% *ee* without any racemization during the intermediate steps. Further, 1 was synthesized in 5 steps with an overall yield of 54% starting from *N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropylidene-L-serinol 52 which can be readily synthesized in gram-scale from natural amino acid L-serine. The advantages of this present synthesis over the other existing methods are the use of natural amino acid L-serine as a starting material, short and high yielding steps without the need of kinetic resolution or expensive chiral ligands thereby making the synthesis of the drug molecule more easier for the industrial synthesis. Further, several *O*-substituted, *N*-substituted and amide substituted diverse analogs could be synthesized by using the chiral pool strategy with 100% *ee* for further development of new potent anti-epileptic agents.

2.2.6. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

^tButyl (*R*)-4-(methoxymethyl)-2,2-dimethyloxazolidine-3-carboxylate (53)



To a dry THF solution (30 mL) of alcohol 52 (3 g, 12.97 mmol) was added NaH (0.985 g of 60% dispersion in mineral oil, 24.64 mmol) and then MeI was added dropwise (1.6 mL,

25.94 mmol), and the mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 min. After the reaction was complete (TLC), it was cooled on an ice bath and quenched by slowly adding cold water (30 mL). The mixture was extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 40 mL). The combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. After concentration of the combined organic layers, the residual oil was subjected to flash chromatography (CombiFlash R_f 200*i*, Teledyne Isco) using RediSep® silica gel column (12 g) eluting with petroleum ether-EtOAc (9:1, isocratic) to furnish methyl ether **53** as a colourless liquid (2.8 g, 88%); $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.35$ (10% EtOAc in petroleum ether); $[\boldsymbol{a}]_{\mathbf{D}}^{25}$ -46.6 (*c* 1.03, CHCl₃) [Lit. $[\alpha]_{\mathbf{D}}^{25}$ -42.4 (*c* 1.37, CHCl₃)¹⁷]; **IR** (CHCl₃) υ_{max} : 3370, 3017, 2934, 1688, 1464, 1387, 1252, 1217, 1168, 1095, 1030, 851, 766, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹**H NMR** (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 4.04-3.88 (m, 3H), 3.50 (m, 1H), 3.37 (s, 3H), 3.34-3.26 (m, 1H), 1.61-1.44 (m, 15H); ¹³**C NMR** (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 152.2, 151.7, 93.7, 93.3, 80.3, 79.8, 72.1, 71.3, 65.6, 65.3, 59.0, 58.9, 56.3, 56.1, 28.4, 28.4, 27.5, 26.7, 24.3, 23.0; **HRMS** (ESI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₁₂H₂₃NO₄Na [M + Na]⁺268.1519; found: 268.1506.

^tButyl (S)-(1-hydroxy-3-methoxypropan-2-yl)carbamate (54)

To a solution of **53** (1.5 g, 6.11 mmol) in MeOH (27 mL) was added *p*-toluene sulfonic acid monohydrate (0.210 g, 1.22 mmol) and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 h. After the completion of the reaction, the reaction mixture was treated with saturated aqueous sodium bicarbonate solution (30 mL) and then extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 30 mL). The combined organic extracts were concentrated and the residue was purified by flash chromatography (CombiFlash R_f 200*i*, Teledyne Isco) using RediSep®silica gel column (12 g) eluting with petroleum ether-EtOAc (1:1, isocratic) to furnish alcohol **54** as a colourless liquid (1.08 g, 86%); $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.35$ (50% EtOAc in petroleum ether); $[\mathbf{\alpha}]_{\mathbf{D}}^{\mathbf{25}}$ +4.8 (*c* 1.04, CHCl₃) [Lit. $[\alpha]_{\mathbf{D}}^{\mathbf{25}}$ +3.8 (*c* 0.95, CHCl₃)¹⁰]; **IR** (CHCl₃) υ_{max} : 3440, 3015, 2934, 1699, 1506, 1376, 1318, 1221, 1169, 1095, 1056, 978, 926, 761, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 5.22 (brs, 1H), 3.86-3.44 (m, 5H), 3.37 (s, 3H), 2.98 (brs, 1H), 1.45 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 156.1, 79.7,73.0, 63.7, 59.2, 51.5, 28.4; **HRMS** (ESI): *m/z* calcd for C₉H₁₉NO₄Na [M + Na]⁺ 228.1206; found: 228.1196. *N*-(^{*t*}Butoxycarbonyl)-*O*-methyl-D-serine (55)



To a solution of compound **54** (0.920 g, 4.48 mmol) in CH₃CN (4.6 mL) and saturated solution of KH₂PO₄ (4.6 mL) were added NaClO₂ (0.810 g, 8.96 mmol), TEMPO (0.190 g, 1.21 mmol) and NaOCl (0.19 mL). After stirring for 3 h, the mixture was poured into water (9 mL) and extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 30 mL). The combined organic extracts were washed with water, brine and dried over anhydrous Na₂SO₄. After evaporation of the solvent, the product **55** was used in the next step without further purification (0.985 g, 99%); light orange liquid; $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.16$ (60% EtOAc in petroleum ether); $[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]_{\mathbf{D}}^{26}$ -13.4 (*c* 1.03, CHCl₃) [Lit. $[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]_{\mathbf{D}}^{26}$ -19.2 (*c* 1.4, CHCl₃)¹⁰]; **IR** (CHCl₃) υ_{max} : 3441, 3018, 2985, 2935, 1713, 1505, 1405, 1376, 1218, 1166, 1118, 1063, 925, 850, 762, 669 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 5.43 (brs, 1H), 4.42 (brs, 1H), 3.85 (d, *J* = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 3.64 (d, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 3.37 (s, 3H), 1.45 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 174.8, 155.8, 80.3, 72.5, 59.4, 28.4; HRMS (ESI): *m*/*z* calcd for C₉H₁₇NO₅Na [M + Na]⁺ 242.0999; found: 242.0987.

^tButyl (*R*)-(1-(benzylamino)-3-methoxy-1-oxopropan-2-yl) carbamate (56)



To a solution of acid **55** (0.985 g, 4.49 mmol) in dry THF (10 ml) was added *N*-methyl morpholine (0.6 mL, 5.39 mmol) at -78 °C under an argon atmosphere. After 5 min, isobutyl chloroformate (0.7 mL, 5.39 mmol) was added and stirred for another 5 min. To this reaction mixture benzyl amine (0.6 mL, 5.39 mmol) was added at -78 °C and the reaction mixture was allowed to come up to room temperature and stirred for another 1 h. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was filtered through a pad of celite, and washed with ethyl acetate (20 mL). The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude reaction mixture was subjected to flash chromatography (CombiFlash R_f 200*i*, Teledyne Isco) using RediSep® silica gel column (12 g) eluting with petroleum ether-EtOAc (3:2, isocratic) to yield **56** as a white solid (1.24 g, 90%); **R**_f = 0.35 (40% EtOAc in petroleum ether); mp 63-64 °C [Lit. 63-64 °C¹⁰]; $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -24.3 (*c* 1.04, CHCl₃) [Lit. $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -20.5 (*c* 0.9, CHCl₃)¹⁰]; **IR (CHCl₃)** υ_{max} : 3428, 3345, 3017, 2933, 2405, 1708, 1671,

1493, 1365, 1220, 1167, 1116, 1075, 1025, 922, 860, 762, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 7.40-7.19 (m, 5H), 6.78 (brs, 1H), 5.55-5.33 (m, 1H), 4.48 (d, J = 4.3 Hz, 2H), 4.27 (brs, 1H), 3.84 (dd, J = 3.9, 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.50 (dd, J = 6.2, 9.1 Hz, 1H), 3.36 (s, 3H), 1.43 (s, 9H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 170.3, 155.5, 138.0, 128.7, 127.5, 80.4, 72.1, 59.1, 43.5, 28.3; HRMS (ESI): m/z calcd for C₁₆H₂₄N₂O₄Na [M + Na]⁺ 331.1628; found: 331.1612.

(R)-2-Acetamido-N-benzyl-3-methoxypropanamide (Lacosamide) (1)



To a solution of compound 56 (0.320 g, 1.03 mmol) in dichloromethane (4 mL) was added trifluoroacetic acid (1.6 mL) and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. After the completion of reaction (TLC), the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. The crude reaction mixture was dissolved in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (7.5 mL) and slowly acetic anhydride (1.0 mL, 10.57 mmol) dissolved in anhydrous CH₂Cl₂ (1.5 mL) and a catalytic amount of DMAP (27 mg, 0.103 mmol) was added. The resulting reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for further 4 h. The solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the residue was purified by flash chromatography (CombiFlash $R_{\rm f}$ 200*i*, Teledyne Isco) using RediSep® silica gel column (12 g) eluting with CHCl₃-MeOH (95:5, isocratic) to afford pure 1 as a white solid (0.207 g, 80% for 2 steps); $\mathbf{R}_f = 0.4$ (10% MeOH in CH₂Cl₂): mp 140-141 °C [Lit. 140-141 °C,¹¹ 142-143 °C,¹² 143-144 °C¹³]: [a]_p²⁵ +15.9 (c 1.01, MeOH) [Lit. +16.2 (c 1, MeOH),¹¹ +16.1 (c 1.2, MeOH),¹² +16.1 (c 1, MeOH)¹³]; **IR** (CHCl₃) v_{max}: 3671, 3421, 3304, 3015, 2933, 2404, 1657, 1515, 1456, 1376, 1218, 1115, 927, 762, 668 cm⁻¹; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ : 7.36-7.21 (m, 5H), 7.02 (brs, 1H), 6.66 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 1H), 4.60 (dt, J = 4.4, 7.0 Hz, 1H), 4.51-4.37 (m, 2H), 3.77 $(ddd, J = 1.7, 4.2, 9.2 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{H}), 3.46 (dd, J = 7.5, 8.7 \text{ Hz}, 1\text{H}), 3.36 (s, 3\text{H}), 1.99 (s, 3\text{H}); {}^{13}\text{C}$ NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ: 170.5, 170.0, 137.9, 128.7, 127.4, 71.9, 59.1, 52.5, 43.5, 23.1; **HRMS** (ESI): m/z calcd for C₁₃H₁₈N₂O₃Na [M + Na]⁺ 273.1210; found: 273.1195; **HPLC**: *ee* 100% [The *ee* of (R)-lacosamide (1) was determined by chiral HPLC analysis: Chiralcel OD-H (0.46 cm X 25 cm), *iso*-propyl alcohol-^{*n*} hexane-trifluoroacetic acid (30:70:0.1), flow rate 0.5 mL/min; UV detection at 220 nm; $t_{\rm R} = 10.5$ min].

2.2.7. REFERENCES

- (a) Evans, J. H. Neurology 1962, 12, 665; (b) Lindsay, J. M. M. Epilepsia 1971, 12, 47.
- (a) 'Epilepsy' World Health Organization: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs999/en/; (b) Sridharan, R.; Murthy, B. N. *Epilepsia* 1999, 40, 631; (c) Stafstrom, C. E. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 2006, 26, 983; (d) Duncan, J. S.; Sander, J. W.; Sisodia, S. M.; Walker, M. C. Lancet 2006, 367, 1087; (e) Costigan, M.; Scholz, J.; Woolf, C. J. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 2009, 32, 1; (f) Miziak, B.; B\laszczyk, B.; Chrościńska-Krawczyk, M.; Danilkiewicz, G.; Jagie\l\lo-Wójtowicz, E.; Czuczwar, S. J. Expert opinion on drug safety 2014, 13, 935.
- (a) McCorry, D.; Chadwick, D.; Marson, A. Lancet Neurol. 2004, 3, 729; (b) Duncan, J. S. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 2002, 53, 123; (c) Bauer, J.; Reuber, M. Expert Opin. Emerging Drugs 2003, 8, 457; (d) Mattson, R. H.; Cramer, J. A.; Collins, J. F.; Smith, D. B. N. Engl. J. Med. 1985, 313, 145.
- 4. Pellock, J. M.; Willmore, L. J. *Neurology* **1991**, *41*, 961.
- Park, K. D.; Morieux, P.; Salomé, C.; Cotten, S. W.; Reamtong, O.; Eyers, C.; Gaskell, S. J.; Stables, J. P.; Liu, R.; Kohn, H. J. Med. Chem. 2009, 52, 6897 and references cited there in.
- (a) Choi, D.; Stables, J. P.; Kohn, H. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 1907; (b) Perucca, E.; Yasothan, U.; Clincke, G.; Kirkpatrick, P. Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery 2008, 7, 973; (c) Simoens, S. Curr. Med. Res. Opin. 2011, 27, 1329.
- (a) Saussele, T. *Med. Monatsschr. Pharm.* 2008, *31*, 374. (b) Beydaun, A.; D'Souza,
 J.; Hebert, D.; Doty, P. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 2009, *9*, 33.
- (a) Biton, V. Expert Rev. *Neurother.* 2008, 8, 1649; (b) Mccleane, G. *Expert Opin. Invest. Drugs* 2010, *19*, 1129.
- 9. (a) Kuhn, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1962, 1, 19; (b) Choi, D.; Stables, J. P.; Kohn, H. J. Med. Chem. 1996, 39, 1907; (c) Morieux, P.; Stables, J. P.; Kohn, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2008, 16, 8968; (d) Salome, C.; Grosjean, E. S.; Park, K. D.; Morieux, P.; Swendiman, R.; DeMarco, E.; Stables, J. P.; Kohn, H. J. Med. Chem. 2010, 53, 1288; (e) Morieux, P.; Salome, C.; Park, K. D.; Stables, J. P.; Kohn, H. J. Med. Chem. 2010, 53, 5716; (f) Park, K. D.; Stables, J. P.; Liu, R.; Kohn, H. Org.

Biomol. Chem. 2010, 8, 2803; (g) Andurkar, S. V.; Kohn, H. Patent US 6048899, 2000; (h) Riedner, J. Patent EP 20040023556, 2006; (i) Riedner, J.; Dunne, G. Patent WO 2006037574, 2006; (j) Riedner, J.; Dunne, G. Patent US 20080027137, 2008; (k) Riedner, J. European Patent EP 1642889A1, 2006; *Chem. Abstr.* 2006, 144, 331695; (l) Madhra, M. K.; Singh, P. K.; Khanduri, C. H. Patent US 20090143472 A1, 2009; *Chem. Abstr.* 2009, 151, 8933; (m) Vrbanec, G.; Harca, M.; Sucec, A.; Sahnic, D.; Avdagic, A. PCT Int. Appl., WO 2010107993A2, 2010; *Chem. Abstr.* 2010, 153, 431066; (n) Pandey, B.; Shah, K. PCT Int. Appl., WO 2011039781A1, 2011; *Chem. Abstr.* 2011, 154, 410331; (o) Bosch, I. L. J.; Duran, L. E. Patent WO 2011158194, 2011; (p) Branneby, C. K.; Eek, M. Patent US 20130317109, 2013.

- 10. Muthukrishnan, M.; Mujahid, M.; Sasikumar, M.; Mujumdar, P. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2011**, *22*, 1353.
- 11. Wadavrao, S. B.; Narikimalli, A.; Narsaiah, A. V. Synthesis 2013, 3383.
- 12. Stecko, S. J. Org. Chem. 2014, 79, 6342.
- 13. Garg, Y.; Pandey, S. K. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 80, 4201.
- (a) Wehlan, H.; Oehme, J.; Schäfer, A.; Rossen, K. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2015, 19, 1980; (b) Etayo, P.; Núñez-Rico, J. L.; Vidal-Ferran, A. Organometallics 2011, 30, 6718; (c) Jeong, H.; Yadav, N. N.; Ha, H. J. Synthesis 2017, 49, 1264.
- 15. Aratikatla, E. K.; Bhattacharya, A. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2015**, *56*, 5802.
- (a) Mckillop, A.; Taylor, R. J. K.; Watson, R. J.; Lewis, N. Synthesis 1994, 31; (b) Dondini, A.; Perrone, D. Synthesis 1997, 527; (c) Garner, P.; Park, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 2361; (d) Dondoni, A.; Perrone, P. Org. Synth. Coll. 2004, 10, 320.
- 17. Ojika, M.; Kigoshi, H.; Yoshida, Y.; Ishigaki, T.; Nisiwaki, M.; Tsukada, I.; Arakawa, M.; Ekimoto, H.; Yamada, K. *Tetrahedron* **2007**, *63*, 3138.

2.2.8. SPECTRA



¹H-NMR spectrum of compound 53 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of compound 53 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)



Page | 211



¹H-NMR spectrum of compound 54 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H-NMR spectrum of compound 55 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of compound 55 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of compound 56 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of compound 56 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H-NMR spectrum of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C-NMR spectrum of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)



2.2.9. Chiral HPLC analysis data





HPLC Analysis of (R)-lacosamide 1

Chiralcel OD-H, PE:IPA:TFA (70:30:0.1), flow 0.5 mL/min, det.: UV 220 nm





Studies Directed Towards Bioactives from Vernonia arborea

Synthesis and anticancer studies of Michael adducts and Heck arylation products of sesquiterpene lactones, zaluzanin D and zaluzanin C from *Vernonia arborea*

3.1. INTRODUCTION

The generation of diverse chemical libraries using natural products as scaffolds is considered one of the effective methods for drug discovery.¹ Sesquiterpene lactones are sesquiterpenoids (3 isoprene units) and contain a lactone ring. Sesquiterpenes bearing α , β -unsaturated γ -lactones are ubiquitous in nature and have been reported to be isolated from various genera of the family Asteraceae but also occur sporadically in other angiosperm families, Apiaceae, Magnoliaceae and even in some liverworts. They exhibit diverse biological activities such as anti-microbial, anti-inflammatory, antiulcer, antiviral, anticancer and antimalarial activities.² Sesquiterpene lactones can be divided into several main classes such as germacranolides, heliangolides, guaianolides, pseudoguaianolides, hypocretenolides, eudesmanolides depending on ring framework as shown in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1. Some main classes of sesquiterpene lactones.

The genus *Vernonia* (family Asteraceae) consists of approximately 1000 species of herbs and shrubs.³ Several research groups have isolated structurally diverse sesquiterpene lactones from various species of genus *Vernonia* possessing various biological properties.^{4,5}



Figure 2. Selected examples of sesquiterpene lactones isolated from genus Vernonia.

3.2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Sesquiterpene lactones react with nucleophilic sulfhydryl groups present in enzymes, proteins, and glutathione.⁶ The use of sesquiterpene lactones as therapeutic agents is limited due to their poor water solubility. To overcome this, amino-adducts of sesquiterpene lactones have been prepared by adding different amines to the α -methylene- γ -lactone substructure to enhance the water solubility of the parent molecules and to retain their biological activity.^{7,8} Regeneration of parent α , β -unsaturated γ -lactone occurs by the *retro*-Michael reaction, potentially through bioactivation at the site of action (**Figure 3**). This prodrug approach has transformed several sesquiterpene lactones such as alantolactone, ambrosin, arglabin, costunolide, helenalin, parthenolide and ivangustin, into successful clinical candidates.⁸



Figure 3. Conversion of α -methylamino- γ -butyrolactones to α -methylene- γ -butyrolactones and trapping with biological thiols.

3.3. PRESENT WORK

Objective

Continuing our interest in naturally occurring sesquiterpene lactones⁹ and other bioactive secondary metabolites, we wished to take up the chemical examination of *V. arborea* leaves for the isolation of bioactive secondary metabolites, zaluzanin C and zaluzanin D. In the present study, several structurally diverse Michael adducts of zaluzanin D have been synthesized with the formation of one or two new C-N bonds. Analogs of zaluzanin D with a new C-C bond formation have also been synthesized by using Pd catalyzed Heck coupling reaction. The *in vitro* anticancer activities of all the analogs were tested against human breast cancer cell lines MCF7 and MDA-MB-231.

3.4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.4.1. Plant material

The aerial parts of *V. arborea* were collected from the Kolli Hills (Perumakkai Shola), Tamilnadu, India during March 2013. The plant was identified by Prof. Dr. N. Parthasarathy, Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Pondicherry University, India, where a voucher specimen (No. 5318) is being maintained.

Extraction and Isolation

Air-dried and grounded leaves (2.8 kg) of *V. arborea* were extracted with petroleum ether (5 x 5.0 L) at room temperature for five days. After completion of the extraction, the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford the petroleum ether extract (105 g). The remaining plant material was further extracted with MeOH (5 x 5.0 L) at room temperature for five days. After completion of the extraction, the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford the MeOH (5 x 5.0 L) at room temperature for five days. After completion of the extraction, the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure to afford the MeOH extract (224.15 g).

A portion of the petroleum ether extract (5.3 g) was flash chromatographed on CombiFlash Companion, Isco Teledyne Inc., USA using RediSep® column (SiO₂, 2x12 g, stacked together) and isocratic elution was done with ethyl acetate-petroleum ether (4:96) to furnish the pure compound (66.3 mg, 0.04%) which was identified as zaluzanin D **1** on the basis of its spectral data, comparison of spectral data with reported data¹⁰ and co-TLC with an authentic sample. Further flash chromatography with ethyl acetate-petroleum ether (6:94) furnished a pure compound, which was identified as zaluzanin C **2** (16.3 mg, 0.0098%) by its spectral data and comparison of spectral data with reported data.¹⁰



Figure 4. Structures of zaluzanin 1 and zaluzanin C 2 isolated from V. arborea.

Further flash chromatography with ethyl acetate-petroleum ether (6:94) furnished zaluzanin C **2** (**Figure 4**). Finally, we proved the structure of zaluzanin D **1** by its single crystal X-ray analysis (**Figure 5**).^{11a}



Figure 5. ORTEP diagram of zaluzanin D 1.

3.4.2. Chemistry

3.4.2.1. Synthesis of Michael adducts of zaluzanin D using different chiral/achiral amines

Since Michael addition of primary or secondary amines to α , β -unsaturated lactones resulted in the compounds possessing higher anticancer activities compared to the original compound, we wished to synthesize a library of amino adducts of zaluzanin D with one or more new C-N bonds. The amino derivatives of zaluzanin D **1** were synthesized *via* Michael addition of different amines to the α ,β-unsaturated γ -lactone functionality present in zaluzanin D. As shown in **Scheme 1**, a methanolic solution of chiral/achiral amine and zaluzanin D underwent Michael addition at room temperature to furnish various Michael adducts of zaluzanin D, **3-22** (**Table 1**).^{11b} Michael addition of chiral amine (*S*)-(-)- α methylbenzylamine to zaluzanin D furnished a mixture of two products, compound **3** and its corresponding deacetylated product **4** (entry 1, **Table 1**) which were isolated by flash chromatography. The formation of deacetylated product **4** may be due to the *in situ* formation of zaluzanin C which in turn formed due to the basicity of amine used in the Michael addition.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of Michael adducts of zaluzanin D 1.

Addition of the amine to zaluzanin D was found to be diastereoselective, and the stereochemistry of C-11 in compound **3** was assigned¹² as α by its NOESY experiment. In the NOESY spectra of compound **3**, correlations were observed between 6 β -H and 11 β -H. Also, 5 α -H showed a correlation with 7 α -H (**Figure 6**).



Figure 6. NOE correlations of compound 3.

Similarly, the reaction of zaluzanin D 1 with (R)-(+)- α -methylbenzylamine resulted in the formation of compounds 5 and 6. The reaction of zaluzanin D 1 with (S)- and (R)-1-(1-

naphthyl) ethylamine also furnished of compounds 7, 8 and 9, 10 respectively (entries 3 and 4, **Table 1**). However, reaction with (R)- and (S)-1-cyclohexylethylamine furnished the deacetylated product only (compounds 11 and 12, entries 5 and 6, Table 1). Next, we carried out the reaction of zaluzanin D 1 with various six and five-membered cyclic amines, which furnished corresponding C-N derivatives of zaluzanin D 1 (entries 7-11, Table 1). 4-Hydroxypiperidine and morpholine on reaction with zaluzanin D 1 yielded acetylated products (13 and 17) and deacetylated products (14 and 18), respectively (entries 7 and 9, respectively, **Table 1**). An interesting result was obtained in case of piperazine (entry 9, Table 1), which furnished acetylated dimer 15 and mono deacetylated dimer 16 with two new C-N bonds on both sides of piperazine. However, pyrrolidine and piperidine resulted in the formation of deacetylated products only (19 and 20, respectively) (entries 10 and 11, **Table 1**). Further, we tried to form a C-N bond of zaluzanin D 1 with amino acid methyl ester hydrochlorides (entries 12 and 13, **Table 1**). In this case, K_2CO_3 was used as a base for in situ generation of the free amine, which on reaction with zaluzanin D 1 furnished the deacetylated product 21. However, in case of valine methyl ester hydrochloride, excess use of K_2CO_3 resulted in the C-O bond formed product 22.



Table 1. Michael adducts of zaluzanin D synthesized using various amines.





3.4.2.2. Synthesis of Heck arylated analogs of zaluzanin D using different aryl iodides (23-34)

Although several structural modifications such as Michael addition, reduction, cyclopropanation of the double bond, oxidation of hydroxyl group of sesquiterpene lactones have been made in literature, transition metal catalyzed cross coupling reactions of sesquiterpene lactones were less explored.¹³ We presumed that Heck arylation of α , β -unsaturated γ -lactone core of zaluzanin D would provide additional information on structure-activity data of zaluzanin D. As shown in **Scheme 2**, Heck arylation analogs (**23**-**34**) of zaluzanin D were synthesized^{11b} using the standard Heck coupling conditions (5 mol% Pd(OAc)₂, Et₃N in DMF at 80 °C) and readily available aryl iodides.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of Heck analogs of zaluzanin D 1.

It should be mentioned here that anylation preferred to take place at the exo methylene of α , β -unsaturated γ -lactone substructure over the other two isolated exo methylene groups present in zaluzanin D and resulted in the exclusive formation of *E*-olefin¹⁴ containing products only (**Table 2**).

Entry	Substrate	Aryl iodide	Product
1	zaluzanin D	CH ₃	
2	zaluzanin D	CF ₃	
3	zaluzanin D	CI	
4	zaluzanin D	O2N OCH3	
5	zaluzanin D	CH ₃ NO ₂	$AcO \rightarrow \begin{array}{c} H \\ O \\ O \\ O \\$
6	zaluzanin D	NHCOCH ₃ CF ₃	$AcO \longrightarrow H \longrightarrow CH_3$
7	zaluzanin D	CH3	$AcO \xrightarrow{H}_{H} \xrightarrow{H}_{O} \xrightarrow{H}_{$

 Table 2. Heck analogs of zaluzanin D synthesized using various aryl iodides.


3.4.3. Biology

3.4.3.1. In vitro anticancer activities of Michael adducts of zaluzanin D (3-22)

Since zaluzanin D **1** had exhibited anticancer activity against human breast cancer cell line (**Table 3**), we screened all the synthesized compounds for their antiproliferative activity against breast cancer cell line MCF7 and selected compounds **1**, **9**, **10** and **14** against MDA-MB-231. Cells were treated with different concentrations (0–100 μ M) of the synthesized compounds for 48 h and then MTT assay was performed as described in the experimental section. Among these compounds **1**, **9**, **10** and **14** showed activity (IC₅₀<50 μ M) against MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 (**Figure 5** and **Table 3**). Among these four compounds, (*R*)-1-(1-naphthyl) ethylamine adducts of zaluzanin D and C (*i.e.*, **9** and **10**) were found to show most potent antiproliferative effect (IC₅₀ 30 μ M and 18.8 μ M, respectively) against MCF7 cells as compared to other synthesized compounds. Interestingly, compound **9** was found to possess

more potent antiproliferative activity in highly metastatic MDA-MB-231 cell line (IC₅₀ 13.33 μ M) as compared to MCF7 (IC₅₀ 30 μ M) suggesting that **9** could be more effective in inducing cell death in higher grades of breast cancer. However, it also has potent cytotoxic effect on the normal breast epithelial MCF10A cells suggesting that compound **9** could not be useful for therapeutic purpose (**Figure 5c** and **Table 3**). Interestingly, compound **10** has the minimal cytotoxic effect against the MCF10A suggesting that it could be a better candidate compound for further designing the small molecule to chemotherapy (**Figure 5c** and **Table 3**). The *in vitro* anticancer activities of all the synthesized Michael adducts are depicted in **Table 3**.

Compound	IC_{50} in μM (mean \pm sd) against					
	MCF7	MCF7 MDA-MB-231				
1 (zaluzanin D)	53.7 ± 4.11	34.17 ± 4.48	29.6 <u>+</u> 0.84			
2 (zaluzanin C)	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
3	71.2 ± 0.9	Not tested	Not tested			
4	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
5	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
6	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
7	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
8	75.8 ± 3	Not tested	Not tested			
9	30 ± 0.7	13.33 ± 1.53	42 <u>+</u> 4.1			
10	18.83 ± 1.7	23 ± 1	>100			
11	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
12	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
13	56.1 ± 0.9	Not tested	Not tested			
14	40 ± 2.16	25 ± 2.3	>50			
15	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
16	>100	Not tested	Not tested			
17	>100	Not tested	Not tested			

Table 3. In vitro anticancer activities of Michael adducts of zaluzanin D (3-22).

18 >100 Not tested	Not tested
19 >100 Not tested	Not tested
20 >100 Not tested	Not tested
21 >100 Not tested	Not tested
22 >100 Not tested	Not tested



Figure 5. Effect of selected compounds on growth of breast cancer cell lines. Breast cancer cell line (a) MCF7 (b) MDA-MB-231 and (c) MCF10A were treated with different concentrations of compounds for 48 h, and then MTT assay was performed as described in experimental section. MTT assay was repeated three times and mean values were plotted with standard deviation.

To understand the inhibition of proliferation of cancer cells by these compounds, we have performed the FACS as described in the experimental section. Results showed that treatment of MCF7 cells with **9** and **10** significantly increased the apoptotic populations while

compound **1** and **14** induced apoptosis to a lesser extent indicating that compounds **9** and **10** execute their antiproliferative activity through induction of apoptosis (**Figure 6a**). To validate the apoptotic induction by these two compounds (**9** and **10**), we then checked fragmentation profile of genomic DNA following their treatment.¹⁵ Results demonstrated that the presence of substantial fragmented DNA ladder following treatment of MCF7 cells with these compounds (**Figure 6b**). Similar results were also observed *in vivo* upon staining the DNA with Hoechst (**Figure 6c**). Results taken together revealed that compounds **9** and **10** are the potent inducer of apoptosis and thereby inhibit the cancer cells proliferation. We then checked the apoptotic pathway and found that **9** and **10** induced apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis through cleavage of caspase 9 (**Figure 6d**).¹⁶⁻¹⁷ Collectively, these results suggest that **9** and **10** may function as anticancer agents through induction of intrinsic apoptosis.



Figure 6. Compound 9 and 10 promote apoptosis in cancer cell line. (a) MCF7 cells were treated with 30 μ M of 9, and 20 μ M of 10 for 24 h and cells were then collected for FACS analysis as mentioned in material and methods. The experiment was repeated three times

and mean of the sub-G1 population was plotted. (b) Compound **9** and **10** promoted DNA fragmentation of MCF7 cells. MCF7 cells were either vehicle-treated (DMSO) or 30 μ M of **9** or 20 μ M of **10** for 24 h. Cells were then collected, and fragmented DNA was isolated as described in the experimental section. (c) Immunofluorescence data depicts the fragmentation of genomic DNA following treatment of Compound **9** and **10** clearly show fragmented DNA (white arrows) and stressed tubulin morphology (orange arrows). Red: tubulin, blur: Hoechst. (d) Compound **9** and **10** induce apoptosis through intrinsic pathway. MCF7 cells were treated with either vehicle-treated (DMSO) or 30 μ M of **9** or 20 μ M of **10** for 24 h. Cells were then collected, lysed, and whole cell protein extracts were immunoblotted for indicated proteins.

3.4.3.2. In vitro anticancer activities of Heck analogs of zaluzanin D (23-34)

All the synthesized Heck analogs 23-34 were assayed for their antiproliferative activity against breast cancer cell line MCF7 as described in experimental section. Among all the synthesized Heck analogs, three analogs 29, 31 and 32 exhibited good antiproliferative activity with IC₅₀ values of 74 μ M, 37 μ M and 36.5 μ M, respectively. The *in vitro* anticancer activities of all the synthesized Heck analogs are shown in Table 4.

Compound	IC ₅₀ in μM against MCF7
23	>100
24	>100
25	>100
26	>100
27	>100
28	>100
29	74
30	>100
31	37
32	36.5
33	>100
34	>100

Tahle /	l In	vitro	anticancer	activities	of Heck	analogs	of	zahizanin	D	(23_34)	۱
Table 4	• <i>III</i>	viiro	anticancer	activities	OI HECK	analogs	01.2	Zaiuzaiiiii	D	(23-34)).

3.5. CONCLUSION

In summary, we have isolated two guaianolide class of sesquiterpene lactones, zaluzanin D 1 and zaluzanin C 2 from the leaves of V. arborea. A library of several diverse Michael adducts (3-22) and Heck arylation analogs (23-34) of zaluzanin D 1 have been synthesized by reacting with various amines and aryl iodides, respectively. All the new functionalized molecules were assayed for their *in vitro* anticancer activities against human breast cancer cell lines MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 and selected compounds were checked in MCF10A. Isolated zaluzanin D 1 exhibited IC₅₀ values of 53.7 and 34.17 µM against MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines whereas zaluzanin C 2 was inactive to both the cell lines. Four Michael analogs (9, 10, 13 and 14) were found to possess potent anti-cancer activity as compared to other synthesized compounds. Out of these four compounds, compound 9 and 10 were found to exhibit potent antiproliferative effect against MCF7 cells. Compound 9 exhibited IC₅₀ values of 30 μ M and 13.33 μ M, whereas compound **10** exhibited IC₅₀ values of 18.83 µM and 23 µM against MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines, respectively. However, compound 10 has minimal cytotoxic effect against the normal breast MCF10A cells indicating that compound 10 could be a potential compound for the development of superior anticancer therapeutic compound. Further, amongst all the synthesized Heck analogs 23-34, two analogs 31 and 32 exhibited good antiproliferative activity with IC_{50} values of 37 and 36.5 μ M, respectively.

3.6. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

Zaluzanin D (1):



Colorless solid; **m.p.:** 105-106 °C [reported¹⁰ 103-104 °C]; $R_f = 0.35$ (DCM); $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 23.5$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃) [reported¹⁰ +21.43 (c 0.28, CHCl₃)]; ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 6.22 (d, J = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 5.63-5.45 (m, 3H), 5.30 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (s, 2H), 4.07 (t, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.04-2.78 (m, 3H), 2.58-2.35 (m, 2H), 2.34-2.15 (m, 2H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.90-1.72 (m, 1H), 1.58-1.45 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (50 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.8, 170.0, 148.1, 147.8, 139.6,

120.4, 114.4, 113.6, 83.8, 74.7, 50.3, 45.3, 44.6, 36.5, 34.6, 30.6, 21.3; **LC-MS (ESI):** *m/z* at 311.06 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI)** calcd for C₁₇H₂₁O₄ [M+H]⁺ 289.1434, found 289.1433. **Zaluzanin C (2):**



Brown viscous liquid; $R_f = 0.30$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:19); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +45.4 (*c* 1, CHCl₃) [reported¹⁰ +50 (c 0.1, CHCl₃)]; ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 6.22 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 5.50 (d, J = 3.1 Hz, 1H), 5.46 (s, 1H), 5.33 (s, 1H), 5.01 (s, 1H), 4.95 (s, 1H), 4.58 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 4.11 (t, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 2.96-2.88 (m, 1H), 2.87-2.81 (m, 1H), 2.54-2.46 (m, 1H), 2.37-2.21 (m, 3H), 2.22-2.12 (m, 1H), 1.82-1.73 (m, 1H), 1.52-1.41 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.1, 153.0, 148.0, 139.7, 120.3, 114.4, 111.3, 83.9, 73.6, 49.9, 45.6, 44.2, 39.0, 34.2, 30.6; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₁₅H₁₉O₃ [M+H]⁺ 247.1329, found 247.1329.

General procedure for the synthesis of amino derivatives of zaluzanin D 1 (3-22):

Zaluzanin D 1 (1 equiv.) was dissolved in dry MeOH (5 mL) and then amine (1.5 equiv.) was added to it and stirred at rt for overnight under argon. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was evaporated to dryness and the residue was purified using CombiFlash $R_{\rm f}$ 200*i* with UV/VIS and ELSD, Isco Teledyne Inc. using RediSep® column (12 g, SiO₂) and eluted with EtOAc-petroleum ether (0 \rightarrow 70%, gradient) to furnish the pure amino derivatives 3-22.

General procedure for the synthesis of Heck arylated analogs of zaluzanin D 1 (23-34)

To a mixture of aryl halide (3 equiv.) and palladium (II) acetate (5 mol%) in DMF was added zaluzanin D (1 equiv.) and stirred at room temperature for 10 min and then triethylamine (7 equiv.) was added to the reaction mixture and heated at 80 °C under air for 24 h. After completion of the reaction (TLC), the reaction mixture was allowed to cool to room temperature, water (2 mL) was added, and the resultant mixture was extracted with EtOAc (5 mL X 3). The organic layers were dried over Na₂SO₄ and concentrated under reduced pressure and then purified using CombiFlash $R_f 200i$ with UV/VIS and ELSD, Isco Teledyne Inc. using RediSep® column (12 g, SiO₂) and eluted with EtOAc-petroleum ether (0 \rightarrow 70%, gradient) which furnished the pure aryl derivatives of zaluzanin D (**23-34**).

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxo-3-((((*S*)-1-phenylethyl)amino)methyl) dodecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl-acetate (3):



Dark brown viscous liquid (62%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +25.3 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.36-7.32 (m, 1H), 7.32-7.28 (m, 3H), 7.27-7.22 (m, 1H), 5.57-5.51 (m, 1H), 5.39 (t, J = 2.1 Hz, 1H), 5.26 (t, J = 2.1 Hz, 1H), 4.90 (s, 2H), 4.01 (t, J = 9.6 Hz, 1 H), 3.96 (s, 1H), 3.77 (q, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 2.93-2.85 (m, 2H), 2.84-2.77 (m, 1H), 2.49-2.36 (m, 4H), 2.30-2.20 (m, 1H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.04 (s, 1H), 1.97-1.88 (m, 1H), 1.86-1.74 (m, 2H), 1.36 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.8, 170.8, 148.6, 148.5, 144.9, 128.6, 127.2, 126.8, 113.6, 113.2, 84.3, 74.8, 58.4, 50.0, 47.3, 45.0, 44.5, 44.1, 36.4, 36.1, 32.1, 29.8, 24.5, 21.3; LCMS (ESI): m/z 432.05 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₅H₃₂O₄N [M+H]⁺ 410.2326, found 410.2328.

(3R,3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-((((S)-1-phenylethyl)amino) methyl)decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (4):



Dark brown viscous liquid (32%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +21.1 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.36-7.35 (m, 2H), 7.34 (s, 1H), 7.32-7.30 (m, 2H), 5.36 (t, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 5.29 (t, J = 2.3 Hz, 1H), 4.54 (tt, J = 7.3, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.18 (q, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 4.04 (t, J = 9.6 Hz, 1H), 3.77 (q, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.93-2.75 (m, 3H), 2.48-2.35 (m, 3H), 2.34-2.27 (m, 1H), 2.26-2.16 (m, 1H), 1.96-1.89 (m, 1H), 1.89-1.85 (m, 4H), 1.84-1.77 (m, 1H), 1.78-1.68 (m, 1H), 1.36 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.9, 153.4, 148.8, 144.9, 128.8, 128.6, 127.8, 126.8, 126.2, 113.6, 110.9, 84.4, 73.5, 58.4, 51.1, 47.2, 45.4, 44.5, 43.7, 38.9, 35.9, 29.8, 24.5, 23.3; LCMS (ESI): m/z 390.05 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₃₀O₃N [M+H]⁺ 368.2220, found 368.2220.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxo-3-((((*R*)-1-phenyl ethyl)amino)methyl) dodecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl-acetate (5):



Brown viscous liquid (66%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 2:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +34.4 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.37-7.22 (m, 5H), 5.59-548 (m, 1H), 5.40 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 5.26 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 4.90 (s, 2 H), 4.00 (t, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (q, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.96-2.75 (m, 2H), 2.70 (s, 1H), 2.67 (s, 1H), 2.55-2.28 (m, 3H), 2.26-2.14 (m, 1H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.05-1.96 (m, 3H), 1.79 (td, J = 14.2, 6.4 Hz, 1H), 1.56 (d, J = 6.3 Hz, 1H), 1.35 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.6, 170.8, 148.5, 148.3, 144.3, 128.6, 127.2, 126.7, 113.6, 113.2, 84.2, 74.7, 58.7, 49.9, 47.2, 45.9, 45.7, 44.0, 36.3, 36.1, 32.4, 29.7, 23.9, 21.3; LCMS (ESI): m/z 432.05 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₅H₃₂O₄N [M+H]⁺ 410.2326, found 410.2329.

(3R,3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-((((R)-1-phenylethyl)amino) methyl)decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (6):



Brown viscous liquid (28%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26} +33.1$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.36-7.26 (m, 5H), 5.37 (t, J = 1.9 Hz, 1H), 5.29 (t, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (s, 1H), 4.91 (s, 1H), 4.59-4.48 (m, 1H), 4.03 (t, J = 9.4 Hz, 1H), 3.75 (q, J = 6.6 Hz, 1H), 2.93-2.75 (m, 2H), 2.69 (s, 1H), 2.66 (s, 1H), 2.51-2.27 (m, 3H), 2.00-1.96 (m, 6H), 1.80-1.66 (m, 1H), 1.62-1.47 (m, 1H), 1.35 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.8, 153.3, 148.7, 144.6, 128.6, 127.2, 126.7, 113.7, 110.9, 84.3, 73.5, 58.7, 49.6, 47.3, 46.3, 45.8, 43.6, 38.8, 35.9, 32.4, 29.7, 24.0; LCMS (ESI): m/z 390.07 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₃₀O₃N [M+H]⁺ 368.2220, found 368.2208. (*3R*,3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-6,9-dimethylene-3-((((S)-1-(naphthalen-1-yl)ethyl)amino) methyl)-2-oxododecahydroazuleno[4,5-b]furan-8-yl acetate (7):



Dark brown viscous liquid (52%); $R_f = 0.60$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +20.4 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.29 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.94-7.83 (m, 1H), 7.76 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.55-7.42 (m, 3H), 5.54 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 5.40 (s, 1H), 5.26 (s, 1H), 4.86 (s, 2H), 4.72-4.52 (m, 1H), 3.98 (t, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.03 (d, J = 11.2 Hz, 2H), 2.84-2.72 (m, 2H), 2.60-2.33 (m, 4H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 1.85-1.66 (m, 3H), 1.53 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 3H), 1.18-1.04 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.8, 170.9, 148.8, 148.5, 143.2, 140.5, 134.0, 130.8, 129.1, 127.4, 126.1, 125.7, 125.5, 123.0, 121.5, 113.4, 113.0, 84.3, 74.8, 53.9, 49.9, 48.0, 46.6, 45.5, 45.0, 43.9, 36.4, 32.5, 24.8, 23.3, 21.4; LCMS (ESI): m/z 482.09 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₉H₃₄O₄N [M+H]⁺ 460.2482, found 460.2487.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-((((*S*)-1-(naphthalene-1-yl) ethyl)amino)methyl)decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*] furan-2(3*H*)-one (8):



Dark brown viscous liquid (27%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +35.1 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.22 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.90-7.84 (m, 1H), 7.75 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.64 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.54-7.45 (m, 3H), 5.35 (s, 1H), 5.28 (s, 1H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 4.86 (s, 1H), 4.65 (q, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.05 - 3.95 (m, 1H), 2.85 (dd, J = 12.4, 4.1, Hz, 1H), 2.77-2.65 (m, 3H), 2.43-2.22 (m, 4H), 2.21-2.13 (m, 1H), 2.11-2.01 (m, 1H), 1.91-1.82 (m, 1H), 1.83-1.65 (m, 3H), 1.52 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.9, 153.4, 148.9, 140.4, 134.1, 131.5, 129.0, 127.4, 125.8, 125.7, 125.4, 123.4, 123.0, 113.5, 110.8, 84.3, 73.6, 53.9, 49.6, 47.9, 46.0, 45.2, 43.5, 38.8, 36.1, 32.5, 23.3; LCMS (ESI): m/z 440.14 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₇H₃₂O₃N [M+H]⁺ 418.2377, found 418.2373.

(3R,3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-6,9-dimethylene-3-((((R)-1-(naphthalen-1-yl)ethyl)amino) methyl)-2-oxododecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (9):



Pale yellow viscous liquid (57%); $R_f = 0.70$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 30.9$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.29 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.87 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1 H), 7.75 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (d, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 7.55-7.40 (m, 3H), 5.54 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 5.40 (s, 1H), 5.27 (s, 1H), 4.88-4.85 (m, 2H), 4.60 (q, J = 6.3 Hz, 1H), 3.98 (t, J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 3.02 (dd, J = 12.2, 2.8 Hz, 1H), 2.87-2.69 (m, 2H), 2.52 (dd, J = 12.2, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 2.48-2.40 (m, 1H), 2.40-2.25 (m, 3H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 1.84-1.62 (m, 3H), 1.52 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3H), 1.19-1.07 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.7, 170.8, 148.6, 148.4, 143.1, 140.3, 133.9, 130.7, 129.0, 127.2, 126.0, 125.6, 125.4, 122.9, 121.4, 113.3, 112.9, 84.1, 74.7, 53.8, 49.8, 47.9, 46.4, 45.4, 44.9, 43.8, 36.3, 32.3, 24.7, 23.1, 21.2; LCMS (ESI): m/z 482.05 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₉H₃₄O₄N [M+H]⁺ 460.2482, found 460.2487. (3*R*,3aS,6a*R*,8S,9a*R*,9bS)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-((((*R*)-1-(naphthalen-1-yl)ethyl) amino)methyl)decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*] furan-2(3H)-one (10):



Pale yellow viscous liquid (34%); $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 24.6$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.24 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.89-7.85 (m, 1H), 7.75 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.64 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 7.53-7.46 (m, 3H), 5.35 (s, 1H), 5.28 (s, 1H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 4.86 (s, 1H), 4.66 (q, J = 6.4 Hz, 1H), 4.53 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.04-3.97 (m, 1H), 2.87 (dd, J = 12.4, 4.1 Hz, 1H), 2.76-2.67 (m, 3H), 2.43-2.26 (m, 4H), 2.20-2.14 (m, 1H), 2.06 (dq, J = 11.9, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 1.90-1.82 (m, 1H), 1.83-1.66 (m, 3H), 1.53 (d, J = 6.4 Hz, 3H), 1.30-1.16 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.8, 153.3, 148.7, 140.3, 134.0, 131.4, 128.9, 127.3, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 84.2, 76.7, 73.5, 125.7, 125.6, 125.3, 123.2, 122.9, 113.4, 110.6, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2, 120.2,

53.8, 49.5, 47.8, 45.9, 45.0, 43.4, 38.7, 36.0, 32.3, 23.2; **LCMS (ESI):** *m/z* 440.02 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI)** calcd for C₂₇H₃₂O₃N [M+H]⁺ 418.2377, found 418.2379.

(3R,3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-3-((((R)-1-cyclohexylethyl)amino)methyl)-8-hydroxy-6,9dimethylenedecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (11):



Brown viscous liquid (88%); $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_D^{24} + 17.5$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.34 (s, 1H), 5.31 (s, 1H), 4.99-4.89 (m, 2H), 4.54 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 4.23-4.08 (m, 1H), 3.42 (dd, J = 11.2, 3.4 Hz, 1H), 2.97-2.73 (m, 4H), 2.55-2.45 (m, 1H), 2.36-2.27 (m, 1H), 2.23-2.07 (m, 2H), 2.04-2.01 (m, 5H), 1.84-1.65 (m, 6H), 1.65-1.51 (m, 2H), 1.49-1.34 (m, 2H), 1.20 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H), 1.10-1.01 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 178.3, 176.1, 153.0, 148.2, 114.0, 111.1, 85.1, 73.4, 59.7, 49.4, 46.5, 45.0, 44.5, 43.6, 40.5, 38.7, 35.3, 31.5, 29.7, 29.5, 29.3, 27.2, 26.2, 26.1, 25.9, 21.7, 14.0; LCMS (ESI): m/z 396.15 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₃₆O₃N [M+H]⁺ 374.2690, found 374.2685.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((((*S*)-1-cyclohexylethyl)amino)methyl)-8-hydroxy-6,9dimethylenedecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (12):



Dark brown viscous liquid (86%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +25.9 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.38-5.26 (m, 2H), 4.9-4.91 (m, 2H), 4.55 (t, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (t, J = 9.5 Hz, 1H), 3.19-3.15 (m, 1H), 2.97-2.74 (m, 4H), 2.54-2.47 (m, 1H), 2.38-2.28 (m, 1H), 2.23-2.10 (m, 2H), 2.05-1.96 (m, 5H), 1.80-1.65 (m, 6H), 1.59-1.52 (m, 1H), 1.47-1.36 (m, 2H), 1.30-1.27 (m, 1H), 1.14 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3H), 1.09-1.00 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.8, 176.0, 153.1, 148.4, 113.9, 111.0, 84.9, 77.3, 77.0, 76.8, 73.5, 58.0, 49.4, 46.3, 45.0, 43.6, 43.3, 40.9, 38.7, 35.6, 31.9, 29.7, 27.3, 26.3, 26.2,

26.0, 21.7, 14.3; **LCMS (ESI):** *m*/*z* 396.13 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI)** calcd for C₂₃H₃₆O₃N [M+H]⁺ 374.2690, found 374.2693.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((4-hydroxypiperidin-1-yl)methyl)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxo dodecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (13):



Pale yellow viscous liquid (73%); $R_f = 0.50$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:9); $[\alpha]_D^{25} + 63.2$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_H 5.54$ (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 5.40 (m, 1H), 5.27 (m, 1H), 4.93-4.89 (m, 2H), 4.01 (t, J = 9.4 Hz, 1H), 3.74-3.65 (m, 1H), 2.93 (q, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 2.84-2.74 (m, 3H), 2.74-2.66 (m, 1H), 2.64-2.56 (m, 1H), 2.52-2.31 (m, 4H), 2.31-2.15 (m, 3H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.09-2.02 (m, 1H), 1.93-1.76 (m, 4H), 1.64-1.48 (m, 2H), 1.42-1.32 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.5, 170.9, 148.8, 148.4, 113.5, 113.3, 83.9, 74.8, 67.9, 57.6, 52.2, 50.9, 50.2, 47.9, 45.3, 44.2, 36.4, 36.3, 34.6, 34.3, 32.8, 21.4; LCMS (ESI): m/z412.07 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₂H₃₂O₅N [M+H]⁺ 390.2275, found 390.2272. (3*R*,3aS,6a*R*,8S,9a*R*,9bS)-8-hydroxy-3-((4-hydroxypiperidin-1-yl)methyl)-6,9-

dimethylenedecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (14):



Pale yellow viscous liquid (20%); $R_f = 0.40$ (MeOH-DCM, 1:9); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +61.8 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃OD) δ_H 5.28-5.23 (m, 2H), 5.01-4.88 (m, 1H), 4.56-4.45 (m, 1H), 4.17-4.06 (m, 1H), 3.66-3.53 (m, 1H), 3.20-3.10 (m, 1H), 3.00-2.88 (m, 2H), 2.86-2.79 (m, 2H), 2.77-2.70 (m, 2H), 2.63-2.53 (m, 2H), 2.52-2.46 (m, 1H), 2.31-2.20 (m, 4H), 2.17-2.03 (m, 2H), 1.96-1.78 (m, 3H), 1.73-1.66 (m, 1H), 1.58-1.49 (m, 2H), 1.45-1.37 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 178.7, 153.3, 149.4, 112.0, 108.2, 84.2, 72.4, 66.9, 56.9, 51.8, 50.8, 48.9, 44.8, 42.9, 38.0, 35.5, 33.6, 33.5, 32.2; LCMS (ESI): *m*/*z* 370.12 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₀H₃₀O₄N [M+H]⁺ 348.2169, found 348.2156. (3R,3aS,3'R,3a'S,6aR,6a'R,8S,8'S,9aR,9bS,9a'R,9b'S)-(piperazine-1,4diylbis(methylene))bis(6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododeca-hydro-azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-3,8-diyl) diacetate (15):



Pale yellow viscous liquid (26%); $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +67.7 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.61-5.49 (m, 2H), 5.72-5.39 (m, 2H), 5.29-5.26 (m, 2H), 4.95-4.90 (m, 4H), 4.01 (t, J = 9.5 Hz, 2H), 2.96-2.74 (m, 6H), 2.67-2.58 (m, 2H), 2.56-2.38 (m, 14H), 2.33-2.27 (m, 2H), 2.26-2.16 (m, 2H), 2.11 (s, 6H), 2.04-1.96 (m, 2H), 1.88-1.74 (m, 2H), 1.46-1.38 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.4, 170.9, 148.8, 148.4, 113.5, 113.4, 83.9, 74.8, 57.6, 57.6, 53.5, 53.5, 50.1, 47.9, 47.9, 45.2, 44.2, 36.4, 36.3, 32.8, 21.4; LCMS (ESI): m/z 685.39 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₃₈H₅₁O₈N₂ [M+H]⁺ 663.3640, found 663.3637.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((4-(((3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-3-yl)methyl)piperazin-1-yl)methyl)6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododeca-hydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (16):



Pale yellow viscous liquid (15%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +69.0 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H **NMR (200 MHz, CDCl₃)** δ_H 5.58-5.52 (m, 1H), 5.42-5.37 (m, 2H), 5.32-5.26 (m, 2H), 4.97 (s, 1H), 4.94-4.91 (m, 2H), 4.56 (t, *J* = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 4.08-3.96 (m, 2H), 3.48-3.40 (m, 3H), 2.97-2.85 (m, 2H), 2.83-2.76 (m, 3H), 2.64-2.56 (m, 2H), 2.54-2.45 (m, 6H), 2.44-2.35 (m, 4H), 2.35-2.30 (m, 2H), 2.27-2.14 (m, 2H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.09-2.01 (m, 2H), 1.84-1.71 (m, 2H), 1.39-1.33 (m, 6H); ¹³C **NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃)** δ_C 177.4, 177.3, 170.8, 153.4, 148.9, 148.8, 148.4, 113.5, 113.5, 113.3, 111.0, 83.9, 83.8, 74.8, 73.6, 58.6, 57.6, 57.5, 53.5, 50.1, 49.8, 48.2, 47.8, 45.2, 44.1, 43.8, 38.9, 36.4, 36.2, 36.0, 32.8, 21.3, 8.3;

LCMS (ESI): m/z 643.38 (M+Na)⁺; **HRMS (ESI)** calcd for C₃₆H₄₉O₇N₂ [M+H]⁺ 621.3534, found 621.3508.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-6,9-dimethylene-3-(morpholinomethyl)-2-oxododecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (17):



Brown viscous liquid (84%); $R_f = 0.50$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +69.7 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.59-5.52 (m, 1H), 5.41 (m, 1H), 5.28 (m, 1H), 4.94-4.90 (m, 2H), 4.02 (t, J = 9.8 Hz, 1H), 3.73-3.64 (m, 4H), 2.97-2.89 (m, 1H), 2.84-2.76 (m, 2H), 2.65-2.58 (m, 1H), 2.53-2.40 (m, 7H), 2.39-2.32 (m, 1H), 2.23 (dq, J = 11.5, 3.4 Hz 1H), 2.11 (s, 3 H), 2.08-2.03 (m, 1 H), 1.81 (quint, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 1.40-1.29 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.1, 170.8, 148.6, 148.3, 113.5, 113.4, 83.7, 74.7, 66.9, 58.0, 54.0, 50.1, 47.8, 44.9, 44.1, 36.3, 36.1, 32.7, 21.3; LCMS (ESI): m/z 398.07 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₁H₃₀O₅N [M+H]⁺ 376.2118, found 376.2115.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-(morpholinomethyl)decahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (18):



Brown viscous liquid (14%); $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 7:3); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +66.1 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.39 (s, 1H), 5.31 (s, 1H), 4.97 (s, 1H), 4.93 (s, 1H), 4.56 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 4.05 (t, J = 9.5 Hz, 1H), 3.71-3.65 (m, 4H), 3.45 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 1H), 2.88 (q, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.83 - 2.76 (m, 2H), 2.64-2.57 (m, 1H), 2.53-2.41 (m, 5H), 2.37-2.32 (m, 2H), 2.24-2.18 (m, 1H), 2.08-2.02 (m, 1H), 1.81-1.71 (m, 1H), 1.38-1.32 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C ; 177.3, 153.3, 148.8, 113.5, 111.1, 83.8, 73.6, 66.9, 58.0, 54.1, 49.7, 48.2, 45.0, 43.7, 38.8, 35.9, 32.8; LCMS (ESI): m/z 356.06 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₄N [M+H]⁺ 334.2013, found 334.2013.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-(pyrrolidin-1-ylmethyl)deca hydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (19):



Brown viscous liquid (78%); $R_f = 0.20$ (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 42.0$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.39-5.26 (m, 2H), 5.00-4.88 (m, 2H), 4.14-3.95 (m, 1H), 3.55-3.36 (m, 1H), 2.93-2.78 (m, 4H), 2.76-2.68 (m, 1H), 2.66-2.59 (m, 2H), 2.54-2.44 (m, 2H), 2.38-2.21 (m, 3H), 2.09-1.99 (m, 2H), 1.99-1.92 (m, 1H), 1.91-1.84 (m, 1H), 1.82-1.77 (m, 2H), 1.76-1.70 (m, 1H), 1.52 (d, J = 6.8 Hz, 1H), 1.42-1.30 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.3, 153.3, 148.9, 113.4, 110.8, 83.9, 73.5, 54.5, 54.4, 49.6, 47.7, 46.3, 43.5, 38.8, 36.2, 32.6, 23.5; LCMS (ESI): m/z 318.18 (M+H)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₁₉H₂₈O₃N [M+H]⁺ 318.2064, found 318.2060.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-3-(piperidin-1-ylmethyl)deca hydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (20):



Dark brown viscous liquid (66%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc); $[\alpha]_D^{26} + 46.1$ (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_H 5.37$ (d, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 5.30 (d, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.96 (s, 1H), 4.93 (s, 1H), 4.55 (dt, J = 7.3, 1.4, Hz, 1H), 4.06 (dt, J = 9.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 2.92-2.75 (m, 3H), 2.70-2.63 (m, 1H), 2.61-2.53 (m, 3H), 2.52-2.46 (m, 3H), 2.38-2.29 (m, 2H), 2.22-2.10 (m, 1H), 2.08-1.98 (m, 2H), 1.79-1.71 (m, 1H), 1.65-1.57 (m, 4H), 1.50-1.42 (m, 2H), 1.38-1.32 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.6, 153.4, 149.0, 113.5, 110.9, 84.0, 73.6, 57.7, 54.6, 49.7, 48.3, 44.7, 43.6, 38.8, 36.1, 32.5, 29.8, 25.3, 23.8; LCMS (ESI): *m/z* 354.14 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₀H₃₀O₃N [M+H]⁺ 332.2220, found 332.2219. Methyl(((3*R*,3aS,6a*R*,8S,9a*R*,9bS)-8-hydroxy-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-3-yl)methyl)-*L*-leucinate (21):



Yellow viscous liquid (82%); $R_f = 0.30$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{25}$ +29.8 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.37 (s, 1H), 5.30 (s, 1H), 4.97 (s, 1H), 4.93 (s, 1H), 4.55 (t, *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.05 (t, *J* = 9.6 Hz, 1H), 3.72 (s, 3H), 3.30 (t, *J* = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 2.91-2.84 (m, 2H), 2.84-2.77 (m, 1H), 2.72 (dd, *J* = 11.9, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 2.50 (td, *J* = 13.3, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 2.44-2.26 (m, 3H), 2.26-2.11 (m, 2H), 2.06-1.98 (m, 1H), 1.79-1.67 (m, 2H), 1.43-1.28 (m, 2H), 1.53-1.43 (m, 2H), 0.94-0.88 (m, 6H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 177.4, 176.1, 153.4, 148.8, 113.7, 111.1, 84.1, 73.6, 60.7, 51.8, 49.7, 48.0, 46.1, 46.0, 43.7, 42.6, 38.9, 35.9, 32.5, 25.0, 22.8, 22.3; LCMS (ESI): *m*/*z* 414.27 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₂H₃₄O₅N [M+H]⁺ 392.2431, found 392.2434.

(3*R*,3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-hydroxy-3-(methoxymethyl)-6,9-dimethylenedecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-2(3*H*)-one (22):



Yellow viscous liquid (87%); $R_f = 0.40$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:1); $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +62.4 (*c* 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 5.38 (m, 1H), 5.30 (m, 1H), 4.97 (m, 1H), 4.93 (m, 1H), 4.55 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 4.05 (t, J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 3.73-3.68 (m, 1H), 3.63 (dd, J = 9.6, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 3.37 (s, 3H), 2.93-2.80 (m, 2H), 2.51 (td, J = 12.8, 4.6 Hz, 1H), 2.42-2.29 (m, 3H), 2.24-2.16 (m, 1H), 2.09-2.01 (m, 1H), 1.80-1.71 (m, 1H), 1.42-1.28 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 176.1, 153.4, 148.9, 113.7, 110.9, 84.1, 73.6, 68.9, 59.4, 49.5, 48.1, 45.1, 43.6, 38.9, 36.2, 32.6; LCMS (ESI): m/z 300.99 (M+Na)⁺; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₁₆H₂₂O₄Na [M+Na]⁺ 301.1410, found 301.1398.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((*E*)-4-methylbenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (23):



Brown viscous liquid (48%); $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.63 (d, J = 2.7 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 7.24 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 5.61 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 1H), 5.56 (s, 1H), 5.33 (s, 1H), 5.01 (s, 1H), 4.94 (s, 1H), 4.21 (dd, J = 9.9,

8.1 Hz, 1H), 3.41 (td, J = 7.4, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 3.03 (q, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.95-2.83 (m, 1H), 2.49-2.44 (m, 1H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 2.37-2.29 (m, 2H), 2.21-2.15 (m, 1H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 1.89-1.81 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_{\rm C}$ 171.8, 170.9, 148.0, 147.5, 139.9, 138.1, 131.0, 129.7, 129.3, 128.4, 114.7, 113.8, 83.7, 74.7, 50.6, 45.2, 43.5, 36.7, 33.3, 28.4, 21.5, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₄H₂₆O₄Na [M+Na]⁺ 401.1723, found 401.1720.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxo-3-((*E*)-3-(trifluoromethyl)benzylidene) dodecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (24):



Brown viscous liquid (53%); $R_f = 0.42$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.67-7.61 (m, 3H), 7.57-7.54 (m, 2H), 5.63-5.56 (m, 1H), 5.56-5.53 (m, 1H), 5.35-5.31 (m, 1H), 5.01 (s, 1H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 4.23 (dd, J = 10.4, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 3.42 (td, J = 7.5, 3.8 Hz, 1H), 3.03 (q, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 2.91-2.82 (m, 1H), 2.43 (dt, J = 14.2, 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.34-2.21 (m, 3H), 2.19-2.13 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.87-1.78 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.9, 170.8, 147.9, 146.9, 135.9, 134.7, 132.8, 131.7, 129.2, 128.6, 125.9, 125.9, 122.4, 115.1, 114.2, 83.6, 74.6, 50.6, 45.3, 43.3, 36.7, 32.3, 28.1, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₄H₂₃O₄F₃Na [M+Na]⁺ 455.1441, found 455.1436.

(3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-3-((*E*)-4-chlorobenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (25):



Brown viscous liquid (64%); $R_f = 0.42$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.60-7.54 (m, 1H), 7.39 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.31 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 5.59 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 1H), 5.53 (s, 1H), 5.32 (s, 1H), 4.99 (s, 1H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 4.24-4.17 (m, 1H), 3.39-3.30 (m, 1H), 3.01 (q, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.85 (t, J = 9.3 Hz, 1H), 2.48-2.38 (m, 1H), 2.36-2.26 (m, 2H), 2.20-2.14 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.87-1.77 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 171.3, 170.8, 147.9, 147.2, 136.5, 135.4, 132.4, 130.8, 130.3, 128.9, 115.0, 114.1, 83.5,

74.6, 50.6, 45.2, 43.4, 36.7, 32.9, 28.3, 21.3; **HRMS (ESI)** calcd for C₂₃H₂₃O₄ClNa [M+Na]⁺ 421.1177, found 421.1171.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((*E*)-2-methoxy-6-nitrobenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxodo decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (26):



Brown viscous liquid (42%); $R_f = 0.37$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.67 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.42 (t, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.15 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.86 (brs, 1H), 5.56 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 5.45 (s, 1H), 5.27 (s, 1H), 4.98 (s, 2H), 4.10 (t, J = 9.5 Hz, 1H), 3.83 (s, 3H), 3.11-3.01 (m, 1H), 2.97 (q, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.90-2.82 (m, 1H), 2.57-2.50 (m, 1H), 2.48-2.36 (m, 2H), 2.28-2.19 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.86-1.78 (m, 1H), 1.64-1.53 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.9, 170.9, 148.6, 148.0, 147.8, 132.4, 129.3, 122.7, 119.7, 116.4, 115.4, 114.3, 113.7, 83.1, 74.7, 56.5, 50.3, 46.4, 44.7, 36.5, 34.3, 30.6, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₄H₂₅O₇NNa [M+Na]⁺ 462.1523, found 462.1521. (3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-3-((*E*)-4-methyl-3-nitrobenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxodo decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (27):



Light brown semi solid (54%); $R_f = 0.56$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.00 (s, 1H), 7.57 (d, J = 3.4 Hz, 1H), 7.53-7.48 (m, 1H), 7.41 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 5.63-5.55 (m, 1H), 5.55-5.51 (m, 1H), 5.32 (t, J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 5.02 (s, 1H), 4.96 (s, 1H), 4.23 (dd, J = 10.4, 7.7 Hz, 1H), 3.47-3.39 (m, 1H), 3.10-2.94 (m, 1H), 2.93-2.80 (m, 1H), 2.65 (s, 3H), 2.49-2.38 (m, 1H), 2.38-2.26 (m, 2H), 2.26-2.15 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.87-1.78 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.8, 170.8, 149.1, 147.9, 146.9, 134.7, 133.9, 133.2, 132.6, 131.9, 126.6, 125.1, 115.3, 114.1, 83.6, 74.6, 50.6, 45.2, 43.3, 36.6, 32.5, 28.2, 21.2, 20.5; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₄H₂₅O₆NNa [M+Na]⁺ 446.1574, found 446.1569.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((*E*)-4-acetamido-3-(trifluoromethyl)benzylidene)-6,9dimethylene-2-oxododecahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (28):



Brown viscous liquid (68%); $R_f = 0.15$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 3:7); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_H 8.37$ (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (s, 1H), 7.59-7.53 (m, 3H), 5.62-5.56 (m, 1H), 5.54 (s, 1H), 5.34-5.31 (m, 1H), 5.02 (s, 1H), 4.94 (s, 1H), 4.23 (dd, J = 10.4, 7.6 Hz, 1H), 3.40 (dt, J = 7.6, 3.7 Hz, 1H), 3.03 (q, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 2.90-2.82 (m, 1H), 2.43 (td, J = 14.0, 8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.35-2.29 (m, 2H), 2.26 (s, 3H), 2.24-2.15 (m, 2H), 2.12 (s, 3H), 1.87-1.79 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 171.1, 170.8, 168.5, 147.9, 147.0, 136.0, 135.4, 133.9, 130.7, 127.4, 123.8, 115.2, 114.1, 83.6, 74.6, 50.6, 45.3, 43.2, 36.7, 32.4, 28.1, 24.9, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₆H₂₆O₅NF₃Na [M+Na]⁺ 512.1655, found 512.1650. (3aS,6aR,8S,9aR,9bS)-3-((E)-2-methylbenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododecahydro

azuleno[4,5-b]furan-8-yl acetate (29):



Brown viscous liquid (56%); $R_f = 0.45$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.73 (d, J = 3.4 Hz, 1H), 7.27-7.16 (m, 4H), 5.62-5.55 (m, 1H), 5.53 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 5.32 (t, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.94 (s, 1H), 4.88-4.82 (m, 1H), 4.17 (dd, J = 10.4, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.33-3.23 (m, 1H), 2.97 (q, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 2.89-2.81 (m, 1H), 2.44-2.38 (m, 1H), 2.31 (s, 3H), 2.27-2.15 (m, 2H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.06-2.00 (m, 2H), 1.84-1.76 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 171.4, 170.9, 148.0, 147.4, 137.5, 136.9, 133.4, 130.6, 130.3, 129.3, 127.9, 125.7, 114.6, 114.1, 83.4, 74.7, 50.7, 45.1, 43.9, 36.6, 33.0, 28.7, 21.3, 19.9; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₄H₂₆O₄Na [M+Na]⁺ 401.1723, found 401.1718.

Methyl-4-((*E*)-((3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-8-acetoxy-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxodecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-3(2*H*)-ylidene)methyl)benzoate (30):



Brown viscous liquid (67%); $R_f = 0.24$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.07-8.02 (m, 1H), 7.58-7.52 (m, 1H), 7.48-7.43 (m, 1H), 7.36-7.23 (m, 2H), 5.60-5.51 (m, 2H), 5.45 (d, J = 11.2 Hz, 1H), 4.95-4.89 (m, 2H), 4.17 (dd, J = 10.3, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.24-3.17 (m, 1H), 2.98-2.90 (m, 1H), 2.86-2.78 (m, 1H), 2.59-2.51 (m, 1H), 2.47-2.32 (m, 2H), 2.21-2.12 (m, 1H), 2.10 (s, 3H), 2.01-1.93 (m, 1H), 1.79-1.72 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 171.0, 170.8, 166.6, 147.9, 147.3, 138.3, 136.4, 132.2, 130.9, 129.3, 128.9, 128.8, 128.4, 114.5, 114.3, 83.0, 74.7, 52.4, 50.8, 45.2, 43.7, 36.6, 32.6, 29.0, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₅H₂₆O₆Na [M+Na]⁺ 445.1622, found 445.1616.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((*E*)-benzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxododecahydroazuleno [4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (31):



Light brown viscous liquid (55%); $R_f = 0.57$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 7.41-7.36 (m, 6H), 5.63-5.56 (m, 1H), 5.54 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 5.32 (t, J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 4.98 (s, 1H), 4.92 (s, 1H), 4.20 (dd, J = 10.3, 7.8 Hz, 1H), 3.43-3.35 (m, 1H), 3.01 (q, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 2.92-2.80 (m, 1H), 2.48-2.36 (m, 2H), 2.33-2.27 (m, 1H), 2.19-2.13 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 1.96-1.89 (m, 1H), 1.87-1.78 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 171.6, 170.9, 148.0, 147.4, 138.0, 133.9, 129.6, 129.4, 128.6, 128.4, 114.8, 113.9, 83.6, 74.7, 50.6, 45.2, 43.5, 36.7, 33.1, 28.4, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₂₄O₄Na [M+Na]⁺ 387.1567, found 387.1563.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-6,9-dimethylene-3-((*E*)-2-nitrobenzylidene)-2-oxododecahydro azuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (32):



Brown viscous liquid (47%); $R_f = 0.20$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_H 8.23-8.13 (m, 1H), 7.87 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 7.73-7.65 (m, 1H), 7.63-7.55 (m, 1H), 7.42 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 5.59-5.51 (m, 2H), 5.36-5.29 (m, 1H), 4.93 (s, 1H), 4.81 (s, 1H), 4.20 (dd, J = 10.3, 8.3 Hz, 1H), 3.24-3.12 (m, 1H), 2.94 (q, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 2.87-2.77 (m, 1H), 2.43-2.34 (m, 1H), 2.23-2.14 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.01-1.95 (m, 1H), 1.83-1.73 (m, 1H), 1.66-1.53 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.9, 170.3, 147.7, 147.5, 146.9, 134.2, 133.6, 132.5, 130.8, 130.1, 129.9, 125.1, 114.9, 114.6, 82.9, 74.6, 50.7, 45.2, 43.7, 36.6, 32.2, 29.0, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₂₃O₆NNa [M+Na]⁺ 432.1418, found 432.1413.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((*E*)-4-chloro-2-nitrobenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxodo decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (33):



Brown viscous liquid (52%); $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_H 8.18$ (d, J = 2.1 Hz, 1H), 7.78 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 7.66 (dd, J = 8.2, 1.8 Hz, 1H), 7.37 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 5.60-5.55 (m, 1H), 5.52 (t, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 5.33 (t, J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 4.96-4.93 (m, 1H), 4.84 (s, 1H), 4.21 (dd, J = 10.4, 8.2 Hz, 1H), 3.19-3.12 (m, 1H), 2.98-2.92 (m, 1H), 2.84-2.77 (m, 1H), 2.42-2.35 (m, 1H), 2.23-2.17 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.04-1.98 (m, 1H), 1.91-1.82 (m, 1H), 1.82-1.76 (m, 1H), 1.67-1.60 (m, 1H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.8, 170.0, 147.9, 147.6, 146.7, 135.8, 133.7, 133.3, 132.8, 131.2, 129.1, 125.4, 115.1, 114.7, 82.8, 74.6, 50.8, 45.2, 43.7, 36.6, 32.0, 29.1, 21.3; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₃H₂₂O₆NClNa [M+Na]⁺ 466.1028, found 466.1027.

(3a*S*,6a*R*,8*S*,9a*R*,9b*S*)-3-((*E*)-4-methyl-2-nitrobenzylidene)-6,9-dimethylene-2-oxodo decahydroazuleno[4,5-*b*]furan-8-yl acetate (34):



Brown viscous liquid (67%); $R_f = 0.26$ (EtOAc-petroleum ether, 1:4); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) $\delta_H 8.02$ -7.94 (m, 1H), 7.82 (d, J = 3.7 Hz, 1H), 7.48 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 5.62-5.50 (m, 2H), 5.36-5.27 (m, 1H), 5.03-4.90 (m, 2H), 4.82 (s, 1H), 4.25-4.10 (m, 1H), 3.21-3.14 (m, 1H), 2.99-2.90 (m, 1H), 2.88-2.75 (m, 1H), 2.51 (s, 3H), 2.42-2.36 (m, 1H), 2.22-2.16 (m, 1H), 2.11 (s, 3H), 2.03-1.95 (m, 1H), 1.87-1.63 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ_C 170.9, 170.4, 147.8, 147.4, 147.0, 140.8, 134.3, 132.0, 129.9, 127.8, 125.4, 124.9, 114.8, 114.5, 82.9, 74.6, 50.7, 45.2, 43.8, 36.6, 32.3, 29.0, 21.3, 21.2; HRMS (ESI) calcd for C₂₄H₂₅O₆NNa [M+Na]⁺ 446.1574, found 446.1571.

Biology

Anticancer studies

Compounds were dissolved in DMSO (Sigma) to prepare 50 mM concentrations stock solutions. All the further dilutions were also made in DMSO. During the treatment, the final concentration of DMSO was maintained at <0.02%.

Antibodies

Anti-Caspase 9 and Anti-Caspase 3 antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling and Anti-αTubulin antibody was procured from Sigma, Goat anti-rabbit HRP conjugated secondary antibody was purchased from Bio-Rad, and Goat anti-mouse HRP conjugated secondary antibody was purchased from Cell Signaling.

Cell culture

Breast cancer cell line MCF7 was grown in DMEM (GIBCO), MBA-MB-231 in RPMI (GIBCO) with 10 % FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin and MCF10A in DMEM/F12 (Gibco) containing, horse Serum (10% final), EGF (20ng/ml), Hydrocortisone (0.5 mg/ml), Cholera Toxin (100 ng/ml), Insulin (10 μ g/ml) and Penicillin/Streptomycin mix (1ml/100ml) at 37 °C in a humid, 5% CO₂ regulated incubator.

Growth inhibition by cytotoxicity assay

The cytotoxic effect of the compounds was determined using MTT (3-(4, 5 dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2-5 diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assay. Cells were seeded (4 X 10^3 per well) in 96 well plates. After 24 hours of seeding, cells were exposed with varying concentrations (0-100 μ M) of respective compounds for 48 hours in triplicates. Then, MTT solution (20 μ L of 5 mg/mL stock for each well of 96 well plate) was added and further incubated for 3.5 hours in humid 5% CO₂ incubator. Media containing MTT solution was then replaced by MTT solvent (*iso*-propanol, HCl and Triton X-100), incubated for 15 min at room temperature with gentle shaking for complete dissolution of Formazan. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm using a Thermo Scientific Multiskan G0 Elisa plate reader. All experiments were carried out at least in triplicate, and the percentage of viable cells was calculated as the mean with respect to the controls.

Western Blot analysis

The cells were harvested, washed with 1XPBS and were lysed in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.4, 5 mM EDTA, 250 mM NaCl, 10 mM sodium fluoride, 0.5 mM sodium orthovanadate and 0.5% Triton X100) with 100 µL lysis buffer per 35 mm cell culture plate. The lysate was incubated on ice for 20 minutes followed by centrifugation at 16000xg for 20 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was collected, and the protein content was estimated by Bradford method using bovine serum albumin as a standard. The protein samples were prepared in 1X Lamelli Buffer and boiled for 5 minutes. The protein samples were then resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Merck Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). Skimmed milk (3%) in 0.05% Tween (TBST) was used for blocking the membrane for 1 h. The membrane was then washed and incubated with the respective primary antibodies at 4 °C for overnight. The membrane was then washed thrice with TBST and incubated with respective HRP conjugated secondary antibody. Protein bands were detected using the Super Signal West Pico substrate (Thermo Scientific).

Cell cycle analysis by fluorescence-activated cell shortening (FACS)

Cells were seeded one-day prior the treatment of compounds. Next day cells were incubated with and without selected compounds for 24 h and were then collected for FACS analysis. Propidium iodide staining was performed for the total DNA content of the cells. Briefly, the cells were washed with 1X PBS, trypsinized and then spin down at 3000xg for 2 minutes at 4 °C. The cell pellet obtained was fixed and permeabilized using 900 μ L of 95% chilled ethanol, which was added dropwise along with continuous vortexing. The cells were then stored overnight at 4 °C. The fixed cells were then pelleted at 3000xg for 2-3 minutes. The

supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was washed twice with 1X PBS. The pellet was dissolved and stained with 1 mL staining solution (900 μ L 1XPBS, 2 mM MgCl₂, 50 μ L Propidium Iodide stock solution (5 mg/mL of 1XPBS) 50 μ L RNase stock solution (1 mg/mL) and incubated at 37 °C for 20 minutes. Cells were then passed through cell strainers and proceed for FACS accusation on BD FACS Calibur. The data were then analyzed using Cell Quest pro software.

DNA fragmentation assay

DNA fragmentation assay was done after treating MCF7 cells with respective compounds as per the protocol described previously.¹⁵ The fragmentation ladder of the DNA was observed on a 2% agarose gel.

Immunostaining

The cells were grown on a cover slip as a monolayer overnight. The cells were then exposed with respective compounds at IC₅₀ concentration and incubated for 12 hours. The cells on coverslips were fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 minutes in the dark at room temperature. The cover slips were washed 2–3 times with 1XPBS. The cells were then permeabilized by 0.5% Tween-20 at room temperature for 30 minutes and then washed with PBS for 4 times. The permeabilized cells were blocked with 3% BSA followed by staining with α -tubulin (Sigma) in 3% BSA solution for 1 h at room temperature. The cells were washed with 1XPBS 5 times and then stained with ALEXA Flour 594 conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h and then washed with 1XPBS for 5 times. Finally, DNA was stained with Hoechst and coverslips were mounted on slides in mounting media (8 mg/mL DABCO in 80% glycerol and 20% PBS).

3.7. REFERENCES

- (a) Cragg, G. M.; Newman, D. J.; Snader, K. M. J. Nat. Prod. 1997, 60, 52; (b) Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M.; Snader, K. M. J. Nat. Prod. 2003, 66, 1022; (c) Gordaliza, M. Clin. Transl. Oncol. 2007, 9, 767; (d) Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M. J. Nat. Prod. 2007, 70, 461; (e) Harvey, A. L. Drug Discovery Today 2008, 13, 894; (f) Newman, D. J.; Cragg, G. M. J. Nat. Prod. 2012, 75, 311; (g) Barnes, E. C.; Kumar, R.; Davis, R. A. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2016, 33, 372.
- (a) Wang, G. W.; Qin, J. J.; Cheng, X. R.; Shen, Y. H.; Shan, L.; Jin, H. Z.; Zhang, W. D. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 2014, 23, 317; (b) Amorim, M. H. R.; Gil da Costa, R. M.; Lopes, C.; Bastos, M. M. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 2013, 43, 559; (c) Ghantous, A.; Gali-Muhtasib, H.; Vuorela, H.; Saliba, N. A.; Darwiche, N. Drug Discovery Today 2010, 15, 668; (d) Tanasova, M.; Sturla, S. J. Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 3578; (e) Merfort, I. Curr. Drug Targets 2011, 12, 1560; (f) Janecka, A.; Wyrębska, A.; Gach, K.; Fichna, J.; Janecki, T. Drug Discovery Today 2012, 17, 561; (g) Rodriguez, E.; Towers, G. H. N.; Mitchell, J. C. Phytochemistry 1976, 15, 1573; (h) Picman, A. K.; Towers, G. H. N. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 1983, 11, 321; (i) Picman, A. K. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 1986, 14, 255; (j) Kitson, R. R.; Millemaggi, A.; Taylor, R. J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 9426; (k) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Sharma, R. P. Heterocycles 1999, 51, 1681.
- 3. <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Vernonia</u>.
- (a) Bordignon, A.; Frédérich, M.; Ledoux, A.; Campos, P. E.; Clerc, P.; Hermann, T.; Quetin-Leclercq, J.; Cieckiewicz, E. Nat. Prod. Res. 2017, 1; (b) Zdero, C.; Bohlmann, F.; Mungai, G. M. Phytochemistry 1990, 29, 3668; (c) Marzouk, A. M.; Abd Elhalim, O. B. Nat. Prod. Res. 2016, 30, 741; (d) Antonio, C. N. S.; Elnatan, B. de S.; Raquel, O. dos S. F. J. Med. Plants Res. 2015, 9, 838; (e) Youn, U. J.; Park, E. J.; Kondratyuk, T. P.; Simmons, C. J.; Borris, R. P.; Tanamatayarat, P.; Wongwiwatthananukit, S.; Toyama, O.; Songsak, T.; Pezzuto, J. M. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2012, 22, 5559; (f) Kimani, N.; Matasyoh, J.; Kaiser, M.; Brun, R.; Schmidt, T. Molecules 2017, 22, 597; (g) Chea, A.; Hout, S.; Long, C.; Marcourt, L.; Faure, R.; Azas, N.; Elias, R. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2006, 54, 1437; (h) Chukwujekwu, J. C.; Lategan, C. A.; Smith, P. J.; Van Heerden, F. R.; Van Staden, J. S. Afr. J. Bot.

2009, 75, 176; (i) Youn, U. J.; Miklossy, G.; Chai, X.; Wongwiwatthananukit, S.; Toyama, O.; Songsak, T.; Turkson, J.; Chang, L. C. Fitoterapia 2014, 93, 194; (j) Sinisi, A.; Millán, E.; Abay, S. M.; Habluetzel, A.; Appendino, G.; Muñoz, E.; Taglialatela-Scafati, O. J. Nat. Prod. 2015, 78, 1618; (k) Williams, R. B.; Norris, A.; Slebodnick, C.; Merola, J.; Miller, J. S.; Andriantsiferana, R.; Rasamison, V. E.; Kingston, D. G. I. J. Nat. Prod. 2005, 68, 1371; (I) Toyang, N. J.; Wabo, H. K.; Ateh, E. N.; Davis, H.; Tane, P.; Sondengam, L. B.; Bryant, J.; Verpoorte, R. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2013, 146, 552; (m) Toyang, N. J.; Wabo, H. K.; Ateh, E. N.; Davis, H.; Tane, P.; Sondengam, L. B.; Bryant, J.; Verpoorte, R. J. Ethnopharmacol. 2013, 146, 552; (n) Kos, O.; Castro, V.; Murillo, R.; Poveda, L.; Merfort, I. Phytochemistry 2006, 67, 62; (o) Padolina, W. G.; Yoshioka, H.; Nakatani, N.; Mabry, T. J.; Monti, S. A.; Davis, R. E.; Cox, P. J.; Sim, O. A.; Watson, W. H.; Wu, I. B. Tetrahedron 1974, 30, 1161; (p) Catalán, C. A.; De Iglesias, D. I.; Kavka, J.; Sosa, V. E.; Herz, W. Phytochemistry 1988, 27, 197; (q) Bardón, A.; Kamiya, N. I.; De Léon, C. A. D. P.; Catalán, C. A.; Díaz, J. G.; Herz, W. Phytochemistry 1992, 31, 609; (r) Zhang, L.; Shao, Y. L.; Hua, L.; Li, Y.; Hussain, S. H.; Arfan, M.; Gao, K.; Phytochem. Lett. 2014, 7, 14; (s) Bohlmann, F.; Zdero, C.; King, R. M.; Robinson, H. Phytochemistry 1982, 21, 695; (t) Kraft, C.; Jenett-Siems, K.; Siems, K.; Jakupovic, J.; Mavi, S.; Bienzle, U.; Eich, E. Phytother. Res. 2003, 17, 123; (u) Ganjian, I.; Kubo, I.; Fludzinski, P. Phytochemistry 1983, 22, 2525; (v) Mompon, B.; Toubian, R. Tetrahedron 1976, 32, 2545; (w) Roos, G.; Prawat, H.; Walter, C. U.; Klaiber, I.; Vogler, B.; Guse, J. H.; Kraus, W. Planta Med. 1998, 64, 673; (x) Ito, T.; Aimaiti, S.; Win, N. N.; Kodama, T.; Morita, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2016, 26, 3608.

(a) Jakupovic, J.; Banerjee, S.; Castro, V.; Bohlmann, F.; Schuster, A.; Msonthi, J. D.; Keeley, S. *Phytochemistry* **1986**, *25*, 1359; (b) Aliyu, A. B.; Koorbanally, N. A.; Moodley, B.; Singh, P.; Chenia, H. Y. *Phytochemistry* **2016**, *126*, 23; (c) Aliyu, A. B.; Moodley, B.; Chenia, H.; Koorbanally, N. A. *Phytochemistry* **2015**, *111*, 163; (d) Kimani, N.; Matasyoh, J.; Kaiser, M.; Brun, R.; Schmidt, T. *Molecules* **2018**, *23*, 248; (e) Jakupovic, L.; Gage, D. A.; Bohlmann, F.; Mabry, T. J. Phytochemistry **1986**, *25*, 1179; (f) Buskuhl, H.; de Oliveira, F. L.; Blind, L. Z.; de Freitas, R. A.;

Barison, A.; Campos, F. R.; Corilo, Y. E.; Eberlin, M. N.; Caramori, G. F.; Biavatti, M. W.; *Phytochemistry* 2010, *71*, 1539; (g) Kupchan, S. M.; Hemingway, R. J.; Karim, A.; Werner, D. J. Org. Chem. 1969, *34*, 3908; (h) Jakupovic, J.; Zdero, C.; Boeker, R.; Warning, U.; Bohlmann, F.; Jones, S. B. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 111; (i) Mabry, T. J.; Abdel-Baset, Z.; Padolina, W. G.; Jones Jr, S. B. *Biochem. Syst. Ecol.* 1975, *2*, 185; (j) Kozio\l, A.; Mroczko, L.; Niewiadomska, M.; Lochyński, S. *Pol. J. Natur. Sc.* 2017, *32*, 495; (k) Bardón, A.; Catalán, C. A.; Gutiérrez, A. B.; Herz, W. *Phytochemistry* 1990, *29*, 313; (l) Tsichritzis, F.; Siems, K.; Jakupovic, J.; Bohlmann, F.; Mungai, G. M. *Phytochemistry* 1991, *30*, 3808; (m) Kupchan, S. M.; Hemingway, R. J.; Werner, D.; Karim, A.; McPhail, A. T.; Sim, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, *90*, 3596; (n) Jisaka, M.; Ohigashi, H.; Takegawa, K.; Huffman, M. A.; Koshimizu, K. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 1992, *56*, 845.

- Kitson, R. R. A.; Millemaggi, A.; Taylor, R. J. K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 9426.
- (a) Lawrence, N. J.; McGown, A. T.; Nduka, J.; Hadfield, J. A.; Pritchard, R. G.; Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2001, 11, 429; (b) Srivastava, S. K.; Abraham, A.; Bhat, B.; Jaggi, M.; Singh, A. T.; Sanna, V. K.; Singh, G.; Agarwal, S. K.; Mukherjee, R.; Burman, A. C. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2006, 16, 4195; (c) Neelakantan, S.; Nasim, S.; Guzman, M. L.; Jordan, C. T.; Crooks, P. A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2009, 19, 4346; (d) Nasim, S.; Crooks, P. A. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2008, 18, 3870; (e) Hwang, D. R.; Wu, Y. S.; Chang, C. W.; Lien, T. W.; Chen, W. C.; Tan, U. K.; Hsu, J. T. A.; Hsieh, H. P. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2006, 14, 83; (f) Klochkov, S. G.; Afanas'eva, S. V.; Pushin, A. N.; Gerasimova, G. K.; Vlasenkova, N. K.; Bulychev, Y. N. Chem. Nat. Compd. 2009, 46, 817; (g) Lee, K. H.; Furukawa, H.; Huang, E. S. J. Med. Chem. 1972, 15, 609; (h) Hejchman, E.; Haugwitz, R. D.; Cushman, M. J. Med. Chem. 1995, 38, 3407; (i) Unde, N. R.; Hiremath, S. V.; Kulkarni, G. H.; Kelkar, G. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1968, 9, 4861; (j) Woods, J. R.; Mo, H.; Bieberich, A. A.; Alavanjac, T.; Colby, D. A. J. Med. Chem. 2011, 54, 7934.

- 8. Woods, J. R.; Mo, H.; Bieberich, A. A.; Alavanjac, T.; Colby, D. A. *Med. Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *4*, 27-33 and references cited therein.
- 9. (a) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Jain, D. C.; Sharma, R. P.; Roy, R.; McPhail, A. T.; *Tetrahedron* 1997, *53*, 14975; (b) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Pal, M.; Jain, D. C.; Joshi, B. S.; Roy, R.; Rychlewska, U.; Sharma, R. P. *Tetrahedron* 2003, *59*, 2871; (c) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Rana, K. C. *Ind. J. Chem.* 2013, *52B*, 901; (d) Bhattacharya, A. K.; Chand, H. R.; John, J.; Deshpande, M. V. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2015, *94*, 1; (e) Valkute, T. R.; Arkile, M.; Sarkar, D.; Bhattacharya, A. K. *Planta Medica Int. Open* 2016, *3*, e55.
- (a) Krishna Kumari, G. N.; Masilamani, S.; Ganesh, M. R.; Aravind, S.; *Phytochemistry* 2003, 62, 1101; (b) Krishna Kumari, G. N.; Masilamani, S.; Ganesh, M. R.; Aravind, S.; Sridhar, S. R. *Fitoterapia* 2003, 74, 479.
- (a) Crystallographic data (excluding structure factors): CCDC-1525170 contains the supplementary crystallographic data for this paper. These data can be obtained free of charge from the Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre *via* <u>www.ccdc.cam.ac.uk/data_request/cif</u>; (b) Valkute, T. R.; Aratikatla, E. K.; Gupta, N. A.; Ganga S.; Santra, M. K.; Bhattacharya, A. K. *RSC Adv.* **2018**, 8, 38289.
- Matsuda, H.; Kageura, T.; Inoue, Y.; Morikawa, T.; Yoshikawa, M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 7763.
- (a) Han, C.; Barrios, F. J.; Riofski, M. V.; Colby, D. A. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 7176; (b) Vadaparthi, P. R. R.; Kumar, C. P.; Kumar, K.; Venkanna, A.; Nayak, V. L.; Ramakrishna, S.; Babu, K. S. Med. Chem. Res. 2015, 24, 2871; (c) Shul'ts, E. E.; Belovodskii, A. V.; Shakirov, M. M.; Tolstikov, G. A. Russ. Chem. Bull. 2012, 61, 1975; (d) Kihkentayeva, A. S.; Shults, E. E.; Gatilov, Y. V.; Patrushev, S. S.; Karim, S.; Atazhanova, G. A.; Adekenov, S. M. Chem. Heterocycl. Comp. 2016, 52, 788; (e) Ding, Y.H.; Fan, H.X.; Long, J.; Zhang, Q.; Chen, Y. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2013, 23, 6087.
- 14. Beletskaya, I. P.; Cheprakov, A. V. Chem. Rev. 2000, 100, 3009.
- 15. Herrmann, M.; Lorenz, H. M.; Voll, R.; Grünke, M.; Woith, W.; Kalden, J. R.; *Nucleic Acids Res.* **1994**, 22, 5506.

- Slee, E. A.; Harte, M. T.; Kluck, R. M.; Wolf, B. B.; Casiano, C. A.; Newmeyer, D. D.; Wang, H. G.; Reed, J. C.; Nicholson, D. W.; Alnemri, E. S.; Green, D. R.; Martin, S. J. *J. Cell Biol.* **1999**, *144*, 281.
- 17. Fuldaand, S.; Debatin, K. M. Oncogene 2006, 25, 4798.

3.8. SPECTRA



¹³C NMR of Compound 1 (50 MHz, CDCl₃)



Chapter 3



¹³C NMR of Compound 2 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 2 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 3 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)









¹H NMR of Compound 4 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 4 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹³C NMR of Compound 5 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 5 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

Chapter 3



¹³C NMR of Compound 6 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 6 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)




¹H NMR of Compound 7 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 8 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)









¹H NMR of Compound 9 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)









¹³C NMR of Compound 10 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 11 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹³C NMR of Compound 12 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)



P a g e | 268





¹H NMR of Compound 13 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

-2.11





¹³C NMR of Compound 14 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 15 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 16 (200 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 16 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 17 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)









¹³C NMR of Compound 18 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 19 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 20 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹³C NMR of Compound 21 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 21 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹³C NMR of Compound 22 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹³C NMR of Compound 23 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 24 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 24 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 25 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 25 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 26 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 27 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹³C NMR of Compound 27 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 28 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 28 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹H NMR of Compound 29 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 29 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹³C NMR of Compound 30 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)







¹³C NMR of Compound 31 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 31 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 32 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 32 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹H NMR of Compound 33 (500 MHz, CDCl₃)

¹³C NMR of Compound 33 (125 MHz, CDCl₃)





¹³C NMR of Compound 34 (100 MHz, CDCl₃)



¹H NMR of Compound 34 (400 MHz, CDCl₃)

<u>Bio - Data</u>

Eswara Kumar Aratikatla

CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory Pune-411008, India Mobile: +918698979189 eswarausc175@gmail.com



Education

• Ph. D. in Organic Chemistry (2012-present)

Academy of Scientific & Innovative Research, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India.

Research supervisor: Dr. Asish K. Bhattacharya, Senior Scientist, CSIR-NCL, Pune.

Thesis title: "Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents; Synthesis of Biologically Active Molecules and Studies Directed Towards Bioactives from *Vernonia arborea*"

- Master of Science (M.Sc) in Organic Chemistry (2008-2010) First division with 7.95 CGPA, Andhra University Campus, Visakhapatnam, A.P, India.
- Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) (2005-2008)
 Mathematics, Physics and Chemistry 2008, First Division with 81%, Andhra University, Visakhapatnam, A.P, India.

Awards/Fellowships Received

- Awarded Senior Research Fellowship (**SRF**) from the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), New Delhi, India (2014-2017).
- Awarded Junior Research Fellowship (**JRF**) from the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), New Delhi, India (2012-2014).
- Awarded National Eligibility Test (NET) for Ph. D. and Lectureship, June-2010 from UGC-CSIR, New Delhi, India.
- Awarded National Eligibility Test (**NET**) for Ph. D. and Lectureship, December-2009 from UGC-CSIR, New Delhi, India.

 Best poster award (1st prize) presented by Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC) at XI J-NOST conference for research scholars held during December 14-17, 2015 in NISER, Bhubaneswar.

Industrial Research Experience

- Worked in R&D as a **Research Chemist** in **Laxai Avanti Life Sciences**, Hyderabad, Telangana, India from May-2010 to November-2011.
- Worked in R&D as a Project Intern in **Dr. Reddy's Laboratories**, IPDO, Bachupally, Hyderabad, Telangana, India from May-2009 to July-2009.

Research Interests

- Design and synthesis of novel chemical entities for medicinal and pharmaceutical chemistry.
- Total synthesis of biologically active natural products.

Conferences and Symposia

- Presented poster on "Total synthesis of antiepileptic drug (*R*)-lacosamide from L-serine" at XI J-NOST conference for research scholars held during December 14-17, 2015 in NISER, Bhubaneswar and received best poster award (1st prize) presented by Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC) for the poster.
- Oral presentation on "Synthesis of syncarpamide, its analogues and antimalarial activity" at X J-NOST conference for research held during December 4-6, 2014 in IIT Madras, Chennai.
- Participated in 17th CRSI National Symposium in Chemistry and 9th CRSI-RSC
 Symposium held at CSIR- National Chemical Laboratory Pune, India, February 2015.
- Participated in a satellite meeting on "Frontiers in Chemistry & Biology of Oligosaccharides 2014 (FCBO)" held at Indian Institute of Science Education and Research, Pune.
- Presented poster on "Synthesis of antiepileptic drug (*R*)-lacosamide from L-serine" during National Science day 2016 at CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory Pune, India, February 2016.

Publications and patents

- Eswar K. Aratikatla, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Chiral Pool Approach for the Synthesis of Functionalized Amino Acids: Synthesis of Antiepileptic Drug (*R*)-Lacosamide. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2015, *56*, 5802.
- (2) <u>Eswar K. Aratikatla</u>, Tushar R. Valkute, Sunil K. Puri, Kumkum Srivastava, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Norepinephrine alkaloids as antiplasmodial agents: Synthesis of syncarpamide and insight into the structure-activity relationships of its analogues as antiplasmodial agents. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2017, *138*, 1089.
- (3) Tushar R. Valkute, <u>Eswar K. Aratikatla</u>, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Efficient synthesis of functionalized olefins by Wittig reaction using Amberlite resin as a mild base. *Synth. Commun.* 2017, 47, 581.
- (4) Tushar R. Valkute, <u>Eswar K. Aratikatla</u>, Neha A. Gupta, S. Ganga, Manas K. Santra, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Synthesis and anticancer studies of Michael adducts and Heck arylation products of sesquiterpene lactones, zaluzanin D and zaluzanin C from *Vernonia arborea*. *RSC Adv.* 2018, 8, 38289.
- (5) <u>Eswar K. Aratikatla</u>, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Enantioselective Synthesis of γ-Arylγ-Amino Vinyl Phosphonate and Sulfonates via Wittig Olefination of Trityl Protected α-Amino Aldehyde (*Manuscript submitted*).
- (6) Eswar K. Aratikatla, Asif Mohammed, Pawan Malhotra, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Design and Synthesis of Artemisinin-Dipeptidyl Vinyl Phosphonate Hybrid Molecules as Novel Antimalarial Agents targeting falcipain-2 enzyme (*Manuscript under preparation*).
- (7) Asish K. Bhattacharya, <u>Eswar K. Aratikatla</u>, Kumkum Srivastava and Ashan Manhas, Anti-malarial compounds and process for preparation thereof. WO 2016/063301 A2.
- (8) Eswar K. Aratikatla, Asif Mohammed, Pawan Malhotra, and Asish K. Bhattacharya. Novel antimalarial compounds targeting dual pathways of hemoglobin degradation and hemozoin development in the parasite, and their use for therapy of drug-resistant malaria. Provisional patent filed (application no. 201811014401).

Tetrahedron Letters 56 (2015) 5802-5803

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Tetrahedron Letters

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tetlet

Chiral pool approach for the synthesis of functionalized amino acids: synthesis of antiepileptic drug (R)-lacosamide



Division of Organic Chemistry, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory (CSIR-NCL), Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune 411 008, India Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory (CSIR-NCL), Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune 411 008, India

chiral pool strategy resulted in 54% overall yield.

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 31 July 2015 Revised 24 August 2015 Accepted 26 August 2015 Available online 28 August 2015

Keywords: Amino acids L-Serine Chiral pool Total synthesis Antiepileptic drug

Introduction

Epilepsy is a neurological disorder due to which patients suffering from this disease witness recurrent spontaneous seizures. It is believed that this disease affects approximately 50 million people worldwide and India alone accounts for approximately 10 million cases.¹ (*R*)-lacosamide **1** (Vimpat, Fig. 1) is currently being used clinically in the U.S. and Europe to treat people suffering from this disease. Although, the exact mode of action of this drug in humans is not yet deciphered however, it is widely believed that it increases the slow inactivation of the voltage-gated sodium channels thus inhibiting repetitive neuronal firing.²

Till date several synthesis of **1** have been reported using racemic epichlorohydrin³ or acrylic acid⁴ or ethyl L-lactate⁵ or racemic butadiene monoepoxide⁶ or D_L-serine⁷ or D-serine,⁸ respectively as



Figure 1. Structure of antiepileptic drug, Lacosamide 1.

starting materials. The kinetic resolution of the key intermediate using Hydrolytic Kinetic Resolution (HKR)³ leads to the loss of yield during the resolution step whereas Trost's dynamic kinetic asymmetric transformation (DYKAT)⁶ requires ligands, which are expensive. In some of the synthesis racemic lacosamide has been resolved to (*R*)-enantiomer either using crystallization^{7a} with chiral carboxylic acid or chiral chromatography.^{7b} The synthesis of **1** utilizing p-serine as a starting material involves *O*-methylation which undergoes racemization.^{8c,g-j,1} In order to overcome this drawback, Kohn et al.^{8c} used neutral but rather expensive Kuhn's *O*-methylation protocol,^{8a} which requires Ag₂O.

Results and discussions

An efficient total synthesis of (R)-lacosamide 1 has been achieved from N-Boc-N,O-isopropylidene-L-

serinol 2 which could easily be obtained from natural L-serine. Our synthesis of 1 starting from 2 using

We thought of an efficient and straightforward synthesis of 1, which could be achieved on an industrial scale at a much cheaper cost. We envisaged the synthesis of 1 could be achieved as delineated in Scheme 1. The key starting material, *N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropy-lidene-L-serinol 2 could easily be synthesized⁹ in gram scale from natural L-serine in four steps without the need of any purification of the intermediates. *N*-Boc-protected alcohol 4 would lead us to the desired product 1 after protection/deprotection and functional group manipulations. Also, our synthesis would enable the generation of various *O*-substituted congeners of (*R*)-lacosamide 1 for further development of new potent anti-epileptic agents.

We started the synthesis of (R)-lacosamide **1** from readily available *N*-Boc-*N*,*O*-isopropylidene-L-serinol **2**.⁹ Methylation of the





© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 20 25902309; fax: +91 20 25902629. *E-mail address:* ak.bhattacharya@ncl.res.in (A.K. Bhattacharya).



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/ejmech

Research paper

Norepinephrine alkaloids as antiplasmodial agents: Synthesis of syncarpamide and insight into the structure-activity relationships of its analogues as antiplasmodial agents





Eswar K. Aratikatla ^{a, b}, Tushar R. Valkute ^a, Sunil K. Puri ^c, Kumkum Srivastava ^c, Asish K. Bhattacharya ^{a, b, *}

^a Division of Organic Chemistry, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory (CSIR-NCL), Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune, 411 008, India

^b Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), CSIR-NCL, Pune, 411 008, India

^c Parasitology Division, CSIR-Central Drug Research Institute, Sector-10, Janakipuram Extension, Sitapur Road, Lucknow, 226 031, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 6 February 2017 Received in revised form 21 July 2017 Accepted 22 July 2017 Available online 25 July 2017

Keywords: Norepinephrine alkaloids Syncarpamide Synthesis Antiplasmodial activity Cytotoxicity In vitro activity In vitro activity Natural products

ABSTRACT

Syncarpamide 1, a norepinephrine alkaloid isolated from the leaves of Zanthoxylum syncarpum (Rutaceae) exhibited promising antiplasmodial activities against *Plasmodium falciparum* with reported IC_{50} values of 2.04 μ M (D6 clone), 3.06 μ M (W2 clone) and observed by us 3.90 μ M (3D7 clone) and 2.56 μ M (K1 clone). In continuation of our work on naturally occurring antimalarial compounds, synthesis of syncarpamide 1 and its enantiomer, (R)-2 using Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation as a key step has been accomplished. In order to study structure-activity-relationship (SAR) in detail, a library of 55 compounds (3-57), which are analogues/homologues of syncarpamide 1 were synthesized by varying the substituents on the aromatic ring, by changing the stereocentre at the C-7 and/or by varying the acid groups in the ester and/or amide side chain based on the natural product lead molecule and further assayed in vitro against 3D7 and K1 strains of P. falciparum to evaluate their antiplasmodial activities. In order to study the effect of position of functional groups on antiplasmodial activity profile, a regioisomer (S)-58 of syncarpamide 1 was synthesized however, it turned out to be inactive against both the strains. Two compounds, (S)-41 and its enantiomer, (R)-42 having 3,4,5-trimethoxy cinnamoyl groups as side chains showed better antiplasmodial activity with IC₅₀ values of 3.16, 2.28 μ M (3D7) and 1.78, 2.07 μ M (K1), respectively than the natural product, syncarpamide 1. Three compounds (S)-13, (S)-17, (S)-21 exhibited antiplasmodial activities with IC₅₀ values of 6.39, 6.82, 6.41 μM against 3D7 strain, 4.27, 7.26, 2.71 μ M against K1 strain and with CC₅₀ values of 147.72, 153.0, >200 μ M respectively. The *in vitro* antiplasmodial activity data of synthesized library suggests that the electron density and possibility of resonance in both the ester and amide side chains increases the antiplasmodial activity as compared to the parent natural product 1. The natural product syncarpamide 1 and four analogues/homologues out of the synthesized library of 55, (S)-41, (R)-42, (S)-55 and (S)-57 were assayed in vivo assay against chloroquine-resistant P. yoelii (N-67) strain of Plasmodium. However, none of the five molecules, 1, (S)-41, (R)-42, (S)-55 and (S)-57 exhibited any promising in vivo antimalarial activity against P. yoelii (N-67) strain. Compounds 4, 6, 7 and 11 showed high cytotoxicities with CC_{50} values of 5.87, 5.08, 6.44 and 14.04 μ M, respectively. Compound **6** was found to be the most cytotoxic as compared to the standard drug, podophyllotoxin whereas compounds 4 and 7 showed comparable cytotoxicities to podophyllotoxin.

© 2017 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author. Division of Organic Chemistry, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory (CSIR-NCL), Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune, 411 008, India.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.07.052 0223-5234/© 2017 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved. The protozoan parasites of the genus *Plasmodium* cause malaria, which affects more than 50% of the world's population living in tropical and subtropical regions of America, Asia, and Africa. The WHO reported that more than 212 million people were diagnosed

E-mail address: ak.bhattacharya@ncl.res.in (A.K. Bhattacharya).



Efficient synthesis of functionalized olefins by Wittig reaction using Amberlite resin as a mild base

Tushar R. Valkute^a, Eswar K. Aratikatla^{a,b}, and Asish K. Bhattacharya^{a,b}

^aDivision of Organic Chemistry, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, Maharashtra, India; ^bAcademy of Scientific and Innovative Research, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Pune, India

ABSTRACT

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

A convenient procedure for the synthesis of olefins by the reaction of stabilized, semistabilized, and nonstabilized phosphorous ylides with various aldehydes or ketone using Amberlite resin as a mild base is described. Our developed method offers facile and racemization-free synthesis of α,β -unsaturated amino esters and chiral allylic amine. The developed methodology offers mild reaction conditions, high efficiency, and facile isolation of the final products, a practical alternative to known procedures.

ARTICLE HISTORY Received 21 November 2016

KEYWORDS Aldehyde; alkene; Amberlite resin; phosphonium ylides; Wittig reaction

$\mathbb{R} + \mathbb{P}_{h} + \mathbb{$

Introduction

Carbon–carbon bond formation reactions play a major role in the total synthesis of bioactive molecules. Several C–C bond-forming reactions are known in the literature, however, Wittig olefination remains one of the most favored when an alkene group is to be introduced with specificity of bond placement. In the classical Wittig method^[1–3] forms a phosphorous ylide is formed upon treatment with appropriate base, which then reacts with a ketone or aldehyde to furnish the corresponding alkene. However, the Wittig method has a few drawbacks^[4] such as substrate sensitivity to base, racemization of the adjacent stereogenic center, and self-condensation of the carbonyl to name a few. Several new modifications of Wittig reaction conditions using various bases such as tertiary amines,^[5] lithium 1,1,1,3,3,3-hexafluoro-isopropoxide,^[6] LiCl/DBU,^[7] KOSiMe₃,^[8] LiOH,^[9] or KH^[10] have been reported. Recently, Ag₂CO₃ as a mild base for ylide formation for the Wittig reaction has been reported.^[111] Using K₂CO₃ as a mild base, Wittig

Color versions of one or more of the figures in this article can be found online on at www.tandfonline.com/lsyc.

Supplemental data (full experimental detail with spectral data of all the synthesized compounds, copies of ¹H, ¹³C NMR, and DEPT spectra, HRMS of all the compounds, HPLC chromatogram of chiral compounds) can be accessed on the publisher's website.

© 2017 Taylor & Francis

CONTACT Asish K. Bhattacharya 🖾 ak.bhattacharya@ncl.res.in 💼 Division of Organic Chemistry, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune 411 008, Maharashtra, India.

RSC Advances



View Article Online

View Journal | View Issue

PAPER



Cite this: RSC Adv., 2018, 8, 38289

Received 23rd July 2018 Accepted 3rd November 2018 DOI: 10 1039/c8ra06238h

rsc.li/rsc-advances

Introduction

The generation of diverse chemical libraries using natural products as scaffolds is considered as one of the effective methods for drug discovery.¹ Sesquiterpenes bearing α,β unsaturated γ -lactones are ubiquitous in nature and have been reported to be isolated from various genera of the family Asteraceae but also occur sporadically in other angiosperm families, Apiaceae, Magnoliaceae and even in some liverworts. They exhibit diverse biological activities such as anti-microbial, anti-inflammatory, antiulcer, antiviral, anticancer and antimalarial activities.² The genus Vernonia (family Asteraceae) consists of approximately 1000 species of herbs and shrubs.³ Several research groups have isolated structurally diverse sesquiterpene lactones from various species of genus Vernonia possessing various biological properties (Fig. 1).4,5 Sesquiterpene lactones react with nucleophilic sulfhydryl groups present in enzymes, proteins, and glutathione.6 The use of sesquiterpene lactones as therapeutic agents is limited due to their poor water solubility.

‡ These authors contributed equally to this work.

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2018

Synthesis and anticancer studies of Michael adducts and Heck arylation products of sesquiterpene lactones, zaluzanin D and zaluzanin C from Vernonia arborea*

Tushar R. Valkute,‡^a Eswar K. Aratikatla, ^[b]‡^{ab} Neha A. Gupta,‡^c S. Ganga,^c Manas K. Santra^{*c} and Asish K. Bhattacharya 🗅 *ab

Sesquiterpene lactones containing α -methylene- γ -lactones, zaluzanin D 1 and zaluzanin C 2 were isolated from the leaves of Vernonia arborea. Several diverse Michael adducts (3-22) and Heck arylation analogs (23-34) of 1 have been synthesized by reacting with various amines and aryl iodides, respectively and were assayed for their in vitro anticancer activities against human breast cancer cell lines MCF7 and MDA-MB-231. Among all the synthesized analogs, Michael adducts 9 and 10 showed better anticancer activities as compared to 1. However, among these compounds, only 10 has minimal cytotoxic effect on normal breast epithelial MCF10A cells. Our detailed mechanistic studies reveal that compounds 9 and 10 execute their antiproliferative activity through induction of apoptosis and thereby inhibit the cancer cells proliferation and compound 10 could be a lead compound for designing potential anti-cancer compound.

> To overcome this, amino-adducts of sesquiterpene lactones have been prepared by adding different amines to the α -methylene- γ -lactone substructure to enhance the water solubility of the parent molecules and to retain their biological activity.^{7,8} Regeneration of parent α , β -unsaturated γ -lactone occurs by the retro-Michael reaction, potentially through bioactivation at the site of action. This prodrug approach has transformed several sesquiterpene lactones such as alantolactone, ambrosin, arglabin, costunolide, helenalin, parthenolide and ivangustin, into successful clinical candidates (Fig. 1).8

> Continuing our interest in naturally occurring sesquiterpene lactones9 and other bioactive secondary metabolites, we wished to take up the chemical examination of V. arborea leaves for the isolation of bioactive secondary metabolites, zaluzanin C and zaluzanin D. In the present study, several structurally diverse Michael adducts of zaluzanin D have been synthesized with the formation of one or two new C-N bonds. Analogs of zaluzanin D with a new C-C bond formation have also been synthesized by using Pd catalyzed Heck coupling reaction. The in vitro anticancer activities of all the analogs were tested against human breast cancer cell lines MCF7 and MDA-MB-231.

Results and discussion

A portion of the petroleum ether extract (5.3 g) was flash chromatographed on CombiFlash Companion, Isco Teledyne Inc., USA using RediSep® column (SiO₂, 2×12 g) and elution was carried out isocratically with ethyl acetate-petroleum ether (4:96) to furnish a colorless solid. It was identified as zaluzanin

^aDivision of Organic Chemistry, CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory (CSIR-NCL), Dr Homi Bhabha Road, Pune-41108, India. E-mail: ak.bhattacharya@ncl.res.in

^bAcademy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), CSIR-NCL, Pune-411 008, India

Biology of Cancer and Chronic Diseases, National Centre for Cell Sciences, Ganeshkhind Road, Pune-411 007, India

[†] Electronic supplementary information (ESI) available:Additional information includes spectral copies. CCDC 1525170. For ESI and crystallographic data in CIF or other electronic format see DOI: 10.1039/c8ra06238b

(12) INTERNATIONAL APPLICATION PUBLISHED UNDER THE PATENT COOPERATION TREATY (PCT)

(19) World Intellectual Property Organization

International Bureau

WIPO | PCT

(43) International Publication Date 28 April 2016 (28.04.2016)

- (51) International Patent Classification: *C07C 233/00* (2006.01)
- (21) International Application Number:
 - PCT/IN2015/050140
- (22) International Filing Date: 21 October 2015 (21.10.2015)
- (25) Filing Language: English
- (26) Publication Language: English
- (30) Priority Data: 3005/DEL/2014 21 October 2014 (21.10.2014) IN
- (71) Applicant: COUNCIL OF SCIENTIFIC & INDUSTRI-AL RESEARCH [IN/IN]; Anusandhan Bhawan, Rafi Marg, New Delhi 110001 (IN).
- (72) Inventors: BHATTACHARYA, Asish Kumar; CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune 411008, Maharashtra (IN). ARATIKATLA, Eswar Kumar; CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory, Dr. Homi Bhabha Road, Pune 411008, Maharashtra (IN). SRIVAST-AVA, Kumkum; Parasitology Division, CSIR-Central

(10) International Publication Number WO 2016/063301 A2

Drug Research Institute, Lucknow 226031, Uttar Pradesh (IN). **MANHAS, Ashan**; Parasitology Division, CSIR-Central Drug Research Institute, Lucknow 226031, Uttar Pradesh (IN).

- (74) Agent: REMFRY & SAGAR; Attorneys-at-law, Remfry House at the Millenium Plaza, Sector 27, Gurgaon 122009, Haryana (IN).
- (81) Designated States (unless otherwise indicated, for every kind of national protection available): AE, AG, AL, AM, AO, AT, AU, AZ, BA, BB, BG, BH, BN, BR, BW, BY, BZ, CA, CH, CL, CN, CO, CR, CU, CZ, DE, DK, DM, DO, DZ, EC, EE, EG, ES, FI, GB, GD, GE, GH, GM, GT, HN, HR, HU, ID, IL, IN, IR, IS, JP, KE, KG, KN, KP, KR, KZ, LA, LC, LK, LR, LS, LU, LY, MA, MD, ME, MG, MK, MN, MW, MX, MY, MZ, NA, NG, NI, NO, NZ, OM, PA, PE, PG, PH, PL, PT, QA, RO, RS, RU, RW, SA, SC, SD, SE, SG, SK, SL, SM, ST, SV, SY, TH, TJ, TM, TN, TR, TT, TZ, UA, UG, US, UZ, VC, VN, ZA, ZM, ZW.
- (84) Designated States (unless otherwise indicated, for every kind of regional protection available): ARIPO (BW, GH, GM, KE, LR, LS, MW, MZ, NA, RW, SD, SL, ST, SZ,

[Continued on next page]

(54) Title: ANTI-MALARIAL COMPOUNDS AND PROCESS FOR PREPARATION THEREOF



Formula (I)

(57) Abstract: The present invention discloses antimalarial compound of formula (I) Formula (I) wherein, X is selected from O or NH; R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , R_4 and R_5 is selected from H or OMe or CH₃, -CH₂-O-CH₂- or -CH=CH-CH=CH-; Y is selected from O or NH and R_6 , R_7 is selected from the following compounds: or pharmaceutically acceptable salts thereof, process for preparation and a pharmaceutical composition containing the same.


Erratum

Erratum

Erratum